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Unless otherwise noted or the context indicates otherwise, references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (this “Annual Report”) to the “Company”,
“Cronos Group”, “we”, “us” and “our” refer to Cronos Group Inc., its direct and indirect wholly owned subsidiaries and, if applicable, its joint ventures and
investments accounted for by the equity method; the term “cannabis” means the plant of any species or subspecies of genus Cannabis and any part of that
plant, including all derivatives, extracts, cannabinoids, isomers, acids, salts, and salts of isomers; the term “U.S. hemp” has the meaning given to term
“hemp” in the U.S. Agricultural Improvement Act of 2018 (the “2018 Farm Bill”), including hemp-derived cannabidiol (“CBD”); and the term “U.S.

Schedule I cannabis” means cannabis excluding U.S. hemp.

This report contains references to our trademarks and trade names and to trademarks and trade names belonging to other entities. Solely for convenience,
trademarks and trade names referred to in this report may appear without the ® or ™ symbols, but such references are not intended to indicate, in any way,
that their respective owners will not assert, to the fullest extent under applicable law, their rights thereto. We do not intend our use or display of other
companies’ trademarks or trade names to imply a relationship with, or endorsement or sponsorship of us or our business by, any other companies.



All currency amounts in this Annual Report are stated in U.S. dollars, which is our reporting currency, unless otherwise noted. All references to “dollars” or

“$” are to U.S. dollars; all references to “C$” are to Canadian dollars; all references to “A$” are to Australian dollars; and all references to “ILS” are to
New Israeli Shekels.

(Exchange rates are shown as C$ per $)

As of December 31,
2020 2019 2018
Average rate 1.3411 1.3268 1.2955
Spot rate 1.2751 1.2990 1.3639

All summaries of agreements described herein are qualified by the full text of such agreements (certain of which are filed as exhibits hereto).
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PART 1

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report, the documents incorporated into this Annual Report by reference, other reports we file with, or furnish to, the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and other regulatory agencies, and statements by our directors, officers, other employees and other persons authorized to
speak on our behalf contain information that may constitute forward-looking information and forward-looking statements within the meaning of applicable
securities laws (collectively, “Forward-Looking Statements), which are based upon our current internal expectations, estimates, projections, assumptions
and beliefs. All information that is not clearly historical in nature may constitute Forward-Looking Statements. In some cases, Forward-Looking
Statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology, such as “expect”, “likely”, “may”, “will”, “should”, “intend”, “anticipate”,
“potential”, “proposed”, “estimate” and other similar words, expressions and phrases, including negative and grammatical variations thereof, or statements
that certain events or conditions “may” or “will” happen, or by discussion of strategy. Forward-Looking Statements include estimates, plans, expectations,
opinions, forecasts, projections, targets, guidance or other statements that are not statements of historical fact.

Forward-Looking Statements include, but are not limited to, statements with respect to:

the uncertainties associated with the COVID-19 pandemic, including our ability, and the abilities of our joint ventures and our suppliers and
distributors, to effectively deal with the restrictions, limitations and health issues presented by the COVID-19 pandemic, the ability to continue our
production, distribution and sale of our products, and demand for and the use of our products by consumers;

laws and regulations and any amendments thereto applicable to our business and the impact thereof, including uncertainty regarding the application of
United States (“U.S.”) state and federal law to U.S. hemp (including CBD) products and the scope of any regulations by the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration (the “FDA”), the U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration (the “DEA”), the U.S. Federal Trade Commission (the “FTC”), the U.S.
Patent and Trademark Office (the “PTO”) and any state equivalent regulatory agencies over U.S. hemp (including CBD) products;

the laws and regulations and any amendments thereto relating to the U.S. hemp industry in the U.S., including the promulgation of regulations for the
U.S. hemp industry by the U.S. Department of Agriculture (the “USDA”) and relevant state regulatory authorities;

the grant, renewal and impact of any license or supplemental license to conduct activities with cannabis or any amendments thereof;

our international activities and joint venture interests, including required regulatory approvals and licensing, anticipated costs and timing, and expected
impact;

our ability to successfully create and launch brands and further create, launch and scale U.S. hemp-derived consumer products and cannabis products;
the benefits, viability, safety, efficacy, dosing and social acceptance of cannabis, including CBD and other cannabinoids;

expectations regarding the implementation and effectiveness of key personnel changes;

the anticipated benefits and impact of the Altria Investment (as defined herein);

the potential exercise of the Altria Warrant (as defined herein), pre-emptive rights and/or top-up rights in connection with the Altria Investment,
including proceeds to us that may result therefrom;

expectations regarding the use of proceeds of equity financings, including the proceeds from the Altria Investment;

the legalization of the use of cannabis for medical or adult-use in jurisdictions outside of Canada, the related timing and impact thereof and our
intentions to participate in such markets, if and when such use is legalized;

expectations regarding the potential success of, and the costs and benefits associated with, our joint ventures, strategic alliances and equity
investments, including the strategic partnership (the “Ginkgo Strategic Partnership”) with Ginkgo Bioworks, Inc. (“Ginkgo”);

our ability to execute on our strategy and the anticipated benefits of such strategy;
expectations of the amount or frequency of impairment losses, including as a result of the write-down of intangible assets, including goodwill;

the ongoing impact of the legalization of additional cannabis product types and forms for adult-use in Canada, including federal, provincial, territorial
and municipal regulations pertaining thereto, the related timing and impact thereof and our intentions to participate in such markets;

the future performance of our business and operations;

our competitive advantages and business strategies;

the competitive conditions of the industry;

the expected growth in the number of customers using our products;
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» our ability or plans to identify, develop, commercialize or expand our technology and R&D initiatives in cannabinoids, or the success thereof;

*  expectations regarding acquisitions and dispositions and the anticipated benefits therefrom, including the proposed sale of our Original B.C. Ltd.
(“OGBC”) production facility;

*  expectations regarding revenues, expenses and anticipated cash needs;
»  expectations regarding cash flow, liquidity and sources of funding;
*  expectations regarding capital expenditures;

» the expansion of our production and manufacturing, the costs and timing associated therewith and the receipt of applicable production and sale
licenses;

» the expected growth in our growing, production and supply chain capacities;

*  expectations regarding the resolution of litigation and other legal and regulatory proceedings, reviews and investigations;

*  expectations with respect to future production costs;

»  expectations with respect to future sales and distribution channels and networks;

* the expected methods to be used to distribute and sell our products;

+ the anticipated future gross margins of our operations;

* accounting standards and estimates;

»  our ability to timely and effectively remediate any material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting; and

*  expectations regarding the costs and benefits associated with our contracts and agreements with third parties, including under our third-party supply
and manufacturing agreements.

Certain of the Forward-Looking Statements contained herein concerning the industries in which we conduct our business are based on estimates prepared
by us using data from publicly available governmental sources, market research, industry analysis and on assumptions based on data and knowledge of
these industries, which we believe to be reasonable. However, although generally indicative of relative market positions, market shares and performance
characteristics, such data is inherently imprecise. The industries in which we conduct our business involve risks and uncertainties that are subject to change
based on various factors, which are described further below.

The Forward-Looking Statements contained herein are based upon certain material assumptions that were applied in drawing a conclusion or making a
forecast or projection, including: (i) our ability, and the abilities of our joint ventures and our suppliers and distributors, to effectively deal with the
restrictions, limitations and health issues presented by the COVID-19 pandemic and the ability to continue our production, distribution and sale of our
products and customer demand for and use of our products; (ii) management’s perceptions of historical trends, current conditions and expected future
developments; (iii) our ability to generate cash flow from operations; (iv) general economic, financial market, regulatory and political conditions in which
we operate; (v) the production and manufacturing capabilities and output from our facilities and our joint ventures, strategic alliances and equity
investments; (vi) consumer interest in our products; (vii) competition; (viii) anticipated and unanticipated costs; (ix) government regulation of our activities
and products including, but not limited to, the areas of taxation and environmental protection; (x) the timely receipt of any required regulatory
authorizations, approvals, consents, permits and/or licenses; (xi) our ability to obtain qualified staff, equipment and services in a timely and cost-efficient
manner; (xii) our ability to conduct operations in a safe, efficient and effective manner; (xiii) our ability to realize anticipated benefits, synergies or
generate revenue, profits or value from our recent acquisitions into our existing operations; (xiv) our ability to complete planned dispositions, including the
sale of OGBC, and, if completed, obtain our anticipated sales price; and (xv) other considerations that management believes to be appropriate in the
circumstances. While our management considers these assumptions to be reasonable based on information currently available to management, there is no
assurance that such expectations will prove to be correct.
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By their nature, Forward-Looking Statements are subject to inherent risks and uncertainties that may be general or specific and which give rise to the
possibility that expectations, forecasts, predictions, projections or conclusions will not prove to be accurate, that assumptions may not be correct and that
objectives, strategic goals and priorities will not be achieved. A variety of factors, including known and unknown risks, many of which are beyond our
control, could cause actual results to differ materially from the Forward-Looking Statements in this Annual Report and other reports we file with, or furnish
to, the SEC and other regulatory agencies and made by our directors, officers, other employees and other persons authorized to speak on our behalf. Such
factors include, without limitation, the risk that the COVID-19 pandemic may disrupt our operations and those of our suppliers and distribution channels
and negatively impact the demand for and use of our products; the risk that cost savings and any other synergies from the Altria Investment may not be
fully realized or may take longer to realize than expected; the risk that we will not complete planned dispositions, including the sale of OGBC, or, if
completed, obtain our anticipated sales price; the implementation and effectiveness of key personnel changes; future levels of revenues; consumer demand
for cannabis and U.S. hemp products; our ability to manage disruptions in credit markets or changes to our credit ratings; future levels of capital,
environmental or maintenance expenditures, general and administrative and other expenses; the success or timing of completion of ongoing or anticipated
capital or maintenance projects; business strategies, growth opportunities and expected investment; the adequacy of our capital resources and liquidity,
including but not limited to, availability of sufficient cash flow to execute our business plan (either within the expected timeframe or at all); the potential
effects of judicial, regulatory or other proceedings, or threatened litigation or proceedings, on our business, financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows; volatility in and/or degradation of general economic, market, industry or business conditions; compliance with applicable environmental,
economic, health and safety, energy and other policies and regulations and in particular health concerns with respect to vaping and the use of cannabis and
U.S. hemp products in vaping devices; the anticipated effects of actions of third parties such as competitors, activist investors or federal (including U.S.
federal), state, provincial, territorial or local regulatory authorities or self-regulatory organizations; changes in regulatory requirements in relation to our
business and products; and the factors discussed under the heading “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report. Readers are cautioned to consider these and other
factors, uncertainties and potential events carefully and not to put undue reliance on Forward-Looking Statements.

Forward-Looking Statements are provided for the purposes of assisting the reader in understanding our financial performance, financial position and cash
flows as of and for periods ended on certain dates and to present information about management’s current expectations and plans relating to the future, and
the reader is cautioned that the Forward-Looking Statements may not be appropriate for any other purpose. While we believe that the assumptions and
expectations reflected in the Forward-Looking Statements are reasonable based on information currently available to management, there is no assurance
that such assumptions and expectations will prove to have been correct. Forward-Looking Statements are made as of the date they are made and are based
on the beliefs, estimates, expectations and opinions of management on that date. We undertake no obligation to update or revise any Forward-Looking
Statements, whether as a result of new information, estimates or opinions, future events or results or otherwise or to explain any material difference
between subsequent actual events and such Forward-Looking Statements. The Forward-Looking Statements contained in this Annual Report and other
reports we file with, or furnish to, the SEC and other regulatory agencies and made by our directors, officers, other employees and other persons authorized
to speak on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by these cautionary statements.
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS

General

Cronos Group is incorporated under the laws of the Province of British Columbia with principal executive offices located at 111 Peter Street, Suite 300,
Toronto, Ontario M5V 2H1. Our telephone number is +1-416-504-0004, our website is https://thecronosgroup.com/ and the investor relations section of our
website is https://ir.thecronosgroup.com/. All references to our website are inactive references, are for informational purposes only and are not intended to
incorporate any information from or referenced on our website into this Annual Report.

Our common shares are currently listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) and on the NASDAQ Global Market (“Nasdaq”) under the trading symbol
“CRON.”

Description of the Business
Overview

Cronos Group is an innovative global cannabinoid company with international production and distribution across five continents. Cronos Group is
committed to building disruptive intellectual property by advancing cannabis research, technology and product development and are building an iconic
brand portfolio. Cronos Group’s brand portfolio includes PEACE NATURALS™, a global wellness platform; two adult-use brands, COVE™ and
Spinach™; and three U.S. hemp-derived consumer products brands, Lord Jones™, Happy Dance™ and PEACE+™.

Strategy

Cronos Group seeks to create value for shareholders by focusing on four core strategic priorities:
» growing a portfolio of iconic brands that responsibly elevate the consumer experience;

» developing a diversified global sales and distribution network;

»  establishing an efficient global supply chain; and

« creating and monetizing disruptive intellectual property.

Business Segments

Cronos Group reports through two segments: “United States” and “Rest of World.” These two segments represent the geographic regions in which the
Company operates and the different product offerings within each geographic region.

United States

On September 5, 2019, as a result of the acquisition (the “Redwood Acquisition”) of four Redwood Holding Group, LLC subsidiaries (collectively,
“Redwood”), the Company established the United States segment. Redwood manufactures, markets and distributes U.S. hemp-derived supplements and
cosmetic products through e-commerce, retail and hospitality partner channels in the United States under the brands Lord Jones™ and Happy Dance™.

No U.S. Schedule I Cannabis-Related Activities

On December 20, 2018, the 2018 Farm Bill was enacted in the U.S., removing U.S. hemp from the list of Schedule I controlled substances under the U.S.
Controlled Substances Act (the “CSA”), and on January 19, 2021, the USDA issued a final rule establishing a domestic U.S. hemp production regulatory
program, effective March 2021. Though a number of states in the U.S. have authorized the cultivation, distribution or possession of U.S. Schedule I
cannabis and U.S. Schedule I cannabis containing products to various degrees and subject to various requirements or conditions, U.S. Schedule I cannabis
continues to be a Schedule I controlled substance under the CSA. Therefore, the cultivation, manufacture, distribution and possession of U.S. Schedule T
cannabis violates federal law in the U.S. unless a U.S. federal agency, such as the DEA, grants a registration for a specific activity, such as research, with
U.S. Schedule I cannabis.

We do not engage in any activities related to U.S. Schedule I cannabis in the U.S. The Ginkgo Strategic Partnership contemplates the performance of
licensed R&D activities in the U.S. in order to produce cultured cannabinoids, but such activities are conducted in compliance with all applicable laws
regarding controlled substances.
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Rest of World

The Rest of World operating segment is involved in the cultivation, manufacture, and marketing of cannabis and cannabis-derived products for the medical
and adult-use markets.

In Canada, Cronos Group operates through a wholly owned license holder under the Cannabis Act (Canada) (the “Cannabis Act”), Peace Naturals Project
Inc. (“Peace Naturals”), which has production facilities near Stayner, Ontario (the “Peace Naturals Campus”). Cronos Group has established four strategic
joint ventures in Canada, Israel and Colombia and holds approximately 31% of the issued capital of Cronos Australia Limited (“Cronos Australia”), which
is listed on the Australian Securities Exchange under the trading symbol “CAU.” Cronos Group currently exports cannabis products to countries that permit
the import of such products, such as Germany, Israel and Australia.

Peace Naturals

The production facilities at the Peace Naturals Campus are licensed by Health Canada under the Cannabis Act to engage in, among other things, the
cultivation, processing, distribution and sale of dried cannabis flower, cannabis resin, cannabis seeds, cannabis plants, cannabis extracts, cannabis topicals
and cannabis edibles, among other prescribed activities.

Joint Ventures/Strategic Investment

We have established four strategic joint ventures in Canada, Israel and Colombia and also hold approximately 31% of the issued capital of Cronos
Australia, which we account for under the equity method of accounting.

Our ownership interest in each of our joint ventures is summarized in the table below.

Joint Venture Jurisdiction Ownership Interest®
Cronos Israel™ Israel 70%/90%
Cronos Growing Company Inc. (“Cronos GrowCo”)( Canada 50%
NatuEra S.a.r.]. (“Natuera”) @) Colombia 50%
MedMen Canada Inc. (“MedMen Canada”)") Canada 50%

O We define ownership interest as the proportionate share of net income to which we are entitled; equity interest may differ from ownership interest shown above. We consolidate the financial
results of Cronos Israel and account for our other joint ventures under the equity method of accounting. See Note 2 and Note 6 of our audited consolidated financial statements
included in Item 8 of this Annual Report.

) A strategic joint venture with Kibbutz Gan Shmuel (“Gan Shmuel”), an Israeli agricultural collective settlement, for the production, manufacture and global distribution of medical cannabis,
consisting of a cultivation company (Cronos Israel G.S. Cultivation Ltd.), a manufacturing company (Cronos Israel G.S. Manufacturing Ltd.), a distribution company (Cronos Israel
G.S. Store Ltd.) and a pharmacy company (Cronos Israel G.S. Pharmacy Ltd., collectively, “Cronos Israel”). We hold a 70% equity interest in the cultivation company and a 90%
equity interest in each of the manufacturing, distribution and pharmacy companies.

(i A strategic joint venture with a group of investors led by Bert Mucci (the “Greenhouse Partners”), a Canadian large-scale greenhouse operator. Each of Cronos Group and the Greenhouse
Partners owns a 50% equity interest in Cronos GrowCo and has equal representation on its board of directors.

) A strategic joint venture with an affiliate of Agroidea SAS (“AGI”), a Colombian agricultural services provider. Each of the Company and AGI owns a 50% equity interest in Natuera.
Cronos Group has three manager nominees on the board of managers of Natuera, while AGI has four manager nominees on the board of managers. Natuera intends to develop,
cultivate, manufacture, and export cannabis-based medical and consumer products for the Latin American and global markets.

™ A strategic joint venture with MedMen Enterprises USA, LLC (“MedMen”) for retail in provinces in Canada that permit private retail. Each of the Company and MedMen owns a 50%
equity interest in MedMen Canada, and has equal representation on the board of directors of MedMen Canada.

Operations Outside of Canada and the U.S.

Cronos Group anticipates expanding in the geographic markets outside of Canada and the U.S. in which we currently participate and entering new
geographic markets. By leveraging operational, manufacturing and regulatory expertise, quality standards and procedures and intellectual property, we
believe that we are well-positioned to effectively access these markets. Subject to applicable regulatory approvals, strategic international business
opportunities pursued by us could include:

»  production, distribution, sales and marketing in jurisdictions which have passed legislation to legalize the production, distribution and possession of
cannabis and cannabis products at all relevant levels of government; and

» the export of cannabis and cannabis products to markets that permit the import of such products.

We seek to conduct business only in jurisdictions where we believe it is legal to do so and where such operations remain compliant with our listing
obligations with the TSX and Nasdaq. Determining whether a business activity is legal in a jurisdiction may require judgment since laws, rules, regulations
and licenses may not be clear and legal interpretation and advice of counsel may vary. If a business activity in which we engage in any jurisdiction is
determined to be illegal, we could be subject to fines, penalties, reputational harm, delisting from securities exchanges and material civil, criminal and
regulatory litigation and proceedings or be enjoined from doing business in the applicable jurisdiction. See “Risk Factors - Risks Relating to Regulation
and Compliance - We operate in highly regulated sectors where the regulatory environment is rapidly developing, and we may not always succeed in
complying fully with applicable regulatory requirements in all jurisdictions where we carry on business.”
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Brand Portfolio
We are committed to building a portfolio of iconic brands that responsibly elevate the consumer experience.

In the U.S., we market and distribute solely U.S. hemp-derived supplements and cosmetic products through e-commerce, retail and hospitality channels
under the brands Lord Jones™ and Happy Dance™.

In Canada, we sell a variety of cannabis and cannabis products, including dried cannabis, pre-rolls and cannabis extracts (in the form of tinctures and
vaporizers) through wholesale and direct-to-client channels under our wellness platform, PEACE NATURALS™, and under our two adult-use brands,
COVE™ and Spinach™. In addition, PEACE NATURALS™ dried cannabis and cannabis oils are currently exported for sale to Australia, Germany and

Israel.
o ' b
PEACENATURALS' S
& PEACE+
T Premium adult-use  Mainstream adult- Prestige adult Masstige adult
Sl FesE Rt Wellness use consumer goods consumer goods Mass market
. . Dried cannabis, . . _ .
Product Offeri Drleg.capnabls, cannabis tinctures, Drrlgﬂsce;r;n%lilisz,e[?;e us. herlnp ~derived U.S hemp-derived In development (not
roduct Offering cannabis tinctures, o o]ls, vaporizers , Vap supplements, cosmetics yet offered for sale)
vaporizers cosmetics
Geographic Australia, Canada, o
Avaiglain)lity Germany and Israel Canada Canada u.s. u.s. Anticipated U.S.

Wellness Brands

We currently distribute products under PEACE NATURALS™ for the Canadian and non-U.S. international medical cannabis markets. PEACE
NATURALS™ is a global wellness platform committed to producing high-quality cannabis and cannabis products. PEACE NATURALS™ is focused on
building and shaping the global cannabis wellness market and promoting a holistic approach to wellness. The brand’s goal is to improve the lives of others,
one client at a time.

Adult-Use Brands

COVE™ js a premium positioned brand focused on creating crafted experiences. COVE™’s indoor, strain-specific grow rooms seek to maintain the
highest quality standards throughout the entire process. The goal of this premium brand is to Make Each Experience a Discovery™,

Spinach™ is positioned as a mainstream adult-use brand with High Expectations™, which is geared towards a wide range of consumers who are looking for
entertaining and fun ways to enhance activities. A lighthearted and playful brand, Spinach™ is focused on offering Farm-To-Bowl™ products that bring
friends together and make experiences more enjoyable.

Adult Consumer Product Brands

The Company operates Lord Jones™, a preeminent U.S. hemp-derived CBD brand in the U.S., for the adult consumer goods market. Lord Jones™ is a
prestige beauty and lifestyle brand focusing on high-quality U.S. hemp-derived personal care products. Lord Jones™ U.S. hemp-derived supplements and
cosmetics products are distributed online and to approximately 900 premium stores and retail channels, including Sephora, Neiman Marcus and SoulCycle.

During the fourth quarter of 2020, the Company launched Happy Dance™, a U.S. hemp-derived CBD skincare and personal care brand, in partnership with
Kristen Bell. Happy Dance™ products are made with CBD from premium full-spectrum hemp extract and provide consumers with high quality skincare at
an accessible price point. Happy Dance™ launched with three product offerings: All-Over Whipped Body Butter +CBD, Head-To-Toe Coconut Melt
+CBD and Stress Away Bath Bomb +CBD, all of which are currently available online. Happy Dance™ continues its expansion by securing its first major
U.S. retailer, ULTA Beauty™. The full collection of Happy Dance™ products is expected to launch online at ULTA.com and in-store at over 550 ULTA
Beauty™ locations across the U.S. in the coming weeks. Through the partnership with Ms. Bell, Cronos Group looks forward to future introductions of
innovative products to the hemp-derived CBD market.
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The Company launched PEACE+™, a U.S. hemp-derived CBD brand in the U.S. PEACE+™ U.S. hemp-derived CBD products are currently under
development and are not yet offered for sale. PEACE+™ is about more than making a better, high-quality U.S. hemp-derived CBD product; it stems from
the belief that well-being can lead to a better world, full of positivity and possibility. It is a belief that extends beyond the products and into everything the
brand seeks to do and stand for. The brand intends to distribute its products through the mass market focused retail channel in the U.S. in the future.

Global Sales and Distribution - Principal Markets

Cronos Group has developed a diversified global sales and distribution network by leveraging established partners for their scale, sales force and market
expertise. We have also built a distribution footprint in Canada through the direct-to-client medical market and the adult-use market, as well as a
distribution footprint for U.S. hemp-derived consumer products in the U.S. through e-commerce, retail and hospitality channels.

United States Market and Distribution

Through Redwood, the Company manufactures, markets and distributes U.S. hemp-derived supplements and cosmetic products through e-commerce, retail
and hospitality partner channels in the U.S. under the Lord Jones™ and Happy Dance™ brands. Redwood’s products use high-quality U.S. hemp extract
that retains naturally occurring phytocannabinoids and terpenes found in the plant. We plan to use our resources to capitalize on market demand and to
further create and scale U.S. hemp-derived consumer products and brands. We do not engage in any commercial activities related to the cultivation,
distribution or possession of U.S. Schedule I cannabis in the U.S.

The Company has also launched its PEACE+™ brand for U.S. hemp-derived CBD products in the U.S. PEACE+™ U.S. hemp-derived CBD products are
currently under development and are not yet offered for sale. The Company intends to access the U.S. mass market focused retail channel in the future.

Rest of World
Canadian Market and Distribution

» Direct-to-Client. We currently sell dried cannabis and cannabis extracts directly to clients through our wellness platform, PEACE NATURALS™,
These clients are typically sourced through physician and clinic referrals or word-of-mouth recommendations from existing clients.

*  Adult-Use. We currently sell dried flower, pre-rolls and cannabis extracts through our adult-use brands, COVE™ and Spinach™, to cannabis control
authorities in various provinces, including Ontario, Québec, British Columbia, Alberta, Manitoba, Nova Scotia, New Brunswick, and Prince Edward
Island, as well as to private-sector retailers in Saskatchewan, subject to the relevant province’s product or other restrictions and requirements. As the
Company’s supply chain grows, the Company continues to expand its portfolio of cannabis products for the existing markets in Canada. The rate of the
Company’s expansion of distribution remains subject to factors that are beyond the Company’s control, including evolving regulations, the
development of sufficient supply chain and manufacturing infrastructure and development of distribution and retail channels across Canada.

Markets and Distribution Outside of Canada

»  Israel. Cronos Israel has received the IMC-GAP, IMC-GMP and IMC-GDP certifications required for the cultivation, production and marketing of
dried flower, pre-rolls and oils in Israel. In the second quarter of 2020, Cronos Israel began distributing PEACE NATURALS™ branded cannabis
products to the Israeli medical cannabis market. See “- Licenses and Regulatory Framework in Israel.”

* Europe. We have distributed and anticipate continuing to distribute PEACE NATURALS™ branded cannabis products in Germany through an
exclusive distribution relationship with G. Pohl-Boskamp GmbH & Co. KG (“Pohl-Boskamp”), an international pharmaceutical manufacturer and
distributor with a distribution network of pharmacies. We have also entered into a strategic distribution partnership with Delfarma Sp. Zo.o
(“Delfarma”), a pharmaceutical wholesaler in Poland. We and Delfarma are currently in the process of obtaining the necessary regulatory approvals to
sell cannabis products in Poland.

* Latin America. We intend to distribute cannabis and cannabis products to the Latin American and other cannabis markets through the operations of
Natuera. In 2020, Natuera began commercial cultivation of non-psychoactive (hemp) cultivars registered with the Colombian Agricultural Institute.
Also in 2020, Natuera completed a number of test exports of hemp-derived CBD extract to the U.S. and United Kingdom for business development
and R&D purposes, as well as its first export of hemp-derived CBD extract to the U.S. for commercial purposes.

*  Australia and Asia-Pacific. Cronos Australia has received an import license from the Australian Office of Drug Control (the “ODC”), together with all
necessary permits, to import PEACE NATURALS™ branded cannabis products for sale in the Australian medical market under the terms of the
relevant permits. Cronos Australia facilitates distribution of the Company’s products in Australia, New Zealand and South East Asia, bolstering the
Company’s distribution network in the Australia and Asia-Pacific region.
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We continue to seek new international distribution channels in jurisdictions that have legalized the production, distribution and possession of cannabis and
cannabis products at all relevant levels of government.

Global Supply Chain

Cronos Group is focused on establishing an efficient global supply chain by seeking to develop industry-leading methodologies and best practices at the
Peace Naturals Campus and leveraging this expertise to create beneficial production partnerships. We plan to continue to develop a global supply chain,
which will employ a combination of wholly owned production facilities, third-party suppliers and global production partnerships, all of which will support
the manufacturing of cannabinoid-based consumer goods.

United States

In the ordinary course of our business, we enter into contract manufacturing agreements with suppliers of our cosmetic products. We supply these third-
party manufacturers with U.S. hemp extract or infused bulk product, fragrances and/or packaging that we source from other third-party suppliers. The
contract manufacturers supply any other necessary ingredients to manufacture products using our formulas and fill and package our finished products. Our
contract manufacturing and supply agreements generally do not require us to purchase minimum quantities of materials or products.

In producing our supplement products, we source our ingredients from our suppliers on an ongoing as-needed basis. We have not entered into any contracts
that obligate us to purchase a minimum quantity or exclusively from any supplier. Our supplements are manufactured at our facilities in Los Angeles,
California according to Good Manufacturing Practices (“GMP”).

We are obligated to purchase our supply of certain U.S. hemp extract from one supplier unless that supplier cannot provide the agreed-upon quantities in
relation to certain brands in the U.S.

Rest of World
Canadian Supply Chain

*  Production Facilities at Peace Naturals. The Peace Naturals Campus is licensed for cannabis production and the manufacturing of certain cannabis
products. The production processes at the Peace Naturals Campus are GMP-certified under relevant European Economic Area GMP directives by the
national competent authority of Germany. The Peace Naturals Campus is engaged in cultivation, processing, finishing, packaging and shipping
activities, as well as tissue culture and micro propagation, providing a year-round supply of cannabis. The Peace Naturals Campus also engages in
R&D to pilot various production technologies, with any tests yielding favorable operational improvements evaluated for dissemination to the
Company’s other partnership facilities. In addition, the Peace Naturals Campus engages in R&D on cannabinoid formulations, delivery systems and
product development.

*  Cronos GrowCo. Cronos GrowCo completed construction of the structure of its greenhouse in Kingsville, Ontario in 2019. Full completion of
construction of the facility, including all fixtures within the greenhouse and all post-harvest activity areas was completed in 2020. In November 2020,
Cronos GrowCo obtained a cultivation license for the operations contemplated by the first phase of the project. The Company expects the facility to
become operational in phases beginning in the first half of 2021. Full commencement of operations at Cronos GrowCo will be subject to obtaining the
appropriate licenses and other customary approvals under applicable law.

+  Third-Party Supply and Manufacturing Agreements. In the ordinary course of our business, we enter into spot market purchase agreements and supply
agreements with suppliers of dried cannabis and other cannabis products. Our supply agreements, for the most part, do not obligate us to purchase
minimum quantities of products and generally contain provisions permitting cancellation of orders or termination on notice. We also enter into contract
manufacturing agreements with other license holders, pursuant to which such license holders provide cannabis extract and services related to the filling
and packaging of vaporizer devices for the Canadian cannabis adult-use and wellness markets.

Supply Chain Outside of Canada

*  Cronos Israel. Cronos Israel has received the IMC-GAP, IMC-GMP and IMC-GDP certifications required for the cultivation, production and marketing
of dried flower, pre-rolls and oils in Israel. In the second quarter of 2020, Cronos Israel began distributing PEACE NATURALS™ branded cannabis
products to the Israeli medical cannabis market. See “- Licenses and Regulatory Framework in Israel.”

* Natuera. Natuera is currently focused on accessing new markets and product development, including developing additional bulk offerings of hemp-
derived CBD distillate and water-soluble hemp-derived CBD solutions. In 2020, Natuera began commercial cultivation of non-psychoactive (hemp)
cultivars registered with the Colombian Agricultural Institute. Also in 2020, Natuera completed a number of test exports of hemp-derived CBD extract
to the U.S. and United Kingdom for business development and R&D purposes, as well as its first export of hemp-derived CBD extract to the U.S. for
commercial purposes.
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Major Customers

Four major customers (sales to each of which equaled or exceeded 10% of the Company’s consolidated net revenues for the year ended December 31,
2020), Alberta Gambling and Liquor Commission, B.C. Liquor Distribution Branch, Ontario Cannabis Retail Corporation, and Société Québécoise du
Cannabis (the “SQDC?”) (the cannabis control authorities in Alberta, British Columbia, Ontario and Québec, respectively), accounted for approximately
19%, 13%, 16% and 15%, respectively, of our consolidated net revenues for the year ended December 31, 2020. We mitigate credit risk through
verification of the customers’ liquidity prior to the authorization of material transactions.

Government Contracts

In Canada, we sell cannabis and cannabis products to cannabis control authorities in various provinces, including, Ontario, Québec, British Columbia,
Alberta, Manitoba, Nova Scotia, New Brunswick and Prince Edward Island, where each such cannabis control authority is the sole wholesale distributor
and in certain provinces, the sole retailer, of cannabis and cannabis products. We sell these products to the various cannabis control authorities under supply
agreements that are subject to terms that allow for renegotiation of sale prices and termination at the election of the applicable cannabis control authority. In
particular, the cannabis control authorities have in the past and may in the future choose to stop purchasing our products, may change the prices at which
they purchase our products, may return our products to us and, in certain circumstances, may cancel purchase orders at any time including after products
have been shipped. For the year ended December 31, 2020 we had approximately $36.4 million in sales to cannabis control authorities.

Research and Development Activities and Intellectual Property
Cronos Research Labs

Cronos Research Labs Ltd. (“Cronos Research Labs”) is our Israel-based global research and development center for innovation. The state-of-the-art
facility is equipped with advanced technology and analytical testing infrastructure and is home to an experienced team of scientific talent. The Cronos
Research Labs team is comprised of scientific researchers, mechanical, electrical and software engineers, and analytical and formulation scientists. Cronos
Group engages in both understanding the fundamental science behind the interactions of cannabinoids with each other and how those interactions can be
leveraged to best deliver on the consumer’s needs. Cronos Group’s work spans many aspects of cannabis research from strain development, to growing
conditions to extraction technology to biosynthesis to product development, all supported by advances in analytical sciences. This global R&D center is
expected to significantly enhance Cronos Group’s innovation capabilities and accelerate development of the next-generation of cannabinoid products.

Ginkgo

The collaboration and license agreement between Ginkgo and the Company (the “Ginkgo Collaboration Agreement”) could enable us to produce certain
cultured cannabinoids at commercial scale at a fraction of the cost compared to traditional cultivation practices. These cultured cannabinoid molecules are
identical to those produced by plants grown using traditional cultivation but are created by leveraging the power of biological manufacturing via
fermentation. In addition to tetrahydrocannabinol (“THC”) and CBD, these cultured cannabinoids include rare cannabinoids that are economically
impractical or nearly impossible to produce at high purity and scale through traditional cultivation.

If the Ginkgo Strategic Partnership is ultimately successful, Cronos Group expects to be able to produce large volumes of these cultured cannabinoids from
custom yeast strains by leveraging existing fermentation infrastructure at Cronos Fermentation in Winnipeg, Manitoba without incurring significant capital
expenditures to build new cultivation and extraction facilities.

The Ginkgo Strategic Partnership contemplates the performance of licensed R&D activities in the U.S. in order to produce cultured cannabinoids and such
activities are to be conducted in compliance with all applicable laws regarding controlled substances. We intend to produce and distribute the target
cannabinoids globally, where permitted by applicable law, and have received confirmation from Health Canada that this method of production is permitted
under the Cannabis Act.

Ginkgo has filed certain patent applications pertaining to biosynthesis of cannabinoids to protect the intellectual property developed as part of the research
progressing under the Ginkgo Strategic Partnership. Under the partnership, Cronos Group is the exclusive licensee of the intellectual property covered by
the patent applications for the target cannabinoids.

Cronos Fermentation

Cronos Fermentation is a GMP-standard fermentation and manufacturing facility in Winnipeg, Manitoba. The state-of-the-art facility includes fully
equipped laboratories covering microbiology, organic and analytical chemistry, quality control and method development as well as two large-scale
microbial fermentation production areas, three downstream processing plants, and bulk product and packaging capabilities. The facility is expected to
provide the fermentation and manufacturing capabilities we need in order to capitalize on the progress underway with Ginkgo, by enabling us to produce
the target cannabinoids contemplated under the Ginkgo Collaboration Agreement at commercial scale with high quality and high purity.
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We have begun to work on developing scale-up and downstream processes at Cronos Fermentation, while in parallel Ginkgo develops microorganisms for
producing cultured compounds. As we develop the processes and parameters, these learnings will be used for the strains that will be used for commercial
production of cultured cannabinoids. Commercial production at the facility is subject to completion of the equipment alignment for cannabinoid-based
production, the receipt of the appropriate licenses from Health Canada for the production of cultured cannabinoids under the Cannabis Act and the
achievement of the relevant milestones under the Ginkgo Strategic Partnership.

The Company is prioritizing rare cannabinoids, such as CBG, over common cannabinoids, such as THC and CBD, and will be sequencing commercial
production and subsequent product launches based upon this approach. The Company currently expects to achieve its first equity milestone by the third
quarter of 2021. The achievement of equity milestones for the remaining seven target cannabinoids will occur sequentially based on the Company’s future
commercialization plans, which will depend on consumer insights, customer preferences and competitive opportunities.

Technion Skin Health Research Partnership

We have a sponsored research agreement (the “Technion Research Agreement”) with the Technion Research and Development Foundation of the Technion
- Israel Institute of Technology (“Technion”) to explore the use of cannabinoids and their role in regulating skin health and skin disorders. Preclinical
studies are being conducted by Technion over a three-year period and will focus on three skin conditions: acne, psoriasis and skin repair.

Research is led by Technion faculty members Dr. David “Dedi” Meiri and Dr. Yaron Fuchs, two of the world’s leading researchers in cannabis and skin
stem cell research, respectively. Dr. Meiri heads the Laboratory of Cannabis and Cancer Research with vast experience in cannabis and endocannabinoid
research. Dr. Fuchs heads the Laboratory of Stem Cell Biology and Regenerative Medicine with years of experience in the biology of the skin and its
pathologies. Development and implementation of the research is being conducted at Technion’s Laboratory of Cancer Biology and Cannabis Research and
the Lorry I. Lokey Interdisciplinary Center of Life Sciences and Engineering in Haifa, Israel.

Enterprise Initiatives

In the third quarter of 2020, the Company implemented a new enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) system across the Canadian business. Cronos Group
has also commenced work to broaden the scope of our ERP system to the U.S. business, which is currently expected to be launched in the first half of 2021.
The new ERP system will be a meaningful component of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting and is expected to enable us to realize
efficiencies throughout our supply chain and operations.

Competitive Conditions
Competitive Conditions in the United States

We face competition in all aspects of our business in the U.S. hemp market. In addition to numerous small companies and brands, we compete with larger,
national companies that may have larger distribution capabilities with more developed and efficient supply chain operations. The principal factors on which
we compete with other U.S. hemp brands are product quality, innovation, intellectual property, brand recognition and price. We believe the Company’s
strong capitalization resulting from the Altria Investment, along with the Lord Jones™, Happy Dance™ and PEACE+™ brand equity, recognition and
differentiation in the U.S. hemp retail channel, will enable us to provide better quality consumer products, grow our U.S. hemp business and strengthen our
market position in the U.S. However, rapidly evolving and developing federal and state regulatory frameworks affect all areas of our business and could
result in our inability to compete successfully against our current and future competitors. See “ -U.S. Hemp Regulatory Framework” for further information
on regulatory framework on U.S. hemp.

Rest of World
Competitive Conditions in Canada

We face competition in all aspects of our business in the Canadian medical and adult-use markets. As the demand for cannabis increases as a result of the
legalization of adult-use cannabis in Canada under the Cannabis Act, we believe that new competitors will continue to enter the market.

The principal factors on which we compete with other Canadian license holders are product quality, innovation, intellectual property, brand recognition and
price. We believe the Company’s strong capitalization resulting from the Altria Investment will enable us to provide better quality consumer products, grow
our Canadian business and strengthen our market position in Canada. However, a rapidly evolving and stringent federal regulatory framework affects all
areas of our business. See “—Regulatory Framework in Canada” for further information on the regulatory framework applicable to our Canadian business.

We also face competition from illegal market participants that are unlicensed and unregulated. As these illegal market participants do not comply with the
regulations governing the cannabis industry, their operations may also have significantly lower costs. Any inability of the Canadian federal or provincial
law enforcement authorities to enforce existing laws prohibiting the unlicensed cultivation and sale of cannabis and cannabis-based products could result in
the perpetuation of the illegal market for cannabis.
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Competitive Conditions in Europe and Israel

We face competition when entering new markets in Europe and in Israel. The principal factors on which we compete are product quality, innovation,
intellectual property, brand recognition, price and physician familiarity. We believe we are positioned to enter certain markets in Europe and Israel in a
meaningful way while continuing to operate and penetrate the markets we currently serve, such as in Israel and Germany, due to our strong capitalization
resulting from the Altria Investment, extensive experience and expertise in the highly regulated cannabis industry in Canada, which can be leveraged when
entering new markets or growing existing operations, and strong partnerships with local pharmaceutical distributors. We believe these factors will enable us
to develop greater market penetration, provide a greater variety of quality consumer products and enter into new markets and strengthen our existing
market position in Europe and Israel. However, a patchwork of regulatory frameworks and federal regulations in these various regions also affect our
ability to compete in emerging markets as evolving regulations and federal frameworks have the potential to affect all areas of our business.

Altria Strategic Investment
Altria Investment and Investor Rights Agreement

As of December 31, 2020, Altria beneficially owned 156,573,537 of our common shares, had the right to acquire up to an additional 80,056,296 common
shares on or prior to March 8, 2023 under the Altria Warrant, which has not been exercised, and the right to acquire additional common shares under its
pre-emptive and top-up rights as discussed under “Pre-Emptive Rights and Top-Up Rights” below.

Investor Rights Agreement

In connection with the Altria Investment, we entered into the investor rights agreement (the “Investor Rights Agreement”) with Altria pursuant to which
Altria received certain governance rights which are summarized below.

Board Representation

The Investor Rights Agreement provides that, for so long as Altria and certain of its affiliates (the “Altria Group”) continue to beneficially own at least
40% of our issued and outstanding common shares and the size of our board of directors (the “Board”) is seven directors, we agree to nominate for election
as directors to the Board four individuals designated by Altria (the “Altria Nominees”). In addition, for so long as the Altria Group continues to beneficially
own greater than 10% but less than 40% of our issued and outstanding common shares, Altria shall be entitled to nominate a number of Altria Nominees
that represents its proportionate share of the number of directors comprising the Board (rounded up to the next whole number) based on the percentage of
our issued and outstanding common shares beneficially owned by the Altria Group at the relevant time. At least one Altria Nominee must be independent
as long as Atria has the right to designate at least three Altria Nominees and the Altria Group’s beneficial ownership of our issued and outstanding common
shares does not exceed 50%.

The Investor Rights Agreement also provides that, subject to certain exceptions, for so long as Altria is entitled to designate one or more Altria Nominees,
we agree to appoint to each committee established by the Board such number of Altria Nominees that represents Altria’s proportionate share of the number
of directors comprising the applicable Board committee (rounded up to the next whole number) based on the percentage of our issued and outstanding
common shares beneficially owned by the Altria Group at the relevant time.

Approval Rights

The Investor Rights Agreement also grants Altria, until the Altria Group beneficially owns less than 10% of our issued and outstanding common shares,
approval rights over certain transactions that may be undertaken by us. We have agreed that, among other things, we will not (and will use our
commercially reasonable efforts to cause our affiliates not to), without the prior written consent of Altria:

*  consolidate or merge into or with another person or enter into any similar business combination;

* acquire any shares or similar equity interests, instruments convertible into or exchangeable for shares or similar equity interests, assets, business or
operations with an aggregate value of more than C$100,000,000, in a single transaction or a series of related transactions;

» sell, transfer, cause to be transferred, exclusively license, lease, pledge or otherwise dispose of any of our or any of our significant subsidiaries’ assets,
business or operations in the aggregate with a value of more than C$60,000,000;

*  except as required by applicable law, make any changes to our policy with respect to the declaration and payment of any dividends on our common
shares;
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» subject to certain exceptions, enter into any contract or other agreement, arrangement, or understanding with respect to, or consummate, any
transaction or series of related transactions between us or any of our subsidiaries, on the one hand, and any related parties, on the other hand, involving
consideration or any other transfer of value required to be disclosed pursuant to Item 404 of Regulation S-K promulgated pursuant to the United States
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”); or

*  engage in the production, cultivation, advertisement, marketing, promotion, sale or distribution of cannabis or any Related Products and Services (as
defined herein) in any jurisdiction, including the U.S., where such activity is prohibited by applicable law as of the date of the Investor Rights
Agreement (subject to certain limitations).

Exclusivity Covenant

Pursuant to the terms of the Investor Rights Agreement, until the earlier of:

(i) the six-month anniversary of the date on which the Altria Group beneficially owns less than 10% of our issued and outstanding common shares; and
(i) the six-month anniversary of the termination of the Investor Rights Agreement,

Altria has agreed to make us its exclusive partner for pursuing cannabis opportunities throughout the world (subject to certain limited exceptions).
Pre-Emptive Rights and Top-Up Rights

Pursuant to the terms of the Investor Rights Agreement and provided the Altria Group continues to beneficially own at least 20% of our issued and
outstanding common shares, Altria has a right to purchase, directly or indirectly by another member of the Altria Group, upon the occurrence of certain
issuances of common shares by us (including issuances of common shares to Ginkgo under the Ginkgo Collaboration Agreement (each, a “Ginkgo
Issuance™)) (each, a “Triggering Event”) and subject to obtaining the necessary approvals, up to such number of our common shares issuable in connection
with the Triggering Event which will, when added to our common shares beneficially owned by the Altria Group immediately prior to the Triggering
Event, result in the Altria Group beneficially owning the same percentage of our issued and outstanding common shares that the Altria Group beneficially
owned immediately prior to the Triggering Event (in each case, calculated on a non-diluted basis). The price per common share to be paid by Altria
pursuant to the exercise of these pre-emptive rights will be, subject to certain limited exceptions, the same price per common share at which the common
shares are sold in the relevant Triggering Event; provided that if the consideration paid in connection with any such issuance is non-cash, the price per
common share that would have been received had such common shares been issued for cash consideration will be determined by an independent committee
(acting reasonably and in good faith); provided further that the price per common share to be paid by Altria pursuant to the exercise of its pre-emptive
rights in connection with a Ginkgo Issuance will be C$16.25 per common share.

In addition to (and without duplication of) the aforementioned pre-emptive rights, the Investor Rights Agreement provides Altria with top-up rights,
exercisable on a quarterly basis, whereby, subject to obtaining the necessary approvals and for so long as the Altria Group beneficially owns at least 20% of
our issued and outstanding common shares, Altria has the right to subscribe for such number of common shares in connection with any Top-Up Securities
(as defined below) that we may, from time to time, issue after the date of the Investor Rights Agreement, as will, when added to the common shares
beneficially owned by the Altria Group prior to such issuance, result in the Altria Group beneficially owning the same percentage of our issued and
outstanding common shares that the Altria Group beneficially owned immediately prior to such issuance. “Top-Up Securities” means any of our common
shares issued:

» on the exercise, conversion or exchange of our convertible securities issued prior to the date of the Investor Rights Agreement or on the exercise,
conversion or exchange of our convertible securities issued after the date of the Investor Rights Agreement in compliance with the terms of the
Investor Rights Agreement, in each case, excluding any of our convertible securities owned by any member of the Altria Group;

*  pursuant to any share incentive plan of the Company;

» on the exercise of any right granted by us pro rata to all shareholders to purchase additional common shares and/or other securities of the Company
(other than a right issued in a rights offering in which Altria had the right to participate);

* in connection with bona fide bank debt, equipment financing or non-equity interim financing transactions with our lenders, in each case, with an equity
component; or

* in connection with bona fide acquisitions (including acquisitions of assets or rights under a license or otherwise), mergers or similar business
combination transactions or joint ventures undertaken and completed by us,

in each case, other than (A) common shares issued pursuant to Altria’s pre-emptive right and (B) common shares issued pursuant to the Ginkgo
Collaboration Agreement.
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The price per common share to be paid by Altria pursuant to the exercise of its top-up rights will be, subject to certain limited exceptions, the volume-
weighted average price of our common shares on the TSX for the 10 full days preceding such exercise by Altria; provided that the price per common share
to be paid by Altria pursuant to the exercise of its top-up rights in connection with the issuance of common shares pursuant to the exercise of options or
warrants that were outstanding on the date of closing of the Altria Investment will be C$16.25 per common share without any set off, counterclaim,
deduction or withholding.

Standstill Covenant

For a period commencing on the date of the Investor Rights Agreement and ending on the earlier of (i) the date on which the Altria Warrant has been
exercised in full by Altria, and (ii) the expiry or termination of the Altria Warrant, the Investor Rights Agreement provides that, without the prior approval
of an independent committee of the Board, no member of the Altria Group shall, directly or indirectly, acquire our common shares (other than upon
settlement of any of our common shares issued, sold and delivered pursuant to the proper exercise of rights contemplated by the Altria Warrant Certificate
or the exercise of pre-emptive rights or top-up rights). The Altria Group, however, may make a take-over bid or commence a tender offer, in each case, to
acquire not less than all of our issued and outstanding common shares (other than any such common shares beneficially owned by any member of the Altria
Group and its affiliates) in accordance with applicable law.

Registration Rights

The Investor Rights Agreement provides Altria with the right, subject to certain limitations and to the extent permitted by applicable law, to require us to
use reasonable commercial efforts to file a prospectus under applicable securities laws and/or a registration statement, qualifying our common shares held
by Altria for distribution in Canada and/or the U.S. In addition, the Investor Rights Agreement provides Altria with the right to require us to include our
common shares held by Altria in any proposed distribution of common shares in Canada and/or the U.S. by us for our own account.

Commercial Arrangements

In connection with the Altria Investment, we and Altria have entered into certain commercial arrangements (the “Commercial Arrangements”), pursuant to
which Altria provides us with consulting services on matters which may include R&D, marketing, advertising and brand management, government
relations and regulatory affairs, finance, tax planning, logistics and other corporate administrative matters. The services under the Commercial
Arrangements are provided on customary terms and for a services fee payable by us that is equal to Altria’s reasonably allocated costs plus 5%.

Protection of Intangible Assets

The ownership and protection of our intellectual property rights is a significant aspect of our future success. Currently, we rely on trademarks, patents,
copyrights, trade secrets, technical know-how and proprietary information. We protect our intellectual property by strategically seeking and obtaining
registered protection where possible, developing and implementing standard operating procedures to protect inventions, germplasm, trade secrets, technical
know-how and proprietary information and entering into agreements with parties that have access to our inventions, germplasm, trade secrets, technical
know-how and proprietary information, such as our partners, collaborators, employees and consultants, to protect confidentiality and ownership. We also
seek to preserve the integrity and confidentiality of our inventions, germplasm, trade secrets, trademarks, technical know-how and proprietary information
by maintaining physical security of our premises and physical and electronic security of our information technology systems.

In addition, we have sought trademark protection in many jurisdictions, including Canada, Australia, the U.S., China, Israel and Europe. Our ability to
obtain registered trademark protection for cannabis-related goods and services, in particular for cannabis itself, may be limited in certain countries outside
of Canada. For example, in the U.S., registered federal trademark protection is only available for goods and services that can be lawfully used in interstate
commerce; the PTO is not currently approving any trademark applications for U.S. Schedule I cannabis, or certain goods containing U.S. hemp-derived
CBD (such as dietary supplements and food) until the FDA provides clearer guidance on the regulation of such products. In Europe, trademarks cannot be
obtained for products that are “contrary to public policy or accepted principles of morality.” Accordingly, our ability to obtain intellectual property rights
and enforce intellectual property rights against third-party uses of similar trademarks may be limited in certain jurisdictions.

Human Capital Resources

Cronos Group is committed to building disruptive intellectual property by advancing cannabis research, technology and product development and is
seeking to build an iconic brand portfolio. Our employees are critical to achieving this mission. In order to compete and succeed in our highly competitive
and rapidly evolving industry, it is crucial that we continue to attract, develop, motivate and retain skilled, talented and passionate employees. The
Company’s people strategy seeks to build a winning team and to foster a community where everyone feels included and empowered to do to their best
work.

As of December 31, 2020, we had 665 full-time employees and 2 full-time contractors. Of our full-time employees, 472 were in Canada, 86 were in the
U.S., and 107 were in Israel. None of our employees are represented by a labor union or covered by a collective bargaining agreement.
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Compensation and Benefits. Our compensation program is designed to attract, motivate and reward talented individuals who possess the skills necessary
to support our business objectives, assist in the achievement of our strategic goals and create long-term value for our shareholders. We believe we offer
competitive compensation and benefits in each of our locations, including long-term equity awards to eligible employees under our 2020 Omnibus Equity
Incentive Plan to reward and retain talented individuals and align employee and shareholder interests.

Safety, Health and Well-being. The safety, health and well-being of our employees are paramount to the Company. We provide our employees and their
families with access to a variety of health and welfare programs, including benefits that support their physical and mental health by providing tools and
resources to help them improve or maintain their health status. In response to COVID-19, we implemented extensive safety measures throughout the
Company to protect our employees from COVID-19, including complying with social distancing and other health and safety standards as required by
federal, provincial, state, local and municipal government agencies, taking into consideration guidelines of applicable public health authorities. These
measures include reducing the number of employees working on-site at our production facilities to only the roles that are necessary to be performed on-site,
implementing work-from-home policies for employees whose work can be performed off-site, and implementing other additional health and safety
measures such as enhanced hygiene and sanitation procedures, modified work schedules, social distancing protocols at our production facilities and travel
restrictions.

Employee Engagement, Development and Training. We are committed to developing our talent and building an agile and resilient organization with a
workforce with the skillset to effectively adapt to changing business needs in order to best position the Company for success. We seek to foster a culture of
employee learning and resiliency through a talent development strategy that adapts to changing business needs. Management is an active enabler of our
people strategy as we seek to recruit, retain and engage top talent that will maximize our business performance.

Diversity, Equity and Inclusion and Ethical Business Practices. We believe that a diverse and inclusive work environment mitigates the risk of group-
think, ensures that the Company has the opportunity to benefit from all available talent and enhances, among other things, our organizational strength,
problem-solving ability and opportunity for innovation. We continue to focus on understanding our diversity and inclusion strengths and opportunities and
executing on a strategy to support further progress. We maintain a whistleblower policy and anonymous hotline for the confidential reporting of any
suspected policy violations, and provide training and education to our global workforce with respect to our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and
related policies.

Regulatory Framework in the U.S.
U.S. Hemp Regulatory Framework

We derive a portion of our revenues from the manufacture, marketing and distribution of U.S. hemp-derived supplement and cosmetic consumer products
through e-commerce, retail and hospitality channels in certain states in the U.S. All U.S. hemp-derived products produced and sold by us constitute “hemp”
(i) under the 2018 Farm Bill and (ii) the applicable state-law equivalent in all states in which we produce and sell such U.S. hemp-derived products. The
2018 Farm Bill was enacted in the U.S. on December 20, 2018. Prior to this enactment, cannabis was scheduled as a controlled substance (marijuana) under
the CSA with limited exemptions based on the portion of the cannabis plant. The 2018 Farm Bill, among other things, removed U.S. hemp (which is
defined in the 2018 Farm Bill as “the plant Cannabis sativa L. and any part of that plant, including the seeds thereof and all derivatives, extracts,
cannabinoids, isomers, acids, salts, and salts of isomers, whether growing or not, with a delta-9 tetrahydrocannabinol concentration of not more than 0.3
percent on a dry weight basis”) and its derivatives, extracts and cannabinoids, including CBD, derived from hemp, from the definition of “marijuana” in the
CSA, thereby removing U.S. hemp and its derivatives as controlled substances. The 2018 Farm Bill also amended the Agricultural Marketing Act of 1946
to allow for production and sale of U.S. hemp and its derivatives in the U.S.

The 2018 Farm Bill tasks the USDA with promulgating regulations in relation to the cultivation and production of U.S. hemp. The 2018 Farm Bill also
directs the USDA to promulgate federal regulations that would apply to the production of U.S. hemp in every state that does not put forth a state U.S. hemp
plan for approval by the USDA. In January 2021, the USDA issued a final rule governing U.S. hemp production in the U.S. with an effective date of March
22, 2021. There remains some possibility that the effective date of the final rule could be extended, but the USDA has not so indicated that it intends to
extend the effective date of the final rule.

The USDA’s final rule establishes a federal licensing plan for regulating U.S. hemp producers in states that do not have their own USDA-approved plans.
In the absence of a state plan, U.S. hemp producers will be subject to regulation directly by the USDA unless the state prohibits U.S. hemp production.
Additionally, the final rule includes requirements for maintaining information on the land where U.S. hemp is produced, testing U.S. hemp for THC levels,
disposing of plants with more than 0.3 percent THC on a dry-weight basis and licensing for U.S. hemp producers. The USDA’s final rule requires hemp
producers to use a laboratory that is registered with the DEA, although the USDA is delaying enforcement of this requirement until December 31, 2022.
The final rule also includes provisions for producers to dispose or remediate violative hemp plants without the use of a DEA-registered reverse distributor
or law enforcement.
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States may adopt regulatory schemes that impose different levels of regulation and costs on the production of U.S. hemp. Moreover, the 2018 Farm Bill
provides that its provisions do not pre-empt or limit state laws that regulate the production of U.S. hemp. Accordingly, some states may choose to restrict or
prohibit some or all U.S. hemp production or sales within the state and variances in states’ laws and regulations on U.S. hemp are likely to persist.

Further, each state has discretion to develop and implement its own laws and regulations governing the manufacturing, marketing, labeling and sale of U.S.
hemp products, which has created a patchwork of different regulatory schemes applicable to such products.

Under the 2018 Farm Bill, the FDA has retained authority over the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act-regulated products (e.g., drugs, food, dietary
supplements and cosmetics) containing U.S. hemp and U.S. hemp-derived ingredients, including CBD. Moreover, states have retained regulatory authority
through their own analogues to the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, and the states may diverge from the federal treatment of the use of U.S. hemp
as, or in, food, dietary supplements or cosmetic products.

The FDA has consistently taken the position that CBD, whether derived from U.S. hemp or U.S. Schedule I cannabis, is prohibited from use as an
ingredient in food and dietary supplements. This stems from its interpretation of the exclusionary clauses in the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act
because CBD has been approved as a prescription drug and is the subject of substantial clinical investigations as a drug, which have been made public. The
exclusionary clauses under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act provide that a substance that has been approved or has been subject to substantial
clinical investigations as a drug may not be used in a food or dietary supplement, unless the substance was first marketed in a food or dietary supplement
prior to the initiation of substantial clinical investigations of the substance as a drug. The exclusionary clause does not apply to cosmetics. Cosmetics
containing CBD could be viewed as drug products by the FDA if disease claims are made, or if the FDA determines the use of CBD in the product has a
structure or function effect on the body (i.e., a drug effect).

The FDA has not issued regulations that elaborate on the exclusionary clauses and the FDA has not taken any enforcement action in the courts asserting a
violation of the exclusionary clauses. To date, the FDA has issued a number of warning letters to companies unlawfully marketing CBD products. In many
of these cases, the manufacturers made unsubstantiated claims about the product being able to treat medical conditions (e.g., cancer, Alzheimer’s disease,
opioid withdrawal, anxiety and COVID-19) and had not obtained drug approvals. Others were issued to companies marketing CBD products as dietary
supplements despite those products which contain CBD not meeting the definition of a dietary supplement, adding CBD to human and animal foods and
marketing CBD products for infants and children and other vulnerable populations. Some of these letters were co-signed with the FTC and cited the
companies for making claims about the efficacy of CBD and other ingredients which were not substantiated by competent and reliable scientific evidence.
In December 2020, the FTC announced it had entered into settlement agreements with six companies marketing CBD products including oils, gummies,
creams, and others with deceptive health claims about serious health conditions. The settlements included monetary penalties ranging from $20,000 to
$85,000. The FDA has also issued one warning letter to a dietary supplement manufacturer objecting to a CBD supplement on the basis that CBD was not a
permissible dietary supplement ingredient.

In November 2019, the FDA published a revised “Consumer Update” on CBD. The update noted that, as at the time of the Consumer Update, the FDA has
approved only one CBD product, a prescription drug product to treat two rare, severe forms of epilepsy. The update also stated that it is illegal to market
CBD by adding it to a food or labeling it as a dietary supplement, that the FDA has seen only limited data about CBD safety and these data point to real
risks that need to be considered before taking CBD for any reason and that some CBD products are being marketed with unproven medical claims and are
of unknown quality. Lastly, the FDA stated that it continues to evaluate the regulatory frameworks that apply to certain cannabis-derived products that are
intended for non-drug uses, including whether and/or how they might consider updating their regulations, as well as whether potential legislation might be
appropriate.

The FDA has stated that it recognizes the potential opportunities and significant interest in drug and other consumer products containing CBD, is
committed to evaluating the agency’s regulatory policies related to CBD and has established a dedicated internal working group to explore potential
pathways for various types of CBD products to be lawfully marketed. The FDA held a public hearing in May 2019 to obtain scientific data and information
about the safety, manufacturing, product quality, marketing, labeling and sale of products containing cannabis or cannabis-derived compounds. The rules
and regulations and enforcement in this area continue to evolve and develop. In July 2020, the FDA sent to the White House Office of Management and
Budget (the “OMB”) for review a draft guidance, “Cannabidiol Enforcement Policy,” the details of which were not made public. This guidance remained
under review at the OMB until January 2021, when it was withdrawn by the FDA as a part of the regulatory moratorium Executive Order issued by
President Biden. The timeline for further CBD policy development remains uncertain while the new administration is put into place and as the FDA faces
competing regulatory priorities. In December 2020, the FDA announced a framework for leveraging real world evidence to better understand CBD safety
and a number of research projects the agency plans to develop to address gaps in current CBD research. At the same time, the FDA reiterated that CBD
remains subject to the same safety standard as any other ingredient based on its intended use, and that there remain a number of safety issues that need to be
addressed in order to support the safety of CBD as a food or dietary supplement ingredient. The FDA also announced an expansion of its market sampling
and analytical testing of CBD products, as well as issued a new series of Warning Letters against companies marketing CBD products with serious disease
claims, including products that the agency viewed as posing serious health risks based on their route of administration, including nasal, ophthalmic and
inhalable products.
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For more information regarding certain risks facing our business in connection with the U.S. hemp regulatory framework in the U.S., see the section below
entitled “Risk Factors - Risks Relating to Regulation and Compliance - Risks Related to U.S. Regulations and Compliance.”

Regulatory Framework in Canada
Licenses and Regulatory Framework

On October 17, 2018, the Cannabis Act and the Cannabis Regulations (the “Cannabis Regulations”) came into force. The Cannabis Regulations establish
six classes of licenses:

¢ cultivation;

e processing;

» sale for medical purposes;
» analytical testing;

¢ research; and

*  cannabis drug.

The Cannabis Regulations also create subclasses for cultivation licenses (standard cultivation, micro-cultivation and nursery) and processing licenses
(standard processing and micro-processing). Different licenses and each sub-class therein carry differing rules and requirements that are intended to be
proportional to the public health and safety risks posed by each category and sub-class.

Federal Regime

The Cannabis Act provides a licensing and permitting scheme for, among other things, the cultivation, processing, testing, packaging, labeling, distribution,
sale, possession and disposal of adult-use cannabis, implemented by regulations promulgated under the Cannabis Act. The Cannabis Act and Cannabis
Regulations include, among other things, strict specifications for the plain packaging and labeling and analytical testing of all cannabis products as well as
stringent physical and personnel security requirements for all federally licensed cultivation, processing and sales sites.

On October 17, 2019, the Regulations Amending the Cannabis Regulations (the “Further Regulations”) came into effect. The Further Regulations amend
the Cannabis Act and Cannabis Regulations to, among other things, permit the production and sale of cannabis extracts (including concentrates), cannabis
topicals and cannabis edibles, in addition to dried cannabis, cannabis oil, fresh cannabis, cannabis plants and cannabis seeds for parties holding the
appropriate licenses. The Cannabis Regulations set out certain requirements for the sale of cannabis products, including limiting the THC content and
serving size of certain product forms.

Health Canada allows license holders to export cannabis and cannabis products with appropriate export permits. Export permits issued by Health Canada
are specific to each shipment and may only be obtained for medical or scientific purposes. To apply for a permit to export cannabis, a license holder must
submit significant information to the minister including information about the substance to be exported (including description, intended use, quantity) and
the importer. As part of the application, applicants are also required to provide a copy of the import permit issued by a competent authority in the
jurisdiction of final destination and to make a declaration to the minister that the shipment does not contravene the laws of the jurisdiction of the final
destination or any country of transit or transshipment.

The Cannabis Act requires the federal government to conduct a review of the Cannabis Act beginning in October 2021. This statutory review is required to
include, among other things, consideration of (i) the administration and operation of the Cannabis Act, (ii) the impact of the Cannabis Act on public health,
(iii) the health and consumption habits of young persons, (iv) the impact of cannabis on indigenous persons and communities and (v) the impact of the
cultivation of cannabis plants in a dwelling-house. This statutory review may lead to the amendment, removal or addition of provisions in or to the
Cannabis Act which could adversely affect our business.

In addition to the current medical and adult-use regimes under the Cannabis Act, Health Canada has also been considering the implementation of a
cannabis health product regime for products with potential therapeutic uses that would not require practitioner oversight. Between June and September
2019, Health Canada held a public consultation titled “Potential Market for Cannabis Health Products (CHPs) that would not Require Practitioner
Oversight”. The consultation sought feedback from Canadians on the kinds of cannabis health products they would be interested in if such products were
made available in Canada. A summary report of the consultation results was published by Health Canada in September 2020. Given the results of the
consultation, Health Canada has indicated that it intends to obtain external scientific advice on the appropriate evidence standards required to demonstrate
safety, efficacy and quality in cannabis health products, with the information it gathers informing the next steps on a potential implementation of a cannabis
health product regime.
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Provincial and Territorial Developments

While the Cannabis Act provides for the regulation by the Canadian federal government of, among other things, the commercial cultivation and processing
of cannabis and the sale of medical cannabis, the various provinces and territories of Canada regulate certain aspects of adult-use cannabis, such as
distribution, sale, minimum age requirements, places where cannabis can be consumed, and a range of other matters.

The governments of each Canadian province and territory have implemented their regulatory regimes for the distribution and sale of cannabis for adult-use
purposes which continue to evolve over time. Most provinces and territories have announced a minimum age for possession and consumption of 19 years
old, except for Québec and Alberta, where the minimum age is 21 and 18, respectively. In addition, provinces and territories may impose restrictions on
sales, distribution and promotion which are more stringent than those at the federal level. For example, the SQDC, the exclusive distributor of cannabis in
the province and the sole retail and online vendor in Québec, does not permit cannabis vaporizers or other high THC non-edible cannabis products to be
sold through its channels. The SQDC has also placed significant restrictions on the types of edibles that may be sold through its channels, prohibiting
edibles that are sweet, confectionary, dessert, chocolate or any other product attractive to persons under 21 years of age. Similarly, the Prince Edward Island
Cannabis Management Corporation and the province of Newfoundland and Labrador also do not allow cannabis vaporizers to be sold through their
channels.

Licenses and Regulatory Framework in Israel

In Israel, cannabis is subject to the Israeli Dangerous Drugs Ordinance [New Version], 5733 - 1973, and its sale and use are prohibited unless applicable
licenses have been obtained. Licenses to cultivate, possess and use cannabis for medical or research purposes in Israel are granted by the Israel Medical
Cannabis Agency within the Israeli Ministry of Health (the “Yakar” and the “Israeli MOH?”, respectively). Patients also must obtain licenses either directly
from physicians who have been authorized to grant patient licenses or from the Yakar following a request from the patient’s physician in order to purchase
and consume medical cannabis.

In January 2019, the Israeli government approved, in principle, the export from Israel of medical cannabis products that meet applicable quality standards
under the strict supervision of the Israeli authorities. Only products that can be directly marketed to patients (including smoking products, oils, and
vaporizer products) may be exported, and only to those countries that have signed the United Nations Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs and that have
explicitly approved the import of cannabis. The export of plant substances, including seeds and tissue cultures, is not permitted. In October 2020, the Israeli
MOH initiated a pilot program in which certain medical cannabis companies were permitted to export their products, and the Yakar issued guidelines
relating to the export of medical cannabis products. These guidelines set forth the process and conditions for obtaining an export license, which can only be
issued to an applicant already holding a valid Yakar license.

Cronos Israel Licenses

During the first quarter of 2020, the Yakar granted Cronos Israel: (1) full Good Agricultural Practices (“GAP”) certification, including a permit to cultivate
at the full capacity of the greenhouse; and (2) GMP and Good Distribution Practices (“GDP”) certificates and permits to produce and distribute dried
flower. During the third quarter of 2020, Cronos Israel also received GMP and GDP certificates and permits to produce and distribute cannabis oils and
pre-rolls.

Licenses and Regulatory Framework in Other Jurisdictions

We and our joint venture partners and strategic investments are subject to comprehensive and evolving regulations in each jurisdiction we and they operate.
All aspects of the production, manufacture and distribution of cannabis products are regulated and subject to licensing regimes. These regulations and
licensing regimes vary by jurisdiction and we, our joint venture partners and strategic investments spend significant time, effort and money to comply with
the applicable requirements.

Available Information

We are subject to the informational requirements of the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and, in
accordance with the Exchange Act, we also file reports with and furnish other information to the SEC. The public may obtain any document that we file
with or furnish to the SEC from the SEC’s Electronic Document Gathering, Analysis, and Retrieval system, which can be accessed at www.sec.gov, or via
the System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval, which can be accessed at www.sedar.com, as well as from commercial document retrieval
services.

Copies of this Annual Report may be obtained on request without charge from our Corporate Secretary, corporate.secretary@thecronosgroup.com,
telephone: +1-416-504-0004. We also provide access without charge to all of our SEC filings, including copies of this Annual Report, Quarterly Reports on
Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, as
soon as reasonably practicable after filing or furnishing, on our website located at https://thecronosgroup.com.
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From time to time, we use our website, as well as the following social media sites, as an additional means of disclosing public information to investors, the
media and others interested in the Company.

*  Facebook (https://www.facebook.com/The-Cronos-Group-419168411987225);
»  Twitter (https://twitter.com/cronosgroup); and
*  LinkedIn (https://www.linkedin.com/company/cronosgroupcron/?viewAsMember=true).

It is possible that certain information we post on our website or these social media sites could be deemed to be material information, and we encourage
investors, the media and others interested in the Company to review the business and financial information we or our officers post on our website or these
social media sites. None of the information on our website or disclosed through these social media sites is incorporated by reference into this Annual
Report.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

An investment in us involves a number of risks. In addition to the other information contained in this Annual Report and in other filings we make, investors
should give careful consideration to the following risk factors. Any of the matters highlighted in these risk factors could adversely dffect our business,
results of operations and financial condition, causing an investor to lose all, or part of, its, his or her investment. The risks and uncertainties described
below are those we currently believe to be material, but they are not the only ones we face. If any of the following risks, or any other risks and uncertainties
that we have not yet identified or that we currently consider not to be material, actually occur or become material risks, our business, prospects, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows and consequently the price of our securities could be materially and adversely affected.

Risk Factor Summary
*  We have a limited operating history and our growth strategy may not be successful.

*  Our products are new; the safety of our products is subject to conflicting medical data; and our products have been and may be in the future subject to
recalls.

»  The production and distribution of our products is subject to disruption, the risks of an agricultural business and the risk third party suppliers and
distributors may not perform their obligations to us.

« Intellectual property is key to our growth strategy and we may be unable to obtain or enforce our intellectual property rights.

*  Our entry into new markets is subject to risks normally associated with the conduct of business in foreign countries.

*  We are subject to extensive regulation and licensing and may not successfully comply with all applicable laws and regulations.
*  Our business has been and may be adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic.

¢ Our businesses face highly competitive conditions.

*  Altria has significant influence over us and may acquire over 50% of our common shares.

*  The price of our common shares has been and may continue to be highly volatile.

*  We are subject to other risks generally applicable to our industry and the conduct of our businesses.

Risks Relating to Our Growth Strategy.
We and certain of our subsidiaries have limited operating history and therefore we are subject to many of the risks common to early-stage enterprises.

We began carrying on business in 2013; Peace Naturals began operations in 2012 and generated its first revenues in 2013; OGBC began operations in 2014
and generated revenue in 2017 (inter-company bulk transfer); Redwood began operations in 2017. In addition, many of our joint ventures are not yet
operational and may not become operational for some time, if at all. We are therefore subject to many of the risks common to early-stage enterprises,
including limitations with respect to personnel, financial, and other resources and lack of revenues.
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We may not be able to achieve or maintain profitability and may continue to incur losses in the future.

We have incurred significant losses in recent periods. We had negative operating cash flow for the fiscal years ending December 31, 2020, December 31,
2019, December 31, 2018, December 31, 2017, December 31, 2016, December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014. We may not be able to achieve or
maintain profitability and may continue to incur significant losses in the future. In addition, we expect to continue to increase operating expenses as we
implement initiatives to continue to grow our business. If our revenues do not increase to offset these expected increases in costs and operating expenses,
we will not be profitable. If our revenue declines or fails to grow at a rate faster than our operating expenses, and we are unable to secure funding under
terms that are favorable or acceptable to us, or at all, we will not be able to achieve and maintain profitability in future periods. As a result, we may
continue to generate losses. We may not achieve profitability in the future and, even if we do become profitable, we might not be able to sustain that
profitability.

We may not be able to successfully manage our growth.

We are currently in an early development stage and may be subject to growth-related risks, including capacity constraints and pressure on our internal
systems and controls, which may place significant strain on our operational and managerial resources. While our revenue has grown in recent years, our
ability to manage and sustain revenue growth will depend on a number of factors, many of which are beyond our control, including, but not limited to,
changes in laws and regulations respecting the production of U.S. hemp and cannabis products, competition from other license holders, the size of the
illegal market and the adult-use market in Canada, and our ability to produce sufficient volumes of our products to meet client demand. In addition, we are
subject to a variety of business risks generally associated with developing companies. Our ability to manage growth effectively will require us to continue
to implement and improve our operational and financial systems and to expand, train and manage our employee base. There can be no assurances that we
will be able to manage growth successfully. Any inability to manage growth successfully could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We have identified at year-end 2020 a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting. If we are unable to remediate this material
weakness, or if we experience additional material weaknesses in the future, our business may be harmed.

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the
Exchange Act) and for evaluating and reporting on the effectiveness of our system of internal control. Effective internal controls are necessary for us to
provide timely, reliable and accurate financial reports, identify and proactively correct any deficiencies, material weaknesses or fraud and meet our
reporting obligations. As disclosed in Part II, Item 9A, we identified a material weakness in the fourth quarter of 2020. Remediation efforts place a
significant burden on management and add increased pressure on our financial reporting resources and processes. If we are unable to successfully
remediate this material weakness in a timely manner, or if any additional material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting are identified,
the accuracy of our financial reporting and our ability to timely file with the SEC may be adversely impacted. In addition, if our remedial efforts are
insufficient, or if additional material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal controls occur in the future, we could be required to restate our
financial statements, which could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition, restrict our ability to access the
capital markets, require us to expend significant resources to correct the material weaknesses or deficiencies, subject us to regulatory investigations and
penalties, harm our reputation, cause a decline in investor confidence or otherwise cause a decline in our stock price.

We may not successfully execute our production capacity expansion strategy.

We may not be successful in executing our strategy to expand production capacity at our facilities and joint ventures. Continuing and expanding operations
at the production facilities of Cronos Israel and Natuera will be subject to obtaining and maintaining the appropriate licenses from the relevant regulatory
agencies in those jurisdictions. In addition, continuing and expanding operations at Cronos GrowCo’s production facilities will be subject to obtaining and
maintaining the appropriate licenses from Health Canada. Construction delays or cost over-runs in respect of such operations, howsoever caused, could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, we may not be successful in obtaining the necessary approvals required to export or import our products to or from the jurisdictions in which
we operate. If we are unable to secure necessary production licenses in respect of our facilities and those of our joint ventures, the expectations of
management with respect to the increased future cultivation and growing capacity may not be borne out, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
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The industries and markets in which we operate are relatively new, and these industries and markets may not continue to exist or grow as anticipated or
we may ultimately be unable to succeed in these industries and markets.

The cannabis and U.S. hemp industries and markets in which we operate are relatively new, can be highly speculative, are rapidly expanding and may
ultimately not be successful. In addition to being subject to general business risks, we need to continue to build brand awareness in these industries and
markets through significant investments in our strategy, our production capacity, quality assurance and compliance with regulations. These activities may
not promote our brand and products as effectively as intended, or at all. Competitive conditions, consumer tastes or client requirements, as applicable, and
spending patterns in these new industries and markets are relatively unknown and may have unique circumstances that differ from existing industries and
markets. We are subject to all of the business risks associated with a new business in a niche market, including risks of unforeseen capital requirements,
failure of widespread market acceptance of our products, failure to establish business relationships and competitive disadvantages against larger and more
established competitors.

Accordingly, there are no assurances that these industries and markets will continue to exist or grow as currently estimated or anticipated, or function and
evolve in a manner consistent with management’s expectations and assumptions, and a failure to do so could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

We may not be able to supply the provincial purchasers in various provinces and territories of Canada with our products in the quantities or prices
anticipated, or at all.

We have entered into various supply arrangements for cannabis products with various provincial purchasers and have secured listings with various private
retailers in those provinces. We have entered into such supply arrangements with eight provinces in Canada (where the relevant provincial body is the sole
wholesale distributor and retailer of cannabis and cannabis products in the province) and with private retailers in Saskatchewan. Our supply arrangements
with provincial purchasers, each of which we understand to be substantially similar in all material respects with the supply arrangements entered into with
the other license holders in the Canadian cannabis industry, do not contain any binding minimum purchase obligations on the part of the relevant provincial
purchaser.

We expect purchase orders to be primarily driven by end-consumer demand for our products and the relevant provincial purchaser supply at the relevant
time. Accordingly, we cannot predict the quantities of our products that will be purchased by the provincial purchasers, or if our products will be purchased
at all. Provincial purchasers may change the terms of the supply agreements at any time during the supply relationship including pricing, have broad rights
of return of products and are under no obligation to purchase our products or maintain any listings of our products for sale. As a result, provincial
purchasers have a significant amount of control over the terms of the supply arrangements.

The effect of the legalization of adult-use cannabis in Canada on the medical cannabis market in Canada is still uncertain, and it may have a
significant negative effect upon our medical cannabis business if our existing or future medical-use clients decide to purchase products available in the
adult-use market instead of purchasing medical-use products from us.

The Cannabis Act allows individuals over the age of 18 to legally purchase, process and cultivate limited amounts of cannabis for adult-use in Canada,
subject to provincial and territorial age restrictions which may increase the age of purchase in the province or territory. As a result, individuals who rely
upon the medical cannabis market to supply their medical cannabis and cannabis-based products may cease this reliance, and instead turn to the adult-use
cannabis market to supply their cannabis and cannabis-based products. Factors that will influence this decision include the price of medical cannabis
products in relation to similar adult-use cannabis products, the amount of active ingredients in medical cannabis products in relation to similar adult-use
cannabis products, the types of cannabis products available to adult users and limitations on access to adult-use cannabis products imposed by the
regulations under the Cannabis Act and the legislation governing the distribution and sale of cannabis that has been enacted by the individual provinces and
territories of Canada.

The impact of the legalization of adult-use cannabis in Canada on the medical cannabis market is uncertain, and while we cannot predict its impact on our
sales and revenue prospects, it may be adverse.

The adult-use cannabis market in Canada has in the past been and may in the future become oversupplied following the recent implementation of the
Cannabis Act and the related legalization of cannabis for adult-use.

As a result of the recent implementation of the Cannabis Act and the legalization of adult cannabis use, numerous additional cannabis producers have and
may continue to enter the Canadian adult-use market. We and such other cannabis producers have in the past produced and may in the future produce more
cannabis than is needed to satisfy the collective demand of the Canadian medical and adult-use markets, and we may be unable to export that over-supply
into other markets. As a result, the available supply of cannabis could exceed demand, which could result in a significant decline in the market price for
cannabis, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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We may be unsuccessful in competing in the legal adult-use cannabis market in Canada.

We face competition from existing license holders licensed under the Cannabis Act. Certain of these competitors may have significantly greater financial,
production, marketing, R&D and technical and human resources than we do. As a result, our competitors may be more successful than us in gaining market
penetration and market share in the adult-use cannabis industry in Canada. Our commercial opportunity in the adult-use market could be reduced or
eliminated if our competitors produce and commercialize products for the adult-use market that, among other things, are safer, more effective, more
convenient or less expensive than the products that we may produce, have greater sales, marketing and distribution support than our products, enjoy
enhanced timing of market introduction and perceived effectiveness advantages over our products and receive more favorable publicity than our products.
If our adult-use products do not achieve an adequate level of acceptance by the adult-use market, we may not generate sufficient revenue from these
products, and our adult-use business may not become profitable.

The Cannabis Act allows individuals over the age of 18 to cultivate, propagate, harvest and distribute up to four cannabis plants per household provided
that each plant meets certain requirements, although various restrictions on these activities exist in certain provinces and territories. If we are unable to
effectively compete with other license holders in the adult-use cannabis market, or a significant number of individuals take advantage of the ability to
cultivate and use their own cannabis, our adult-use business may be negatively impacted.

We are subject to liability arising from any fraudulent or illegal activity by our employees, contractors and consultants.

We are exposed to the risk that our employees, independent contractors and consultants may engage in fraudulent or other illegal activity. Misconduct by
these parties could include intentional, reckless and/or negligent conduct or disclosure of unauthorized activities to us that violates: (i) applicable laws and
regulations; (ii) manufacturing standards; (iii) federal and provincial healthcare fraud and abuse of federal, state and provincial laws and regulations; or (iv)
laws that require the true, complete and accurate reporting of financial information or data. It is not always possible for us to identify and deter misconduct
by our employees and other third parties, and the precautions taken by us to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown or
unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to be in compliance
with such laws or regulations. If any such actions are brought against us, and we are not successful in defending the Company or asserting our rights, those
actions could have a significant impact on our business, including the imposition of civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, monetary fines,
contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, and the curtailment of our operations, any of which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Some jurisdictions may never develop markets for cannabis and U.S. hemp.

Many jurisdictions place restrictions on or prohibit commercial activities involving cannabis and U.S. hemp. Such restrictions or prohibitions may make it
impossible or impractical for us to enter or expand our operations in such jurisdictions unless there is a change in law or regulation. For example, U.S.
Schedule I cannabis remains illegal under U.S. federal law and may never become legal under U.S. federal law.

We must rely largely on our own market research to forecast sales and market demand and market prices which may differ from our forecasts.

We must rely largely on our own market research and internal data to forecast sales as detailed market research is not generally obtainable from other
sources at this early stage of the cannabis or U.S. hemp industries. Our market research and sales forecasts, together with factors such as our expectations
regarding market conditions, including prices, influence capital expenditure levels, inventory levels, production and supply chain capacity and operating
expenses and if such forecasts and expectations prove to be inaccurate, this could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations. For example, our forecast for product demand and market conditions was impacted by a decline in market prices for cannabis
products in the Canadian market, which contributed to our inventory write-down in the second and fourth quarters of 2020.

We could have difficulty transitioning the operations of businesses that we have acquired and will acquire.

The success of our acquisitions, including the Redwood Acquisition and the acquisition of Cronos Fermentation, depends upon our ability to transition any
businesses that we acquire. The transitioning of acquired business operations could disrupt our business by causing unforeseen operating difficulties,
diverting management’s attention from day-to-day operations and requiring significant financial resources that would otherwise be used for the ongoing
development of our business. The difficulties of transitions could be increased by the necessity of coordinating geographically dispersed organizations,
coordinating personnel with disparate business backgrounds and managing different corporate cultures, or discovering previously unknown liabilities. In
addition, we could be unable to retain key employees or customers of the acquired businesses. We could face transition issues including those related to
operations, internal controls, information systems and operational functions of the acquired companies and we also could fail to realize cost efficiencies or
synergies that we anticipated when selecting our acquisition candidates or these acquisitions could fail to complete successfully. Any of these items could
adversely affect our results of operations.
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Risks Relating to Our Products

There is limited long-term data with respect to the efficacy and side effects of our products and future clinical research studies on the effects of
cannabis, hemp and cannabinoids may lead to conclusions that dispute or conflict with our understanding and belief regarding their benefits, viability,
safety, efficacy, dosing and social acceptance.

Research in Canada, the U.S. and internationally regarding the benefits, viability, safety, efficacy, dosing and social acceptance of cannabis, U.S. hemp or
isolated cannabinoids (such as CBD and THC) in dietary supplements, food, or cosmetic products remains in early stages. There have been relatively few
clinical trials on the benefits of cannabis, U.S. hemp or isolated cannabinoids and there is limited long-term data with respect to efficacy, side effects and/or
interaction of these substances with human or animal biochemistry. As a result, our products could have unexpected side effects or safety concerns, the
discovery of which could lead to civil litigation, regulatory actions and even possibly criminal enforcement actions. In addition, if the products we sell do
not or are not perceived to have the effects intended by the end user, this could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

The statements made by the Company, including in this Annual Report, concerning the potential benefits of cannabis, U.S. hemp and isolated cannabinoids
are based on published articles and reports and therefore are subject to the experimental parameters, qualifications and limitations in such studies that have
been completed. Although we believe that the existing public scientific literature generally supports our beliefs regarding the benefits, viability, safety,
efficacy, dosing and social acceptance of cannabis, U.S. hemp and cannabinoids, future research and clinical trials may cast doubt or disprove such beliefs,
or could raise or heighten concerns regarding, and perceptions relating to, cannabis, U.S. hemp and cannabinoids, which could have a material adverse
effect on the demand for our products with the potential to lead to a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Given these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, undue reliance should not be placed on such literature. In particular, the FDA has raised several questions
regarding the safety of CBD and gaps in the public scientific literature supporting the use of CBD by the general population.

Clinical trials of cannabis-based medical products and treatments are novel terrain with very limited or non-existent history, and any trials may not
result in commercially viable products and treatments.

Clinical trials are expensive, time consuming and difficult to design and implement. Regulatory authorities may suspend, delay or terminate any clinical
trials we commence at any time, may require us, for various reasons, to conduct additional clinical trials, or may require a particular clinical trial to
continue for a longer duration than originally planned. Clinical trials face many risks, including, among others:

» lack of effectiveness of any formulation or delivery system during clinical trials;
» discovery of serious or unexpected toxicities or side effects experienced by trial participants or other safety issues;
* slower than expected subject recruitment and enrollment rates in clinical trials;

* delays or inability in manufacturing or in obtaining sufficient quantities of materials for use in clinical trials due to regulatory and manufacturing
constraints;

* delays in obtaining regulatory authorization to commence a trial, including licenses required for obtaining and using cannabis for research, either
before or after a trial is commenced;

» unfavorable results from ongoing pre-clinical studies and clinical trials;

» trial participants or investigators failing to comply with study protocols;

+ trial participants failing to return for post-treatment follow-up at the expected rate;

» sites participating in an ongoing clinical study withdraw, requiring us to engage new sites; and

»  third-party clinical investigators declining to participate in our clinical studies, not performing the clinical studies on the anticipated schedule, or acting
in ways inconsistent with the established investigator agreement, clinical study protocol or good clinical practices.

Any of the foregoing could cause our products or treatments not to be commercially viable.

The controversy surrounding vaporizers and vaporizer products may materially and adversely affect the market for vaporizer products and expose us to
litigation and additional regulation.

There have been a number of highly publicized cases involving lung and other illnesses and deaths that appear to be related to vaporizer devices and/or
products used in such devices (such as vaporizer liquids). The focus is currently on the vaporizer devices, the manner in which the devices were used and
the related vaporizer device products —THC, nicotine, other substances in vaporizer liquids, possibly adulterated products and other illegal unlicensed
cannabis vaporizer products. Some states, provinces, territories and cities in the U.S. and Canada have already taken steps to prohibit the sale or
distribution of vaporizers, restrict the sale and distribution of such products or impose restrictions on flavors or use of such vaporizers. This trend may
continue, accelerate and expand.
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Cannabis vaporizers in Canada are regulated under the Cannabis Act and Cannabis Regulations. Although this legislation sets rules and standards for the
manufacture, composition, packaging, and marketing of cannabis vaporizer products, these rules and standards predate the spate of vaporizer-related health
issues that have recently arisen in the U.S. These issues and accompanying negative public sentiment may prompt Health Canada or individual
provinces/territories to decide to further limit or defer the industry’s ability to sell cannabis vaporizer products, and may also diminish consumer demand
for such products. Currently, Québec, Newfoundland and Labrador and Prince Edward Island do not allow the sale of cannabis vaporizers in their
respective jurisdictions. There can be no assurance that these jurisdictions will allow the sale of cannabis vaporizers in the future, that other jurisdictions
will not prohibit the sale of cannabis vaporizers, that we will be able to meet any additional compliance requirements or regulatory restrictions, or that we
will remain competitive in face of unexpected changes in market conditions

An extension of this controversy to non-nicotine vaporizer devices and other product formats could materially and adversely affect our business, financial
condition, operating results, liquidity, cash flow and operational performance. In February 2020, the U.S. Centers for Disease Control reported that federal
and state agencies were investigating an outbreak of over 2,807 lung injury cases associated with the use of vaporizer products, including non-nicotine
containing products. Litigation pertaining to vaporizer products is accelerating and that litigation could potentially expand to include our products, which
would materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, operating results, liquidity, cash flow and operational performance.

Future research may lead to findings that vaporizers, electronic cigarettes and related products are not safe for their intended use.

Vaporizers, electronic cigarettes and related products were recently developed and therefore the scientific or medical communities have had a limited
period of time to study the long-term health effects of their use. Currently, there is limited scientific or medical data on the safety of such products for their
intended use and the medical community is still studying the health effects of the use of such products, including the long-term health effects. If the
scientific or medical community were to determine conclusively that use of any or all of these products pose long-term health risks, market demand for
these products and their use could materially decline. Such a determination could also lead to litigation, reputational harm and significant regulation. Loss
of demand for our product, product liability claims and increased regulation stemming from unfavorable scientific studies on cannabis vaporizer products
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results, liquidity, cash flow and operational performance.

We, or the cannabis and U.S. hemp industries more generally, may receive unfavorable publicity or become subject to negative consumer perception.

We believe the cannabis and U.S. hemp industries are highly dependent upon broad social acceptance and consumer perception regarding the safety,
efficacy and quality of the cannabis and U.S. hemp products, as well as consumer views concerning regulatory compliance. Consumer perception of our
products can be significantly influenced by scientific research or findings, regulatory investigations, litigation, media attention, market rumors or
speculation and other publicity regarding the consumption of cannabis and U.S. hemp products. There can be no assurance that future scientific research,
findings, regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other research findings or publicity will be favorable to the cannabis or U.S. hemp markets
or any particular product, or consistent with earlier publicity. Future research reports, findings, regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other
publicity that are perceived as less favorable than, or that question, earlier research reports, findings or publicity could have a material adverse effect on the
demand for our products and our business, financial condition and results of operations. Our dependence upon consumer perceptions means that adverse
scientific research reports, findings, regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other publicity, whether or not accurate or with merit, could have
a material adverse effect on the demand for products, and our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. Further, adverse publicity
reports or other media attention regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of U.S. hemp or cannabis in general, or our products specifically, or associating
the consumption or use of U.S. hemp or cannabis with illness or other negative effects or events, could have such a material adverse effect. Such adverse
publicity reports or other media attention could arise even if the adverse effects associated with such products resulted from consumers’ failure to consume
such products legally, appropriately or as directed.

The increased usage of social media and other web-based tools used to generate, publish and discuss user-generated content and to connect with other users
has made it increasingly easier for individuals and groups to communicate and share opinions and views on our operations and activities, whether true or
not, and the U.S. hemp and cannabis industries in general, whether true or not. Social media permits user-generated content to be distributed to a broad
audience which can respond or react, in near real time, with comments that are often not filtered or checked for accuracy. Accordingly, the speed with
which negative publicity (whether true or not) can be disseminated has increased dramatically with the expansion of social media. The dissemination of
negative or inaccurate posts, comments or other user-generated content about us on social media (including those published by third-parties) could damage
our brand, image and reputation or how the U.S. hemp or cannabis industries are perceived generally, which could have a detrimental impact on the market
for our products and thus on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Certain well-funded and significant businesses may have strong economic opposition to the U.S. hemp or cannabis industries. Lobbying by such groups,
and any resulting inroads they might make in halting or rolling back the U.S. hemp and cannabis movements, could affect how the U.S. hemp or cannabis
industries are perceived by others and could have a detrimental impact on the market for our products and thus on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.
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The parties with which we do business, may perceive that they are exposed to reputational risk as a result of our cannabis or U.S. hemp business activities.
Failure to establish or maintain business relationships could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Any third-party service provider or supplier could suspend or withdraw its services to us if it perceives that the potential risks exceed the potential benefits
to such services. For example, we face challenges making U.S. dollar wire transfers or engaging any third-party service provider or supplier with a
substantial presence where cannabis is not federally legal (including the U.S.). While we have other banking relationships and believe that the services can
be procured from other institutions, we may in the future have difficulty maintaining existing, or securing new, bank accounts or clearing services, service
providers or other vendors.

Although we take care in protecting our image and reputation, we do not ultimately have control over how we or the U.S. hemp or cannabis industries are
perceived by others. Reputation loss may result in decreased investor confidence, increased challenges in developing and maintaining community relations
and an impediment to our overall ability to advance our business strategy and realize on our growth prospects, thereby having a material adverse impact on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may be subject to litigation in the ordinary course of our marketing, distribution and sale of our products.

We are subject to litigation, claims and other legal and regulatory proceedings from time to time in the ordinary course of our marketing, distribution and
sale of our products, some of which may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Several companies in the U.S. hemp-
derived CBD industry, including the Company, have recently become party to an increasing number of purported class actions lawsuits relating to their
food and dietary supplement products containing U.S. hemp-derived CBD. While the case against the Company was dismissed, similar class actions may
be filed against us again, and the plaintiffs in such class action lawsuits, as well as in other lawsuits against us, may seek very large or indeterminate
amounts, including punitive damages, which may remain unknown for substantial periods of time. Should any litigation in which we become involved be
determined against us, such a decision could adversely affect our ability to continue operating, adversely affect the market price for the common shares and
require the use of significant resources. Even if we are involved in litigation and win, litigation can redirect significant resources. Litigation may also create
a negative perception of our brands, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. See Item 3 in Part I
of this Annual Report for more details on our legal proceedings.

We may be subject to product liability claims.

As a manufacturer and distributor of products designed to be ingested by humans, we face an inherent risk of exposure to product liability claims,
regulatory action and litigation if our products are alleged to have caused significant loss or injury. In addition, the manufacture and sale of cannabis and
U.S. hemp products involve the risk of injury to consumers due to tampering by unauthorized third parties or product contamination. Previously unknown
adverse reactions resulting from human consumption of cannabis or U.S. hemp products alone or in combination with other medications or substances
could occur as described under “— There is limited long-term data with respect to the efficacy and side effects of our products and future clinical research
studies on the effects of cannabis, U.S. hemp and cannabinoids may lead to conclusions that dispute or conflict with our understanding and belief regarding
their benefits, viability, safety, efficacy, dosing and social acceptance.” We may be subject to various product liability claims that include, among others,
our products caused injury or illness, incorrect labeling, inadequate instructions for use or inadequate warnings concerning possible side effects or
interactions with other substances. A product liability claim or regulatory action against us could result in increased costs, could adversely affect our
reputation with our clients and consumers generally, and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
See Part [, Item 3, Legal Proceedings, of this Annual Report for a discussion on our legal proceedings.

There can be no assurances that we will be able to obtain or maintain product liability insurance on acceptable terms or with adequate coverage against
potential liabilities. Such insurance is expensive and may not be available in the future on acceptable terms, or at all. The inability to obtain sufficient
insurance coverage on reasonable terms or to otherwise protect against potential product liability claims could prevent or inhibit the commercialization of
products.

Our products have in the past and may in the future be subject to recalls.

Manufacturers and distributors of products are sometimes subject to the recall or return of their products for a variety of reasons, including product defects,
such as contamination, unintended harmful side effects or interactions with other substances, packaging safety and inadequate or inaccurate labelling
disclosure. For example, on May 5, 2017, Peace Naturals announced a voluntary recall with the support of Health Canada for products sold between
November 26, 2015 and March 13, 2017. Peace Naturals was notified by Health Canada that upon testing a random cannabis leaf sample, trace levels of
Piperonyl Butoxide (“PBO”) were discovered at 0.78 parts per million (ppm). PBO is an organic compound known as a synergist. Root cause analysis
conducted by Peace Naturals concluded that this was the result of cross-contamination. The source of the PBO was a Pest Management Regulatory Agency
approved product that was used to sanitize empty rooms between harvests and which is no longer used.
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If one or more of our products are recalled due to an alleged product defect or for any other reason, we could be required to incur the unexpected expense
of the recall and any legal proceedings that might arise in connection with the recall. We may lose a significant amount of sales and may not be able to
replace those sales at an acceptable margin, or at all. In addition, a product recall may require significant management attention. Although we have detailed
procedures in place for testing finished products, there can be no assurance that any quality, potency or contamination problems will be detected in time to
avoid unforeseen product recalls, regulatory action or lawsuits. If one or more of our products were subject to recall, the public perception of that product
and us could be harmed. A recall for any of the foregoing reasons could lead to decreased demand for products produced by us and could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Additionally, product recalls may lead to increased scrutiny of our operations
by Health Canada, the FDA, the DEA or other regulatory agencies, requiring further management attention and potential legal fees and other expenses.
Furthermore, any product recall affecting the cannabis or U.S. hemp industries more broadly could lead consumers to lose confidence in the safety and
security of the products sold by participants in these industries generally, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

We rely on third-party testing and analytical methods which are validated but still being standardized.

For certain of our cannabis and U.S. hemp products, testing for cannabinoid levels, heavy metals and pesticides (among other things) is performed by
independent third-party testing laboratories. Testing methods and analytical assays for cannabinoids and levels of detection vary among different testing
laboratories in different jurisdictions. There is currently no industry consensus on standards for testing methods or an industry accepted compendium of
analytical assays or standard levels of detection. The detected and reported cannabinoid content in our cannabis and U.S. hemp products therefore can
differ depending on the laboratory and testing methods (analytical assays) used. Variations in reported cannabinoid content will likely continue until the
relevant regulatory agencies and independent certification bodies (e.g., ISO, USP) collaborate to develop, publish and implement standardized analytical
assays and levels of detection for cannabis (including U.S. hemp), cannabinoids and their derivative products. Such differences could cause confusion with
our consumers which could lead to a negative perception of us and our products, increase the risk of litigation regarding cannabinoid content and regulatory
enforcement action and could make it more difficult for us to comply with regulatory requirements regarding contents of ingredients and packaging and
labeling. For example, on June 16, 2020, an alleged consumer filed a Statement of Claim on behalf of a class in the Court of Queen’s Bench of Alberta in
Alberta, Canada, against the Company and other Canadian cannabis manufacturers and/or distributors alleging claims related to the defendants’ advertised
content of cannabinoids in cannabis products for medicinal use on or after June 16, 2010 and cannabis products for adult use on or after October 17, 2018.
See Part I, Item 3, Legal Proceedings, of this Annual Report.

The presence of trace amounts of THC in our U.S. hemp products may cause adverse consequences to users of such products that will expose us to the
risk of litigation, liability and other consequences.

Some of our products that are intended to primarily contain U.S. hemp-derived CBD, or other products, may contain trace amounts of THC. THC is a
controlled substance in many jurisdictions, including under the federal laws of the U.S. Whether or not ingestion of THC (at low levels or otherwise) is
permitted in a particular jurisdiction, there may be adverse consequences to consumers of our U.S. hemp products who test positive for any amounts of
THC because of the presence of trace amounts of THC in our U.S. hemp products. In addition, certain metabolic processes in the body may negatively
affect the results of drug tests. Positive tests for THC may expose us to litigation from our consumers, adversely affect our reputation, our ability to obtain
or retain customers and individuals’ participation in certain athletic or other activities. A claim or regulatory action against us based on such positive test
results could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, operating results, liquidity, cash flow and operational performance.

We may not be able to successfully develop new products or find a market for their sale.

The legal cannabis and U.S. hemp industries are in their early stages of development and it is likely that we, and our competitors, will seek to introduce
new products in the future. In attempting to keep pace with any new market developments, we may need to spend significant amounts of capital in order to
successfully develop and generate revenues from new products we introduce. In addition, we may be required to obtain additional regulatory approvals
from Health Canada, the FDA and any other applicable regulatory authority, which may take significant amounts of time. We may not be successful in
developing effective and safe new products, bringing such products to market in time to be effectively commercialized, or obtaining any required
regulatory approvals, and, in the event we are successful, it is possible that there may be little or no demand for the products we develop, which, together
with any capital expenditures made in the course of such product development and regulatory approval processes, may have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Canadian excise duty framework may affect profitability.

Canada’s excise duty framework imposes an excise duty and various regulatory-like restrictions on certain cannabis products sold in Canada. We currently
hold licenses issued by the Canada Revenue Agency (“CRA”) required to comply with this excise framework. Any change in the rates or application of
excise duty to cannabis products sold by us, and any restrictive interpretations by the CRA or the courts of the regulatory-like restrictions contained in the
Excise Act, 2001 (which may be different than those contained in the Cannabis Act) may affect our profitability and ability to compete in the market.
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Risks Relating to Production and Distribution of Products

Our production facilities are integral to our operations and any adverse changes or developments affecting our facilities may impact our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Our activities and resources are focused on various production and manufacturing facilities including in the U.S. (for U.S. hemp products), Canada and
Israel. Some licenses are specific to those facilities. Adverse changes or developments affecting our facilities, including but not limited to a breach of
security, an outbreak of a communicable illness (such as COVID-19) or a force majeure event, could have a material and adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations. Any breach of the security measures and other facility requirements, including any failure to comply with
recommendations or requirements arising from inspections by regulatory agencies, could also have an impact on our ability to continue operating under our
licenses or the prospect of renewing our licenses or could result in a revocation of our licenses.

We bear the responsibility for all of the costs of maintenance and upkeep at our facilities and our operations and financial performance may be adversely
affected if our facilities are unable to keep up with maintenance requirements.

We may experience breaches of security at our facilities or fraudulent or unpermitted data access or other cyber-security breaches, which may cause
our customers to lose confidence in our security and data protection measures and may expose us to risks related to breaches of applicable privacy
laws.

Given the nature of our products and our lack of legal availability outside of certain legalized or regulated retail or distribution channels, as well as the
concentration of inventory in our facilities, despite meeting the applicable security requirements under applicable law, there remains a risk of theft. A
security breach at one of our facilities could expose us to additional liability and to potentially costly litigation, increase expenses relating to the resolution
and future prevention of these breaches and may deter potential customers from choosing our products.

In addition, we collect and store personal information about our customers and are responsible for protecting that information from privacy breaches. A
privacy breach may occur through a variety of sources, including, without limitation, procedural or process failure, information technology malfunction,
deliberate unauthorized intrusions, computer viruses, cyber-attacks and other electronic security breaches. Theft of data for competitive purposes, such as
customer lists and preferences, is an ongoing risk whether perpetrated via employee collusion or negligence or through deliberate cyber-attack. Any such
theft or privacy breach would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are dependent upon information technology systems in the conduct of our operations and we collect, store and use certain sensitive data, intellectual
property, our proprietary business information and certain personally identifiable information of our employees and customers on our networks. Any
fraudulent, malicious or accidental breach of our data security could result in unintentional disclosure of, or unauthorized access to, third-party, customer,
vendor, employee or other confidential or sensitive data or information, which could potentially result in additional costs to us to enhance security or to
respond to occurrences, lost sales, violations of privacy or other laws, penalties, fines, regulatory action or litigation. We also rely on third-party service
providers for certain information technology systems, such as payment processing, and any data security breach at a third-party service provider could have
similar effects. In addition, media or other reports of perceived security vulnerabilities to our systems or those of our third-party suppliers, even if no
breach has been attempted or occurred, could adversely impact our brand and reputation and customers could lose confidence in our security measures and
reliability, which would harm our ability to retain customers and gain new ones. If any of these were to occur, it could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial position and results of operations.

In addition, there are a number of federal, state and provincial laws protecting the confidentiality of certain client health information, including client
records, and restricting the use and disclosure of that protected information. The privacy rules under the Personal Information Protection and Electronics
Documents Act (Canada) (“PIPEDA”) protect medical records and other personal health information by limiting their use and disclosure of health
information to the minimum level reasonably necessary to accomplish the intended purpose and apply to our operations globally. If we were to be found to
be in violation of the privacy or security rules under PIPEDA or other applicable laws protecting the confidentiality of client health information in
jurisdictions we operate in, we could be subject to sanctions and civil or criminal penalties, which could increase our liabilities, harm our reputation and
have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. Additional jurisdictions in which we operate or which we may
enter also have data privacy and security laws and regulations that govern the collection, use, disclosure, transfer, storage, disposal, and protection of
sensitive personal information (such as the California Consumer Privacy Act in California). The interpretation and enforcement of such laws and
regulations are uncertain and subject to change and may require substantial costs to monitor and implement compliance with any additional requirements.
Failure to comply with data protection laws and regulations could result in government enforcement actions (which could include substantial civil and/or
criminal penalties), private litigation and/or adverse publicity and could negatively affect our operating results and business.
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Our cannabis cultivation and U.S. hemp operations are subject to risks inherent in an agricultural business.

Our business involves the growing of cannabis, an agricultural product, in certain jurisdictions where that activity is permitted. As such, the business is
subject to the risks inherent in the agricultural business, such as insects, plant diseases and similar agricultural risks that may create crop failures and supply
interruptions for our customers. Although our current operational production facilities grow products indoors under climate-controlled conditions and we
carefully monitor the growing conditions with trained personnel, there can be no assurance that natural elements will not have a material adverse effect on
the production of our products.

Our business also involves products containing U.S. hemp. U.S. hemp is typically harvested in or around the month of October. U.S. hemp plants can be
vulnerable to various pathogens including bacteria, fungi, viruses and other miscellaneous pathogens. Such instances often lead to reduced crop quality,
stunted growth and/or death of the plant. Moreover, U.S. hemp is “phytoremediative” (meaning that it may extract toxins or other undesirable chemicals or
compounds from the ground in which it is planted). Various regulatory agencies have established maximum limits for pathogens, toxins, chemicals and
other compounds that may be present in agricultural materials. If U.S. hemp used in our products is found to have levels of pathogens, toxins, chemicals or
other undesirable compounds that exceed permitted limits, it may have to be destroyed. Should the U.S. hemp used in our products be lost due to
pathogens, toxins, chemicals or other undesirable compounds, or if we or our suppliers are otherwise unable to obtain U.S. hemp for use in our products on
an ongoing basis, it may have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results, liquidity, cash flow and operational
performance.

The inability of our customers to meet their financial or contractual obligations to us may result in disruption to our results of operations and could
result in financial losses.

We have significant exposure to several customers and at least some of these customers are experiencing financial difficulties. We have in the past, and may
in the future, need to take allowances against and need to write off receivables due to the creditworthiness of these customers. Further, the inability of these
customers to purchase our products could materially adversely affect our results of operations.

The inability of our suppliers to meet their financial or contractual obligations to us may result in disruption to our supply chain and could result in
financial losses.

We face exposure to our third-party cannabis suppliers that may face financial difficulties which would impact our supply of cannabis material. We have in
the past, and may in the future, have disruptions in our supply chain.

We rely on third-party distributors to distribute our products, and those distributors may not perform their obligations.

We rely on third-party distributors, including pharmaceutical distributors and other courier services, and may in the future rely on other third parties, to
distribute our products. If these distributors do not successfully carry out their contractual obligations or terminate or suspend their contractual
arrangements with us, if there is a delay or interruption in the distribution of our products or if these third parties damage our products, it could negatively
impact our revenue. In addition, any damage to our products, such as product spoilage, could expose us to potential product liability, damage our reputation
and the reputation of our brands or otherwise harm our business.

Risks Relating to Intellectual Property

We are subject to risks related to the protection and enforcement of our intellectual property rights, and we may be unable to protect or enforce our
intellectual property rights.

The ownership and protection of our intellectual property rights is a significant aspect of our future success. Currently we rely on trade secrets, technical
know-how, proprietary information and certain patent filings to maintain our competitive position. We try to protect our intellectual property by
strategically seeking and obtaining registered protection where possible, developing and implementing standard operating procedures to protect trade
secrets, technical know-how and proprietary information, and entering into agreements with parties that have access to our inventions, trade secrets,
technical know-how and proprietary information, such as our partners, collaborators, employees and consultants, to protect confidentiality and ownership.
We also seek to preserve the integrity and confidentiality of our inventions, trade secrets, technical know-how and proprietary information by maintaining
physical security of our premises and physical and electronic security of our information technology systems, and we seek to protect our trademarks and the
goodwill associated therewith by monitoring and enforcing against unauthorized use of our trademarks.

It is possible that we will inadvertently disclose or otherwise fail or be unable to protect our inventions, trade secrets, technical know-how or proprietary
information, or will fail to identify our inventions or trademarks as patentable or registrable intellectual property, or fail to obtain patent or registered
trademark protection therefor. Any such disclosure or failure could have a material adverse effect on our business.
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We may be unable to protect our inventions, trade secrets, and other intellectual property from discovery or unauthorized use.

In relation to our agreements with parties that have access to our intellectual property, any of these parties may breach their obligations to us, and we may
not have adequate remedies for such breach. In relation to our security measures, such security measures may be breached and we may not have adequate
remedies for such breach. In addition, our intellectual property that has not yet been applied for or registered may otherwise become known to, or be
independently developed by, competitors, or may already be the subject of applications for intellectual property registrations filed by our competitors,
which may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We cannot provide any assurances that our inventions, trade secrets, technical know-how and other proprietary information will not be disclosed in
violation of agreements, or that competitors will not otherwise gain access to our intellectual property or independently develop and file applications for
intellectual property rights in a manner that adversely impacts our intellectual property rights. Unauthorized parties may attempt to replicate or otherwise
obtain and use our inventions, trade secrets, technical know-how and proprietary information. Policing the unauthorized use of our current or future
intellectual property rights could be difficult, expensive, time-consuming and unpredictable, as may be enforcing these rights against unauthorized use by
others. Identifying unauthorized use of intellectual property rights is difficult as we may be unable to effectively monitor and evaluate the products being
distributed by our competitors, including parties such as unlicensed dispensaries, and the processes used to produce such products. If the steps taken to
identify and protect our trade secrets are inadequate, we may be unable to enforce our rights in them against third parties.

Our intellectual property rights may be invalid or unenforceable under applicable laws, and we may be unable to have issued or registered, and unable
to enforce, our intellectual property rights.

The laws and positions of intellectual property offices administering such laws regarding intellectual property rights relating to cannabis and cannabis-
related products are constantly evolving, and there is uncertainty regarding which countries will permit the filing, prosecution, issuance, registration and
enforcement of intellectual property rights relating to cannabis and cannabis-related products.

Specifically, we have sought trademark protection in many countries, including Canada, the U.S. and others. Our ability to obtain registered trademark
protection for cannabis and cannabis-related goods and services (including U.S. hemp and U.S. hemp-related goods and services) may be limited in certain
countries outside of Canada, including the U.S., where registered federal trademark protection is currently unavailable for trademarks covering the sale of
U.S. Schedule I cannabis products or certain goods containing U.S. hemp-derived CBD (such as dietary supplements and foods) until the FDA provides
clearer guidance on the regulation of such products; and including Europe, where laws on the legality of cannabis use are not uniform, and trademarks
cannot be obtained for products that are “contrary to public policy or accepted principles of morality.” Accordingly, our ability to obtain intellectual
property rights or enforce intellectual property rights against third-party uses of similar trademarks may be limited in certain countries.

Moreover, in any infringement proceeding, some or all of our current or future trademarks, patents or other intellectual property rights or other proprietary
know-how, or arrangements or agreements seeking to protect the same for our benefit, may be found invalid, unenforceable, anti-competitive or not
infringed. An adverse result in any litigation or defense proceedings could put one or more of our current or future trademarks, patents or other intellectual
property rights at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and could put existing intellectual property applications at risk of not being issued. Any
or all of these events could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

There is no guarantee that any patent or other intellectual property applications that we file will result in registration or any enforceable intellectual
property rights or the breadth of any such protection. Further, there is no assurance that we will find all potentially relevant prior art relating to any patent
applications that we file, which may prevent a patent from issuing from a patent application or invalidate any patent that issues from such application. Even
if patents do successfully issue, and cover our products and processes, third parties may challenge their validity, enforceability or scope, which may result
in such patents being narrowed, found unenforceable or invalidated. Even if they are unchallenged, any patent applications and future patents may not
adequately protect our intellectual property rights, provide exclusivity for our products or processes or prevent others from designing around any issued
patent claims. Any of these outcomes could impair our ability to prevent competition from third parties, which could materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
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We may be subject to allegations that we are in violation of third-party intellectual property rights, and we may be found to infringe third-party
intellectual property rights, possibly without the ability to obtain licenses necessary to use such third-party intellectual property rights.

Other parties may claim that our products infringe on their intellectual property rights, including with respect to patents, and our operation of our business,
including our development, manufacture and sale of our goods and services, may be found to infringe third-party intellectual property rights. There may be
third-party patents or patent applications with claims to products or processes related to the manufacture, use or sale of our products and processes. There
may be currently pending patent applications, some of which may still be confidential, that may later result in issued patents that our products or processes
may infringe. In addition, third parties may obtain patents in the future and claim that use of our inventions, trade secrets, technical know-how and
proprietary information, or the manufacture, use or sale of our products, infringes upon those patents. Third parties may also claim that our use of our
trademarks infringes upon their trademark rights. Such claims, whether or not meritorious, may result in the expenditure of significant financial and
managerial resources, legal fees, injunctions, temporary restraining orders, other equitable relief, and/or require the payment of damages, any or all of
which may have an adverse impact on our business. In addition, we may need to obtain licenses from third parties who allege that we have infringed on
their lawful rights. Such licenses may not be available on terms acceptable to us, and we may be unable to obtain any licenses or other necessary or useful
rights under third-party intellectual property.

Our germplasm relies heavily on intellectual property, and we may be unable to protect, register or enforce our intellectual property rights in
germplasm, and may infringe third-party intellectual property rights with respect to germplasm, possibly without the ability to obtain licenses necessary
to use such third-party intellectual property rights.

Germplasm, including seeds, clones and cuttings, is the genetic material used in new cannabis varieties and hybrids. We use advanced breeding
technologies to produce cannabis germplasm (hybrids and varieties) with superior performance. We rely on parental varieties for the success of our
breeding program. Although we believe that the parental germplasm is proprietary to us, we may need to obtain licenses from third parties who may allege
that we have appropriated their germplasm or their rights to such germplasm. Such licenses may not be available on terms acceptable to us, and we may be
unable to obtain any licenses or other necessary or useful rights under third-party intellectual property. We seek to protect our parental germplasm, as
appropriate, relying on intellectual property rights, including rights related to inventions (patents and plant breeders’ rights), trade secrets, technical know-
how, and proprietary information. There is a risk that we will fail to protect such germplasm or that we will fail to register rights in relation to such
germplasm.

We also seek to protect our parental germplasm, hybrids and varieties from pests and diseases and enhance plant productivity and fertility, and we research
products to protect against crop pests and fungus. There are several reasons why new product concepts in these areas may be abandoned, including greater
than anticipated development costs, technical difficulties, regulatory obstacles, competition, inability to prove the original concept, lack of demand and the
need to divert focus, from time to time, to other initiatives with perceived opportunities for better returns. The processes of breeding, development and trait
integration are lengthy, and the germplasm we test may not be selected for commercialization. The length of time and the risk associated with breeding may
affect our business. Our sales depend on our germplasm. Commercial success frequently depends on being the first company to the market, and many of
our competitors are also making considerable investments in similar new and improved cannabis germplasm products. Consequently, there is no assurance
that we will develop and deliver new cannabis germplasm products to the markets we serve on a timely basis.

Finally, we seek to protect our germplasm, hybrids and varieties from accidental release, theft, misappropriation and sabotage by maintaining physical
security of our premises and through contractual rights with our employees and certain of our independent contractors, consultants and licensees. However,
such security measures may be insufficient or breached, and our employees, independent contractors, consultants and licensees may engage in the
inadvertent disclosure, theft, misappropriation or sabotage. We may not have adequate remedies in the case of any such security breach, inadvertent
disclosure, theft, misappropriation or sabotage.

We receive licenses to use some third-party intellectual property rights; the failure of the owner of such intellectual property to properly maintain or
enforce the intellectual property underlying such licenses, or our inability to maintain such licenses, could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and performance.

We are party to licenses granted by third parties, including with actress Kristen Bell and through the Ginkgo Strategic Partnership, that give us rights to use
third-party intellectual property that is necessary or useful to our business. Our success will depend, in part, on the ability of the applicable licensor to
maintain and enforce its licensed intellectual property against other third parties, particularly intellectual property rights to which we have secured
exclusive rights. Without protection for the intellectual property we have licensed, other companies might be able to offer substantially similar products for
sale, or utilize substantially similar processes or publicity and marketing rights, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Any of our licensors may allege that we have breached our license agreements with those licensors, whether with or without merit, and accordingly seek to
terminate our applicable licenses. If successful, this could result in our loss of the right to use applicable licensed intellectual property, which could
adversely affect our ability to commercialize our products or services, as well as have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.
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The technologies, process and formulations we use may face competition or become obsolete.

Rapidly changing markets, technology, emerging industry standards and frequent introduction of new products characterize our business. The introduction
of new products embodying new technologies, including new manufacturing processes or formulations, and the emergence of new industry standards may
render our products obsolete, less competitive or less marketable. The process of developing our products is complex and requires significant continuing
costs, development efforts and third-party commitments, including licensees, researchers, collaborators and lenders. Our failure to develop new
technologies and products and the obsolescence of existing technologies or processes could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations. We may be unable to anticipate changes in our potential customer requirements that could make our existing technology, processes or
formulations obsolete. Our success will depend, in part, on our ability to continue to enhance our existing technologies, develop new technology that
addresses the increasing sophistication and varied news of the market, and respond to technological advances and emerging industry standards and
practices on a timely and cost-effective basis. The development of our proprietary technology, processes and formulations entails significant technical and
business risks. We may not be successful in using our new technologies or exploiting our niche markets effectively or adapting our business to evolving
customer or medical requirements or preference or emerging industry standards.

Risks Relating to Entry into New Markets

Controlled substance and other legislation and treaties may restrict or limit our ability to research, manufacture and develop a commercial market for
our products outside of the jurisdictions in which we currently operate and our expansion into such jurisdictions is subject to risks.

Approximately 250 substances, including cannabis, are listed in the Schedules annexed to the UN Single Convention, the Convention on Psychotropic
Substances (Vienna, 1971) and the Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances (introducing control on precursors)
(Vienna, 1988). The purpose of these listings is to control and limit the use of these drugs according to a classification of their therapeutic value, risk of
abuse and health dangers, and to minimize the diversion of precursor chemicals to illegal drug manufacturers. The 1961 UN Single Convention on Narcotic
Drugs, as amended in 1972 classifies cannabis as a Schedule I (“substances with addictive properties, presenting a serious risk of abuse”) narcotic drug. In
December 2020, the Commission on Narcotic Drugs voted to remove cannabis from Schedule IV (“the most dangerous substances, already listed in
Schedule I, which are particularly harmful and of extremely limited medical or therapeutic value”). The 1971 UN Convention on Psychotropic Substances
classifies THC as a Schedule I psychotropic substance (substances presenting a high risk of abuse, posing a particularly serious threat to public health
which are of very little or no therapeutic value). Many countries are parties to these conventions, which govern international trade and domestic control of
these substances, including cannabis. They may interpret and implement their obligations in a way that creates legal obstacles to our obtaining
manufacturing and/or marketing approval for our products in those countries. These countries may not be willing or able to amend or otherwise modify
their laws and regulations to permit our products to be manufactured and/or marketed and achieving such amendments to the laws and regulations may take
a prolonged period of time. There can be no assurance that any market for our products will develop in any jurisdiction in which we do not currently have
operations. We may face new or unexpected risks or significantly increase our exposure to one or more existing risk factors, including economic instability,
political instability, changes in laws and regulations and the effects of competition. These factors may limit our capability to successfully expand our
operations into such jurisdictions and may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Investments and joint ventures outside of Canada and the U.S. are subject to the risks normally associated with any conduct of business in foreign
countries, including varying degrees of political, legal and economic risk.

Much of our exposure to markets in jurisdictions outside of Canada and the U.S. is through investments and joint ventures. These investments and joint
ventures are subject to the risks normally associated with any conduct of business in foreign and/or emerging countries including political risks; civil
disturbance risks; changes in laws or policies of particular countries, including those relating to royalties, duties, imports, exports and currency; the
cancellation or renegotiation of contracts; the imposition of royalties, net profits payments, tax increases or other claims by government entities, including
retroactive claims; a disregard for due process and the rule of law by local courts; the risk of expropriation and nationalization; delays in obtaining or the
inability to obtain necessary governmental permits or the reimbursement of refundable tax from fiscal authorities.

Threats or instability in a country caused by political events including elections, change in government, changes in personnel or legislative bodies, foreign
relations or military control present serious political and social risk and instability causing interruptions to the flow of business negotiations and influencing
relationships with government officials. Changes in policy or law may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations. The risks include increased “unpaid” state participation, higher energy costs, higher taxation levels and potential expropriation.

30



Table of Contents

Other risks include the potential for fraud and corruption by suppliers or personnel or government officials which may implicate us, compliance with
applicable anti-corruption laws, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and the Corruption of Foreign Public Officials Act (Canada), by virtue of
our operating in jurisdictions that may be vulnerable to the possibility of bribery, collusion, kickbacks, theft, improper commissions, facilitation payments,
conflicts of interest and related party transactions and our possible failure to identify, manage and mitigate instances of fraud, corruption or violations of
our code of conduct and applicable regulatory requirements.

There is also the risk of increased disclosure requirements; currency fluctuations; restrictions on the ability of local operating companies to hold Canadian
dollars, U.S. dollars or other foreign currencies in offshore bank accounts; import and export regulations; increased regulatory requirements and
restrictions; increased health-related regulations; limitations on the repatriation of earnings or on our ability to assist in minimizing our expatriate
workforce’s exposure to double taxation in both the home and host jurisdictions; and increased financing costs.

These risks may limit or disrupt our joint ventures, strategic alliances or investments, restrict the movement of funds, cause us to have to expend more
funds than previously expected or required or result in the deprivation of contract rights or the taking of property by nationalization or expropriation
without fair compensation, and may materially adversely affect our businesses, financial position and/or results of operations. In addition, the enforcement
by us of our legal rights in foreign countries, including rights to exploit our properties or utilize our permits and licenses and contractual rights may not be
recognized by the court systems in such foreign countries or enforced in accordance with the rule of law.

We may invest in companies, or engage in joint ventures, in countries with developing economies. It is difficult to predict the future political, social and
economic direction of the countries in which we operate, and the impact government decisions may have on our business. Any political or economic
instability in the countries in which we operate could have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our use of joint ventures may expose us to risks associated with jointly owned investments.

We currently operate parts of our business through joint ventures with other companies, and we may enter into additional joint ventures and strategic
alliances in the future. Joint venture investments may involve risks not otherwise present for investments made solely by us, including: (i) we may not
control the joint ventures; (ii) our joint venture partners may not agree to distributions that we believe are appropriate; (iii) where we do not have
substantial decision-making authority, we may experience impasses or disputes with our joint venture partners on certain decisions, which could require us
to expend additional resources to resolve such impasses or disputes, including litigation or arbitration; (iv) our joint venture partners may become insolvent
or bankrupt, fail to fund their share of required capital contributions or fail to fulfil their obligations as a joint venture partner; (v) the arrangements
governing our joint ventures may contain certain conditions or milestone events that may never be satisfied or achieved; (vi) our joint venture partners may
have business or economic interests that are inconsistent with ours and may take actions contrary to our interests; (vii) we may suffer losses as a result of
actions taken by our joint venture partners with respect to our joint venture investments; (viii) it may be difficult for us to exit a joint venture if an impasse
arises or if we desire to sell our interest for any reason; and (ix) our joint venture partners may exercise termination rights under the relevant agreements. In
addition, we may, in certain circumstances, be liable for the actions of our joint ventures or joint venture partners. Any of the foregoing risks could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

There can be no assurance that our current and future strategic alliances or expansions of scope of existing relationships will have a beneficial impact
on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We currently have, and may in the future enter into additional, strategic alliances with third parties that we believe will complement or augment our
existing business. Our ability to complete strategic alliances is dependent upon, and may be limited by, the availability of suitable candidates and capital. In
addition, strategic alliances could present unforeseen integration obstacles or costs, may not enhance our business and may involve risks that could
adversely affect us, including significant amounts of management time that may be diverted from operations in order to pursue and complete such
transactions or maintain such strategic alliances. Future strategic alliances could result in the incurrence of debt, costs and contingent liabilities, and there
can be no assurance that future strategic alliances will achieve, or that our existing strategic alliances will continue to achieve, the expected benefits to our
business or that we will be able to consummate future strategic alliances on satisfactory terms, or at all. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In the case of the Ginkgo Strategic Partnership, we will have, pursuant to the Ginkgo Collaboration Agreement, the exclusive right to use and
commercialize the key patented intellectual property related to the production of the target cannabinoids globally. There can be no assurance that Ginkgo
will be able to develop microorganisms that we will be able to commercialize or to obtain patents relating to production of the target cannabinoids, or that
third parties will not develop similar microorganisms or obtain patents that may restrict our ability to commercialize the microorganisms developed by
Ginkgo, and, as a result, there can be no assurance that we will be able to realize the expected benefits of the Ginkgo Strategic Partnership. Even if we are
able to commercialize, there may not be demand for such products or the cultured cannabinoids developed therefrom.
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In addition, pursuant to the Ginkgo Collaboration Agreement, if we undergo a change of control that is approved by the Board, including a change of
control resulting from the exercise of the Altria Warrant, Ginkgo may elect to receive cash payments, totaling up to $100 million, in lieu of the common
shares that would otherwise become issuable in connection with any Equity Milestone Events (as defined in the Ginkgo Collaboration Agreement)
achieved following such election (the “Milestone Cash Election”). If we undergo a change in control that has not been approved by the Board, then Ginkgo
will have the ability to terminate the Ginkgo Collaboration Agreement immediately, in which case, among other things: (i) all rights or licenses granted to
us by Ginkgo under the Ginkgo Collaboration Agreement will terminate; (ii) certain expenses and costs incurred by Ginkgo will be accelerated and become
due and payable by us; (iii) the then-outstanding and unpaid portion of all cash payments from us to Ginkgo for the achievement of R&D milestones by
Ginkgo shall be due immediately as if all R&D milestones had been achieved; and (iv) a lump sum cash payment equal to the aggregate of all Milestone
Cash Election amounts in respect of which the relevant Equity Milestone Events have not yet been achieved will be immediately due and payable by us. In
addition, should Ginkgo terminate the Ginkgo Collaboration Agreement upon a change of control, we will no longer be able to use or commercialize the
key patented intellectual property related to the production of the target cannabinoids, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations. See “Description of Business - Research and Development Activities and Intellectual Property.”

With respect to the Technion Research Agreement, we will have access to the results of preclinical studies conducted by Technion over a three-year period,
focusing on acne, psoriasis and skin repair. However, there can be no assurance that the preclinical studies will provide any actionable findings. As a result,
there can be no assurance that we will be able to realize the expected benefits of the Technion Research Agreement. Even if the results are actionable, and
we are able to develop commercial products based on such research, there may not be demand for such products. See “Description of Business - Research
and Development Activities and Intellectual Property - Technion Skin Health and Research Partnership.”

Risks Relating to Regulation and Compliance

We operate in highly requlated sectors where the regulatory environment is rapidly developing and we may not always succeed in complying fully with
applicable regulatory requirements in all jurisdictions where we carry on business.

Our business and activities are heavily regulated in all jurisdictions where we carry on business. Our operations are subject to various laws, regulations and
guidelines by governmental authorities (including, in Canada, Health Canada and analogous provincial and local regulatory agencies and, in the U.S., the
FDA, DEA and FTC and analogous state agencies) relating to the manufacture, marketing, management, transportation, storage, sale, pricing and disposal
of cannabis and U.S. hemp, and also including laws, regulations and guidelines relating to health and safety, insurance coverage, the conduct of operations
and the protection of the environment (including relating to emissions and discharges to water, air and land, and the handling and disposal of hazardous and
non-hazardous materials and wastes). Our operations may also be affected in varying degrees by government regulations with respect to, but not limited to,
price controls, export controls, controls on currency remittance, increased income taxes, restrictions on foreign investment and government policies
rewarding contracts to local competitors or requiring domestic producers or vendors to purchase supplies from a particular jurisdiction. Laws, regulations
and guidelines, applied generally, grant government agencies and self-regulatory bodies broad administrative discretion over our activities, including the
power to limit or restrict business activities as well as impose additional disclosure requirements on our products and services.

Achievement of our business objectives is contingent, in part, upon compliance with regulatory requirements enacted by these governmental authorities and
obtaining all necessary regulatory approvals for the production, storage, transportation, sale, import and export, as applicable, of our products. The cannabis
and U.S. hemp industries are still new industries and, in Canada, in particular the Cannabis Act, is a new regime that has no close precedent in Canadian
law. Similarly, outside of the U.S. and Canada, the regulatory environments in jurisdictions legalizing the import, cultivation, production and sale of
cannabis and cannabis products are new and are still being developed without close precedent in such jurisdictions. The effect of relevant governmental
authorities’ administration, application and enforcement of their respective regulatory regimes and delays in obtaining, or failure to obtain, applicable
regulatory approvals which may be required may significantly delay or impact the development of markets, products and sales initiatives and could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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The regulatory environment for our products is rapidly developing, and the need to build and maintain robust systems to comply with different and
changing regulations in multiple jurisdictions increases the possibility that we may violate one or more applicable requirements. While we endeavor to
comply with all relevant laws, regulations and guidelines, any failure to comply with the regulatory requirements applicable to our operations could subject
us to negative consequences, including, civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, the curtailment or restructuring of our operations, asset seizures,
revocation or imposition of additional conditions on licenses to operate our business, the denial of regulatory applications (including, in the U.S., by other
regulatory regimes that rely on the positions of the DEA and FDA in the application of their respective regimes), the suspension or expulsion from a
particular market or jurisdiction of our key personnel, or the imposition of additional or more stringent inspection, testing and reporting requirements, any
of which could materially adversely affect our business and financial results. In the U.S., failure to comply with FDA requirements (and analogous state
agencies) may result in, among other things, injunctions, product withdrawals, recalls, product seizures, fines and criminal prosecutions. The outcome of
any regulatory or agency proceedings, investigations, audits, and other contingencies could harm our reputation, require us to take, or refrain from taking,
actions that could harm our operations or require us to pay substantial amounts of money, harming our results of operations, financial condition and cash
flows. There can be no assurance that any pending or future regulatory or agency proceedings, investigations and audits will not result in substantial costs
or a diversion of management’s attention and resources, negatively impact our future growth plans and opportunities or have a material adverse impact on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If the Company’s U.S. hemp business activities are found to be in violation of any of U.S. federal, state or local laws or any other governmental
regulations, in addition to the items described above:

» the Company may be subject to “Warning Letters,” fines, penalties, administrative sanctions, settlements, injunctions, product recalls and/or other
enforcement actions arising from civil, administrative or other proceedings initiated that could adversely affect the Company’s business, financial
condition, operating results, liquidity, cash flow and operational performance;

« the profits or revenues derived therefrom could be subject to money laundering statutes, including the Money Laundering Control Act, which could
result in significant disruption to our U.S. hemp business operations and involve significant costs, expenses or other penalties; and

» the Company’s suppliers, service providers and distributors may elect, at any time, to breach or otherwise cease to participate in supply, service or
distribution agreements, or other relationships, on which the Company’s operations rely.

As it relates to U.S. Schedule I cannabis, in the U.S., despite cannabis possession and use having been legalized at the state level for medical use in many
states and for adult-use in a number of states, marijuana as defined by the CSA continues to be categorized as a Schedule I controlled substance under the
CSA and subject to the Controlled Substances Import and Export Act (“CSIEA”). Although we do not engage in any activities related to marijuana as
defined by the CSA in the U.S., violations of any U.S. federal laws and regulations, including the CSA and the CSIEA, whether intentional or inadvertent,
could result in civil, criminal and/or administrative enforcement actions, which could result in fines, penalties, and other sanctions, including but not
limited to, cessation of business activities. Additionally, U.S. border officials could deny entry into the U.S. to those employed at or investing in legal and
licensed non-U.S. cannabis companies and such persons could face detention, denial of entry or lifetime bans from the U.S. for their business associations
with cannabis businesses.

We and our joint ventures and strategic investments are reliant on required licenses, authorizations, approvals and permits for our ability to grow,
process, store and sell cannabis which are subject to ongoing compliance, reporting and renewal requirements and we may also be required to obtain
additional licenses, authorizations, approvals and permits in connection with our business.

Our ability to grow, process, store and sell cannabis in Canada is dependent on our licenses from Health Canada, and in particular the licenses currently
held by Peace Naturals. Failure to comply with the requirements of the licenses or failure to maintain the licenses would have a material adverse impact on
our business, financial condition and results of operations. Although we believe Peace Naturals will meet the requirements of the Cannabis Act for
extension of its license, there can be no guarantee that Health Canada will extend or renew the licenses or, if they are extended or renewed, that they will be
extended or renewed on the same or similar terms or that Health Canada will not revoke the licenses. Should we fail to comply with requirements of the
licenses, should Health Canada not extend or renew the licenses, should we renew the licenses on different terms (including not allowing for anticipated
capacity increases) or should the licenses be revoked, our business, financial condition and results of the operations will be materially adversely affected.
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Our ability to grow, process, store and sell cannabis in Israel is dependent on maintaining our cannabis cultivation and production licenses and our ability to
export products from Cronos Israel is also dependent on obtaining the relevant export permits. Cronos GrowCo’s ability to grow, process, store and sell
cannabis at its cannabis facility in Kingsville, Ontario depends on obtaining and maintaining the appropriate licenses from Health Canada. Natuera’s ability
to grow, process, store and sell cannabis in Colombia is dependent on obtaining and maintaining and being granted the appropriate licenses from the
Ministry of Health and Social Security and Natuera’s ability to export products from Colombia is dependent on its ability to obtain the relevant export
permits. Should we or our joint ventures fail to comply with the requirements of the licenses, or should they not be extended or renewed by the applicable
regulatory authorities, or should they be renewed on different terms (including not allowing for anticipated capacity increases) or should the licenses be
revoked, the business, financial condition and results of our and our joint ventures’ operations will be materially adversely affected. There is no assurance
that we or our joint ventures will be able to obtain additional permits or licenses on commercially reasonable terms, if at all.

In addition, Ginkgo’s ability to conduct certain R&D activities in the U.S. under the Ginkgo Collaboration Agreement is conditional on Ginkgo continuing
to maintain all necessary licenses, permits and approvals required for Ginkgo to perform such R&D activities. There are no assurances that Ginkgo will be
able to maintain required licenses, permits and approvals and, to the extent such licenses, permits and approvals are not maintained, we may not realize the
expected benefits of the Ginkgo Strategic Partnership.

We may also be required to obtain and maintain certain permits, licenses and approvals in the jurisdictions where we source, process, or sell products
derived from U.S. hemp. We may be unable to obtain or maintain any necessary licenses, permits or approvals. Additional government licenses are
currently, and in the future, may be, required in connection with our operations, in addition to other unknown permits and approvals which may be
required, including with respect to our other Rest of World operations. To the extent such permits, and approvals are required and not obtained, we may be
prevented from operating and/or expanding our business, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Changes in the laws, regulations and guidelines governing cannabis and U.S. hemp may adversely impact our business.

Our current operations are subject to various laws, regulations and guidelines promulgated by governmental authorities (including, in Canada, Health
Canada and, in the U.S., the FDA, DEA, FTC and PTO) relating to the marketing, acquisition, manufacture, packaging/labeling, management,
transportation, storage, sale and disposal of cannabis or U.S. hemp but also including laws and regulations relating to health and safety, the conduct of
operations and the protection of the environment. Additionally, our growth strategy continues to evolve as regulations governing the cannabis industry in
the jurisdictions other than Canada and the U.S. in which we operate become more fully developed. Interpretation of these laws, rules and regulations and
their application to our operations is ongoing. No assurance can be given that new laws, regulations and guidelines will not be enacted or that existing laws,
regulations and guidelines will not be amended, repealed or interpreted or applied in a manner which could require extensive changes to our operations,
increase compliance costs, give rise to material liabilities or a revocation of our licenses and other permits, restrict the growth opportunities that we
currently anticipate or otherwise limit or curtail our operations. For example, the Cannabis Act requires the federal government to conduct a review of the
Cannabis Act beginning in October 2021. This statutory review is required to include, among other things, consideration of (i) the administration and
operation of the Cannabis Act, (ii) the impact of the Cannabis Act on public health, (iii) the health and consumption habits of young persons, (iv) the
impact of cannabis on Indigenous persons and communities and (v) the impact of cultivation of cannabis plants in a dwelling-house. This statutory review
may lead to the amendment, removal or addition of provisions in or to the Cannabis Act which could adversely affect our business. Amendments to current
laws, regulations and guidelines governing the production, sale and use of cannabis and cannabis-based products, more stringent implementation or
enforcement thereof or other unanticipated events, including changes in political regimes or political instability, currency controls, fluctuations in currency
exchange rates and rates of inflation, labor unrest, changes in taxation laws, regulations and policies, restrictions on foreign exchange and repatriation,
governmental regulations relating to foreign investment and the cannabis business more generally, and changes in attitudes toward cannabis, are beyond our
control and could require extensive changes to our operations, which in turn may result in a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

While the production of cannabis in Canada is under the regulatory oversight of the federal government, the distribution of adult-use cannabis in Canada
falls within the jurisdiction of the provincial and territorial governments. The impact of the legislation regulating adult-use cannabis passed in the provinces
and territories on the cannabis industry and our business plans and operations is uncertain. Provinces and territories have announced certain restrictions that
are more stringent than the federal rules or regulations such as bans on cannabis edibles, raising minimum age of purchase and flavor restrictions. For
example, Québec, Newfoundland and Labrador and Prince Edward Island do not currently permit sales of cannabis vaporizers, and Québec limits the sale
of other high THC non-edible cannabis products. In addition, the distribution and retail channels and applicable rules and regulations in the provinces
continue to evolve and our ability to distribute and retail cannabis and cannabis products in Canada is dependent on the ability of the provinces and
territories of Canada to establish licensed retail networks and outlets. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, various provinces and territories have
introduced a variety of regulatory changes to their respective cannabis regimes, which include in certain jurisdictions, forced store closures, restrictions or
bans on in-store shopping experiences, and the authorization of private delivery services. There is no guarantee that the applicable legislation regulating the
distribution and sale of cannabis for adult-use purposes, including as amended to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic, will allow for the growth
opportunities we currently anticipate.
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Furthermore, additional countries continue to pass laws that allow for the production and distribution of cannabis in some form or another. We have
subsidiaries, investments, joint ventures and strategic alliances in place outside of the U.S. and Canada, which may be affected if more countries legalize
cannabis. Increased international competition and limitations placed on us by Canadian regulations might lower the demand for our products on a global
scale. We also face competition in each jurisdiction outside of the U.S. and Canada where we have subsidiaries, investments, joint ventures and strategic
alliances with local companies that have more experience, more in-depth knowledge of local markets or applicable laws, regulations and guidelines or
longer operating histories in such jurisdictions.

We are subject to certain restrictions of the TSX and Nasdaq which may constrain our ability to expand our business internationally.
Our common shares are listed on the TSX and Nasdaq. We must comply with the TSX and Nasdaq requirements or guidelines when conducting business.

On October 16, 2017, the TSX provided clarity regarding the application of Section 306 (Minimum Listing Requirements), Section 325 (Management) and
Part VII (Halting of Trading, Suspension and Delisting of Securities) of the TSX Company Manual (collectively, the “Requirements”) to TSX-listed issuers
with business activities in the cannabis sector. In TSX Staff Notice 2017- 0009, the TSX notes that issuers with ongoing business activities that violate U.S.
federal law regarding U.S. Schedule I cannabis are not in compliance with the Requirements. The TSX reminded issuers that, among other things, should
the TSX find that a listed issuer is engaging in activities contrary to the Requirements, the TSX has the discretion to initiate a delisting review. Although we
do not conduct any operations in the U.S. with respect to U.S. Schedule I cannabis, failure to comply with the Requirements could result in a delisting of
our common shares from the TSX or the denial of an application for certain approvals, such as to have additional securities listed on the TSX, which could
have a material adverse effect on the trading price of our common shares and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

While Nasdaq has not issued official rules specific to the cannabis or U.S. hemp industry, stock exchanges in the U.S., including Nasdaq, have historically
refused to list certain U.S. Schedule I cannabis related businesses, including U.S. Schedule I cannabis retailers, that operate primarily in the U.S. Failure to
comply with any requirements imposed by Nasdaq could result in the delisting of our common shares from Nasdaq or denial of any application to have
additional securities listed on Nasdaq which could have a material adverse effect on the trading price of our common shares.

We are constrained by law in our ability to market and advertise our products.

Our marketing and advertising are subject to regulation by various regulatory bodies in the jurisdictions we operate. In Canada, the development of our
business and related results of operations may be hindered by applicable regulatory restrictions on sales and marketing activities. For example, the
regulatory environment in Canada limits our ability to compete for market share in a manner similar to other industries. If we are unable to effectively
market our products and compete for market share in Canada, or if the costs of compliance with government legislation and regulation cannot be absorbed
through increased selling prices for our products, our sales and results of operations could be adversely affected. See “Business —Regulatory Framework in
Canada.”

In the U.S., our advertising is subject to regulation by the FTC under the Federal Trade Commission Act as well as the FDA under the Federal Food, Drug,
and Cosmetic Act, including as amended by the Dietary Supplement Health and Education Act of 1994, and by state agencies under analogous and similar
state and local laws. In recent years, the FTC, the FDA and state agencies have initiated numerous investigations of food and dietary supplement products
both because of their CBD content and based on allegedly deceptive or misleading marketing claims and have, on occasion, issued “Warning Letters” or
instituted enforcement actions due to such claims. Some U.S. states also permit content, advertising and labeling laws to be enforced by state attorneys
general, who may seek civil and criminal penalties, relief for consumers, class action certifications, class wide damages and recalls of products sold by us.
There has also been a recent increase in private litigation that seeks, among other things, relief for consumers, class action certifications, class wide
damages and recalls of products. We have been subject to such litigation and may be subject to additional private class action litigation. Any actions against
us by governmental authorities or private litigants could have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results, liquidity,
cash flow and operational performance.
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Risks Related to U.S. Regulation and Compliance

We are subject to uncertainty regarding the legal and regulatory status of U.S. hemp, including with respect to U.S. federal and state implementation of
the 2018 Farm Bill and related laws, including the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, and the interpretation or application of, or changes to, such
laws and regulations may have material and adverse effects on our business, financial condition, operating results, liquidity, cash flow and operational
performance.

In 2014, U.S. Congress passed the 2014 Farm Bill, which permitted the domestic cultivation of “industrial hemp” (defined as the plant Cannabis sativa L.
and any part of such plant, whether growing or not, with no more than 0.3% THC on a dry weight basis) as part of agricultural pilot programs adopted by
individual states for the purposes of research by state departments of agriculture and institutions of higher education. There is significant uncertainty
concerning the permissible scope of commercial activity under the 2014 Farm Bill. The 2014 Farm Bill only authorized institutions of higher education and
state agricultural departments to cultivate industrial hemp, and only to do so for research purposes. However, it also gave significant discretion to states to
regulate industrial hemp pilot programs. Many states that have adopted pilot programs have licensed private companies to cultivate and process industrial
hemp. Additionally, many states have interpreted the 2014 Farm Bill to permit research concerning industrial hemp through, among other things,
commercial marketing and sale of industrial hemp and industrial hemp products. In contrast, the DEA, FDA and the USDA have taken the position that,
under the 2014 Farm Bill, industrial hemp products may not be sold for the purpose of general commercial activity or in states without agricultural pilot
programs that permit their sale for research marketing purposes; these agencies have also taken the position that, under the 2014 Farm Bill, industrial hemp
plants and seeds may not be transported across state lines.

On December 20, 2018, the 2018 Farm Bill was signed into law. The 2018 Farm Bill, among other things, removes “hemp” (which we refer to as “U.S.
hemp” in this Annual Report, defined as the plant Cannabis sativa L. and any part of that plant, including the seeds thereof and all derivatives, extracts,
cannabinoids, isomers, acids, salts, and salts of isomers, whether growing or not, with a THC concentration of not more than 0.3% on a dry weight basis
and its derivatives) from the Controlled Substances Act and amends the Agricultural Marketing Act of 1946 to permit the production and sale of U.S. hemp
in the U.S. The 2018 Farm Bill tasks the USDA with promulgating regulations in relation to the cultivation and production of U.S. hemp. The 2018 Farm
Bill also directs the USDA to promulgate federal regulations that would apply to the production of U.S. hemp in every state which does not put forth a state
U.S. hemp plan for approval by the USDA. The USDA issued a final rule in January 2021 that becomes effective March 2021. Various states are in the
process of applying to the USDA for approval of their U.S. hemp production regulations which impose different levels of regulation and costs on the
production of U.S. hemp, and certain state plans have been approved by the USDA. The USDA’s recently issued final rule, requires hemp producers to use
a laboratory that is registered with the DEA for analytical testing of hemp plants; however, the USDA is delaying enforcement of this requirement until
December 31, 2022. The final rule does provide some flexibility for producers to dispose or remediate non-compliant plants, subject to additional
documentation requirements, without requiring the use of a DEA-registered reverse distributor or law enforcement to dispose of non-compliant plants.
Moreover, the 2018 Farm Bill provides that its provisions do not preempt or limit state laws that regulate the production of U.S. hemp. Accordingly, some
states may choose to restrict or prohibit some or all U.S. hemp production or sales within the state and variances in states’ laws and regulations on U.S.
hemp are likely to persist. Further, each state has discretion to develop and implement its own laws and regulations governing the manufacturing,
marketing, labeling, and sale of U.S. hemp products, which has created a patchwork of different regulatory schemes applicable to such products.

The FDA or particular states may ultimately prohibit the sale of some or all dietary supplements or conventional foods containing U.S. hemp and U.S.
hemp-derived ingredients, including CBD and we may be required to submit a New Dietary Ingredient notification to the FDA, which may not be
accepted without objection.

Under the 2018 Farm Bill, the FDA has retained authority over the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act-regulated products (e.g., drugs (human and
animal), food (human and animal), dietary supplements and cosmetics) containing U.S. hemp and U.S. hemp-derived ingredients, including CBD. The
FDA has consistently taken the position that CBD, whether derived from U.S. hemp or U.S. Schedule I cannabis, is prohibited from use as an ingredient in
food and dietary supplements. This stems from its interpretation of the exclusionary clauses in the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act because CBD is
the active ingredient in a drug that has been approved as a prescription drug and is the subject of substantial clinical investigations as a drug, which have
been made public. The exclusionary clauses under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act provide that a substance that has been approved or has been
subject to substantial clinical investigations as a drug may not be used in a food or dietary supplement, unless the substance was first marketed in a food or
dietary supplement prior to the initiation of substantial clinical investigations of the substance as a drug.
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The FDA has not issued regulations that elaborate on the exclusionary clauses, and the FDA has not taken any enforcement action in the courts asserting a
violation of the exclusionary clauses due to the marketing of U.S. hemp, U.S. hemp extracts, or CBD. To date, the FDA has issued several “Warning
Letters” to companies unlawfully marketing CBD products. In many of these cases, the manufacturer made unsubstantiated claims about the product being
able to treat medical conditions (e.g., cancer, Alzheimer’s disease, opioid withdrawal, anxiety and COVID-19) and had not obtained drug approvals. Some
of these letters were co-signed with the FTC and cited the companies for making claims about the efficacy of CBD or other ingredients which were not
substantiated by competent and reliable scientific evidence. In December 2020, the FTC announced it had entered into settlement agreements with six
companies marketing CBD products including oils, gummies, creams, and others with deceptive health claims about serious health conditions. The
settlements included monetary penalties ranging from $20,000 to $85,000. The FDA has also issued a “Warning Letter” to at least one dietary supplement
manufacturer for a number of violations observed during an inspection, including manufacturing CBD supplements in a licensed facility.

Until the FDA formally adopts regulations with respect to CBD products or announces an official position with respect to CBD products, there is a risk that
the FDA could take enforcement action (e.g., “Warning Letter,” seizure, injunction) against the Company’s U.S. hemp-derived CBD products sold in the
U.S.

Moreover, states have retained regulatory authority through their own analogues to the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, and the states may diverge
from the federal treatment of the use of U.S. hemp as, or in, food, dietary supplements or cosmetic products. The FDA or applicable states (under their
CSA or Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act analogues) may ultimately not permit the sale of non-pharmaceutical products containing U.S. hemp-
derived ingredients, including CBD, which would have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Even if the exclusionary clause issue discussed above is resolved in a manner favorable to us, we could be required to submit a New Dietary Ingredient
Notification (“NDIN”) to the FDA with respect to U.S. hemp-derived ingredients, including CBD, used in dietary supplement products. This could depend
on whether we can establish that a particular ingredient was marketed as a dietary ingredient in a dietary supplement prior to October 15, 1994 or is
otherwise currently in the food supply in the same chemical form as used in our dietary supplement products. If the FDA objects to our NDIN notification,
this could prevent us from producing, marketing and selling ingestible U.S. hemp products which would have a material adverse impact on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

The FDA or particular U.S. states may seek to regulate our cosmetic products containing U.S. hemp-derived ingredients, including CBD, as drugs,
medical devices, or drug-device combination products.

The FDA may seek to regulate our cosmetic products containing U.S. hemp-derived ingredients, including CBD, under its authorities for medical products
(i.e., drugs, medical devices, or drug-device combination products). Specifically, the agency could assert that our lotions, oils, balms and creams are
intended for use in diagnosing, treating, mitigating or preventing disease or for use in affecting the structure or any function of the body. In making
classification decisions, the agency considers a wide variety of factors to determine a product’s intended use; indeed, the FDA has sometimes asserted that
a product qualifies as a drug based solely on the presence of an ingredient widely understood to have drug effects, even in the absence of express claims
about them. Though we do not market our lotions, oils, balms and creams as drugs for use in the treatment of diseases or their symptoms, the FDA could
still assert that the products are intended for use as drugs, including based on the understood or presumed physical effects of topically administered
cannabinoids. Thus, we may not have the ability to successfully respond to such allegations simply by modifying labeling or advertising claims. Ultimately,
if the FDA asserts one of its medical product authorities over our lotion, oil, balm and cream products, and we cannot or elect not to comply with the
onerous regulatory requirements applicable to the asserted medical product category (e.g., drug), we could be prevented from producing, marketing and
selling cosmetic products containing U.S. hemp-derived ingredients, including CBD. In addition, states may similarly seek to regulate our cosmetic
products containing U.S. hemp-derived ingredients, including CBD, as medical products (i.e., drugs, medical devices, or drug-device combination
products) under state analogues to the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act or otherwise. States have also considered and established additional
restrictions on, or requirements for, the marketing of cosmetic products containing U.S. hemp-derived ingredients. If states assert their medical product
authorities over our cosmetic products containing U.S. hemp-derived ingredients, including CBD, in a manner that we cannot address simply by modifying
labeling or advertising claims, and we cannot or elect not to comply with the onerous regulatory requirements applicable to the asserted medical product
category (e.g., drug), we could be prevented from producing, marketing and selling cosmetic products containing U.S. hemp-derived ingredients, including
CBD. Likewise, if states enforce or adopt regulatory interpretations or restrictions that limit our ability to market our cosmetic products containing U.S.
hemp-derived ingredients, including CBD, in such states, it could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, operating results,
liquidity, cash flow and operational performance.

37



Table of Contents

The DEA could take enforcement action against us or other participants in the U.S. hemp industry.

There is substantial uncertainty concerning the legal status of U.S. hemp and U.S. hemp products containing U.S. hemp-derived ingredients, including
CBD. The status of products derived from the cannabis or hemp plant, under both federal and state law can depend on the THC content of the plant or
derivative (including whether the plant meets the statutory definition of “industrial hemp” or “hemp”), the part of the plant from which an individual or
entity produces the derivative (including whether the plant meets the statutory definition of “marihuana” under the CSA), whether the cultivator, processor,
manufacturer or product marketer engages in cannabis-related activities for research versus purely commercial purposes, as well as the form and intended
use of the product. The mere presence of a cannabinoid (such as CBD) is not dispositive as to whether the product is legal or illegal. Under U.S. federal
law, products containing CBD may be unlawful if derived from U.S. Schedule I cannabis (including hemp with a concentration greater than 0.3% THC on a
dry weight basis), or if derived from U.S. hemp grown outside the parameters of an approved U.S. hemp pilot program or U.S. hemp cultivated in violation
of the 2018 Farm Bill. Even after enactment of the 2018 Farm Bill, the DEA may not treat all products containing U.S. hemp-derived ingredients, including
CBD, as exempt from the CSA. In September 2020, the DEA issued an interim final rule that purported to align the DEA’s regulations with the statutory
changes to the CSA made effective by the 2018 Farm Bill. The DEA received a number of comments objecting to the interim final rule, and the interim
final rule is the subject of ongoing litigation. If the DEA takes action against us or other participants in the U.S. hemp industry, this could have a material
and adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results, liquidity, cash flow and operational performance.

Risks Relating to COVID-19

Our business and results of operations have been adversely affected and will likely continue to be materially adversely impacted by the coronavirus
pandemic (COVID-19).

The COVID-19 pandemic has severely restricted the level of economic activity around the world and in all countries in which we or our affiliates,
investments and joint ventures operate (including the U.S., Canada, Australia, Colombia, and Israel). In response to the COVID-19 pandemic the
governments of many countries, states, cities and other geographic regions have taken preventative or protective actions, such as imposing restrictions on
travel and business operations, ordering temporary closures of businesses and advising or requiring individuals to limit or forego their time outside of their
homes. Numerous businesses have temporarily closed voluntarily or closed permanently. Although some preventative or protective actions have been eased
or lifted in varying degrees by different governments of various countries, states and cities, the continued spread of COVID-19 and increase in infection
rates have caused, and may continue to cause, some jurisdictions to reinstitute such actions, including rolling back reopening plans. The duration and
ultimate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, including the extent to which the virus may re-emerge following the current outbreak, are highly uncertain.

The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic had a material impact on the growth of revenues and sales during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 related
to the Company’s U.S. segment. With segments of the U.S. economy currently in an economic contraction, and a significant number of the Company’s
customers’ stores continuing to be challenged by remaining temporarily closed or closing permanently, the U.S. segment is experiencing slower than
expected revenue growth. The prolonged closures of retail stores as well as the changes in consumer purchasing during the COVID-19 pandemic have
adversely affected our financial results. We anticipate further adverse effects on our financial results so long as the measures implemented to combat the
COVID-19 pandemic stay in effect.
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The effect of the COVID-19 pandemic could include closures of our facilities or the facilities of our suppliers and other vendors in our supply chain and
other preventive and protective measures in our supply chain. For example, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, closures of manufacturers in China in
early 2020 resulted in delays of deliveries of batteries and cartridges for our cannabis vaporizers and personal protective equipment, such as masks and
gowns used in our GMP manufacturing processes, from such manufacturers in China. In addition, as a result of a rise in infection rates late in the fourth
quarter of 2020 and in the first quarter of 2021 in the U.S., certain contract manufacturers that manufacture U.S. hemp finished products for our U.S.
business have experienced temporary closures or reductions in their operations leading to shortages of finished product available via the e-commerce
channel. We expect these closures or reductions to ease and product shortages to be ameliorated as the spread of COVID-19 and infection rates decline. If
the pandemic persists, closures or other restrictions on the conduct of business operations of our third-party manufacturers, suppliers or vendors could
disrupt our supply chain. We have experienced minor delays in shipping and the increased global demand on shipping and transport services, in addition to
customs and border control policies put in place in response to COVID-19 that require shipments to undergo quarantine periods, may cause us to
experience delays or increased costs in the future which could impact our ability to obtain materials or deliver our products in a timely manner, could
otherwise disrupt our operations and could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In various provinces in
Canada, cannabis retailers have been reducing opening hours, staff onsite and the number of customers allowed in-store for cannabis retailers that continue
to be open. Further, retailers of our products in the U.S. and Canada have in some cases determined to, and may in other cases be required to close or
choose to suspend or significantly curtail their operations due to health and safety concerns for their employees. Even if our production facilities remain
open, mandatory or voluntary self-quarantines and travel restrictions may limit our employees’ ability to get to our facilities, and this, together with impacts
on our supply chain and the uncertainty produced by the rapidly evolving nature of the COVID-19 pandemic, may result in reduced or suspended
production. Those type of restrictions could also impact the abilities of customers in the U.S. or certain Canadian provinces to continue to have access to
our products. Quarantines, shelter-in-place and similar government orders, or the perception that such orders, shutdowns or other restrictions on the conduct
of business operations could occur, could impact personnel at third-party manufacturing facilities in the U.S. and Canada and other countries, or the
availability or cost of materials, which would disrupt our supply chain, in particular in relation to our supply of masks, gowns and other protective
equipment used at our GMP facilities due to the global shortage of such protective equipment and materials. As a result of COVID-19, we have
implemented work-from-home policies for certain employees and the effects of our work-from-home policies may negatively impact productivity, disrupt
access to books and records, increase cybersecurity risks and the risk of inadvertent disclosure of confidential information and disrupt our business. In
addition, the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic may delay our R&D programs and our ability to execute on certain of our new product launches, line
extensions and strategic plans involving construction or the receipt and installation of new equipment.

The global impact of the COVID-19 pandemic continues to evolve rapidly, and the extent of its effect on our operational and financial performance will
depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain, including the duration, scope and severity of the pandemic, the actions taken to contain or
mitigate its impact, and the direct and indirect economic effects of the pandemic and related containment measures, among others. Even after the COVID-
19 pandemic subsides, our businesses could also be negatively impacted should the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic lead to changes in consumer
behavior, including as a result of a decline in the level of vaping or demand for inhalable products in light of certain recent published articles and studies on
the potential increased susceptibility of individuals who smoke or vaporize nicotine or cannabis to COVID-19, in light of changes in consumer behavior
such as reduced spending on certain product formats historically used in shared experiences such as pre-rolls or in reductions in discretionary spending. In
addition, a severe or prolonged recession resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic would likely materially affect our business and the value of our common
shares.

We have been and may in the future be required to write down intangible assets, including goodwill, due to impairment, which could have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations or financial position.

The Company has been and may in the future be required to write down intangible assets, including goodwill, due to impairment, which would reduce
earnings. We periodically calculate the fair value of our reporting units and intangible assets to test for impairment. This calculation may be affected by
several factors, including general economic conditions, regulatory developments, changes in category growth rates as a result of changing adult consumer
preferences, success of planned new product introductions, and competitive activity. Certain events can also trigger an immediate review of goodwill and
intangible assets. If the carrying value of our reporting unit and other intangible assets exceed their fair value, the goodwill and other intangible assets are
considered impaired, which would result in impairment losses and could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position or results of
operations. We cannot provide any assurance that the U.S. segment will successfully execute its business plans and strategies.

The ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Company’s operating results for the U.S. segment has been difficult, if not impossible to predict.
The longer than anticipated closures of retail stores have resulted in slower than anticipated revenue growth. In the second quarter of 2020, we performed
an interim impairment test and the Company incurred $35 million of impairment charges on the U.S. reporting unit and $5 million on the Lord Jones™
brand.
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It is possible that estimates in the Company’s financial statements will continue to change in the near-term as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and the
effect of any such changes could be material, which could result in, among other things, further impairment of goodwill and intangible assets.

Risks Relating to Competition

The markets in which we operate are increasingly competitive and we may compete for market share with other companies, both domestically and
internationally, that may have longer operating histories and more financial resources, manufacturing and marketing experience than us.

The markets for cannabis and U.S. hemp are competitive and evolving and we face strong competition from both existing and emerging companies that
offer similar products. Some of our current and potential competitors may have longer operating histories, greater financial, marketing and other resources
and larger customer bases than us. In addition, there is potential that the cannabis and U.S. hemp industries will undergo consolidation, creating larger
companies with financial resources, manufacturing and marketing capabilities and product offerings that are greater than ours. As a result of this
competition, we may be unable to maintain our operations or develop them as currently proposed on terms we consider acceptable, or at all. Increased
competition by larger, better-financed competitors with geographic advantages could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Given the rapid changes affecting global, national and regional economies generally, and the U.S. hemp industry in particular, we may not be able to create
and maintain a competitive advantage in the marketplace. Our success will depend on our ability to respond to, among other things, changes in the
economy, regulatory conditions, market conditions and competitive pressures. Any failure by us to anticipate or respond adequately to such changes could
have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results, liquidity, cash flow and operational performance.

In Canada, the number of licenses granted by Health Canada could also have an impact on our operations. We expect to face additional competition from
new market entrants that are granted licenses under the Cannabis Act or existing license holders which are not yet active in the industry. If a significant
number of new licenses are granted by Health Canada in the near term, we may experience increased competition for market share and may experience
downward price pressure on our products as new entrants increase production. If the number of users of cannabis in Canada increases, the demand for
products will increase and we expect that competition will become more intense, as current and future competitors begin to offer an increasing number of
diversified products. To remain competitive, we will require a continued high level of investment in R&D, sales and customer support. We may not have
sufficient resources to maintain R&D, sales and customer support efforts on a competitive basis which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations. Furthermore, the Canadian federal authorization of home cultivation, outdoor grow, and the easing of other
barriers to entry to the Canadian adult-use cannabis market, could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

In the U.S., the number of competitors in the U.S. hemp industry has increased significantly in recent years and is expected to continue to increase, which
could negatively impact our market share and demand for our products. Additionally, if the U.S. takes steps to legalize U.S. Schedule I cannabis, the impact
of such a development could result in new entrants into the market and increased levels of competition.

We face competition from the illegal cannabis market.

We face competition from illegal market operators that are unlicensed and unregulated. As these illegal market participants do not comply with the
regulations governing the cannabis industry, their operations may also have significantly lower costs. The perpetuation of the illegal market for cannabis
may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, as well as the perception of cannabis use.

We have been and may in the future be required to write down inventory due to downward pressure on market prices, which could have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations or financial position.

At the end of each reporting period, management performs an assessment of inventory obsolescence, prices and demand to measure inventory at the lower
of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is defined as the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable
costs of completion, disposal and transportation. We also consider factors such as slow-moving or non-marketable products in our determination of
obsolescence. As a result of this assessment, inventory write-downs may occur from period to period. Due to continued pricing pressures in the Canadian
marketplace, we may incur further inventory write-downs in the future. We have had a series of inventory write-downs due to price compression in the
cannabis market. We expect these write-downs to continue as pricing pressures remain elevated. These inventory write-downs have in the past and may in
the future materially adversely affect our results of operations and financial position.
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We may be unable to attract or retain skilled labor and personnel with experience in the cannabis sector, and may be unable to attract, develop and
retain additional employees required for our operations and future developments.

We may be unable to attract or retain employees with sufficient experience in the cannabis industry, and may prove unable to attract, develop and retain
additional employees required for our development and future success.

Our success is currently largely dependent on the performance of our skilled employees. Our future success depends on our continuing ability to attract,
develop, motivate and retain highly qualified and skilled employees. Qualified individuals are in high demand, and we may incur significant costs to attract
and retain them.

Further, certain shareholders, directors, officers and employees in our Canadian operations may require security clearance from Health Canada. Under the
Cannabis Act, a security clearance cannot be valid for more than five years and must be renewed before the expiry of a current security clearance. There is
no assurance that any of our existing personnel who presently or may in the future require a security clearance will be able to obtain or renew such
clearances or that new personnel who require a security clearance will be able to obtain one. A failure by an employee to maintain or renew his or her
security clearance may impair our business operations. In addition, if an employee with security clearance leaves and we are unable to find a suitable
replacement who has a security clearance required by the Cannabis Act in a timely manner, or at all, there could occur a material adverse effect on our
business operations.

Risks Relating to the Altria Investment
Altria has significant influence over us following closing of the Altria Investment.

Altria is our single largest shareholder. As of December 31, 2020, Altria beneficially owned approximately 43.5% of our issued and outstanding common
shares (calculated on a non-diluted basis). In light of such ownership, Altria is in a position to exercise significant influence over matters affecting
shareholders or requiring shareholder approval, including the election of the Board, amendments to our articles and the determination of significant
corporate actions. In addition, pursuant to the Investor Rights Agreement, Altria has certain rights, including the right to nominate a specified number of
directors to the Board, approval rights over certain Company actions and pre-emptive and top-up rights entitling Altria to maintain its pro rata beneficial
ownership in us. Further, as of the date hereof, four of the seven directors on the Board are Altria Nominees. For more information, see “Business -Altria
Strategic Investment - Investor Rights Agreement.”

Upon exercise of the Altria Warrant in full, assuming no other securities of ours are issued, Altria will beneficially hold in excess of a majority of the
voting rights of the issued and outstanding common shares and would have the right to elect the entire Board and be able to exercise a controlling influence
over our business and affairs, including the selection of our senior management, the acquisition or disposition of our assets, the payment of dividends and
any change of control of us, such as a merger or take-over.

Accordingly, Altria currently has significant influence over us and has the ability to increase this influence at any time upon the exercise of the Altria
Warrant. There can be no assurance that Altria’s interests will align with our interests or the interests of other shareholders. In addition, such influence
could limit the price that an acquirer might be willing to pay in the future for common shares and it may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change
of control of us, such as a merger or take-over.

We have discretion in the use of net proceeds from the Altria Investment and may not use them effectively.

Under the Subscription Agreement, we have discretion in the use of net proceeds from the Altria Investment, subject to our obligation to consult with
Altria, in certain circumstances, seek the approval of Altria (such approval not to be unreasonably conditioned, withheld or delayed) and certain other
limitations regarding the use of net proceeds set forth in the Subscription Agreement. Accordingly, shareholders may not agree with the manner in which
management chooses to allocate and spend the net proceeds. Our failure to apply the funds effectively could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

We have cash on hand, including short-term investments, of approximately $1.3 billion as of December 31, 2020. There can be no assurance that we will be
able to deploy the available cash in an effective manner that is accretive to us, or at all. Until such time as we are able to deploy the cash available to us, we
anticipate holding the net proceeds as cash balances in our bank account or investing in certificates of deposit and other instruments issued by banks or
obligations of or guaranteed by the Government of Canada or any province thereof or in U.S. Treasury securities or other obligations issued or guaranteed
by the U.S. Government, its agencies or instrumentalities. Based on the level of current interest rates, we will not earn any material revenue from such
invested cash.
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We may not realize the benefits of our strategic partnership with Altria, which could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

We believe that the strategic partnership between us and Altria provides us with additional financial resources, product development and commercialization
capabilities, and deep regulatory expertise to better position us to compete, scale and lead the rapidly growing global cannabis industry. We believe that the
growth opportunities for us are significant and could extend across the globe as new markets open. With Altria’s resources, we expect to be even better
positioned to support cannabinoid innovation, create differentiated products and brands across medical and adult-use categories and expand our global
footprint and growing production capacity. Nevertheless, a number of risks and uncertainties are associated with the expansion into such markets and the
pursuit of these other growth opportunities. The successful implementation of the Altria Investment is critical to our growth and capital position. The
failure to successfully implement or reap the anticipated benefits of Altria’s resources and expertise to realize growth and expansion opportunities could
have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Any common shares issued pursuant to the exercise of the Altria Warrant will dilute shareholders.

The Altria Warrant may be exercised in full or in part at any time on or prior to March 8, 2023, from time to time, and entitles the holder thereof, upon
valid exercise in full thereof, to acquire, accept and receive from us an aggregate of 80,056,296 of our common shares (subject to adjustment in accordance
with the terms of the Altria Warrant Certificate), which represents 10% of the issued and outstanding common shares as of December 31, 2020 (on a non-
diluted basis). Any issuance of common shares pursuant to the exercise of the Altria Warrant would dilute all of our other shareholders and give Altria
control of us.

Altria’s significant interest in us may impact the liquidity of the common shares.

Our common shares may be less liquid and trade at a discount relative to the trading that could occur in circumstances where Altria did not have the ability
to significantly influence or determine matters affecting us. Additionally, Altria’s significant voting interest in us may discourage transactions involving a
change of control of us, including transactions in which an investor, as a shareholder, might otherwise receive a premium for its common shares over the
then-current market price.

The change of control provisions in certain of our existing or future contractual arrangements may be triggered upon the exercise of the Altria
Warrant in part or in full.

Certain of our existing or future contractual arrangements may include change of control provisions requiring us to make certain payments or triggering
certain termination rights for our counterparties if the change of control trigger is fulfilled. The change of control provisions in certain of our existing
arrangements, including, but not limited to, compensatory arrangements, or agreements we may enter into in the future, may be triggered upon the exercise
of the Altria Warrant in part or in full.

Future sales of our common shares by Altria could cause the market price for our common shares to fall.

Sales of a substantial number of our common shares by Altria could occur at any time. Such sales, or the market perception of such sales, could
significantly reduce the market price of our common shares. We cannot predict the effect, if any, that future public sales of our common shares beneficially
owned by Altria or the availability of these common shares for sale will have on the market price of our common shares. If the market price of our common
shares were to drop as a result, this might impede our ability to raise additional capital and might cause a significant decline in the value of the investments
of our other shareholders.

The intentions of Altria regarding its long-term economic ownership of our common shares are subject to change as a result of changes in the
circumstances of Altria or its affiliates, changes in our management and operation and changes in laws, market conditions and our financial performance.

Conflicts of interest may arise between us and our directors and officers, including as a result of the continuing involvement of certain of our directors
with Altria and its affiliates.

We may be subject to various potential conflicts of interest because of the fact that some of our directors and officers may be engaged in a range of business
activities, or have relationships with or are employed by Altria. One of our directors, Jason Adler, is the co-founder and Managing Member of Gotham
Green Partners, a private equity firm focused primarily on early-stage investing in companies in the cannabis industry, and Michael Gorenstein, our
Executive Chairman is a co-founder and non-managing Member of Gotham Green Partners. Three of our directors, Jody Begley, Murray Garnick and
Heather Newman, are employed by Altria as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer, Executive Vice President and General Counsel, and
Senior Vice President, Corporate Strategy, respectively. As a result of these relationships, conflicts of interests may arise between us and them, as described
below.
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We may also become involved in other transactions which are inconsistent or conflict with the interests of our directors and officers, and/or our directors
and officers may have interests in persons, firms, institutions, corporations or transactions that are inconsistent or in conflict with our interests and those of
our shareholders. In addition, from time to time, Gotham Green Partners or Altria may be competing with us for available investment opportunities.
Conflicts of interest, if any, will be subject to the procedures and remedies provided under applicable laws. In particular, in the event that such a conflict of
interest arises at a meeting of our directors, a director who has such a conflict will abstain from voting for or against the approval of the transaction and
may recuse himself or herself from any related discussion or deliberation. In accordance with applicable laws, our directors are required to act honestly, in
good faith and in our best interests.

Risks Relating to Our Common Shares
It is not anticipated that any dividend will be paid to holders of common shares for the foreseeable future.

No dividends on the common shares have been paid to date. We currently intend to retain future earnings, if any, for future operation and expansion. Any
decision to declare and pay dividends in the future will be made at the discretion of the Board and will depend on, among other things, financial results,
cash requirements, contractual restrictions and other factors that the Board may deem relevant. Any changes to our policy with respect to the declaration
and payment of any dividends requires Altria’s approval. As a result, investors may not receive any return on an investment in our common shares unless
they sell their shares for a price greater than that which such investors paid for them.

The market price for the common shares may be volatile and subject to fluctuation in response to numerous factors, many of which are beyond our
control.

The market price for the common shares may be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to many factors, including:
* actual or anticipated fluctuations in our results of operations;

« changes in estimates of our future results of operations by us or securities research analysts;

»  changes in the economic performance or market valuations of other companies that investors deem comparable to us;

» additions or departures of our executive officers and other key personnel;

» transfer restrictions on outstanding common shares;

» sales of additional common shares or the perception in the market that such sales might occur;

» significant acquisitions or business combinations, strategic partnerships, investments, joint ventures or capital commitments by or involving us or our
competitors;

* increases in speculative trading activity by investors targeting publicly traded cannabis companies, which can further contribute to the volatility of the
market price for our common shares if aggregate short exposure exceeds the number of our common shares available for purchase;

* news reports relating to trends, concerns or competitive developments, regulatory changes or enforcement actions and other related issues in our
industry or target markets;

« the prospect of actual or perceived future changes to the legal and regulatory regimes that govern our products and our industries;

* investors’ general perception of us and the public’s reaction to our press releases, our other public announcements and our filings with the SEC and
Canadian securities regulators;

« reports by industry analysts, investor perceptions, and market rumors or speculation; and
*  negative announcements by our customers, competitors or suppliers regarding their own performance.

For example, reports by industry analysts, investor perceptions, market rumors or speculation could trigger a sell-off in our common shares. Any sales of
substantial numbers of the common shares in the public market or the perception that such sales might occur may cause the market price of the common
shares to decline. In addition, to the extent that other large companies within our industries experience declines in their stock price, the share price of our
common shares may decline as well. Moreover, if the market price of our common shares drops significantly, shareholders may institute securities class
action lawsuits against us. Lawsuits against us could cause us to incur substantial costs and could divert the time and attention of our management and
other resources.
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Securities markets continue to experience significant price and volume fluctuations that have, in some cases, been unrelated to the operating performance,
underlying asset values or prospects of public companies. Accordingly, the market price of our common shares may decline even if our results of
operations, underlying asset values or prospects have not changed. In addition, certain institutional investors may base their investment decisions on
consideration of our environmental, governance, diversity and social practices and performance against such institutions’ respective investment guidelines
and criteria, and failure to meet such criteria may result in limited or no investment in our common shares by those institutions, which could adversely
affect the trading price of our common shares. There can be no assurance that continuing fluctuations in price and volume will not occur. If such increased
levels of volatility and market turmoil continue, the trading price of the common shares may be adversely affected.

Securities class action litigation often has been brought against companies following periods of volatility in the market price of their securities. We have
been the target of such litigation and may in the future be the target of similar litigation. Regardless of merit, such litigation could result in substantial costs
and damages and divert management’s attention and resources, which could adversely affect our business. Any adverse determination in litigation against
us could also subject us to significant liabilities.

We may require additional capital in the future or be required to issue common shares pursuant to certain of our agreements which may dilute holders
of our securities.

We may be required to issue additional common shares pursuant to the Ginkgo Collaboration Agreement or to Kristen Bell pursuant to a publicity rights
agreement entered into with the Company (the “Publicity Rights Agreement”). Pursuant to the Ginkgo Collaboration Agreement, upon Ginkgo’s
demonstration that the microorganisms are capable of producing the target cannabinoids above a minimum productivity level, we will issue to Ginkgo up to
approximately 14.7 million common shares in the aggregate. Tranches of these common shares will be issued as each of the Equity Milestone Events is
reached. The issuance of such common shares, if any, would dilute holders of common shares. Pursuant to the Publicity Rights Agreement, if certain
performance milestones are achieved, up to an additional $2 million common shares in the aggregate may be issued.

Holders of common shares will have no pre-emptive rights in connection with such further issuances. Our Board has the discretion to determine if an
issuance of common shares is warranted, the price at which such issuance is effected and the other terms of issue of common shares. Any additional capital
raised through the sale of equity will dilute the percentage of ownership of holders of our common shares. Capital raised through debt financing would
require us to make periodic interest payments and may impose restrictive covenants on the conduct of our business.

A substantial number of our securities are owned by a limited number of existing shareholders.

Our management, directors and employees own a substantial number of our outstanding common shares (on a fully diluted basis). In addition, as of
December 31, 2020, Altria beneficially owned approximately 43.5% of our outstanding common shares (calculated on a non-diluted basis). As such, our
management, directors and employees, as a group, and Altria each are in a position to exercise significant influence over matters requiring shareholder
approval, including the election of directors and the determination of significant corporate actions. In addition, these shareholders could delay or prevent a
change in control that could otherwise be beneficial to holders of common shares.

Investors in the U.S. may have difficulty bringing actions and enforcing judgments against us and others based on securities law civil liability
provisions.

We are incorporated under the laws of the Province of British Columbia and our head office is located in the Province of Ontario. Some of our directors and
officers and some of the experts named in this Annual Report are residents of Canada or otherwise reside outside of the U.S., and a substantial portion of
their assets and our assets are located outside the U.S. Consequently, it may be difficult for investors in the U.S. to bring an action against such directors,
officers or experts or to enforce against those persons or us a judgment obtained in a U.S. court predicated upon the civil liability provisions of U.S. federal
securities laws or other laws of the U.S. In addition, while statutory provisions exist in British Columbia for derivative actions to be brought in certain
circumstances, the circumstances in which a derivative action may be brought, and the procedures and defenses that may be available in respect of any such
action, may be different than those of shareholders of a company incorporated in the U.S.
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If we are a passive foreign investment company for U.S. federal income tax purposes in any year, certain adverse tax rules could apply to U.S. holders
of our common shares.

We will be classified as a passive foreign investment company (“PFIC”) for any taxable year for U.S. federal income tax purposes if for a taxable year, (i)
75% or more of our gross income is passive income, or (ii) 50% or more of the value of our assets either produce passive income or are held for the
production of passive income, based on the quarterly average of the fair market value of such assets. The determination of PFIC status depends on
interpretive rules and computational conventions that are often unclear. In particular, in making our determination, we are relying on the application of
certain “look-through” rules, taking into account certain intercompany items. There is, however, no direct legal authority applying these look-through rules
to our particular situation (including to what extent, they apply to intercompany items). Likewise, in light of the volatility of our common share price, we
intend to take the position that the spot trading price of our stock at each quarter end, as adjusted by liabilities, does not dictate the determination of the fair
market value of our assets. Based on current business plans and financial expectations, an independent valuation report in respect of our assets, and the
application of certain look-through rules (including the taking into account of certain intercompany items), we do not expect to be a PFIC for the taxable
year ending December 31, 2020 and do not expect to become a PFIC in the foreseeable future. However, PFIC status is determined annually and depends
upon the composition of our gross income and assets, both of which are subject to change. Moreover, there can be no assurance that the IRS or a court will
agree with our interpretation of fair market value or its computation, or with our interpretation of the PFIC rules (including the “look-through” rules and the
scope of their application, including in respect of intercompany items). Therefore, there can be no assurance as to our PFIC status for the current taxable
year or for future taxable years, nor any assurance that the IRS or a court will agree with our determination of our PFIC status.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research, or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our share price and
trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common shares depends, in part, on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us or our business.
If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our common shares or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, the trading
price of our common shares would likely decline. In addition, if our results of operations fail to meet the forecast of analysts, the trading price of our
common shares would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of us or fail to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our
common shares could decrease, which might cause our trading price and trading volume to decline.

General Risks
We are dependent on our senior management.

Our success is dependent upon the ability, expertise, judgment, discretion and good faith of our senior management. While employment agreements are
customarily used as a primary method of retaining the services of key employees, these agreements cannot assure the continued services of our senior
management team. Qualified individuals are in high demand, and we may incur significant costs to attract and retain them. The loss of the services of a
member of senior management, or an inability to attract other suitably qualified persons when needed, could have a material adverse effect on our ability to
execute on our business plan and strategy, and we may be unable to find adequate replacements on a timely basis, or at all. We do not maintain key-person
insurance on the lives of any of our officers or employees.

We will seek to maintain adequate insurance coverage in respect of the risks we face; however, insurance premiums for such insurance may not
continue to be commercially justifiable and there may be coverage limitations and other exclusions which may not be sufficient to cover our potential
liabilities.

We have insurance to protect our assets, operations and employees. While we believe our insurance coverage addresses all material risks to which we are
exposed in our current state of operations, such insurance is subject to coverage limits and exclusions and may not be available for the risks and hazards to
which we are exposed. For example, certain wholesalers, distributors, retailers and other service providers may require suppliers of U.S. hemp products to
provide an indemnification from liability in connection with such products, which may not be covered by insurance. In addition, no assurance can be given
that such insurance will be adequate to cover our liabilities or will be generally available in the future or, if available, that premiums and deductibles will be
commercially justifiable. If we were to incur substantial liability claims and such damages were not covered by insurance or were in excess of policy limits,
or if we were to incur such liability at a time when we are not able to obtain liability insurance, there could be a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
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Tax and accounting requirements may change or be interpreted in ways that are unforeseen to us and we may face difficulty or be unable to implement
and/or comply with any such changes.

We are subject to numerous tax and accounting requirements, and changes in existing accounting or taxation rules or practices, or varying interpretations of
current rules or practices, could have a significant adverse effect on our financial results, the manner in which we conduct our business or the marketability
of any of our products. In many countries, including the U.S., we are subject to transfer pricing and other tax regulations designed to ensure that appropriate
levels of income are reported as earned and are taxed accordingly. Although we believe that we are in substantial compliance with all applicable regulations
and restrictions, we are subject to the risk that governmental authorities could audit our transfer pricing and related practices and assert that additional taxes
are owed. In the future, the geographic scope of our business may expand, and such expansion will require us to comply with the tax laws and regulations
of additional jurisdictions. Requirements as to taxation vary substantially among jurisdictions. Complying with the tax laws of these jurisdictions can be
time consuming and expensive and could potentially subject us to penalties and fees in the future if we failed to comply. In the event that we failed to
comply with applicable tax laws, this could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Natural disasters, unusual weather, pandemic outbreaks, boycotts and geo-political events or acts of terrorism could adversely affect our operations
and financial results.

The occurrence of one or more natural disasters, such as hurricanes, floods and earthquakes, unusually adverse weather, pandemic outbreaks, such as the
COVID-19 virus, influenza and other highly communicable diseases or viruses, boycotts and geo-political events, such as civil unrest in countries in which
our operations are located and acts of terrorism, or similar disruptions could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
These events could result in physical damage to one or more of our properties, increases in fuel or other energy prices, the temporary or permanent closure
of one or more of our facilities, the temporary lack of an adequate workforce in a market, the temporary or long-term disruption in the supply of products
from suppliers, the temporary disruption in the transport of goods, delay in the delivery of goods to our facilities, and disruption to our information
systems. Such events could also negatively impact consumer sentiment, reduce demand for consumer products like ours and cause general economic
slowdown.

Our financial performance is subject to risks of foreign exchange rate fluctuation which could result in foreign exchange losses.

We may be exposed to fluctuations of the U.S. dollar against certain other currencies, particularly the Canadian dollar, because we publish our financial
statements in U.S. dollars, while a significant portion of our assets, liabilities, revenues and costs are or will be denominated in other currencies. Exchange
rates for currencies of the countries in which we operate may fluctuate in relation to the U.S. dollar, and such fluctuations may have a material adverse
effect on our earnings or assets when translating foreign currency into U.S. dollars.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

Our executive offices are located in Toronto, Ontario in Canada, where we lease office space. As of December 31, 2020, our Rest of World segment owned
various manufacturing facilities in the Canadian provinces of Manitoba, Ontario and British Columbia and in Hadera, Israel, as well as a research and
development facility in Beit Shemesh, Israel. As of December 31, 2020, our United States segment leased office space and a manufacturing facility in Los
Angeles, California. Management believes that our existing facilities are adequate to meet our current requirements and, to the extent that our facilities are
leased, comparable space is readily available.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

The Company is subject to various legal proceedings in the ordinary course of its business and in connection with its marketing, distribution and sale of its
products. Many of these legal proceedings are in the early stages of litigation and seek damages that are unspecified or not quantified. Although the
outcome of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty, the Company does not believe these legal proceedings, individually or in the aggregate, will
have a material adverse effect on its consolidated financial condition but could be material to its results of operations for any particular reporting period
depending, in part, on its results for that period.
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Class action complaints relating to restatement

On March 11 and 12, 2020, two alleged shareholders of the Company separately filed two putative class action complaints in the U.S. District Court for the
Eastern District of New York against the Company and its former Chief Executive Officer (now Executive Chairman) and Chief Financial Officer. The
court has consolidated the cases, and the consolidated amended complaint alleges violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5
promulgated thereunder against all defendants, and Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act against the individual defendants. The consolidated amended
complaint generally alleges that certain of the Company’s prior public statements about revenues and internal controls were incorrect based on the
Company’s March 2, 2020 disclosure that the Audit Committee of the Board was conducting a review of the appropriateness of revenue recognized in
connection with certain bulk resin purchases and sales of products through the wholesale channel. The consolidated amended complaint does not quantify a
damage request. Defendants moved to dismiss on February 8, 2021.

On June 3, 2020, an alleged shareholder filed a Statement of Claim, as amended on August 12, 2020, in the Ontario Superior Court of Justice in Toronto,
Ontario, Canada, seeking, among other things, an order certifying the action as a class action on behalf of a putative class of shareholders and damages of
an unspecified amount. The Amended Statement of Claim names the Company, its former Chief Executive Officer (now Executive Chairman), Chief
Financial Officer, former Chief Financial Officer and Chief Commercial Officer, and current and former members of the Board as defendants and alleges
breaches of the Ontario Securities Act, oppression under the Ontario Business Corporations Act and common law misrepresentation. The Amended
Statement of Claim generally alleges that certain of the Company’s prior public statements about revenues and internal controls were misrepresentations
based on the Company’s March 2, 2020 disclosure that the Audit Committee of the Board was conducting a review of the appropriateness of revenue
recognized in connection with certain bulk resin purchases and sales of products through the wholesale channel, and the Company’s subsequent
restatement. The Amended Statement of Claim does not quantify a damage request.

Regulatory reviews relating to restatement

The Company has been responding to requests for information from various regulatory authorities relating to its previously disclosed restatement of its
financial statements for the first three quarters of 2019. The Company is responding to all such requests for information and cooperating with all regulatory
authorities. The Company cannot predict the outcome of any such regulatory review or investigation and it is possible that additional investigations or one
or more formal proceedings may be commenced against the Company and its current and former officers and directors in connection with these regulatory
reviews and investigations.

Litigation relating to marketing, distribution and sale of products

On June 16, 2020, an alleged consumer filed a Statement of Claim on behalf of a class in the Court of Queen’s Bench of Alberta in Alberta, Canada,
against the Company and other Canadian cannabis manufacturers and/or distributors. On December 4, 2020, a Third Amended Statement of Claim was
filed, which added a second alleged consumer. The Third Amended Statement of Claim alleges claims related to the defendants’ advertised content of
cannabinoids in cannabis products for medicinal use on or after June 16, 2010 and cannabis products for adult use on or after October 17, 2018. The Third
Amended Statement of Claim seeks a total of C$500 million for breach of contract, compensatory damages, and unjust enrichment or such other amount as
may be proven in trial and C$5 million in punitive damages against each defendant, including the Company. The Third Amended Statement of Claim also
seeks interest and costs associated with the action. The Company has not responded to the Third Amended Statement of the Claim.

A number of claims, including purported class actions, have been brought in the U.S. against companies engaged in the U.S. hemp business alleging,
among other things, violations of state consumer protection, health and advertising laws. On April 8, 2020, a putative class action complaint was filed in
the U.S. District Court for the Central District of California against Redwood, alleging violations of California’s Unfair Competition Law, False
Advertising Law, Consumers Legal Remedies Act, and breaches of the California Commercial Code for breach of express warranties and implied warranty
of merchantability with respect to Redwood’s marketing and sale of U.S. hemp products. The complaint did not quantify a damage request. On April 10,
2020, the class action complaint was dismissed for certain pleading deficiencies and the plaintiff was granted leave until April 24, 2020 to amend the
complaint to establish federal subject matter jurisdiction. On April 28, 2020, the action was dismissed without prejudice for failure to prosecute and for
failure to comply with a court order. As of the date of this Annual Report, the plaintiff has not refiled the complaint.

We expect litigation and regulatory proceedings relating to the marketing, distribution and sale of our products to increase.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE.

Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES.

Our common shares are traded on Nasdaq and the TSX under the symbol “CRON.”
Holders

As of February 25, 2021, there were approximately 71 holders of record of our common shares. This number of holders of record does not represent the
actual number of beneficial owners of our common shares because shares are frequently held in “street name” by securities dealers and others for the
benefit of individual owners who have the right to vote their shares.

Dividends

As of the date of this Annual Report, we have not declared any dividends or made any distributions on our common shares. Furthermore, we have no
current intention to declare dividends on our common shares in the foreseeable future. Any decision to pay dividends on our common shares in the future
will be at the discretion of the Board and will depend on, among other things, our results of operations, current and anticipated cash requirements and
surplus, financial condition, any future contractual restrictions and financing agreement covenants, our ability to meet solvency tests imposed by corporate
law and other factors that the Board may deem relevant.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

Information concerning securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans will be set forth in the Company’s definitive proxy statement
for its 2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders or an amendment to this Annual Report to be filed within 120 days of our fiscal year end.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Persons
None.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.

Performance Graph

The following performance graph compares the cumulative total shareholder return of our common shares as listed on Nasdaq with the cumulative total
return of the S&P 500 Index and two market-weighted indices of publicly traded peers over the 34-month period beginning on February 27, 2018 and
ending on December 31, 2020. Because the Company changed the composition of the peer group for 2020 as described below, the peer group used for the
corresponding disclosures in 2019 is shown for comparison. The graph assumes that $100 is invested in each of our common shares, the S&P 500 Index,
and the indices of publicly traded peers on February 27, 2018 and that all dividends, if applicable, were reinvested.

The publicly traded companies in the new peer group are Aphria Inc., Aurora Cannabis Inc., Canopy Growth Corporation, Green Thumb Industries Inc.,
GW Pharmaceuticals plc, HEXO Corporation, iAnthus Capital Holdings Inc., Organigram Holdings Inc. and Tilray Inc. (the “New Peer Group”). The old
peer group also included CannTrust Holdings (the “Old Peer Group”) Inc., which has been excluded from the New Peer Group for the year ended
December 31, 2020 because we no longer believe that its business model makes it comparable. Past performance may not be indicative of future
performance.
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COMPARISON OF 34 MONTH CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Cronos Group Inc., the S&P 500 Index,
2019 Peer Group and 2020 Peer Group
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Date Cronos Group Inc. S&P 500 2019 Peer Group 2020 Peer Group

February 27, 2018 $ 100.00 $ 100.00 $ 100.00 $ 100.00
March 31, 2018 $ 88.32 $ 97.46 $ 104.89 $ 105.16
June 30, 2018 $ 85.56 $ 100.81 $ 115.49 $ 116.33
September 30, 2018 $ 145.93 $ 108.58 $ 170.60 $ 171.08
December 31, 2018 $ 136.35 $ 93.90 $ 88.54 $ 88.91
March 31, 2019 $ 241.86 $ 106.71 $ 135.59 $ 136.03
June 30, 2019 $ 209.71 $ 111.31 $ 118.11 $ 119.12
September 30, 2019 $ 118.77 $ 113.20 $ 68.69 $ 70.14
December 31, 2019 $ 100.66 $ 123.46 $ 56.31 $ 57.49
March 31, 2020 $ 74.41 $ 99.27 $ 35.98 $ 36.71
June 30, 2020 $ 78.87 $ 119.66 $ 44.09 $ 45.19
September 30, 2020 $ 65.75 $ 130.35 $ 37.58 $ 38.52
December 31, 2020 $ 91.08 $ 146.18 $ 60.28 $ 61.88

*$100 invested on 2/27/18 in stock or 2/28/18 in index, including reinvestment of dividends. Fiscal year ending December 31.
Copyright© 2021 Standard & Poor’s, a division of S&P Global. All rights reserved.
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Because Cronos Group’s common shares are also traded on the TSX, we are providing additional information in order to enhance the reader’s
understanding of our trading history. The following performance graph compares the cumulative total shareholder return of our common shares as listed on
the TSX with the cumulative total return of the S&P 500 Index, the New Peer Group and the Old Peer Group over the five-year period beginning on
December 31, 2015 and ending on December 31, 2020. The graph assumes that $100 is invested in each of our common shares, the S&P 500 Index, and the
indices of the New Peer Group and Old Peer Group and that all dividends, if applicable, were reinvested. Past performance may not be indicative of future
performance.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*

Among Cronos Group Inc., the S&P 500 Index,
2019 Peer Group and 2020 Peer Group
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Date Cronos Group Inc. S&P 500 2019 Peer Group 2020 Peer Group
December 31, 2015 $ 100.00 $ 100.00 $ 100.00 $ 100.00
December 31, 2016 $ 469.84 $ 111.96 $ 189.24 $ 189.24
December 31, 2017 $ 3,092.06 $ 136.40 $ 410.21 $ 410.21
December 31, 2018 $ 4,565.08 $ 130.42 $ 328.76 $ 331.43
December 31, 2019 $ 3,165.08 $ 17149 $ 207.65 $ 212.29
December 31, 2020 $ 2,806.35 $ 203.04 $ 220.55 $ 226.81

*$100 invested on 12/31/15 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends. Fiscal year ending December 31.

Copyright© 2021 Standard & Poor’s, a division of S&P Global. All rights reserved.

Share Information
As of February 25, 2021

Issued and outstanding shares

Common shares 360,258,680
Potentially issuable shares

Stock options 13,749,800

‘Warrants 7,987,354

Restricted stock units 948,357

Altria Warrant 80,056,296

Exercisable Top-up Rights 3,557,226
Total potentially issuable shares 106,299,033
Total outstanding and potentially issuable shares 466,557,713
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ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data

Omitted.

ITEM 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

You should read the following discussion and analysis together with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes to those statements, which
are included in Item 8 of this Annual Report. This discussion contains Forward-Looking Statements that involve risks and uncertainties. As a result of
many factors, such as those set forth in Item 1A “Risk Factors,” of this Annual Report and elsewhere in this Annual Report, our actual results may differ
materially from those anticipated in these Forward-Looking Statements.

Business Overview

Cronos Group is an innovative global cannabinoid company with international production and distribution across five continents. We are committed to
building disruptive intellectual property by advancing cannabis research, technology and product development and are seeking to build an iconic brand
portfolio. Cronos Group’s brand portfolio includes PEACE NATURALS™, a global wellness platform; two adult-use brands, COVE™ and Spinach™; and
three U.S. hemp-derived consumer products brands, Lord Jones™, Happy Dance™ and PEACE+™.

Strategy
Cronos Group seeks to create value for shareholders by focusing on four core strategic priorities:

»  growing a portfolio of iconic brands that responsibly elevate the consumer experience;
* developing a diversified global sales and distribution network;

» establishing an efficient global supply chain; and

» creating and monetizing disruptive intellectual property.

Business Segments

Cronos Group reports through two segments: “United States” and “Rest of World.” These two segments represent the geographic regions in which the
Company operates and the different product offerings within each geographic region. On September 5, 2019, as a result of the Redwood Acquisition, the
Company established the United States segment, which includes only the results of Redwood since the date of acquisition. Redwood manufactures, markets
and distributes U.S. hemp-derived supplements and cosmetic products through e-commerce, retail and hospitality partner channels in the United States
(“U.S.”) under the brands Lord Jones™ and Happy Dance™.

Recent Developments

In December 2019, an outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus, COVID-19, was identified in Wuhan, China. Since then, COVID-19 has spread across the
globe, including the U.S., Canada and Israel, and other countries in which the Company or its affiliates operate (including Australia and Colombia) and was
recognized as a pandemic by the World Health Organization. The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in a sharp contraction in many areas of the global
economy and increased volatility and uncertainty in the capital markets. In response to the pandemic, the governments of many countries, provinces, states,
cities, and other geographic regions took preventative or protective actions, including closures of certain businesses, mandatory quarantines, limits on
individuals’ time outside of their homes, travel restrictions and social distancing or other preventative measures. Such measures were eased or lifted in
varying degrees by different governments of various countries, states and cities throughout 2020, but the continued spread of COVID-19 and increased
infection rates has caused, and may continue to cause, some jurisdictions to roll back reopening plans that had been underway and re-impose quarantines,
border closures, closure of certain businesses and stay-at-home orders. It is possible that jurisdictions in which the Company or its affiliates operate may
reintroduce more stringent preventative or protective actions which could result in further closures of businesses. Governments in certain countries such as
the U.S., Canada, and those in Europe have responded to the acute economic and market consequences with certain monetary and fiscal policy actions.

Impact on operating results

During the second quarter of 2020, the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on retail stores and the increase of costs in production and sales in the U.S. had a
material impact on the rate of growth of revenue in the U.S. segment, with revenue for the segment remaining flat from the first quarter of 2020. As a result
of these impacts and the expectation of future impacts, for the three months ended June 30, 2020, the Company recorded $35 million of impairment charges
on its U.S. reporting unit and $5 million on the Lord Jones™ brand (refer to Note 11 of the Company’s consolidated financial statements for more
information regarding intangibles assets and goodwill).
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The continued negative impact on the Company’s results has been as expected during the three months ended December 31, 2020 and no further
impairment charges were recorded to the U.S. reporting unit or brands as a result. The Company expects revenue growth and operating results in the U.S.
segment to continue to be negatively impacted as retail closures are expected to continue as a result of the pandemic.

Revenue and the growth in revenue in the Rest of World segment was not materially impacted by the effects of COVID-19 during the year ended December
31, 2020. However, prolonged closures of retail stores due to government mandated lockdowns as well as the changes in consumer purchasing behavior in
Canada during the COVID-19 pandemic are expected to have a negative impact on the Company’s short-term revenue growth in Canada.

In both segments, there were no material increases in the current expected credit loss in connection with COVID-19. The Company continues to closely
monitor the effects of COVID-19 on its operating results.

Production and supply chain

The Company’s global production facilities currently remain operational. To comply with governmental orders or other health and safety requirements, the
Company has: (i) reduced the number of personnel working on-site at its production facilities to only the roles that are necessary to be performed on-site,
(ii) implemented work-from-home policies for other employees whose work can be performed off-site, and (iii) implemented other additional health and
safety measures such as, among other things, enhanced hygiene and sanitation procedures, modified work schedules and social distancing protocols at its
production facilities. Further, as recommended by certain jurisdictions in which it operates, the Company has implemented a documented COVID-19
prevention plan in these locations. The Company has and will continue to act in accordance with guidance from local, federal, and international health and
governmental authorities, such as any government-mandated requirements for people to wear facemasks in all indoor communal spaces or at businesses,
and is prepared to make additional operational adjustments, as necessary. Although the Company’s production facilities currently remain operational,
governmental requirements, guidance and health and safety requirements continue to evolve as governmental and health authorities respond to the spread
of the virus. Reopening plans in certain jurisdictions have been and may be further reversed, suspended or delayed and quarantines may be re-imposed. The
Company’s production facilities may experience further temporary closures or quarantines if governmental or health authorities make changes to the
businesses and workforces allowed to remain operational, which would result in reduced production or suspension of production if such closures or
quarantines are mandated. In addition, to the extent the Company’s employees contract the virus, depending on the employee’s job duties and access to
facilities, the Company’s ability to keep production and manufacturing facilities open may be impacted for health and safety reasons.

The impacts of certain closures or other restrictions on the conduct of business operations at the facilities of third-party manufacturers, suppliers and other
vendors in the Company’s supply chain have not been significant to date but remain uncertain. Earlier closures at manufacturers in China in 2020 had
resulted in delays of deliveries of batteries and cartridges for cannabis vaporizers and personal protective equipment, such as masks and gowns used in
Cronos Group’s manufacturing facilities certified in accordance with Good Manufacturing Practices (“GMP”), from such manufacturers in China. Most
delays have been ameliorated as manufacturers are now operational in China but other vendors or suppliers in the Company’s supply chain have been, and
in the future could potentially be, impacted. Closures or other restrictions on the conduct of business operations on third-party manufacturers, suppliers or
vendors may cause disruption in Cronos Group’s supply chain. As a result of a rise in infection rates late in the fourth quarter of 2020 and in the first
quarter of 2021 in the U.S., certain contract manufacturers that manufacture U.S. hemp finished products for our U.S. business have experienced temporary
closures or reductions in their operations leading to shortages of finished product available via the e-commerce channel. We expect these closures or
reductions to ease and product shortages to be ameliorated as the spread of COVID-19 and infection rates decline. The Company has experienced delays in
shipping and expects that the increased global demand on shipping and transport services, which has created challenges to container availability and port
capacities, in addition to customs and border control policies put in place in response to the COVID-19 pandemic that require shipments to undergo a
quarantine period, may cause the Company to experience further delays in the future which could impact the Company’s ability to obtain materials or
deliver products in a timely and cost efficient manner. In addition, work-from-home policies for certain employees and the effects of the Company’s work-
from-home policies may negatively impact productivity, disrupt access to books and records and disrupt the Company’s business. Even if the Company’s
production facilities continue to remain open, mandatory or voluntary self-quarantines and travel restrictions may limit the Company’s employees’ ability
to access facilities, and this, together with impacts on the Company’s supply chain and the uncertainty produced by the rapidly evolving nature of the
COVID-19 pandemic, may result in reduced or suspended production.
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Customers

Retailers in the U.S. and Canada have been required to close at times or have curtailed their operations (such as reduced opening hours, reduced staff,
limiting brand partner visits, and reduced traffic in stores) due to the implementation of health and safety measures. The slowdown or disruption faced by
retailers, in addition to quarantine measures and travel restrictions, impacts the ability of customers to be able to access the Company’s products. These
restrictions on retail stores are mandated by, and differ across, each state, province or territory and continue to change and evolve, which creates uncertainty
in forecasting customer demand and sales velocity. In the U.S., while online sales have continued despite facing pressure, certain beauty and other retailers
have temporarily closed physical boutiques. State specific limitations on retail capacity has also reduced the ability of larger retailers to offer in-store brand
education for the Company’s products. In Canada, retailers have implemented a combination of measures from closing stores, offering curbside delivery (to
the extent permitted by a province) and online sales only, reduced store opening hours and a reduction in the number of customers permitted in stores in
light of social distancing measures. Suspensions of the ability of private retailers to offer click-and-collect or curbside delivery in certain provinces in
Canada may further impact customer demand for products. Provincial purchasers have also similarly, among other things, reduced staff on-site leading to a
decrease in delivery time slots for producers to deliver products or reduced frequency or size of their purchase orders. While various provinces in Canada
have continued to increase the number of retail stores during the COVID-19 pandemic, we expect that the expansion of retail stores in various provinces in
Canada will be delayed or slowed down in light of continued increases in COVID-19 cases. We anticipate that uncertainty created by these measures on
forecasting customer demand and sales will continue as long as such measures are in place. Demand for the Company’s products could also be negatively
impacted should the effects of COVID-19 lead to changes in consumer behavior, including as a result of a potential decline in the level of demand for
vaporizer products or in discretionary spending as result of a general economic slowdown.

Macroeconomic impacts

The impacts of these current restrictions and measures on certain strategic projects continue to be uncertain. While facility design and expansion projects
and product development initiatives are currently expected to proceed as planned, requirements and restrictions on the operation of businesses and
workforces continue to evolve as governmental and health authorities respond to the spread of the virus and changes may result in delays or suspensions if
authorities require such activities to be suspended.

In addition, a recession or market correction resulting from the spread of COVID-19 would likely materially affect the Company’s business and the value
of its common shares. Collectively, the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic have adversely affected the Company’s results of operations and, if the effects
continue unabated, could continue to do so as long as measures to combat the COVID-19 pandemic remain in effect. At this time, neither the duration nor
scope of the disruption can be predicted; therefore, the ultimate impact to the Company’s business cannot be reasonably estimated but such impact could
materially adversely affect the Company’s business and financial results.

Liquidity and capital resource impact

Despite the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company believes that its significant cash on hand and short-term investments will be adequate to
meet liquidity and capital requirements for at least the next twelve months. The impact of reduced interest rates has inhibited the Company’s ability to
generate interest income in the short-term, but this has not, and is not expected to have, a material impact on the liquidity or capital resources of the
Company.

2020 Business Highlights
Cronos Fermentation

In the second quarter of 2020, Cronos Fermentation successfully fermented CBGA, one of the Company’s target cannabinoids under the Ginkgo Strategic
Partnership, at research scale. Cronos Fermentation has and will continue to optimize downstream processing and scale up procedures in advance of
receiving the final strains and commercial processing license, both of which are required for commercialization.

Management Appointments

On September 9, 2020, Cronos Group expanded its leadership structure to drive its next phase of growth by appointing Kurt Schmidt as President and
Chief Executive Officer. This move coincided with Mike Gorenstein’s appointment to Executive Chairman. Mr. Schmidt brings deep experience in
consumer products with decades of leadership experience in the U.S. and overseas.

On August 31, 2020, the Company added Shannon Buggy as Senior Vice President, Global Head of People. With over 25 years of experience, Ms. Buggy
has a proven track record of leading and managing global human resources teams and driving excellence in talent acquisition, development, retention,
employee relations, compensation, benefits, talent management and labor relations.

On July 20, 2020, Summer Frein was named General Manager USA. Ms. Frein joined Cronos Group in January of 2020; however, she has worked with
Cronos Group in various capacities since 2018. Under Ms. Frein’s leadership, the Company plans to further expand
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its U.S. hemp-derived business, including introducing new product formats under both Lord Jones™ and Happy Dance™, that will target different retail
channels and consumers.

Cronos Research Labs

In the third quarter of 2020, Cronos Device Labs expanded its scope for cannabinoid research and the R&D center was renamed to Cronos Research Labs.
Cronos Group engages in both understanding the fundamental science behind the interactions of cannabinoids with each other and how those interactions
can be leveraged to best deliver on the consumer’s needs. Additionally, the Company partners with leading scientific institutions engaged in fundamental
cannabis science to augment and accelerate its internal efforts. Cronos Group’s work spans many aspects of cannabis research from strain development to
growing conditions to extraction technology to biosynthesis to product development, all supported by advances in analytical sciences.

Recent Developments
Happy Dance™

Happy Dance™ continues its expansion by securing its first major U.S. retailer, ULTA Beauty™. The full collection of Happy Dance™ products is
expected to launch online at ULTA.com and in-store at over 550 ULTA Beauty™ locations across the U.S. in the coming weeks. Happy Dance™ was co-
founded by actress and New York Times best-selling author Kristen Bell and features an easy-to-use line of clean, vegan and cruelty-free U.S. hemp-
derived CBD bath and body products including an All-Over Whipped Body Butter + CBD, Head-to-Toe Coconut Melt + CBD and Stress Away Bath Bomb
+ CBD.

Cronos Israel

During 2020, Cronos Israel received all certifications and licenses required for the cultivation, production and marketing of dried flower, pre-rolls and oils
in Israel and currently has PEACE NATURALS™ dried flower and oils in market. On January 11, 2021, the PEACE NATURALS™ brand was recognized
by the Israeli Marketing Association and was given the 2020 Innovation Award for its successful marketing strategy in 2020, which led to increased brand
exposure. The marketing campaign gained this accolade for standing out amongst its peers by focusing on the high-quality nature of PEACE
NATURALS™ products. In February 2021, Cronos Israel signed a distribution agreement with the largest pharmacy chain in Israel, Super-Pharm, which
has over 250 branches in Israel. Cronos Israel continues to build distribution and brand awareness through a growing network of pharmacies.

Natuera

Throughout 2020, Natuera, the Company’s joint venture in Latin America, a fully licensed operation in Colombia for hemp and cannabis derived bulk,
consumer, and medicinal cannabinoid products, continued to achieve significant operational milestones. In addition to completing a number of test exports
of hemp-derived CBD extract to both the U.S. and the United Kingdom for business development and R&D purposes over the course of 2020, during the
fourth quarter of 2020, Natuera completed its first export of hemp-derived CBD extract to the U.S. for commercial purposes.

Cronos GrowCo

In 2020, Cronos GrowCo, the Company’s joint venture in Canada, fully completed construction of its production facility, including all fixtures within the
greenhouse and all post-harvest activity areas. In November 2020, Cronos GrowCo obtained a cultivation license for the operations contemplated by the
first phase of the project. The Company expects the facility to become operational in phases beginning in the first half of 2021.

2019 Financial Results Compared to 2018

For a discussion of our 2019 financial results compared to 2018, see Part II, Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations”, in our Annual Report on Form 10K/A for the year ended December 31, 2019.
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Foreign currency exchange rates

All currency amounts in this Annual Report are stated in U.S. dollars, which is our reporting currency, unless otherwise noted. All references to “dollars” or
“$” are to U.S. dollars. The assets and liabilities of the Company’s foreign operations are translated into dollars at the exchange rate in effect as of
December 31, 2020, December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, as reported on Bloomberg. Transactions affecting the shareholders’ equity (deficit) are
translated at historical foreign exchange rates. The consolidated statements of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) and consolidated
statements of cash flows of the Company’s foreign operations are translated into dollars by applying the average foreign exchange rate in effect for the
reporting period, as reported on Bloomberg.

The exchange rates used to translate from Canadian dollars (“C$”) to dollars is shown below:

(Exchange rates are shown as C$ per $) Year ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Average rate 1.3411 1.3268 1.2955
Spot rate 1.2751 1.2990 1.3639

Consolidated Results of Operations: FY 2020 compared with FY 2019

Summary of financial results - consolidated

(In thousands of U.S. dollars) Year ended December 31, Change

2020 2019 $ %
Net revenue $ 46,719 $ 23,750 $ 22,969 97 %
Gross profit (loss) (25,833) (17,597) (8,236) 47 %
Gross margin (55)% (74)% N/A 19 pp
Adjusted EBITDA @ $ (147,253) $ (98,308) $ (48,945) 50 %

@ See “Non-GAAP Measures” for information related to Non-GAAP measure.

Net revenue - consolidated

(In thousands of U.S. dollars) Year ended December 31, Change
2020 2019 $ %
Net revenue, before excise taxes ® $ 54,353 $ 25,639 $ 28,714 112 %
Excise taxes (7,634) (1,889) (5,745) 304 %
Net revenue 46,719 23,750 22,969 97 %

@ Net revenue, before excise taxes, is calculated net of sales returns and discounts as described under Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

For the fiscal year 2020 (“FY 2020”), we reported net revenue of $46.7 million, representing an increase of $23.0 million from the fiscal year 2019 (“FY
2019”). This change was primarily due to:

* Anincrease in sales in the Rest of World (“ROW”) segment in FY 2020 compared to FY 2019, due to the continued growth of the adult-use market in
Canada and sales in the Israeli medical market, partially offset by non-recurring wholesale revenue in the Canadian market in FY 2019 and strategic
price reductions on various adult-use cannabis products in Canada in FY 2020.

* An increase in net revenue in the U.S. segment of $6.1 million in FY 2020 compared to FY 2019 due to FY 2020 results including a full year of the
Redwood business as opposed to 117 days in FY 2019.

55



Table of Contents

Cost of sales and gross profit (loss) — consolidated

(In thousands of U.S. dollars) Year ended December 31, Change
2020 2019 $ %
Cost of sales $ 46,497 $ 12,174 $ 34,323 282 %
Inventory write-down 26,055 29,173 (3,118) (11) %
Gross profit (loss) (25,833) (17,597) (8,236) 47 %
Gross margin (55)% (74)% N/A 19 pp

For FY 2020, we reported gross loss of $25.8 million, representing an increase in losses of $8.2 million from FY 2019. This change was primarily due to:

* An increase in ROW cost of sales primarily driven by third party purchased flower associated with adult-use products in Canada and a decline in
wholesale sales in FY 2020 versus FY 2019.

» Partially offset by increased gross profit in the U.S. segment in FY 2020 compared to FY 2019, primarily due to a full year of gross profit in FY 2020
versus 117 days in FY 2019 and a decrease in inventory write-downs in the ROW segment. We may incur further inventory write-downs due to pricing
pressures in the marketplace.

Adjusted EBITDA — consolidated

(In thousands of U.S. dollars) Year ended December 31, Change
2020 2019 $ %
Adjusted EBITDA ® $ (147,253) $ (98,308) $ (48,945) 50 %

O See “Non-GAAP Measures” for information related to non-GAAP measures.

For FY 2020, we reported an adjusted earnings (loss) before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“Adjusted EBITDA”) of $(147.3) million,
representing a decrease in Adjusted EBITDA of $48.9 million from FY 2019. This change was primarily due to:

* Anincrease in gross loss as described above.

* An increase in general and administrative costs driven primarily by an increase in salaries and wages as a result of increased headcount in order to
support the Company’s growth strategy, increased office and general expenses and increased costs due to a full year of U.S. segment results versus 117
days in 2019.

* An increase in sales and marketing costs, primarily related to brand development as well as increased costs due to a full year of U.S. segment results
versus 117 days in the same period in 2019.

* An increase in R&D costs primarily related to the Ginkgo Strategic Partnership and increased spending on product development and developing
cannabinoid intellectual property.

Other items daffecting the comparability of net income (loss) during FY 2020 and FY 2019 — consolidated
Review costs related to restatement of 2019 interim financial statements

For FY 2020, we reported review costs related to the restatement of 2019 interim financial statements of $9.7 million within the general and administrative
line in the consolidated statements of net income (loss). These financial statement review costs include costs related to the restatement of the Company’s
2019 interim financial statements, costs related to the Company’s responses to requests for information from various regulatory authorities relating to such
restatement and legal costs defending shareholder class action complaints brought against the Company as a result of the restatement. There were no costs
related to the restatement of the Company’s 2019 interim financial statements incurred during FY 2019.

Repurposing charges

For FY 2019, we reported pre-tax charges of $7.3 million related to the Company’s decision to redesign its efforts at the Peace Naturals Campus, which
includes impairment costs, inventory write-down, and employee termination benefits. There were no repurposing costs incurred during FY 2020.

Interest income, net

For FY 2020, we reported interest income, net of $18.4 million representing a decrease of $9.6 million from FY 2019 primarily due to the impact of a
decrease in interest rates on cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments during FY 2020 compared to FY 2019.
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Gain on revaluation of derivative liabilities

For FY 2020, we reported a gain on revaluation of derivative liabilities of $129.3 million representing a decrease of $1,147.6 million from FY 2019
primarily driven by a decrease in our share price since December 31, 2019. The Company expects continued changes in derivative valuations as the
Company’s share price fluctuates period-to-period. For further information, see Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of this Annual
Report.

Impairment loss on goodwill and intangible assets

For FY 2020, we reported an impairment loss on goodwill and intangible assets of $40.0 million representing an increase of $40.0 million from FY 2019
primarily driven by a $35.0 million impairment charge on the U.S. reporting unit and a $5.0 million impairment charge on the Lord Jones™ brand during
the year ended December 31, 2020. For further information, see Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of this Annual Report.

Gain on disposal of other investments

For FY 2020, we reported a gain on disposal of other investments of $4.8 million representing a decrease of $11.5 million from FY 2019 primarily driven
by a decrease in the sale of shares associated with the Whistler Transaction (as defined below) during FY 2020 compared to FY 2019. For further
information, see Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of this Annual Report.

Financing and transaction costs

For FY 2020, we reported financing and transaction costs of $0.04 million representing a decrease of $32.2 million from FY 2019 primarily driven by the
increased financing and transaction costs incurred in FY 2019 compared to FY 2020 as a result of the Altria Investment and the Redwood Acquisition. For
further information see Note 27 and Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of this Annual Report.

Income tax expense

For FY 2020, we reported an income tax expense of $1.3 million representing an increase of $1.3 million from FY 2019 primarily driven by changes in
valuation allowance, partially offset by a decrease in the fair value gain on financial liabilities.

Results of Operations by Business Segment: FY 2020 compared with FY 2019

Summary of financial results - ROW

(In thousands of U.S. dollars) Year ended December 31, Change

2020 2019 $ %
Net revenue $ 37,224 $ 20,386 $ 16,838 83 %
Gross profit (loss) (29,993) (19,470) (10,523) 54 %
Gross margin B1)% (96)% N/A 15 pp
Adjusted EBITDA ® $ (98,349) $ (84,826) $ (13,523) 16 %

@ See “Non-GAAP Measures” for information related to non-GAAP measures.

Net revenue — ROW

(In thousands of U.S. dollars) Year ended December 31, Change
2020 2019 $ %
Cannabis flower $ 27932 $ 15,020 $ 12,912 86 %
Cannabis extracts 8,759 5,338 3,421 64 %
Other 533 28 505 1,804 %
Net revenue 37,224 20,386 16,838 83 %

For FY 2020, we reported net revenue of $37.2 million, representing an increase of $16.8 million from FY 2019. This change was primarily due to:

* An increase in sales due to the continued growth of the adult-use market in Canada and sales in the Israeli medical market, partially offset by non-
recurring wholesale revenue in the Canadian market in FY 2019 and strategic price reductions on various adult-use cannabis products in Canada in FY
2020.
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Cost of sales and gross profit (loss) - ROW

(In thousands of U.S. dollars) Year ended December 31, Change

2020 2019 $ %
Cost of sales $ 41,162 $ 10,683 $ 30,479 285 %
Inventory write-down 26,055 29,173 (3,118) (11) %
Gross profit (loss) (29,993) (19,470) (10,523) 54 %
Gross margin B1)% (96)% N/A 15 pp

For FY 2020, we reported gross loss of $30.0 million, representing an increase in losses of $10.5 million from FY 2019. This change was primarily due to:

* An increase in cost of sales primarily driven by third-party purchased flower associated with adult-use products in Canada and a decline in wholesale
sales in FY 2020. The Company anticipates that gross margin will continue to fluctuate as price and mix change from quarter-to-quarter.

» Partially offset by an increase in net revenue from FY 2019, as described above and a decrease in inventory write-downs. We may incur further
inventory write-downs due to pricing pressures in the marketplace.

Adjusted EBITDA — ROW

(In thousands of U.S. dollars) Year ended December 31, Change
2020 2019 $ %
Adjusted EBITDA $ (98,349) $ (84,826) $ (13,523) 16 %

@ See “Non-GAAP Measures” for information related to non-GAAP measures.

For FY 2020, we reported Adjusted EBITDA of $(98.3) million, representing a decrease in Adjusted EBITDA of $13.5 million from FY 2019. This change
was primarily due to:

* Anincrease in ROW gross loss from FY 2019, as described above.

* An increase in R&D costs primarily related to the Ginkgo Strategic Partnership and costs related to increased spending on product development and
cannabinoid intellectual property.

* Anincrease in general and administrative costs from FY 2019 driven by an increase in salaries and wages as a result of increased headcount to support
the Company’s growth strategy and increased office and general expenses.

* Anincrease in sales and marketing costs primarily related to building and developing our brands and products in the Canadian adult-use market.

Summary of financial results — U.S.

(In thousands of U.S. dollars) Year ended December 31, Change

2020 2019 $ %
Net revenue $ 9,495 $ 3,364 $ 6,131 182 %
Gross profit 4,160 1,873 2,287 122 %
Gross margin 44 % 56 % N/A (12)pp
Adjusted EBITDA O $ (28,019) $ (1,703) $ (26,316) 1,545 %

@ See “Non-GAAP Measures” for information related to non-GAAP measures.
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Net revenue — U.S.

(In thousands of U.S. dollars) Year ended December 31, Change
2020 2019 $ %

Net revenue $ 9,495 $ 3,364 $ 6,131 182 %

For FY 2020, the U.S. segment reported net revenue of $9.5 million, representing an increase of $6.1 million from FY 2019. The increase was primarily
due to:
* Anincrease in sales due to a full year of U.S. segment results in FY 2020 as opposed to 117 days in FY 2019.

*  The growth in existing product lines and introductions of new U.S. hemp-derived CBD products during FY 2020. A significant amount of the U.S.
segment’s FY 2020 revenue was earned during the fourth quarter as a result of increased sales in the direct-to-consumer channel driven by holiday
sales.

Cost of sales and gross profit — U.S.

(In thousands of U.S. dollars) Year ended December 31, Change

2020 2019 $ %
Cost of sales $ 5,335 $ 1,491 $ 3,844 258 %
Gross profit (loss) 4,160 1,873 2,287 122 %
Gross profit margin 44 % 56 % N/A (12)pp

For FY 2020, the U.S. segment reported gross profit of $4.2 million representing an increase in gross profit of $2.3 million from FY 2019. This was
primarily due to:

« The increase in net revenue, as described above.
» Partially offset by an increase in cost of sales primarily driven by a full year of U.S. segment results in FY 2020 as opposed to 117 days in the same

period in 2019.

Adjusted EBITDA — U.S.

(In thousands of U.S. dollars) Year ended December 31, Change
2020 2019 $ %
Adjusted EBITDA $ (28,019) $ (1,703) $ (26,316) 1,545 %

@ See “Non-GAAP Measures” for information related to non-GAAP measures.

For FY 2020, we reported an Adjusted EBITDA of $(28.0) million, representing a decrease in Adjusted EBITDA of $26.3 million from FY 2019. This
change was primarily due to:

«  Sales and marketing costs incurred in relation to the introduction of new U.S. hemp-derived CBD products.

* Increased general and administrative costs driven by increased headcount to support the Company’s growth strategy across a variety of functions.

«  Partially offset by an increase in gross profit from FY 2019, as described above.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments will be sufficient to fund our business operations and capital
expenditures over the next twelve months.

Liquidity

Our primary need for liquidity is to fund operations and capital expenditures. Our ability to fund operations and capital expenditures depends on, among

other things, future operating performance and cash flows that are subject to general economic conditions and financial and other factors, including factors
beyond our control.
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Historically, we have primarily funded our operations through equity financing. In March 2019, Altria closed a C$2.4 billion (approximately $1.8 billion)
investment in us, pursuant to which we issued to certain wholly owned subsidiaries of Altria 149,831,154 of our common shares and one warrant, as further
discussed under “Altria Strategic Investment” herein. As of February 23, 2021, we had a cash and cash equivalents balance of $1.1 billion and $0.2 billion
in short term investments to fund operations and capital expenditures.

Capital resources

As of December 31, 2020, we had $1.1 billion in cash and cash equivalents and $0.2 billion in short term investments. As of December 31, 2020, the
Company had no external financing.

Contractual obligations

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had the following contractual obligations:

(In thousands of U.S. dollars) Payments Due by Period
Total Less Than 1 Year 1-3 Years 4-5 Years After 5 Years
Long-term debt obligations $ —  $ —  $ — 8 — 8 —
Capital (finance) lease obligations 59 39 20 — —
Operating lease obligations 12,017 2,381 6,214 2,261 1,161
Purchase obligations 18,942 14,489 3,341 1,112 —
Other long-term liabilities 8,962 8,962 — — —
Total contractual obligations $ 39,980 $ 25871 $ 9,575 § 3373 $ 1,161

Finance lease obligations relate to equipment leases maturing in June 2022. Operating lease obligations relate to land, buildings, vehicles, and office space
in Canada, the U.S. and Israel. Purchase obligations include commitments for capital expenditure, information technology services, and other professional
services. Other long-term liabilities relate to commitments for research and development such as Ginkgo foundry access fees, as well as undrawn but
committed loans to our joint ventures.

Summary of cash flows

(In thousands of U.S. dollars) Year ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ (142,457) % (130,274)  $ (7,517)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 20,150 (603,272) (93,908)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (5,465) 1,856,941 122,112
Effect of foreign currency translation on cash and cash equivalents 6,102 52,371 (4,085)
Net change in cash $ (121,670)  $ 1,175,766 $ 16,602

FY 2020 cash flows vs FY 2019 cash flows

Operating activities.

During FY 2020, we used $142.5 million of cash in operating activities as compared to $130.3 million in FY 2019, representing an increase of $12.2
million in cash used. This change is primarily driven by an increase in operating expenses in FY 2020 partially offset by increased revenues in FY 2020.

Investing activities.

During FY 2020, we received $20.2 million of cash in investing activities, as compared to $603.3 million of cash used during FY 2019, representing an
increase of $623.5 million in net cash provided. This change is primarily driven by the Redwood Acquisition in FY 2019 for cash consideration of $224.3
million, as well as a $395.3 million increase from FY 2019 from the net effect of the purchase of and proceeds from maturity short-term investments.

Financing activities.

During FY 2020, cash used in financing activities was $5.5 million, as compared to $1,856.9 million of cash provided by financing activities in FY 2019,
representing a net increase of $1,862.4 million. This change is primarily driven by proceeds from the strategic investment from Altria of $1,809.6 million
as well as the proceeds from exercises Top-up Rights of $67.1 million by Altria partially offset by the $16.0 million repayment of the construction
loan payable.
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Non-GAAP Measures

Cronos Group reports its financial results in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States (“US GAAP”). This Annual
Report refers to measures not recognized under US GAAP (“non-GAAP measures”). These non-GAAP measures do not have a standardized meaning
prescribed by US GAAP and are therefore unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by other companies. Rather, these non-GAAP measures
are provided as a supplement to corresponding US GAAP measures to provide additional information regarding our results of operations from
management’s perspective. Accordingly, non- GAAP measures should not be considered a substitute for, or superior to, the financial information prepared
and presented in accordance with US GAAP. All non-GAAP measures presented in this Annual Report are reconciled to their closest reported GAAP
measure. Reconciliations of historical adjusted financial measures to corresponding US GAAP measures are provided below.

Adjusted EBITDA

Management reviews Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP measure which excludes non-cash items or items that do not reflect management’s assessment of
on-going business performance. Management defines Adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) before interest, tax expense, depreciation and amortization
adjusted for: impairment loss on goodwill and intangible assets, repurposing charges, financing and transaction costs, loss (gain) on revaluation of
derivative liabilities, loss (gain) on disposal of investments, share of loss (income) from equity accounted investees, loss from discontinued operations,
other loss (income), review costs related to the restatement of the Company’s 2019 interim financial statements, the Company’s responses to the reviews of
such interim financial statements by various regulatory authorities and legal costs defending shareholder class action complaints brought against the
Company as a result of the restatement (see Part I, Item 3, Legal Proceedings, of this Annual Report for a discussion of the regulatory reviews and
shareholder class action complaints relating to the restatement of the 2019 interim financial statements), and share-based payments.

Management believes that Adjusted EBITDA provides the most useful insight into underlying business trends and results and provides a more meaningful
comparison of year-over-year results. Management uses Adjusted EBITDA for planning, forecasting and evaluating business and financial performance,
including allocating resources and evaluating results relative to employee compensation targets. As a result of the appointment of Mr. Schmidt as President
and Chief Executive Officer in September 2020 and a review of how management looks at the business, Adjusted EBITDA is now the primary metric upon
which management views the consolidated business performance and results year-over-year.

Adjusted EBITDA by segment

Management also reviews adjusted earnings (loss) before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization by segment (“Adjusted EBITDA by segment”), a non-
GAAP measure which excludes non-cash items or items that do not reflect management’s assessment of on-going business performance. Corporate
expenses are removed from Adjusted EBITDA by segment. Corporate expenses are expenses that relate to the consolidated business. The Company’s
method of allocating corporate expenses is refined periodically. Management defines Adjusted EBITDA by segment as net income (loss) by segment
before interest, tax expense, depreciation and amortization adjusted for the same items that are adjusted in consolidated Adjusted EBITDA.

Management believes that Adjusted EBITDA by segment provides useful insight into underlying segment trends and results and provides a more
meaningful comparison of year-over-year segment results. Management uses Adjusted EBITDA by segment for planning, forecasting and evaluating
business and financial performance, including allocating resources and evaluating results relative to employee compensation targets. As a result of the
appointment of Mr. Schmidt as President and Chief Executive Officer in September 2020 and a review of how management looks at the business by
segment, Adjusted EBITDA by segment is now the primary metric upon which management views the segment performance and results year-over-year.
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Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA by segment is reconciled to net income (loss) as follows for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:

(in thousands of U.S. dollars)

Net income (loss)
Adjustments
Interest expense (income), net
Income tax expense

Impairment loss on goodwill and intangible assets

Financing and transaction costs

Gain on revaluation of derivative liabilities
Gain on disposal of other investments

Share of loss from equity accounted investees
Loss from discontinued operations

Other loss (income)

Review costs related to restatement of 2019 interim

financial statements
Share-based payments
Adjusted EBIT
Adjustments
Depreciation and amortization

Adjusted EBITDA

(in thousands of U.S. dollars)

Net income (loss)
Adjustments
Interest income, net
Repurposing charges
Financing and transaction costs
Gain on revaluation of derivative liabilities
Gain on disposal of other investments
Share of loss from equity accounted investees
Loss from discontinued operations
Other loss (income)
Share-based payments
Adjusted EBIT
Adjustments
Depreciation and amortization

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted operating loss

Year ended December 31, 2020

Corporate
us ROW Expenses Total
(77,368) 32,671 $ (30,573) (75,270)
18 (18,433) — (18,415)
323 1,024 — 1,347
40,000 — — 40,000
40 — — 40
— (129,254) — (129,254)
— (4,789) — (4,789)
— 4,510 — 4,510
— 650 — 650
20 1,814 — 1,834
— — 9,688 9,688
8,714 6,647 — 15,361
(28,253) (105,160) (20,885) (154,298)
234 6,811 — 7,045
(28,019) (98,349) $ (20,885) (147,253)
Year ended December 31, 2019
Corporate
Us ROW Expenses Total
(3,070) 1,180,241 $ (11,597) 1,165,574
(6) (27,963) — (27,969)
— 7,268 — 7,268
117 32,091 — 32,208
— (1,276,819) — (1,276,819)
— (16,277) — (16,277)
— 2,009 — 2,009
= 363 = 363
182 (197) (182) (197)
900 10,719 — 11,619
(1,877) (88,565) (11,779) (102,221)
174 3,739 — 3,913
(1,703) (84,826) $ (11,779) (98,308)

Management previously reviewed operating loss on an adjusted basis, which excluded certain income and expense items that management believed were
not part of underlying operations. These items typically included repurposing charges and non-recurring charges such as the review costs related to the
restatement of the Company’s 2019 interim financial statements, the Company’s responses to the reviews of such interim financial statements by various
regulatory authorities and legal costs defending shareholder class action complaints brought against the Company as a result of the restatement (see Part I,
Item 3, Legal Proceedings, of this Annual Report for a discussion of the regulatory reviews and shareholder class action complaints relating to the

restatement of the 2019 interim financial statements).
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Management did not view these items to be part of underlying results as they may have been highly variable, unusual or infrequent, were difficult to predict
or could distort underlying business trends and results. Management believed that adjusted operating loss provided useful insight into underlying business
trends and results and provided a more meaningful comparison of year-over-year results. Management used to use adjusted operating loss for planning,
forecasting and evaluating business and financial performance, including allocating resources and evaluating results relative to employee compensation
targets. As a result of the appointment of Mr. Schmidt as President and Chief Executive Officer in September 2020 and a review of how management looks
at the business, adjusted operating loss is no longer a primary metric upon which management views the consolidated business performance and results
year-over-year.

(In thousands of U.S. dollars) Year ended December 31,
2020 2019
Reported operating loss $ (179,347) $ (121,108)
Adjustments
Review costs related to restatement of 2019 interim financial statements 9,688 —
Repurposing charges — 7,268
Adjusted operating loss $ (169,659) $ (113,840)

Adjusted operating loss by segment

Management previously reviewed operating loss by segment, which excluded corporate expenses, and adjusted operating loss by segment, which further
excluded certain income and expense items that management believed were not part of the underlying segment’s operations. Corporate expenses were
expenses that relate to the consolidated business and not to an individual operating segment while the income and expense items typically included non-
recurring charges such as repurposing charges and review costs related to the restatement of the Company’s 2019 interim financial statements, the
Company’s responses to the reviews of such interim financial statements by various regulatory authorities and legal costs defending shareholder class
action complaints brought against the Company as a result of the restatement (see Part I, Item 3, Legal Proceedings, of this Annual Report for a discussion
of the regulatory reviews and shareholder class action complaints relating to the restatement of the 2019 interim financial statements). Management did not
view the income and expense items above to be part of underlying results of the segment as they may have been highly variable, unusual or infrequent,
were difficult to predict and could distort underlying business trends and results.

As a result of the appointment of Mr. Schmidt as President and Chief Executive Officer in September 2020 and a review of how management looks at the
business, adjusted operating loss by segment is no longer the primary metric upon which management views the segment performance and results year-
over-year.

(In thousands of U.S. dollars) Year ended December 31, 2020
Corporate
us ROW Total Segments Expenses Total
Reported operating loss $ (36,967) $ (111,807) $ (148,774)  $ (30,573) $ (179,347)
Adjustments
Review costs related to restatement of 2019 interim financial
statements — — — 9,688 9,688
Adjusted operating loss $ (36,967) $ (111,807)  $ (148,774)  $ (20,885) % (169,659)
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) Year ended December 31, 2019
Corporate
us ROW Total Segments Expenses Total
Reported operating loss $ 2,777)  $ (106,552) $ (109,329) $ (1,779)  $ (121,108)
Adjustments
Repurposing charges — 7,268 7,268 — 7,268
Adjusted operating loss $ 2,777)  $ (99,284) % (102,061) $ (11,779) % (113,840)

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any material off-balance sheet arrangements.
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Critical Accounting Estimates
Estimates and critical judgments by management

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. These estimates are reviewed periodically and adjustments are made as appropriate
in the year they become known. Items for which actual results may differ materially from these estimates are described in the following section.

Refer to Note 2 “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” within the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information on our critical
accounting estimates and policies, which are as follows:

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are not subject to amortization. We test goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment
annually, or more frequently if an event occurs or circumstances change that could indicate a potential impairment. We compare the fair value of our
reporting units with their carrying amount and recognize an impairment charge for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s
fair value.

We believe that the accounting estimate for goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets is a critical accounting estimate because of the judgment
required in assessing the fair value of each of our reporting units. We estimate fair value through various valuation methods, including the use of discounted
expected future cash flows of each reporting unit as well as the use of the relief-from-royalty method on the Lord Jones™ brand. The expected future cash
flows for each reporting unit are significantly impacted by current market conditions. If these market conditions and resulting expected future cash flows
for each reporting unit decline significantly, the actual results for each segment could differ from our estimate, which would cause goodwill to be impaired.
Our accounting for goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets represents our best estimate of future events.

Based on our assessments and after considering potential triggering events, including COVID-19, we recognized an impairment loss related to goodwill
and indefinite life intangible assets of $35 million and $5 million in the U.S. reporting unit, respectively, in FY 2020. During our annual quantitative
impairment test in the fourth quarter of 2020, no further impairment was recorded. Both fair values of the goodwill as well as the Lord Jones™ brand
exceeded carrying value by more than 10%. No impairment was recorded in FY 2019 or FY 2018.

Inventory valuation

We value our inventory at lower of cost or net realizable value determined using weighted average cost. Inventory is reflected at the lower of cost or net
realizable value considering future demand, market conditions and market prices. Our estimates are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but
which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable. These valuations require the use of management's assumptions which do not reflect unanticipated events
and circumstances that may occur. We record an inventory valuation adjustment for excess, slow moving, and obsolete inventory that is equal to the excess
of the cost of the inventory over the estimated net realizable value. We also experience inventory write-downs due to reduced market prices. The inventory
valuation adjustment to net realizable value establishes a new cost basis of the inventory that cannot be subsequently reversed. Inventory valuation
adjustments are based on inventory levels, expected product life, and estimated product demand. In assessing the ultimate realization of inventories, we are
required to make judgments as to future demand requirements compared with inventory levels.

Share-based compensation

We measure the fair value of services received in exchange for all stock options granted based on the fair market value of the award as of the grant date. We
compute the fair value of stock options with time-based vesting using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and recognize the cost of the equity awards
over the period that services are provided to earn the award. The Black-Scholes option-pricing model includes assumptions regarding dividend yields,
expected volatility, expected option term and risk-free interest rates. The assumptions used in computing the fair value of share-based compensation
expense reflect our best estimates, but involve uncertainties relating to market and other conditions, many of which are outside of our control. We estimate
expected volatility based primarily on historical daily price changes of our stock and peers. The expected option term is the number of years that we
estimate that the stock options will be outstanding prior to exercise.
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Valuation of derivative liabilities

Derivative liabilities consist of the Altria Warrant, Pre-emptive Rights, and certain Top-up Rights. We measure derivative liabilities at fair value at each
reporting date until settlement with the re-measurement gain or loss being recognized immediately in net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss).
We calculate fair value of the derivative liability using the Black-Scholes model. Significant assumptions are used in the valuation of derivative liabilities,
including the volatility of the share price of our Company and our peers, expected dividend yield, expected term and expected risk-free interest rate. The
assumptions used in computing the fair value of derivative liabilities reflect our best estimates, but involve uncertainties relating to market and other
conditions, many of which are outside of our control. Sensitivity is performed on various inputs, refer to Note 14 “Derivative Liabilities” in Item 8 of this
Annual Report.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or yield of fixed-income investments may decline if interest rates change. Fluctuations in interest rates may impact
the level of income and expense recorded on the cash equivalents and short-term investments, and the market value of all interest-earning assets, other than
those which possess a short-term to maturity. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company had net interest income of $18.4 million
(December 31, 2019 — $28.0 million). A 10% change in the interest rate in effect on December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, would not have a material
effect on (i) fair value of the cash equivalents and short-term investments as the majority of the portfolio has a maturity date of three months or less, or (ii)
net interest income. Management continues to monitor external interest rates and revise the Company’s investment strategy as a result.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company’s average variable interest rate fell 1.49%, which resulted in a decrease of net interest income, of
$15.7 million in the period. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company’s average variable interest rate did not materially change.

Currency rate risk

Currency rate risk is the risk that the fair value of, or future cash flows from, the Company’s financial instruments will significantly fluctuate due to
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company is exposed to this risk on advances to joint ventures denominated in A$. The Company is further exposed
to this risk through subsidiaries operating in Israel and the U.S. as the Company’s functional currency is in Canadian dollars. The Company does not
currently use foreign exchange contracts to hedge its exposure to currency rate risk. As such, the Company’s financial position and financial results may be
adversely affected by the unfavorable fluctuations in currency exchange rates.

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had foreign currency gain on translation of $15.0 million (December 31, 2019 — $37.7 million). A 10% change in
the exchange rates for the foreign currencies would affect the carrying value of net assets by approximately $170.8 million as of December 31, 2020
(December 31, 2019 — $174.9 million).
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors Cronos Group Inc.:
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Cronos Group Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the
related consolidated statements of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss), changes in shareholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of
the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the
consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and December 31,
2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated February 26, 2021, expressed an adverse opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included
performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were
communicated or required to be communicated to the Audit Committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated
financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not
alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below,
providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Evaluation of sufficiency of audit evidence over inventory

As discussed in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, inventory consists of raw materials; dry cannabis and cannabis extracts work-in-progress;
dry cannabis and cannabis extract finished goods; and supplies and consumables. The Company’s total inventory as of December 31, 2020 was $44,002
thousand. The accuracy of inventory quantities is dependent upon the performance of an annual physical count and appropriately recording adjustments to
inventory quantities in the Company’s inventory process. The Company has also identified a material weakness related to inventory as of December 31,
2020.

We identified the evaluation of the sufficiency of audit evidence over the accuracy of inventory quantities as a critical audit matter. Evaluating the
sufficiency of the audit evidence obtained required especially subjective auditor judgment because of the material weakness described above.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We applied auditor judgment to determine the nature and
extent of procedures to be performed over inventory. We increased the number of inventory samples selected to perform certain procedures compared to
those we would have selected if the Company’s internal controls were operating effectively at year end. We performed independent test counts of inventory
quantities. We compared the results of our independent test counts to the Company’s inventory records. We confirmed with third parties a selection of
inventory quantities held by them. We evaluated the overall sufficiency of audit evidence obtained by assessing the results of procedures performed.
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Evaluation of the impairment analysis for goodwill in the U.S. reporting unit and the Lord Jones™ brand indefinite life intangible asset

As discussed in Note 2(k) to the consolidated financial statements, goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets are not amortized but are reviewed for
impairment annually or more frequently when events or changes in circumstances indicate that fair value of the reporting unit has been reduced to less than
its carrying value. As discussed in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company had $178,414 thousand of goodwill in the U.S. reporting
unit and an indefinite life intangible asset of $59,000 thousand from the Lord JonesTM brand. The Company recorded $35,000 thousand of impairment
charges on the goodwill recorded in the U.S. reporting unit and $5,000 thousand of impairment charges on the Lord JonesTM brand indefinite life
intangible asset in the year ended December 31, 2020.

We identified the evaluation of the impairment analysis for goodwill in the U.S. reporting unit and the Lord JonesTM brand indefinite life intangible asset
as a critical audit matter. The evaluation of the Company’s key assumptions used in the discounted cash flow valuation model, including the growth rates,
the discount rates, and forecasted royalty income from the Lord JonesTM brand indefinite life intangible asset, required a high degree of auditor judgment.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness
of certain internal controls over the Company’s impairment process, including a control related to the determination and assessment of the reasonableness
of key assumptions used in the discounted cash flow valuation model. We evaluated the key assumptions used in the discounted cash flow valuation model,
including comparing forecasted growth rates against external analyst expectations for the industry in the United States. We also performed sensitivity
analysis on the forecasted growth rates and forecasted royalty income to assess the impact on the Company’s fair value estimate. We compared a selection
of royalty rates of comparable entities used by the Company to determine the royalty rate used in the discounted cash flow valuation model to publicly
available information. We involved valuation professionals with specialized skills and knowledge who assisted in:

® evaluating the discount rate, by comparing it against the internal rate of return and comparing the weighted average cost of capital to a range that was
independently developed using publicly available market data for comparable entities.

* evaluating the royalty rate, which was applied to estimate forecasted revenues, to calculate forecasted royalty income, using industry knowledge and
consideration of comparable brand royalty rates and qualitative factors specific to the brand.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2018.

Vaughan, Canada
February 26, 2021
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors Cronos Group Inc.:
Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Cronos Group Inc.’s (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our opinion,
because of the effect of the material weakness, described below, on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, the Company has not
maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated
balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the related consolidated statements of net income (loss) and
comprehensive income (loss), changes in shareholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31,
2020, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements), and our report dated February 26, 2021 expressed an unqualified opinion
on those consolidated financial statements.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility
that a material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. A material
weakness related to the following has been identified and included in management’s assessment:

Inventory verification: Management failed to properly design and execute sufficient procedures to verify inventory quantities. Specifically, while inventory
counts were performed in the fourth quarter, (i) the aggregate value of items excluded from the count exceeded the Company’s materiality threshold, and
(ii) human error in count execution, data transposition and reconciliation analysis resulted in inaccurate adjustments.

The material weakness was considered in determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 2020 consolidated financial
statements, and this report does not affect our report on those consolidated financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting (Item 9A(b)(i)
of the Form 10-K). Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a
public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over
financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s KPMG LLP

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

February 26, 2021
Vaughan, Canada
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CRONOS GROUP INC.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019

As of December 31,
2020 2019
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,078,023  $ 1,199,693
Short-term investments 211,766 306,347
Accounts receivable @ 8,928 4,638
Other receivables 10,033 7,232
Current portion of loans receivable 7,083 4,664
Prepaids and other assets 11,161 9,395
Inventory, net 44,002 38,043
Held-for-sale assets 1,176 3,248
Total current assets 1,372,172 1,573,260
Investments in equity accounted investees 19,235 557
Advances to joint ventures 467 19,437
Loans receivable, net 87,191 44,967
Property, plant and equipment 187,599 159,948
Right-of-use assets 9,776 6,546
Intangible assets 69,720 71,235
Goodwill 179,522 214,492
Total assets $ 1,925,682 $ 2,090,442
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and other liabilities $ 42,102 $ 35,301
Current portion of lease obligation 1,322 427
Derivative liabilities® 163,410 297,160
Total current liabilities 206,834 332,888
Due to non-controlling interests 2,188 1,844
Lease obligation 8,492 6,680
Total liabilities 217,514 341,412
Commitments and contingencies(™
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital®™ ¥ 569,260 561,165
Additional paid-in capital 34,596 23,234
Retained earnings 1,064,509 1,137,646
Accumulated other comprehensive income 42,999 27,838
Total equity attributable to shareholders of Cronos Group 1,711,364 1,749,883
Non-controlling interests (3,196) (853)
Total shareholders' equity 1,708,168 1,749,030
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 1,925,682  $ 2,090,442

® Net of current expected credit loss allowance of $74 as of December 31, 2020 (December 31, 2019 — $136)
) Refer to Note 14 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

(i) Refer to Note 20 and Note 21 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

) Authorized for issuance as of December 31, 2020: unlimited (December 31, 2019 — unlimited).

™ Shares issued as of December 31, 2020: 360,253,332 (as of December 31, 2019: 348,817,472)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Net revenue, before excise taxes $ 54,353 $ 25,639 $ 13,234
Excise taxes (7,634) (1,889) (1,113)
Net revenue 46,719 23,750 12,121
Cost of sales 46,497 12,174 5,908
Inventory write-down 26,055 29,173 —
Gross profit (loss) (25,833) (17,597) 6,213
Operating expenses
Sales and marketing 34,386 23,048 2,537
Research and development 20,366 12,155 1,814
General and administrative 80,529 49,271 13,349
Share-based payments 15,361 11,619 8,151
Depreciation and amortization 2,872 2,090 807
Repurposing charges — 5,328 —
Total operating expenses 153,514 103,511 26,658
Operating loss (179,347) (121,108) (20,445)
Other income (expense)
Interest income, net 18,415 27,969 81
Gain on revaluation of derivative liabilities® 129,254 1,276,819 —
Impairment loss on goodwill and intangible assets (40,000) — —
Gain on disposal of other investments 4,789 16,277 164
Share of loss from investments in equity accounted investees (4,510) (2,009) (723)
Financing and transaction costs (40) (32,208) —
Other income (loss) (1,834) 197 —
Total other income (expense) 106,074 1,287,045 (478)
Income (loss) before income taxes (73,273) 1,165,937 (20,923)
Income tax expense 1,347 — —
Income (loss) from continuing operations (74,620) 1,165,937 (20,923)
Loss from discontinued operations (650) (363) (894)
Net income (loss) $ (75,270) $ 1,165,574  $ (21,817)
Net income (loss) attributable to:
Cronos Group $ (73,137) $ 1,166,506 $ (21,636)
Non-controlling interests (2,133) (932) (181)
$ (75,270) $ 1,165,574  $ (21,817)
Net income (loss) per share
Basic $ 021) $ 3.76 % (0.12)
Diluted @ (0.21) 3.33 (0.12)
Weighted average number of outstanding shares
Basic 351,576,848 310,067,179 172,269,170
Diluted @ 351,576,848 342,811,992 172,269,170

@ Refer to Note 14 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements
@ In computing diluted earnings per share, incremental common shares are not considered in periods in which a net loss is reported, as the inclusion of the common share equivalents would be
anti-dilutive.

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Net income (loss)

Other comprehensive income (loss)
Foreign exchange gain (loss) on translation
Gain on revaluation and disposal of other investments, net of tax
Total other comprehensive income (loss)
Comprehensive income (loss)
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to:
Cronos Group
Non-controlling interests

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018

(75,270)  $ 1,165,574  $ (21,817)
14,951 37,687 (12,337)

— — 3

14,951 37,687 (12,334)
(60,319) $ 1,203,261  $ (34,151)
(57,976) $ 1,204,214  $ (33,964)
(2,343) (953) (187)
(60,319) $ 1,203,261 $ (34,151)
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Balance as of January 1, 2018

Shares issued

Share issuance costs

Vesting of options

Options exercised

Warrants exercised

Contribution by non-controlling interests

Net income (loss)

Other comprehensive income (loss)
Balance as of December 31, 2018

Balance as of January 1, 2019

Shares issued

Share issuance costs

Warrants exercised

Vesting of options

Options exercised

Vesting of restricted share units

Top-up Rights exercised

Net income (loss)

Other comprehensive income (loss)
Balance as of December 31, 2019

Retained Accumulated
earnings other Total
Number of Additional paid- (accumulated comprehensive Non-controlling shareholders’
shares Share capital in capital deficit) income (loss) interests equity
149,360,603 $ 62,834 $ 4,734  $ (6,293) $ 2,458 $ — 63,733
15,677,143 115,510 — — — — 115,510
— (7,577) — — — — (7,577)
— — 8,151 — — — 8,151
567,940 671 (220) (16) — — 435
13,114,336 3,563 (1,402) — — — 2,161
— — — — — 287 287
— — — (21,636) — (181) (21,817)
— — — — (12,328) (6) (12,334)
178,720,022 $ 175,001 $ 11,263 $ (27,945) $ (9,870) $ 100 $ 148,549
Retained Accumulated
earnings other Total
Number of Additional paid- (accumulated comprehensive Non-controlling shareholders’
shares Share capital in capital deficit) income (loss) interests equity
178,720,022 $ 175,001 $ 11,263  $ (27,945) $ 9,870) $ 100 $ 148,549
155,773,757 304,411 410 — — — 304,821
— (3,722) — — — — (3,722)
7,390,961 2,034 (596) — — — 1,438
— — 11,619 — — — 11,619
190,349 368 (351) (915) — — (898)
— — 889 — — — 889
6,742,383 83,073 — — — — 83,073
— — — 1,166,506 — (932) 1,165,574
— — — — 37,708 (21) 37,687
348,817,472  $ 561,165 $ 23234 $ 1,137,646 $ 27,838 $ 853) $ 1,749,030
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Balance as of January 1, 2020
Warrants exercised

Vesting of options

Options exercised

Restricted share units settled
Vesting of restricted share units

Taxes withheld on vesting of restricted
share units

Vesting of common shares issued in
connection with the use of certain
publicity rights in brand development

Top-up Rights exercised
Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive income (loss)

Balance as of December 31, 2020

Retained Accumulated
earnings other Total
Number of Additional paid- (accumulated comprehensive Non-controlling shareholders’
shares Share capital in capital deficit) income (loss) interests equity
348,817,472  $ 561,165 $ 23234 $ 1,137,646  $ 27,838 $ 853) $ 1,749,030
9,755,642 1,244 (1,137) — — — 107
— — 7,185 — — — 7,185
1,266,130 1,586 (1,577) — — — 9
414,088 — — — — —
— — 8,176 — — — 8,176
— — (2,148) — — — (2,148)
— 2,000 863 — — — 2,863
— 3,265 — — — — 3,265
— — — (73,137) — (2,133) (75,270)
— — — — 15,161 (210) 14,951
360,253,332 $ 569,260 $ 34596 $ 1,064,509 $ 42,999 $ (3,196) $ 1,708,168

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Operating activities
Net (loss) income $ (75,270)  $ 1,165,574 $ (21,817)
Items not affecting cash:
Gain on revaluation of derivative liabilities © (129,254) (1,276,819) —
Impairment on goodwill and intangible assets 40,000 — —
Inventory write-down 26,055 29,173 —
Provisions for inventory and doubtful accounts 3,741 136 —
Share-based payments 15,361 11,619 8,151
Depreciation and amortization 7,045 3,913 1,937
Share of loss from investments in equity accounted investees 4,510 2,009 723
Gain on disposal of other investments (4,789) (16,277) (164)
Non-cash sales and marketing 2,863 410 —
Income tax expense 1,347 — —
Non-cash repurposing costs — 4,439 —
Other non-cash operating activity expense (income) (123) (243) )
Net changes in non-cash working capital (33,943) (54,208) 3,662
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (142,457) (130,274) (7,517)
Investing activities
Proceeds from (purchase of) short-term investments, net 95,404 (299,923) —
Investments in equity accounted investees — (1,658) (480)
Proceeds from sale of other investments 4,789 19,614 747
Advances to joint ventures — (15,135) (5,358)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment, net of disposals (31,412) (38,664) (88,308)
Purchase of intangible assets (3,979) (289) (278)
Acquisition of Redwood — (224,295) —
Advances on loans receivable (44,652) (43,337) —
Other non-cash investing activity expense (income) — 415 (231)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 20,150 (603,272) (93,908)
Financing activities
Advance to non-controlling interests (1,019) — —
Repayment of lease obligations (2,414) (919) —
Withholding taxes paid on equity awards (2,148) (915) (16)
Proceeds from Altria Investment — 1,809,556 —
Proceeds from exercise of Top-up Rights — 67,051 —
Proceeds from exercise of warrants and options 116 1,455 2,612
Proceeds from share issuance — — 115,510
Share issuance costs — (3,722) (7,577)
Proceeds from construction loan payable — — 11,583
Repayment of construction loan payable — (15,971) —
Advance under Credit Facility — 48,715 —
Repayment of Credit Facility — (48,309) —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (5,465) 1,856,941 122,112
Effect of foreign currency translation on cash and cash equivalents 6,102 52,371 (4,085)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents (121,670) 1,175,766 16,602
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 1,199,693 23,927 7,325
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 1,078,023 $ 1,199,693 $ 23,927

O Refer to Note 14 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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1. Background

Cronos Group Inc. (“Cronos Group” or the “Company”) is incorporated in the Province of British Columbia and under the British Columbia Business
Corporations Act with principal executive offices at 111 Peter St. Street, Suite 300, Toronto, Ontario, M5V 2H1. The Company’s common shares are
currently listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) and Nasdaq Global Market (“Nasdaq”) under the ticker symbol “CRON.”

Cronos Group is an innovative global cannabinoid company, with international production and distribution across five continents. The Company is
committed to building disruptive intellectual property by advancing cannabis research, technology and product development and is seeking to build an
iconic brand portfolio. Cronos Group’s brand portfolio includes PEACE NATURALS™, a global wellness platform; two adult-use brands, COVE™ and
Spinach™; and three U.S hemp-derived consumer products brands, Lord Jones™, Happy Dance™ and PEACE+™.

Cronos Group has established four strategic joint ventures in Canada, Israel, and Colombia. Cronos Israel (as defined herein) is consolidated for financial
reporting purposes. The Company also holds approximately 31% of the issued capital of Cronos Australia Limited (“Cronos Australia”) and accounts for
its investment in Cronos Australia under the equity method of accounting. For additional discussion regarding the joint ventures and strategic investment,
see Note 6.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America (“U.S. GAAP”). U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the dates of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of net revenues and expenses during
the reporting periods. The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements were effective as of January 1, 2020.

(b) Segment structure

The Company undertook a realignment of its management structure along geographic regions in September 2019. As a result, effective September 2019,
the Company’s results are reported through the following operating segments: United States and Rest of World. Prior period amounts contained in these
consolidated financial statements have been adjusted to conform to the new segment presentation. Refer to Note 29 for additional information.

(o) Basis of consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, and all entities in which the Company has a controlling voting
interest or is the primary beneficiary of a variable interest as of and for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2020, December 31, 2019 and December 31,
2018. The Company assesses control under the variable interest entity (“VIE”) model to determine whether the Company is the primary beneficiary of that
entity’s operations. If an entity is not deemed to be a VIE, the Company consolidates the entity if the Company has a controlling voting interest.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Company. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
Investments in which the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence over the operating and financial policies of the investee, but does not
have control, are accounted for under the equity method of accounting. The Company consolidates the financial results of the following entities, which the
Company controls:

Subsidiaries Jurisdiction of incorporation Incorporation date Ownership interest @
Cronos Israel G.S. Cultivation Ltd.? Israel February 4, 2018 70%
Cronos Israel G.S. Manufacturing Ltd.?) Israel September 4, 2018 90%
Cronos Israel G.S. Store Ltd.? Israel June 28, 2018 90%
Cronos Israel G.S. Pharmacy Ltd.® Israel February 15, 2018 90%

O These Israeli entities are collectively referred to as “Cronos Israel.”

@) “Ownership interest” is defined as the proportionate share of net income to which the Company is entitled; equity interest may differ from ownership interest as described herein.
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In the consolidated statements of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss), the net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) are attributed
to the equity holders of the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Non-controlling interests in the equity of Cronos Israel are presented separately
in the shareholders’ equity (deficit) section of the consolidated balance sheets and consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity (deficit). All
intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated upon consolidation.

(d) Use of estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates, judgments and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Significant estimates and assumptions
include, among other things, valuation of derivative liabilities, fair value of assets and liabilities assumed in business combinations, impairment of
goodwill, inventory write-downs, valuation allowance on deferred income tax assets and uncertain tax liabilities. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

(e) Revenue recognition

The Company’s contracts with customers for the sale of dried cannabis, cannabis oil, cannabinoid-derived products and U.S. hemp-derived personal care
products consist of one performance obligation. The Company has concluded that revenue from the sale of these products should be recognized at the point
in time when control is transferred to the customer, which is on shipment or delivery, depending on the contract. Revenue is recognized at the transaction
price, which is the amount of consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods to a customer.

Net revenue before excise taxes from sale of goods, as presented in the consolidated statements of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss),
represents revenue from the sale of goods less expected price discounts, and allowances for customer returns. Net revenue before excise taxes excludes
excise taxes, which the Company pays as principal and excludes duties and taxes collected on behalf of third parties. Excise taxes are a production tax
classified as government remittances payable, which when applicable, become payable when a product is delivered to the customer and are not directly
related to the value of revenue.

The Company treats shipping and handling activities as a fulfillment cost, classified as cost of sales. Accordingly, the Company accrues all fulfillment costs
related to the shipping and handling of consumer goods at the time of shipment. Within the Company's Rest of World segment, dried cannabis sales outside
of Canada may include profit sharing arrangements with distributors which give rise to variable consideration. If the consideration in a contract includes a
variable amount, the Company estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods to the customer.
The variable consideration is estimated as the most likely amount, based on the Company’s historical information, at contract inception.

The Company’s payment terms vary by customer and product type. For individual consumer sales, payment is due prior to the transfer of control.

The Company elected to treat the costs incurred to obtain a contract, primarily related to sales commissions, as an expense in the period incurred and not an
asset to be capitalized, as the amortization period of the related asset would be less than one year. Accordingly, the Company will expense the costs to
obtain a contract in the period incurred.

) Investments
Variable interest entities (“VIE”)

A VIE is an entity having either a total equity investment that is insufficient to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support or
equity investors at risk that lack the ability to control the entity’s activities. Variable interests are investments or other interests that will absorb portions of a
VIE’s expected losses or receive portions of the VIE’s expected residual returns. The Company evaluates whether it is the primary beneficiary of each VIE
it identifies on an ongoing basis and considers the impact of any reconsideration events. The primary beneficiary is the party that has both the power to
direct the activities that most significantly impact the VIE and holds a variable interest that could potentially be significant to the VIE. To make this
determination the Company considers both quantitative and qualitative factors regarding the nature, size and form of its involvement with the VIE. The
Company consolidates the VIE when it is determined that it is the primary beneficiary of the VIE.

Equity method investments

The Company accounts for investments in companies over which it has the ability to exercise significant influence but does not hold a controlling financial
interest, using the equity method. Under the equity method, the Company records its proportionate share of income or losses in the consolidated statements
of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). If the current fair value of an investment falls below its carrying amount, this may indicate that an
impairment loss should be recorded. Any impairment losses recognized cannot be reversed in subsequent periods.
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(g) Inventory

Inventory is comprised of raw materials, finished goods and work-in-progress such as pre-harvested cannabis plants, by-products to be extracted, oils, gel
caps, tinctures, and boxes. The costs of growing cannabis, including but not limited to labor, utilities, nutrition and irrigation, are capitalized into inventory
until the time of harvest.

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value, determined using weighted average cost. Cost includes expenditures directly related to
manufacturing and distribution of the products. Primary costs include consumables (insect control, fertilizers, soil), packaging, shipping, direct labor,
overhead, supplies and small tools, and the depreciation of manufacturing equipment and production facilities determined at normal capacity.
Manufacturing overhead and related expenses include salaries, wages, employee benefits, rent, utilities, security, and property taxes.

Net realizable value is defined as the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal
and transportation. At the end of each reporting period, the Company performs an assessment of inventory obsolescence to measure inventory at the lower
of cost and net realizable value. Factors considered in the determination of obsolescence include slow-moving or non-marketable products. During the year
ended December 31, 2020, we incurred significant inventory write-downs driven by pricing pressures in the marketplace and will continue assessing
pricing pressures on the value of inventory at the end of each reporting period. See Note 5.

(h) Definite life intangible assets

Intangible assets are recorded at cost less any accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets acquired through a business
combination are measured at fair value at the acquisition date.

The Company capitalizes certain costs incurred in connection with its enterprise software, which include external direct costs of materials and services
consumed in developing or obtaining internal-use software, payroll and payroll-related costs for employees who are directly associated with and who
devote time to the development of the software for the function intended. All other costs are expensed as incurred.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives using the following methods and rates:

Method Rate
Software Straight-line 5 years
Enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) software Straight-line 5 years
Health Canada licenses Straight-line Useful life of corresponding facilities
Israeli codes Straight-line Useful life of corresponding facilities

O The preliminary licenses granted to Kibbutz Gan Shmuel (the Cronos Israel joint venture partner) by the Medical Cannabis Unit of the Israeli Ministry of Health in early 2017 (the “Israeli

codes”) were transferred by non-controlling interests to Cronos Israel in exchange for equity interests in the Cronos Israel entities specified above.
Amortization begins when assets become available for use. The estimated useful life, amortization method, and rate are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.
i) Property, plant & equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is computed using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Rate
Building 15 to 25 years
Furniture and equipment 5to 7 years
Computer equipment 5 years
Leasehold improvements Lesser of term of lease and useful life
Equipment under finance lease Lesser of term of lease and useful life
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When assets are disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the respective accounts and any related gain or loss is recognized.
Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. Significant expenditures, which increase productivity or extend the useful life of the asset, are
capitalized.

Interest incurred relating to construction or expansion of buildings is capitalized to construction in progress. The Company ceases the capitalization of
interest when construction activities are substantially completed and the facility is available for use. At this point, construction in progress is transferred to
the appropriate asset class. Available for use is defined as the point at which the related building receives the requisite regulatory licenses to (i) possess
cannabis, (ii) obtain dried cannabis, fresh cannabis, cannabis plants or cannabis plant seeds by cultivating, propagating and harvesting cannabis, and (iii)
produce cannabis, other than obtaining it by cultivating, propagating, or harvesting. Depreciation commences at the point the assets are available for use.

G) Leases

The Company enters into leases in the normal course of business, primarily for the land-use rights, office premises, and equipment used in the production
of its products. At the inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. The Company performs an analysis
over the classification of the lease agreement as either an operating lease or finance lease.

A right-of-use asset and the related lease obligation associated with the lease are recorded at the inception of the lease. The right-of-use asset’s recorded
amount is based on the present value of future lease payments over the lease term at the commencement date plus any initial direct costs incurred. If the
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable for the Company’s operating leases, an incremental borrowing rate is generally used based on
information available at the lease commencement date to determine the present value of future lease payments. Subsequent changes to these lease payments
due to rate updates are recorded as lease expense in the period incurred. Leases with a term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the balance sheet as a
lease.

The right-of-use asset is subject to impairment testing whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of the asset may not be
recoverable. The leased asset is amortized over the shorter of the lease term or its estimated useful life if title does not transfer to the Company, while the
leased asset is depreciated in accordance with the Company’s depreciation policy if the title is to eventually transfer to the Company.

The Company’s lease agreements generally exclude non-lease components. As a result, non-lease components are accounted for separately for all classes of
assets and expensed as incurred. In addition, the Company’s lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive
covenants. For finance leases, from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term,
the right-of-use asset is amortized on a straight-line basis and the interest expense is recognized on the lease liability using the effective interest method.
For operating leases, lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease and presented as a single charge in the consolidated
statements of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss).

(k) Impairment of long-lived assets

The Company reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not
be recoverable. The Company groups assets at the lowest level for which cash flows are separately identifiable, referred to as an asset group. The Company
prepares projected undiscounted cash flow analyses for each asset or asset group. If the sum of the undiscounted cash flow is less than the carrying value of
the asset or asset group, an impairment loss is recognized equal to the excess of the carrying value over the fair value, if any. Impairment losses on assets
held for sale are based on the fair value, less costs to sell.

Goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets are not amortized. Goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets are reviewed for impairment annually or more
frequently when events or changes in circumstances indicate that fair value of the reporting unit has been reduced to less than its carrying value. The
Company performs an impairment test annually in the fourth quarter by comparing the fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying amount, including
goodwill. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill is not considered to be impaired. An impairment charge would be
recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value. The Company determined that it has two reporting units:
the U.S. reporting unit and the Rest of World reporting unit.
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a Repurposing charges

The Company’s repurposing charges primarily include employee termination benefits and refurbishment costs. The recognition of repurposing charges
requires the Company make certain judgments and estimates regarding the nature, timing, and amount of costs associated with the planned activity. To the
extent actual results differ from estimates and assumptions, a revision to the estimated liabilities, requiring the recognition of additional repurposing
charges or the reduction of liabilities already recognized may be required. At the end of each reporting period, the Company evaluates the remaining
accrued balances to ensure these balances are properly stated and the utilization of the reserves are for their intended purpose in accordance with planned
activity.

(m) Capital stock

Capital stock is presented at the fair value at the time of issuance of the shares issued. Costs related to the issuance of shares are reported in equity, net of
tax, as a deduction from the issuance proceeds.

(n) Foreign currency

The Company’s functional currency is the Canadian dollar (“C$”). Prior to the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company reported its financial results in
C$, however following the change in the Company’s status from foreign private issuer to a United States (“U.S.”) domestic issuer, the financial results are
now reported in U.S dollars (“dollars” or “$”). Functional currencies for the entities in these consolidated financial statements are their respective local
currencies, including C$, Australian dollars (“A$”) and Israeli New Shekel (“ILS”). The assets and liabilities of the Company’s foreign operations are
translated into dollars at the exchange rate in effect as of December 31, 2020 and 2019. Transactions affecting the shareholders’ equity (deficit) are
translated at historical foreign exchange rates. The consolidated statements of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) and the consolidated
statements of cash flows of the Company’s foreign operations are translated into dollars by applying the average foreign exchange rate in effect for the
reporting period. The cumulative translation adjustments (“CTA”) resulting from translating the consolidated financial statements into their dollar reporting
currency are recorded in other comprehensive income (loss).

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency by applying the foreign exchange rate in effect at
the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated using the average foreign exchange rate for the reporting period. Realized and unrealized
foreign currency differences are recognized in the consolidated statements of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss).

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transaction and are
recorded in other comprehensive income. Exchange differences arising from operating transactions are recorded in net income for the period.

(0) Income taxes

The Company uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes, under which deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to the differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to be in effect when such assets and liabilities are recovered or settled. The
effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the year that includes the enactment date. The Company determines
deferred tax assets including net operating losses and liabilities, based on temporary differences between the book and tax bases of assets and liabilities.

A valuation allowance is established to reduce some or all net deferred tax assets to amounts that are more likely than not to be realized. The Company
considers all available evidence, both positive and negative including past operating results, estimates of future taxable income, and the feasibility of tax
planning strategies, in assessing the need for a valuation allowance.

The Company has a full valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets, and has concluded, based on the weight of all available evidence, that it is
more likely than not that the net deferred tax assets will not be realized, primarily due to the historical net operating losses. The valuation allowance against
the net deferred tax assets does not in any way impact the Company’s ability to use future tax deductions such as the Company’s net operating loss
carryforwards; rather, the valuation allowance indicates, according to the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification 740, Income Taxes, it is more
likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The valuation allowance that was established will be maintained until there is sufficient
positive evidence to conclude that it is more likely than not that the net deferred tax assets will be realized. The Company’s income tax expense for future
periods will be reduced to the extent of corresponding decreases in our valuation allowance. There is uncertainty regarding any future realization of the
benefit by the Company of all or part of our net deferred tax assets.

81



Cronos Group Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except for gram and share amounts)

Table of Contents

Judgment is required to determine the recognition and measurement attributes prescribed in the accounting guidance for uncertainty in income taxes. The
Company uses a two-step approach for evaluating uncertain tax positions. Step one, recognition, requires us to determine if the weight of available
evidence indicates that a tax position is more likely than not to be sustained upon audit, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if
any. If a tax position is not considered “more likely than not” to be sustained, no benefits of the position are recognized. If we determine that a position is
“more likely than not” to be sustained, then we proceed to step two, measurement, which is based on the largest amount of benefit which is more likely
than not to be realized on effective settlement. This process involves estimating our actual current tax exposure, including assessing the risks associated
with income tax audits, together with assessing temporary differences resulting from the different treatment of items for tax and financial reporting
purposes. If actual results differ from our estimates, our net operating loss and credit carryforwards could be materially impacted in the period which such
determination is made.

The Company recognizes uncertain income tax positions at the largest amount that is more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination by the relevant
taxing authority. An uncertain income tax position will not be recognized if it has less than a 50% likelihood of being sustained. Recognition or
measurement is reflected in the period in which the likelihood changes. Any interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax liabilities are presented
within income tax expense in the consolidated statements of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). Accrued interest and penalties are
included in accounts payable and other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

(p) Share-based compensation

As described in more detail below, the Company has five share-based compensation plans under which awards have been made: the 2020 Omnibus Plan (as
defined below), the 2018 Stock Option Plan (as defined below), the 2015 Stock Option Plan (as defined below), the Employment Inducement Award Plan
#1 (the “Employment Inducement Award Plan”) and a cash-settled deferred share unit (“DSU”) plan for non-executive directors.

Share-based compensation consists of equity-settled share-based awards such as stock options and restricted share units (“RSUs”) that are issued to eligible
employees, non-executive directors, and non-employees.

Cash-settled deferred share units (“DSUs”) that are issued to non-executive directors are recorded in accounts payable and other liabilities with the fair
value adjustment recorded in other income (loss).

Equity instruments granted are initially measured at fair value on the grant date. The fair value of the stock options are determined using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model. The fair value of RSUs and DSUs are determined using the market price. This is recognized on a straight-line basis in the
consolidated statements of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) over the vesting period for employees, and over the contractual term for
non-employees. The fair value of the payout of cash-settled DSUs is determined at each reporting date based on the fair value of the Company’s common
shares at the reporting date and is recorded within other liabilities.

The related costs for all equity-settled share-based awards are reflected in additional paid-in capital until the awards are exercised. Upon exercise, shares
are issued and the amount previously reflected in the additional paid-in capital is, along with any proceeds paid upon exercise, credited to share capital.
Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant, and the Company revises these estimates in subsequent periods if there is a difference in actual forfeitures and
the estimates.

(q) Net earnings (loss) per share

The Company presents basic and diluted net earnings (loss) per share data for its common shares. Basic net earnings (loss) per share is calculated by
dividing the profit or loss attributable to common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the
period. Diluted net earnings (loss) per share is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to common shareholders and the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding for the effects of all potentially dilutive common shares that are issuable upon exercise of warrants, stock options
and the Altria Warrant (as defined below) as well as the vesting of RSUs outstanding.

(r) Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments

Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of cash and highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash with original
maturities of three months or less. Cash and cash equivalents include amounts held in dollars, C$ and ILS and security deposits.
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Short-term investments consist of debt securities that (i) have original maturities of greater than three months and (ii) the Company has the ability to
convert into cash within one year. Short-term investments are classified as held-to-maturity. Our investments classified as held-to-maturity are recorded at
cost. Interest earned on short-term investments is recorded in other receivables on the consolidated balance sheet and interest income on the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income (loss). Cash inflows and outflows related to the purchase and maturity of short-term investments are classified as
investing activities in the Company’s consolidated statements of cash flows.

(s) Derivative liabilities

For financial instruments that are not designated as hedging instruments or do not qualify for hedge accounting, changes in fair value are recorded in the
consolidated statements of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) each period. The Company does not enter into or hold derivative financial
instruments for trading or speculative purposes. Derivative liabilities are initially recognized at fair value at the date on which the derivative contract was
entered into. Any attributable transaction costs are recognized in net income (loss) as incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivative liabilities are
measured at fair value at each reporting date until settlement with the re-measurement gain or loss being recognized immediately in comprehensive income.

For more details on derivative liabilities consisting of the Altria Warrant, Pre-emptive Rights, and certain Top-up Rights, see Note 14.
(t) Fair value measurements

The carrying value of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, other receivables, loan receivable, account payables and other
liabilities and holdbacks payable approximate fair value, given their short-term nature.

Cronos Group uses a fair value hierarchy, which gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities,
noted as Level 1 measurements, and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs, noted as Level 3 measurements. The following are the three levels of inputs
used to measure fair value:

+ Level 1 — valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

* Level 2 — valuation techniques based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly.

»  Level 3 — valuation techniques using the inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.

The Company’s policy for determining when transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy occur is based on the date of the event or changes in
circumstances that caused the transfer.

(u) Acquisitions

The accounting basis for each acquisition is dependent on whether the integrated set of assets and activities acquired constitutes a business. A business
consists of inputs and processes applied to those inputs that have the ability to contribute to the creation of outputs. The cost of acquisition is allocated to
the assets acquired on a relative fair value basis. No goodwill is recognized in an asset acquisition. If it is determined that a business is not acquired, the
transaction is accounted for as an asset acquisition and the relevant values are finalized prior to the next reporting period. On the other hand, when a
business is acquired, the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 805 is applied, which requires
that once control of the business is obtained, the assets and liabilities of the acquired business, including amounts attributable to non-controlling interests,
be recorded at their respective fair values as of the date of acquisition. Any excess of purchase consideration over the net fair value of tangible and
identified intangible assets acquired less liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill. The costs of business acquisitions, including fees for accounting, legal,
professional consulting and valuation specialists, are expensed as incurred. Purchase price allocations may be preliminary and, during the measurement
period not to exceed one year from the date of acquisition, changes in assumptions and estimates that result in adjustments to the fair value of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded in the period the adjustments are determined.

For business combinations achieved in stages, the Company’s previously held interest in the acquiree is remeasured at its subsequent acquisition date fair
value, with the resulting gain or loss recorded in the consolidated statements of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). For a pre-existing
relationship between the Company and acquiree that is not extinguished on the business combination, such a relationship is considered effectively settled as
part of the business combination even if it is not legally cancelled. At the acquisition date, it becomes an intercompany relationship and is eliminated upon
consolidation.
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Contingent consideration in a business combination is initially measured at fair value. Subsequently all liability classified as contingent consideration is
remeasured at fair value at each reporting period until the contingency is resolved and any change in the fair value following the date of acquisition is
recorded in the consolidated statements of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). All equity classified as contingent consideration is not
remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

) Assets held for sale and discontinued operations

In accordance with ASC 205-20 Presentation of Financial Statements: Discontinued Operations, a disposal of a component of an entity or a group of
components of an entity is required to be reported as discontinued operations if the disposal represents a strategic shift that has (or will have) a major effect
on an entity’s operations and financial results when the components of an entity meet the criteria in paragraph 205-20-45-10. In the period in which the
component meets held-for-sale or discontinued operations criteria the major current assets, other assets, current liabilities, and noncurrent liabilities shall be
reported as components of total assets and liabilities separate from those balances of the continuing operations. At the same time, the results of all
discontinued operations, less applicable income taxes (benefit), shall be reported as components of net income (loss) separate from the net income (loss) of
continuing operations.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, OGBC, formerly included within the Rest of World segment, met the criteria for “held-for-sale”. As a result, the
Company has reflected amounts relating to OGBC as a disposal group classified as held-for-sale on the consolidated balance sheet and included as part of
discontinued operations on the consolidated statement of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) for all periods presented in this Annual
Report. OGBC is no longer included in the segment reporting following the reclassification to discontinued operations. The discontinued operations of
OGBC are described further in Note 30.

3. New Accounting Pronouncements

(a) Adoption of new accounting pronouncements

On January 1, 2020, the Company adopted ASU No. 2018-13, Disclosure Framework — Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value
Measurement (Topic 820) (“ASU No. 2018-13”). ASU No. 2018-13 adds, modifies, and removes certain fair value measurement disclosure requirements.
The adoption of ASU No. 2018-13 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

On January 1, 2020, the Company adopted ASU No. 2018-15, Intangibles — Goodwill and Other Internal-use-software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer’s
Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a Service Contract (“ASU No. 2018-15"). ASU No. 2018-15
amends current guidance to align the accounting for costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for capitalizing
costs associated with developing or obtaining internal-use software. The guidance in ASU No. 2018-15 is effective for annual and interim periods
beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption permitted. The adoption of ASU No. 2018-15 did not have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

On January 1, 2020, the Company adopted ASU No. 2017-04, Intangibles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 350) — Simplifying the Test for Goodwill
Impairment (“ASU No. 2017-04”). ASU No. 2017-04 eliminates step 2 from the goodwill impairment test and instead requires an entity to measure the
impairment of goodwill assigned to a reporting unit if the carrying value of assets and liabilities assigned to the reporting unit, including goodwill, exceeds
the reporting unit’s fair value. The guidance in ASU No. 2017-04 is effective for annual and interim goodwill tests completed by the Company beginning
on January 1, 2020. The adoption of ASU No. 2017-04 was applied prospectively and the Company follows a one-step model for goodwill impairment.

(b) New accounting pronouncements not yet adopted

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes (“ASU No. 2019-12”). ASU
No. 2019-12 eliminates certain exceptions and simplifies the application of U.S. GAAP-related changes in enacted tax laws or rates and employee stock
option plans. ASU No. 2019-12 is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2020. Early adoption is permitted. The Company
has evaluated the impact of ASU No. 2019-12 and the adoption will not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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In January 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued ASU No. 2020-01, Investments-Equity Securities (Topic 321), Investments-Equity
Method and Joint Ventures (Topic 323), and Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815) (“ASU No. 2020-01”). ASU No. 2020-01 clarifies the interaction of
accounting for the transition into and out of the equity method. The new standard also clarifies the accounting for measuring certain purchased options and
forward contracts to acquire investments. The guidance in ASU No. 2020-01 is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15,
2020. The Company has evaluated the impact of ASU No. 2020-01 and does not expect the adoption to have a material impact to the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, Debt —Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging —
Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40) (“ASU No. 2020-06”). ASU No. 2020-06 simplifies the accounting for certain financial instruments
with characteristics of liabilities and equity, including convertible instruments and contracts on an entity’s own equity. ASU No 2020-06 is part of the
FASB’s simplification initiative, which aims to reduce unnecessary complexity in U.S. GAAP. ASU No 2020-06 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2021, and interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of ASU No. 2020-06 on its consolidated
financial statements and related disclosures.

4. Revenues from Contracts with Customers

Cronos Group disaggregates net revenues based on product type. For further discussion, see Note 29. Receivables were $8,928 at December 31, 2020
(December 31, 2019 — $4,638). The Company recorded a current expected credit loss allowance of $74 as of December 31, 2020 (December 31, 2019 —
$136).

Cronos Group offers discounts to customers for prompt payment and calculates cash discounts as a percentage of the list price based on historical
experience and agreed-upon payment terms. Cronos Group records an allowance for cash discounts, which is included as a contra-asset against receivables
on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

Revenue is measured net of returns. As a result, the Company is required to estimate the amount of returns based on the historical data by customer and
product type, adjusted for forward-looking information. This is included as a provision against accounts receivable on the Company’s consolidated balance
sheets. The Company estimates sales returns based principally on historical volume and return rates, as a reduction to revenues. The difference between
actual sales and estimated sales returns is recorded in the period in which the actual amounts become known. These differences, if any, have not had a
material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. Upon return, products can be extracted from dried cannabis, resold, or destroyed
depending on the nature of the product. The Company has assessed that the amount recoverable is immaterial.

5. Inventory

Inventory is comprised of the following items:

As of December 31,

2020 2019

Raw materials $ 11,489 $ 2,469
Work-in-progress — dry cannabis 20,520 11,538
Work-in-progress — cannabis extracts 5,758 17,975
Finished goods — dry cannabis 4,894 1,798
Finished goods — cannabis extracts 1,011 2,624
Supplies and consumables 330 1,639

Total $ 44,002 $ 38,043

Inventory is written down for any obsolescence such as slow-moving or non-marketable products, or when the net realizable value of inventory is less than
the carrying value. For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded write-downs related to inventory of $26,055 (December 31, 2019 —
$29,173, December 31, 2018 - $nil) driven by pricing pressures in the Canadian marketplace. As of December 31, 2020, an inventory reserve of $1,229
was recorded (December 31, 2019 — $nil) in cost of sales.
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6. Investments

Variable Interest Entities

The Company holds variable interests in Cronos Growing Company Inc. (“Cronos GrowCo”), Natuera S.a.rl (“Natuera”), MedMen Canada Inc.
(“MedMen Canada”) and Cannasoul Lab Services Ltd. (“CLS”).

Cronos GrowCo is a joint venture incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act (“CBCA”) on June 14, 2018 with the objective of building a
cannabis production greenhouse, applying for cannabis licenses under the Cannabis Act (Canada), and growing, cultivating, extracting, producing and
selling cannabis in accordance with such licenses. Cronos Group holds variable interests in Cronos GrowCo through its ownership of 50% of Cronos
GrowCo’s common shares and senior secured debt in Cronos GrowCo. Cronos GrowCo’s economic performance is driven by the quantity and strains of
cannabis grown. The joint venture partners mutually determine the quantity and strains of cannabis grown.

MedMen Canada is a joint venture incorporated under the CBCA on March 13, 2018, with the objective of the retail sale and marketing of cannabis
products in Canada. MedMen Canada holds the exclusive license to the MedMen brand in Canada for a minimum term of 20 years. Cronos holds variable
interests in MedMen Canada through its ownership of 50% of MedMen Canada’s common shares and other subordinated debt in the entity. MedMen
Canada’s economic performance is driven by the quantity and strains of cannabis sold. Subject to applicable law, the joint venture partners mutually
determine the quantity and strains of cannabis to be sold in MedMen Canada’s retail stores, if and when stores are opened.

Natuera is a joint venture registered in Luxembourg with the objective of cultivating and commercializing medical cannabis to serve the export market.
Cronos holds variable interests in Natuera through its ownership of 50% of Natuera’s common shares and other debt in the entity. Natuera’s economic
performance is driven by the quantity and strains of cannabis to be grown. The joint venture partners mutually determine the quantity and strains of
cannabis grown.

The Company’s investments in Cronos GrowCo, Natuera and MedMen Canada are exposed to economic variability from each entity’s performance;
however, the Company does not consolidate the entities as it does not have the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact each entities’
economic performance. Thus, Cronos Group is not considered the primary beneficiary of each entity. These investments are accounted for as equity method
investments classified as “Investments in equity accounted investees” in the consolidated balance sheets.

CLS is a wholly owned subsidiary of Cannasoul Analytics Ltd., incorporated with the purpose of establishing a commercial cannabis analytical testing
laboratory located on the premises of Cronos Israel (the “Cannasoul Collaboration”). Cronos Israel will advance ILS 8,297 (approximately $2,574) by a
non-recourse loan to CLS over a period of two years from April 1, 2020 for the capital and operating expenditures of the laboratory. The loan will bear
interest at 3.5% annually. Cronos Israel will receive 70% of the profits of the laboratory until such time as it has recovered 150% of the amounts advanced
to CLS, after which time it will receive 50% of the laboratory profits. As a result, the Company is exposed to economic variability from CLS’s
performance. The Company does not consolidate CLS as it does not have the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the entity’s
economic performance; thus, the Company is not considered the primary beneficiary of the entity. The carrying amount of the non-recourse loan is
recorded under loans receivable and the full loan amount, ILS 8,297, represents the Company’s maximum potential exposure to losses through the

Cannasoul Collaboration. See Note 8 for further information regarding loans receivable.
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(a) Equity Method Investments

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of the investments in associates and joint ventures is as follows:

Carrying Amount

Ownership interest December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Cronos Australia® 31% $ — (346)
Cronos GrowCo® 50% 19,235 1,501
Natuera 50% — (598)
$ 19,235 $ 557

0 On October 25, 2019, Cronos Australia issued 40 million new shares in an initial public offering at an offering price of A$0.50 per share. The Company’s ownership in Cronos Australia
decreased from 50% to 31% on November 7, 2019 when Cronos Australia began trading on the Australian Securities Exchange. This resulted in a reconsideration event, which required
the reassessment of the Company’s variable interest entity conclusion. Upon reconsideration, the Company determined that the entity was no longer a variable interest entity as of
December 31, 2019 and is now reported under the equity method.

@) On September 25, 2020, the Company and 2645485 Ontario Inc. (“Mucci”), the other joint venture partner of Cronos GrowCo, agreed to capitalize certain historical advances made by
each shareholder to Cronos GrowCo. Total aggregate gross advances to Cronos GrowCo, excluding any amounts advanced by the Company to Cronos GrowCo under the GrowCo Credit
Facility, were C$49,300 ($37,010), of which the Company advanced 50% and Mucci advanced the remaining 50% for an amount of C$24,650 ($18,505) each. As a result, the Company
transferred the advances of C$24,650 ($18,505) to investments in equity accounted investees in respect of Cronos GrowCo.

The Company’s share of net earnings (losses) from equity investments accounted for under the equity method of accounting as of and for the years ended
December 31:

2020 2019 2018
Whistler Medicinal Marijuana Company (“Whistler”)® $ — % 29 $ 178
Cronos Australia (363) (1,101) (588)
Cronos GrowCo (1,537) (167) (100)
MedMen Canada — 35 (213)
Natuera® (2,610) (805) —
$ (4,510) $ (2,009) $ (723)

0 Whistler was incorporated in British Columbia, Canada and is a license holder under the Cannabis Act (Canada) with production facilities in British Columbia, Canada. The Company

fully divested its investment in Whistler during 2019. See Note 7.

@) The Company’s share of accumulated net losses in excess of its equity investment in Natuera has been applied as a loss allowance on the loan receivable. See Note 8.

The following is a summary of financial information for the Company’s equity method investments as of and for the year ended December 31:

2020 2019 2018
Current assets $ 19,126 $ 23,200 $ 7,121
Non-current assets 122,099 76,212 27,129
Current liabilities 24,223 52,796 3,746
Non-current liabilities 76,313 33,189 13,201
Revenue 367 52 5,344
Gross profit (631) — —
Net loss (11,453) (2,048) (874)
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(b) Advances to Joint Ventures
MedMen Cronos _ Cronos
Canada® GrowCo™® Australia‘ Natuera Total
As of January 1, 2020 $ 471 % 18,966 $ — 3 — 5 19,437
Transfer to investments in equity accounted investees(® — (18,505) — — (18,505)
Interest on advances — — 37 — 37
Advances to joint ventures recovered from (applied to) carrying amount — — (38) — (38)
of investments
Effect from foreign exchange 4) (461) 1 — (464)
As of December 31, 2020 $ 467 $ —  $ — 3 — % 467
MedMen Cronos _ Cronos
Canada® GrowCo™ Australia® Natuera Total
As of January 1, 2019 $ 1,244 $ 2970 $ 475 $ — 3 4,689
Advances (repayments) (852) 15,494 274 219 15,135
Advances to joint ventures recovered from (applied to) carrying amount 35 22 (779) (224) (946)
of investments
Effect from foreign exchange 44 480 30 5 559
As of December 31, 2019 $ 471  $ 18,966 $ — 3 —  $ 19,437

@ Advance is unsecured, non-interest bearing, and there are no terms of repayment.

@) On September 25, 2020, the Company and Mucci agreed to capitalize historical advances made by each shareholder to Cronos GrowCo. The Company capitalized C$24,650 ($18,505)
through a transfer of aggregate gross advances from advances to joint ventures to investments in equity accounted investees in respect of Cronos GrowCo. Refer to footnote (ii) to the
first table set forth under Note 6(a).

(iif) A$1,500 is governed by an unsecured loan bearing interest at a rate of 12% per annum, calculated and compounded daily, in arrears, on the amounts advanced from the date of each

advance. The loan is due on January 1, 2022. If the loan is overdue, the outstanding amount bears interest at an additional 2% per annum.

The Company determined that the maximum exposure to loss on variable interest entities is limited to the Company’s initial investment, advances and/or
loans for each variable interest entity. The following is a summary of the maximum exposure to loss for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:

O;:"l::::;ip Other Net Assets (Liabilities) Maximum Exposure to Loss

Cronos Australia 31% $ 8,976 $ 1,530
Cronos GrowCo 50% 109,329 21,125
MedMen Canada 50% — 467
Natuera 50% (6,849) 8,154
Balance as of December 31, 2020 $ 111,456  $ 31,276
Oi‘:lltl:: ::tip Other Net Assets (Liabilities) Maximum Exposure to Loss

Cronos Australia 31% $ 10,900 $ 1,355
Cronos GrowCo 50% 3,091 20,700
MedMen Canada 50% (199) 642
Natuera 50% (358) 4,888
Balance as of December 31, 2019 $ 13,434 $ 27,585

88



Cronos Group Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except for gram and share amounts)

Table of Contents

7. Other Investments

Other investments consist of investments in common shares and warrants of several companies in the cannabis industry. As of December 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2019, the Company did not hold any other investments. The gains and losses on sale of other investments are classified as fair value through
net income (loss).

The gains (losses) recognized in net income (loss) related to other investments were as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Gain recognized in net income (loss)

Canopy Growth Corporation (“Canopy”)® $ —  $ 51 % 166
Vivo Cannabis (“Vivo”) - shares( — — (173)
Vivo Cannabis - share warrants( — — 171
Whistler@d — 15,530 —
Aurora Cannabis Inc. (“Aurora”)®™) 4,789 696 —

$ 4,789 $ 16,277 $ 164

@

(i)

(ii)

)

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company sold all remaining 11,062 common shares of Canopy (2018 — 18,436 common shares) for net proceeds of $355 (2018 — $530)
recorded as a gain on disposal of other investments in other income (expense). Upon adoption of ASU 2016-01 during the year ended December 31, 2018, the gains and losses on the
Canopy investment were reclassified from fair value through other comprehensive income to fair value through net income.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company exercised 182,927 share warrants for aggregate consideration of $87 for additional shares of Vivo. During the year ended
December 31, 2018, the Company then sold all 182,927 shares of Vivo for proceeds of $216. Upon adoption of ASU 2016-01 during the year ended December 31, 2018, the gains and
losses on the Vivo Cannabis shares investment were reclassified from fair value through other comprehensive income to fair value through net income.

On March 4, 2019, the Company sold all 2,563 shares of Whistler, representing approximately 19.0% of Whistler’s issued and outstanding common shares, to Aurora, in connection with
Aurora’s acquisition of Whistler (the “Whistler Transaction”). As a result of the closing of the Whistler Transaction, the Company received 2,524,341 Aurora common shares. During the
year ended December 31, 2019, the Company sold all 2,524,341 common shares of Aurora, for gross proceeds of $19,259. A gain on disposal of other investments was recorded in other
income (expense) as a result.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, in connection with the achievement of certain milestones related to the Whistler Transaction, the Company received 980,662 common shares of
Aurora. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company sold all 980,662 of the Aurora common shares, for gross proceeds of approximately $4,789 (C$6,404), recorded as a
gain on disposal of other investments in other income (expense).
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8. Loans Receivable

As of
December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Current portion
Natuera Series A Loan® $ 3,518 4,575
GrowCo Credit Facility® 3,137 —
Add: Accrued interest 428 89
Total current portion of loans receivable 7,083 4,664
Long term portion
GrowCo Credit Facility® 69,939 31,678
Mucci Promissory Notei) 13,324 12,587
Cannasoul Collaboration loan() 1,261 —
Add: Accrued interest 2,667 702
Total long-term portion of loans receivable 87,191 44,967
Total loans receivable $ 94,274 49,631

@

(i)

(i)

(iv)

On July 24, 2020, the Company and its joint venture partner entered into an amendment to the Series A Loan with Natuera to increase the principal amount of the Series A Loan by
$6,350, to an aggregate principal amount of the Series A Loan of $15,500, of which the Company has committed to fund 50% and its joint venture partner has committed to fund the
remaining 50%. Outstanding principal amounts continue to bear interest at a fixed annual rate of 5.67%. In December 2020, the Series A Loan was amended to extend its maturity date to
September 1, 2021 from March 1, 2021.

As of December 31, 2020, a current expected credit loss allowance of $685 was recorded against the Natuera Series A loan. A loss allowance of $3,024 was recorded against the Natuera
Series A Loan related to the Company’s share of net loss from Natuera in excess of the carrying value of the equity method investment. Refer to Note 6.

On August 23, 2019, the Company entered into a credit agreement with Cronos GrowCo in respect of a C$100,000 (approximately $78,430) secured non-revolving term loan credit
facility (the “GrowCo Credit Facility”). The GrowCo Credit Facility will mature on March 31, 2031 and will bear interest at varying rates based on the Canadian prime rate as announced
by the Bank of Montreal. Interest began to accrue as of the closing date of the GrowCo Credit Facility and is payable on a quarterly basis until maturity, except that any interest accrued
prior to March 31, 2021 will be payable not later than December 31, 2021. Repayment of principal will be made on a quarterly basis commencing on March 31, 2021. The GrowCo
Credit Facility is secured by substantially all present and after acquired property of Cronos GrowCo and its subsidiaries. Mucci, the other 50% shareholder of Cronos GrowCo, has
provided a limited recourse guarantee in favor of Cronos GrowCo, secured by Mucci’s shares in Cronos GrowCo. As of December 31, 2020, Cronos GrowCo had drawn C$95,150
($74,626) from the GrowCo Credit Facility. Subsequent to December 31, 2020, the terms of the GrowCo Credit Facility were amended, such that any interest accrued from April 1, 2021
to December 31, 2021 will be payable not later than December 31, 2022, and repayment of principal will be made on a quarterly basis commencing on March 31, 2022.

As of December 31, 2020, a current expected credit loss allowance of $1,470 was recorded against the GrowCo Credit Facility.

On June 28, 2019, the Company entered into a promissory note receivable agreement (the “Mucci Promissory Note”) for C$16,350 (approximately $12,823) with Mucci. The outstanding
principal amount of the Mucci Promissory Note bears interest at 3.95% annually and is due within 90 days of demand. The Company does not intend to demand the loan within 12
months. Interest accrued under the Mucci Promissory Note until July 1, 2021 is payable by way of capitalization on the principal amount and interest thereafter must be paid in cash on a
quarterly basis. The Mucci Promissory Note is secured by a general security agreement covering all the assets of Mucci. Subsequent to December 31, 2020, the terms of the Mucci
Promissory Note were amended, such that interest accrued under the Mucci Promissory Note until July 1, 2022, is payable by way of capitalization on the principal amount and interest
thereafter must be paid in cash on a quarterly basis.

As of December 31, 2020, a current expected credit loss allowance of $259 has been recorded against the Mucci Promissory Note.

On April 1, 2020, Cronos Israel entered into the Cannasoul Collaboration. Cronos Israel has agreed to advance approximately ILS 8,297 (approximately $2,574) by a non-recourse loan to
CLS over a period of two years for the capital and operating expenditures of the laboratory. The outstanding principal on the loan bears interest at 3.5% annually and will be repaid
through the profits generated from the Cannasoul Collaboration. For the year ended December 31, 2020, CLS has received ILS $4,148 (approximately $1,287).

As of December 31, 2020, a current expected credit loss allowance of $25 has been recorded against the Cannasoul Collaboration loan.
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9. Loans Payable

As of December 31, 2020, the Company did not have any loans payable. On January 23, 2019, the Company entered into a credit agreement with the
Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, as administrative agent and lender, and the Bank of Montreal, as lender, in respect of a C$65,000 ($48,715) secured
non-revolving term loan credit facility (the “Credit Facility”). The loan was guaranteed by the Company’s wholly owned Canadian subsidiaries and secured
by substantially all present and after-acquired property of the Company and its wholly owned Canadian subsidiaries. The Company used the funds
available under the Credit Facility to fully repay the construction loan payable, consisting of C$21,311 ($15,971) in loan principal and C$275 ($206) in
accrued interest and fees, calculated for the period from January 1, 2019 to January 22, 2019.

On March 8, 2019, the Credit Facility was fully repaid. In connection with the Credit Facility, the Company incurred financing costs of C$523 ($395)
which were expensed upon repayment of the Credit Facility.

10. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment, net consisted of the following:

As of December 31,

2020 2019
Cost

Land $ 3,197 $ 3,071
Building 158,586 149,690
Furniture and equipment 18,824 10,079
Computer equipment 710 526
Leasehold improvements 3,740 1,758
Construction in progress 20,837 3,569
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (18,295) (8,745)

Balance as of December 31 $ 187,599 % 159,948

Depreciation expense included in costs of sales relating to manufacturing equipment and production facilities for the year ended December 31, 2020 was
$3,447 (December 31, 2019 — $1,812; 2018 — $374). Depreciation expense included in operating expenses related to general office space and equipment for
the year ended December 31, 2020 was $2,058 (December 31, 2019 — $1,444; 2018 — $261). The remaining depreciation is included in inventory.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, there was no capitalized interest included in construction in progress (2019 — $nil; 2018 —-$89).

11. Intangible Assets and Goodwill

The ongoing restrictions and closures experienced by retail stores in the U.S. as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic have negatively impacted sales and
demand which has resulted in slower than expected revenue growth in the U.S. reporting unit. The Company expects the revenue growth and operating
results in the U.S. reporting unit to continue to be negatively impacted as the decrease in customer demand and retail closures are expected to continue as a
result of the pandemic. The Company performed an interim impairment test as of June 30, 2020 on the U.S. reporting unit, which holds the Redwood
goodwill, as well as the indefinite-lived intangible asset (Lord Jones™ brand) to determine whether the carrying amount of the reporting unit and intangible
asset exceeded their respective fair values. The Company reassessed its estimates and forecasts during the second quarter of 2020 to determine the fair
values of the reporting unit and intangible asset. The fair values were determined using a discounted cash flow method on the reporting unit and the relief-
from-royalty method on the Lord Jones™ brand. Significant inputs include discount rate, growth rates, and cash flow projections. Based on these
valuations, the carrying value exceeded the fair value resulting in an impairment on both the reporting unit as well as the Lord Jones™ brand.

The Company recorded $35,000 of impairment charges on the U.S. reporting unit and $5,000 of impairment charges on the Lord Jones™ brand during year
ended December 31, 2020.
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(a) Intangible assets

Intangible assets are comprised of the following items:

As of December 31, 2020

Weighted average
amortization period Accumulated
(in years) Cost amortization Impairment charges Net

Software 9 $ 610 $ 291) $ — 3 319
ERP system 5 3,955 (274) — 3,681
Health Canada licenses 17 7,526 (1,254) — 6,272
Lord Jones™ brand N/A 64,000 _ (5,000) 59,000
Trademarks N/A 148 — — 148
Israeli codes® 25 322 (22) — 300
$ 76,561  $ (1,841) $ (5,000) $ 69,720

® The Israeli codes were transferred by non-controlling interests to Cronos Israel in exchange for their equity interests in the Cronos Israel entities specified above.

Weighted average As of December 31, 2019
amortization period Accumulated
(in years) Cost amortization Net

Software B $ 541 $ 202) $ 339
Health Canada licenses 17 7,387 (821) 6,566
Lord Jones™ brand N/A 64,000 — 64,000
Trademarks N/A 36 _ 36
Israeli codes® 25 298 4) 294
$ 72,262  $ (1,027) % 71,235

0 The Israeli codes were transferred by non-controlling interests to Cronos Israel in exchange for their equity interests in the Cronos Israel entities specified above.

The aggregate amortization was $814 for the year ended December 31, 2020 (December 31, 2019 — $646; 2018 — $546). Intangible asset additions in 2020
primarily relate to the implementation of a new ERP system. Intangible asset additions in the year ended December 31, 2019 included the Lord Jones™
brand for $64 million. There were no material disposals of intangible assets in 2020 or 2019. The amortization expense for the next five years on intangible
assets in use is estimated to be as follows: 2021 — $1,047; 2022 — $998; 2023: $964; 2024 — $952; 2025 — $664.

(b) Goodwill

Effect of foreign
As of December 31, 2019 Additions Impairment charges exchange As of December 31, 2020
Peace Naturals $ 1,078 $ — 3 — 3 30 % 1,108
Redwood 213,414 — (35,000) — 178,414
$ 214,492 $ — 5 (35,000) $ 30 $ 179,522
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12. Leases

The Company has entered into leases primarily for the land-use rights, office premises and equipment used in the production of cannabis, U.S. hemp and
related products. The Company’s leases have terms which range from three years to six years, excluding land use rights, which generally extend to 15
years. These leases often include options to extend the term of the lease for up to 10 years. When it is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised,
the impact of the option is included in the lease term for purposes of determining total future lease payments.

Operating leases greater than one year are included in right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities. Finance leases are included in property, plant and

equipment on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet.

The Company’s finance leases were not material for any of the periods presented.

Lease cost
Operating lease cost
Short-term lease cost

Total lease cost

Weighted-average remaining lease term — operating leases
Weighted-average discount rate — operating leases

13. General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expense are comprised of the following items:

Salaries and wages
Professional and consulting
Office and general
Review costs related to restatement of 2019 interim financial statements®
Current expected credit loss
Other
Total

(0]

As of December 31,

2020 2019
$ 2,479 $ 760
60 373
$ 2,539 $ 1,133
6 5
8.86 % 12.00 %
Year ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018
26,742  $ 17,829 $ 4,240
15,135 15,369 5,242
17,845 13,407 3,713
9,688 — —
2,512 136 —
8,607 2,530 154
80,529 $ 49,271 $ 13,349

These financial statement review costs include costs related to the restatement of the Company’s 2019 interim financial statements, costs related to the Company’s responses to requests for

information from various regulatory authorities relating to such restatement and legal costs defending shareholder class action complaints brought against the Company as a result of the

restatement.
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14. Derivative Liabilities

On March 8, 2019, the Company closed the previously announced investment in the Company (the “Altria Investment”) by Altria Group Inc. (“Altria”),
pursuant to a subscription agreement dated December 7, 2018. As of the closing date of the Altria Investment, the Altria Investment consisted of
149,831,154 common shares of the Company, refer to Note 15, issued to a wholly owned subsidiary of Altria and one warrant of the Company (the “Altria
Warrant™), refer to Note 16(a), issued to a wholly owned subsidiary of Altria. As of the closing date of the Altria Investment, Altria beneficially held an
approximate 45% ownership interest in the Company (calculated on a non-diluted basis). As summarized in this note, if exercised in full on such date, the
exercise of the Altria Warrant would have resulted in Altria holding a total ownership interest in the Company of approximately 55% (calculated on a non-
diluted basis). Pursuant to the investor rights agreement between the Company and Altria, entered into in connection with the closing of the Altria
Investment (the “Investor Rights Agreement”), the Company granted Altria certain rights, among others, summarized in this note.

The summaries below are qualified entirely by the terms and conditions fully set out in the Investor Rights Agreement and the Altria Warrant, as
applicable.

d.

The Altria Warrant entitles the holder, subject to certain qualifications and limitations, to subscribe for and purchase up to an additional 10% of the
common shares of Cronos (approximately 80.1 million common shares as of December 31, 2020) at a per share exercise price of C$19.00, which
expires at 5:00 p.m. (Toronto time) on March 8, 2023. The number of common shares of the Company to which the holder is entitled, and the
corresponding exercise price, is subject to adjustment in the event of a share dividend, share issuance, distribution, or share subdivision, split or
other division, share consolidation, reverse-split or other aggregation, share reclassification, a capital reorganization, consolidation, amalgamation,
arrangement, binding share exchange, merger or other combination, certain securities issuances, repurchases, redemptions or certain other actions
that would result in a reduction in the number of common shares of the Company outstanding, in each case, executed by the Company. If and
whenever there is a reclassification of the common shares or a capital reorganization of the Company, or a consolidation, amalgamation,
arrangement, binding share exchange or merger of the Company, in each case executed by the Company and pursuant to which (i) in the event the
consideration received by the Company’s shareholders is exclusively cash, the Company or the successor entity (as applicable) is required to
purchase the Altria Warrant in cash equal to the amount by which the purchase price per share paid for the common shares acquired exceeds the
exercise price of the Altria Warrant multiplied by the number of common shares that would have been issuable upon exercise of the Altria Warrant
immediately prior to any such transaction, and (ii) in the event the consideration received by the Company’s shareholders is not exclusively cash,
the Altria Warrant will remain outstanding in accordance with its terms until any subsequent exercise of the Altria Warrant, at which time the
holder thereof will receive in lieu of each share that would have been issuable upon the exercise of the Altria Warrant immediately prior to any
such transaction, the kind and amount of cash, the number of shares or other securities or property resulting from any such transaction that such
holder would have been entitled to receive had such holder been the registered holder of such shares that would have been issuable upon the
exercise of the Altria Warrant on the record date or effective date of the transaction (as applicable).

The Company granted to Altria, subject to certain qualifications and limitations, upon the occurrence of certain issuances of common shares of the
Company executed by the Company (including issuances pursuant to the R&D partnership with Ginkgo (the “Ginkgo Agreement”), refer to Note
20(b)), the right to purchase up to such number of common shares of the Company in order to maintain their ownership percentage of issued and
outstanding common shares of the Company immediately preceding any issuance of shares by the Company (“Pre-emptive Rights”), at the same
price per common share of the Company at which the common shares are sold in the relevant issuance; provided that if the consideration paid in
connection with any such issuance is non-cash, the price per common share of the Company that would have been received had such common
shares been issued for cash consideration will be determined by an independent committee (acting reasonably and in good faith); provided further
that the price per common share of the Company to be paid by Altria pursuant to its exercise of its Pre-emptive Rights related to the Ginkgo
Agreement will be C$16.25 per common share. These rights may not be exercised if Altria’s ownership percentage of the issued and outstanding
shares of the Company falls below 20%.
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c. In addition to (and without duplication of) the Pre-emptive Rights, the Company granted to Altria, subject to certain qualifications and limitations,
the right to subscribe for common shares of the Company issuable in connection with the exercise, conversion or exchange of convertible
securities of the Company issued prior to March 8, 2019 or thereafter (excluding any convertible securities of the Company owned by Altria or
any of its subsidiaries), a share incentive plan of the Company, the exercise of any right granted by the Company pro rata to all shareholders of the
Company to purchase additional common shares and/or securities of the Company, bona fide bank debt, equipment financing or non-equity
interim financing transactions that contemplate an equity component or bona fide acquisitions (including acquisitions of assets or rights under a
license or otherwise), mergers or similar business combination transactions or joint ventures involving the Company in order to maintain their
ownership percentage of issued and outstanding common shares of the Company immediately preceding any such transactions (“Top-up Rights™).

The price per common share to be paid by Altria pursuant to the exercise of its Top-up Rights will be, subject to certain limited exceptions, the 10-day
volume-weighted average price of the common shares of the Company on the TSX for the 10 full days preceding such exercise by Altria; provided that the
price per common share of the Company to be paid by Altria pursuant to the exercise of its Top-up Rights in connection with the issuance of common
shares of the Company pursuant to the exercise of options or warrants that were outstanding as of March 8, 2019 will be C$16.25 per common share
without any set off, counterclaim, deduction, or withholding. These rights may not be exercised if Altria’s ownership percentage of the issued and

outstanding shares of the Company falls below 20%.

The Altria Warrant, Pre-emptive Rights, and fixed price Top-up Rights have been classified as derivative liabilities; related transaction costs of $22,355

have been expensed as financing costs in 2019.

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of the derivative liability are presented below:

As of January 1, 2020 Gain on revaluation Exercise of Rights Effect of FX As of December 31, 2020
(a) Altria Warrant $ 234,428 $ (95,045) $ — (525) $ 138,858
(b) Pre-emptive Rights 12,787 (885) — 193 12,095
(c) Top-up Rights 49,945 (33,324) (3,227) (937) 12,457
$ 297,160 § (129,254) $ (3,227) (1,269) $ 163,410

As of March 8, 2019 Gain on revaluation Exercise of Rights Effect of FX As of December 31, 2019
(a) Altria Warrant $ 1,086,920 $ (869,630) $ — 17,138  $ 234,428
(b) Pre-emptive Rights 92,548 (81,070) — 1,309 12,787
(c) Top-up Rights 386,152 (326,119) (15,478) 5,390 49,945
$ 1,565,620 $ (1,276,819) $ (15,478) 23,837 $ 297,160

Fluctuations in the Company’s share price are a primary driver for the changes in the derivative valuations during each reporting period. As the share price
decreases for each of the related derivative instruments, the liability of the instrument generally decreases. Share price is one of the significant observable
inputs used in the fair value measurement of each of the Company’s derivative instruments. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company’s
share price decreased from December 31, 2019 resulting in a gain on revaluation of $129,254.
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The fair values of the derivative liabilities were determined using the Black-Scholes pricing model as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019,
applying the following inputs:

As of December 31, 2020
Altria Warrant Pre-emptive Rights Top-up Rights
Share price at grant date (per share in C$) $8.84 $8.84 $8.84
Subscription price (per share in C$) $19.00 $16.25 $16.25
Weighted average risk-free interest rate® 0.21% 0.17% 0.13%
Weight average expected life (in years)( 2.18 1.50 0.98
Expected annualized volatility 81% 81% 81%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
As of December 31, 2019
Altria Warrant Pre-emptive Rights Top-up Rights
Share price at grant date (per share in C$) $9.97 $9.97 $9.97
Subscription price (per share in C$) $19.00 $16.25 $16.25
Weighted average risk-free interest rate® 1.69% 1.73% 1.71%
Weight average expected life (in years)® 3.18 1.25 1.66
Expected annualized volatility 82% 82% 82%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0%

O The risk-free interest rate was based on Bank of Canada government treasury bills and bonds with a remaining term equal to the expected life of the derivative liabilities. The risk-free
interest rate uses a range of approximately 0.10% to 0.39% as of December 31, 2020 (December 31, 2019 — 1.66% to 1.73%) for the Pre-emptive Rights and Top-up Rights.

) The expected life in years represents the period of time that the derivative liabilities are expected to be outstanding. The expected life of the Pre-emptive Rights and Top-up Rights is
determined based on the expected term of the underlying options, warrants, and shares, to which the Pre-emptive Rights and Top-up Rights are linked. The expected life uses a range of
approximately 0.50 years to 5 years as of December 31, 2020 (December 31, 2019 — 0.25 years to 6 years).

(i) Volatility was based on the blended historical volatility levels of the Company and peer companies.
The following table quantifies each of the significant inputs described above and provides a sensitivity analysis of the impact on the reported values of the
derivative liabilities. The sensitivity analysis for each significant input is performed by assuming a 10% decrease in the input while other significant inputs

remain constant at management’s best estimate as of the respective dates. As of December 31, 2020, there would be an equal but opposite impact on net
income (loss), refer to Note 15, and as of December 31, 2019, there would be an equal but opposite impact on share capital.

Decrease as of December 31, 2020

Altria Warrant Pre-emptive Rights Top-up Rights
Share price at issuance date $ 25,819 $ 2,527 $ 2,989
Weighted average expected life 13,541 1,988 2,121
Expected annualized volatility 26,183 2,269 2,602

Decrease as of December 31, 2019

Altria Warrant Pre-emptive Rights Top-up Rights
Share price at issuance date $ 36,436 $ 2,743 $ 9,577
Weighted average expected life 17,471 2,366 2,178
Expected annualized volatility 33,343 2,180 7,714

These inputs are classified in Level 3 on the fair value hierarchy and are subject to volatility and several uncontrollable factors, which could significantly
affect the fair value of these derivative liabilities in future periods.
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15. Capital Stock

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of no par value common shares. The holders of the common shares are entitled to receive
dividends, which may be declared from time to time, and are entitled to one vote per share at shareholder meetings of the Company. All common shares are
ranked equally with regards to the Company’s residual net assets.

The following is a summary of common shares issued, other than in connection with outstanding options and warrants (see Note 16):

2020 2019 2018
Altria Investment® — 149,831,154 —
Redwood Acquisition(® — 5,086,586 —
Private placement(i — 856,017 —
Bought deal offering( — — 15,677,143
— 155,773,757 15,677,143

O During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company issued 149,831,154 common shares to Altria for aggregate gross proceeds of $1,809,556, net of issuance costs of $3,722. The gross
proceeds were first allocated to the derivative liabilities issued in connection with the Altria Investment, and the residual of $248,302 was allocated to share capital. Pursuant to the Altria
Investment, the Company incurred transaction costs of $25,223, of which $3,642 was allocated to share capital and $21,581 to the derivative liabilities based on the relative fair values
assigned to the respective components. Refer to Note 14 for additional information.

@ During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company issued 5,086,586 common shares with a fair value of $56,109 related to the acquisition (the “Redwood Acquisition”) of certain
subsidiaries of Redwood Holding Group, LLC (collectively, “Redwood”). Refer to Note 27 for additional information.

(D During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company issued 856,017 common shares to Kristen Bell, an accredited investor in a private placement (“Private Placement”) in reliance on
Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act in connection with the use of certain publicity rights in brand development. The common shares vest in three equal installments on each of (a) January
31, 2020, (b) June 23, 2021, and (c) December 23, 2022. The issuance did not involve a public offering and was made without general solicitation or advertising. The total fair value of the
consideration paid for the issuance of such common shares was approximately $6,000. The fair value of the shares was calculated using the 10-day volume weighted average price per share
of the Company’s common shares on Nasdaq.

™) During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company issued 15,677,143 common shares for aggregate gross proceeds of $115,510 through bought deal offerings, net of issuance costs of
$7,577.

There were no share repurchases during the year ended December 31, 2020, 2019 or 2018.

16. Share-based Payments

(a) Warrants

The following is a summary of the changes in warrants during the year ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019:

Balance as of January 1, 2020
Exercise of warrants

Balance as of December 31, 2020

Balance as of January 1, 2019
Exercise of warrants

Balance as of December 31, 2019

Weighted average exercise price (C$)

Number of warrants

$ 0.26 18,066,662
0.27 (10,079,313)
$ 0.25 7,987,349

Weighted average exercise price (C$)

Number of warrants

$ 0.26 25,457,623
0.26 (7,390,961)
$ 0.26 18,066,662

For a description of the Altria Warrant, see Note 14. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had outstanding warrants as follows:

Grant date

Weighted average exercise price (C$)

Number of warrants

May 13 - 27, 2016
As of December 31, 2020

May 13 - 27, 2021

$ 0.25

7,987,349

$ 0.25

7,987,349
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(b) Stock options
(i) Stock option plans

The Company adopted an amended and restated stock option plan dated May 26, 2015 (the “2015 Stock Option Plan”), which was approved by
shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting of shareholders held on June 28, 2017. The 2015 Stock Option Plan allowed the Company’s
Board of Directors (the “Board”) to award options to purchase shares to directors, officers, key employees and service providers of the Company. As of
June 28, 2018, no further awards will be granted under the 2015 Stock Option Plan; however, shares may be purchased via option exercise by the holders of
any outstanding options previously issued under the 2015 Stock Option Plan.

On June 28, 2018, the shareholders of the Company approved a stock option plan (the “2018 Stock Option Plan”), which replaced the 2015 Stock Option
Plan. The 2018 Stock Option Plan terminated the Company’s ability to grant equity under the 2015 Stock Option Plan. As of June 25, 2020, the date on
which the 2020 Omnibus Plan (as defined below) was approved by the shareholders of the Company, no further awards will be granted under the 2018
Stock Option Plan; however, shares may be purchased via option exercise by the holders of any outstanding options previously issued under the 2018 Stock
Option Plan.

On March 29, 2020, the Board adopted a new omnibus equity incentive plan (the “2020 Omnibus Plan”), which was approved by the shareholders of the
Company at the annual and special meeting of shareholders held on June 25, 2020. The 2020 Omnibus Plan provides for grants of stock options, share
appreciation rights, restricted shares, restricted share units (“RSUs”) and other share-based or cash-based awards, which are subject to terms as determined
by the Compensation Committee of the Board, and awards may be granted to eligible employees, non-employee directors and consultants. The 2020
Omnibus Plan terminated the Company’s ability to grant equity awards under the 2018 Stock Option Plan and restricted stock units under the Employment
Inducement Plan.

Options represent the right to purchase Company common shares on the date of exercise at a stated exercise price. The exercise price of an option generally
must be at least equal to the fair market value of the Company common shares on the date of grant. The Compensation Committee of the Board
(“Compensation Committee”) may provide for options to be exercised only as they vest or to be immediately exercisable with any shares issued on exercise
being subject to the Company’s right of repurchase that lapses as the shares vest. Vesting conditions for grants of options are determined by the
Compensation Committee. The typical vesting for stock option grants is quarterly vesting over three to five years. The maximum term of options granted
under the 2020 Omnibus Plan is seven years. Participants under the 2020 Omnibus Plan are eligible to be granted options to purchase shares at an exercise
price established upon approval of the grant by the Compensation Committee. When options are granted, the exercise price is, with respect to a particular
date, the closing price as reported by the TSX or the Nasdaq and, if the shares are not traded on the TSX or the Nasdaq, any other stock exchange on which
the Company’s common shares are traded (as selected by the Compensation Committee in good faith taking into account applicable legal and tax
requirements) on the immediately preceding trading day (the “Fair Market Value”). The 2020 Omnibus Plan does not authorize grants of options with an
exercise price below the Fair Market Value.

The equity plans described above have the following stock options outstanding:

Shares outstanding as of December 31,

2020 2019 2018
2020 Omnibus Plan 2,000,000 — —
2018 Stock Option Plan 1,627,715 1,817,287 285,000
2015 Stock Option Plan 10,127,433 12,332,215 12,617,995
Total stock options outstanding 13,755,148 14,149,502 12,902,995

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the total stock-based compensation expense associated with the equity plans was $7,185 (December 31, 2019 —
$10,278; December 31, 2018 - $8,151).
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(i) Summary of changes

The following is a summary of the changes in options during the year ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019:

Weighted average exercise ‘Weighted average remaining
price (C$) Number of options contractual term (years)

Balance as of January 1, 2020 $ 4.84 14,149,502 2.56

Issuance of options® 6.96 2,000,000

Exercise of options 2.03 (2,131,939)

Cancellation, forfeiture and expiry of options 14.34 (262,415)
Balance as of December 31, 2020 $ 5.40 13,755,148 2.30
Exercisable at December 31, 2020 $ 3.75 9,643,682 1.34

0 The weighted average exercise price reflects the conversion of foreign currency-denominated options at the exchange rates as of December 31, 2020. For foreign currency-denominated
options, the weighted average exercise prices are translated using exchange rates as of the settlement date.

Weighted average exercise Weighted average remaining
price (C$) Number of options contractual term (years)

Balance as of January 1, 2019 $ 2.99 12,902,995 3.35

Issuance of options 20.08 1,534,162

Exercise of options 3.48 (282,572)

Cancellation, forfeiture and expiry of options 2.27 (5,083)
Balance as of December 31, 2019 $ 4.84 14,149,502 2.56
Exercisable at December 31, 2019 $ 2.93 9,034,714 2.27

(iii) Fair value of options issued

The fair value of the options issued during the year was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, using the following inputs:

2020 2019
Share price at grant date (per share) C$6.96 C$15.34 — $24.75
Exercise price (per option)? C$6.96 C$15.34 — $24.75
Risk-free interest rate 0.43% 1.39% — 1.62%
Expected life of options (in years)® 5 5
Expected annualized volatility 91% 82%
Expected dividend yield — —
Weighted average Black-Scholes value at grant date (per option) C$4.84 C$13.03

Forfeiture rate — —

0 The weighted average exercise price reflects the conversion of foreign currency-denominated options at the exchange rates as of December 31, 2020. For foreign currency-denominated
options, the weighted average exercise prices are translated using exchange rates as of the settlement date.

@ The expected life of the awards represents the period of time options are expected to be outstanding and is estimated considering vesting terms and employees’ and non-employees’
historical exercise and, where relevant, post-vesting employment termination behavior. Volatility was estimated by using the historical volatility of the Company’s share price, adjusted
for the Company’s expectation of volatility going forward. The risk-free interest rate was based on the Bank of Canada government bonds with a remaining term equal to the expected life
of the options at the grant date.

The weighted average fair value per share at grant date of the options during the year ended December 31, 2020 was C$4.84 per share (December 31, 2019
— C$13.03 per share).
(o) Restricted share units

RSUs are granted under the 2020 Omnibus Plan. RSUs represent an equivalent amount of Company common shares on the date of issuance at fair value.
Fair value is determined using the closing price of the trading day immediately preceding the date of grant. RSUs issued under the 2020 Omnibus Plan
typically vest over a three-year period following the grant date, have no performance requirements and no forfeiture rate.
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On July 20, 2020, the Company entered into separation agreements with Robert Rosenheck and another Redwood employee pursuant to which they
resigned from their employment with Redwood. In connection with such separation agreements, 732,972 outstanding and unvested RSUs were accelerated

and vested during the year ended December 31, 2020.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded $8,176 (December 31, 2019 — $889) in share-based compensation expense related to these

RSUs. No RSUs were granted in 2018.

The following is a summary of the changes in RSUs:

Number of RSUs Weighted average grant date fair value (C$)
Balance at January 1, 2020 732,972 15.34
Granted 957,854 7.66
Exercised (732,972) 15.34
Cancellation and forfeitures (9,497) 7.52
Balance at December 31, 2020 948,357 7.66
Number of RSUs Weighted average grant date fair value (C$)
Balance at January 1, 2019 — —
Granted 732,972 15.34
Balance at December 31, 2019 732,972 15.34

(d) Deferred share units

On August 10, 2019, the Company established a cash-settled deferred share unit plan (“DSU Plan”) pursuant to which its non-executive directors receive
deferred share units (“DSUs”). The DSU Plan is designed to promote a greater alignment of long-term interests between non-executive directors and
shareholders. The number of DSUs granted under the DSU Plan (including fractional DSUs) is determined by dividing the amount of remuneration payable
by the closing price as reported by the TSX on the trading day immediately preceding the date of grant. DSUs are payable at the time a non-executive
director ceases to hold the office of director for any reason and are settled by a lump-sum cash payment, in accordance with the terms of the DSU Plan,
based on the fair value of the DSUs at such time. The fair value of the cash payout is determined by multiplying the number of DSUs vested at the payout
date by the closing price as reported by the TSX on the trading day immediately preceding the payout date. The fair value of the cash payout is determined
at each reporting date based on the fair value of the Company’s common shares at the reporting date and is recorded within other liabilities. No DSUs were

granted during 2018.

The following is a summary of the changes in DSUs:

Number of DSUs Financial liability
Balance at January 1, 2020 33,397 255
Granting and vesting of DSUs 58,380 338
Liabilities settled (8,484) (46)
Loss (gain) on revaluation — 30
Balance at December 31, 2020 83,293 577
Number of DSUs Financial liability
Balance at January 1, 2019 — —
Granting and vesting of DSUs 33,397 452
Loss (gain) on revaluation — (197)
Balance at December 31, 2019 33,397 255
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17. Earnings (loss) Per Share

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations are calculated using the following numerators and denominators:

2020 2019 2018
Basic earnings (loss) per share computation
Income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to common shareholders of $ (72,487)  $ 1,166,869 $ (20,742)
Cronos Group ’ T ’
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 351,576,848 310,067,179 172,269,170
Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 021) § 376 § (0.12)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share computation
Income (loss) from continuing operations used in the computation of basic earnings  $ (72,487) $ 1,166,869  $ (20,742)
(loss) per share
Adjustment for gain on revaluation of derivative liabilities (24,416)

Income (loss) from continuing operations used in the computation of diluted income (72,487) 1,142,453 (20,742)
(loss) per share

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding used in the computation 351,576,848 310,067,179 172,269,170
of basic earnings (loss) per share
Dilutive effect of warrants — 19,481,352 —
Dilutive effect of stock options — 10,649,487 —
Dilutive effect of restricted share units — 732,972 —
Dilutive effect of Altria Warrant — — —
Dilutive effect of Top-up Rights — exercised and exercisable fixed price — 1,881,002 —
Weighted average number of common shares for computation of diluted income 351,576,848 342,811,992 172,269,170
(loss) per share
Diluted earnings (loss) per share® $ 021) $ 333 % (0.12)

®  In computing diluted earnings per share, incremental common shares are not considered in periods in which a net loss is reported, as the inclusion of the common share equivalents
would be anti-dilutive.

Basic and diluted loss per share from discontinued operations are calculated using the following numerators and denominators:

2020 2019 2018
Basic loss from discontinued operations per share computation
Loss from discontinued operations attributable to common shareholders of Cronos $ (650) $ (363) $ (894)
Group
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 351,576,848 310,067,179 172,269,170
Basic loss from discontinued operations per share® $ 0.00 $ 0.00 $ (0.01)

O In computing diluted earnings per share, incremental common shares are not considered in periods in which a net loss is reported, as the inclusion of the common share equivalents would be
anti-dilutive.

The following securities were not included in the computation of diluted shares outstanding because the effect would be anti-dilutive or because conditions
for contingently issuable shares were not satisfied at the end of the reporting periods.

2020 2019 2018

Ginkgo Equity Milestones 14,674,904 14,674,904 —
Pre-emptive Rights 11,534,475 12,006,740 —
Top-up Rights — fixed price 17,214,621 25,103,456 —
Top-up Rights — market price 3,413,065 1,255,223 —
Altria Warrant 80,056,296 77,514,993 —
Warrants 15,147,116 — 25,457,623
Stock options 9,218,674 1,315,787 12,902,995
Restricted share units 79,611 — —

Total anti-dilutive securities 151,338,762 131,871,103 38,360,618
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18. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The following is a continuity schedule of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss):

2020 2019 2018
Net unrealized gain (loss) on revaluation and disposal of other investments
Balance at January 1 $ 5 $ 5 % 446
Cumulative effect from adoption of ASU 2016-01 — — (444)
Net unrealized (loss) gain — — 3
Balance at December 31 5 5 5
Net foreign exchange gain (loss) on translation of foreign operations
Balance at January 1 27,833 (9,875) 2,456
Net unrealized (loss) gain 15,161 37,708 (12,331)
Balance at December 31 42,994 27,833 (9,875)
Total other comprehensive income (loss) $ 42999 $ 27,838 % (9,870)

19. Income Taxes

For financial reporting purposes, income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes includes the following components:

Year ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Rest of World $ 12,679 $ 1,169,007 $ (20,923)
United States (85,952) (3,070) —
Total $ (73,273)  $ 1,165,937  $ (20,923)

The loss before income taxes above excludes losses from discontinued operations of $650 for the year ended December 31, 2020 (December 31, 2019 —
$363; December 31, 2018 — $894).

Income tax expense consists of the following components:

Year ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018
Current:
Rest of World $ 1,024  $ —  $ —
United States 323 — —
Total $ 1,347 $ — $ —
Deferred:
Rest of world $ — 5 — 3 —
United States — — —
Total $ — $ — $ —

Included in accounts payable and other liabilities as of December 31, 2020 is $865 (December 31, 2019 — $nil; December 31, 2018 — $nil) related to current
income tax expense above.
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Income tax differs from that computed using the combined Canadian federal and provincial statutory income tax rate of 26.5%. Reconciliation of the
expected income tax to the effective tax rate in continuing operations is as follows:

Year ended,
2020 2019 2018

Income (loss) before income taxes $ (73,273) $ 1,165,937 $ (20,923)
Effective income tax rate 26.5 % 26.5 % 26.5 %
Expected income tax expense (benefit) $ (19,417) $ 308,973 $ (5,545)
Non-taxable income (711) (2,156) 14
Non-deductible share-based compensation 2,498 2,839 2,466
Non-deductible expenses 1,364 764 —
Non-deductible transaction costs 3,146 1,523 —
Effect of provincial tax rate difference (15) (44) (64)
Effect of tax rates outside of Canada (362) 70 —
Fair value gain on financial liabilities (34,250) (338,409) —
Changes in valuation allowance 48,227 25,808 3,437
Other 867 632 (308)

Income tax expense (recovery), net $ 1,347 $ — $ —

The valuation allowance recorded against the loss on discontinued operations is not reflected in the effective tax rate reconciliation presented above for
continuing operations.

The following table summarizes the significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2020 and December 31,
2019:

As of
2020 2019
Deferred assets:

Tax loss carryforwards $ 67,476  $ 30,908
Interest expense carryforwards 1,407 —
Deferred financing costs 4,233 5,690
Share issuance cost 1,573 2,217
Finance lease obligation 1,953 1,491
Plant and equipment 5,945 871
Investment 307 395
Intangible asset 4,218 —
Reserve 1,858 —
Other 570 482

Total deferred tax assets 89,540 42,054
Less valuation allowance (85,935) (36,948)

Net deferred tax assets 3,605 5,106

Deferred tax liabilities:

Inventory — (1,227)
Plant and equipment — —
Intangible assets — (2,126)
Investment — —
License (1,662) (293)
Right-of-use assets (1,943) (1,460)

Total deferred tax liabilities (3,605) (5,106)

Net deferred tax liability $ — % —
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The realization of deferred tax assets is dependent on the Company’s generating sufficient taxable income in the years that the temporary differences
become deductible. A valuation allowance has been provided for the deferred tax assets that the Company determined did not meet the more-likely-than-
not recognition threshold under U.S. GAAP.

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had net operating losses in Canada, the U.S., and Israel available to offset future years’ taxable income of
approximately $177,651, $62,851, and $14,042, respectively. As of December 31, 2019, the Company had net operating losses in Canada, the U.S., and
Israel available to offset future years’ taxable income of approximately $92,773, $14,374, and $8,763, respectively. The net operating losses in Canada will
begin to expire, for purposes of carryforward, in fiscal year 2032. The net operating losses in the U.S. can be carried forward indefinitely for federal
purposes. The net operating losses in Israel can be carried forward indefinitely.

Utilization of the net operating loss carryforwards may be subject to limitations under the tax laws applicable in each tax jurisdiction due to ownership
changes that could occur in the future. These ownership changes could limit the amount of net operating loss carryforwards and other deferred tax assets
that can be utilized to offset future taxable income and tax expense. Specifically, if Altria exercises its warrant the Company would recognize a change in
control event and certain Canadian net operating loss carryforwards may be limited. Due to the existence of the valuation allowance, limitations created by
ownership changes, if any, will not impact the Company’s effective tax rate.

The Company files federal income tax returns in Canada, Israel and the U.S. The Company has open tax years with the taxation jurisdictions. These open
years contain certain matters that could be subject to differing interpretations of applicable tax laws and regulations and tax treaties, as they relate to the
amount, timing, or inclusion of revenue and expense.

Jurisdiction Open Years

Canada 2016 — 2020
United States 2018 — 2020
Israel 2019 — 2020

The following table outlines the movements in the valuation allowance:

Balance at beginning of Change due to foreign
year exchange Increase Balance at end of year
Year ended December 31, 2020 $ (36,948) $ (693) $ (48,294) $ (85,935)
Year ended December 31, 2019 (7,931) (998) (28,019) (36,948)

As of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company recorded a valuation allowance of $85,935 and $36,948, respectively. The valuation
allowance increased by $48,294 and $28,019 during the years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. The increase in the
valuation allowance during the years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 was primarily due to an increase in net operating loss
carryforwards, the utilization of which did not meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold.

Accounting guidance clarifies the accounting for uncertain tax positions and prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement process for recording in
the financial statements uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. Additionally, the authoritative guidance addresses the de-
recognition, classification, accounting in interim periods and disclosure requirements for uncertain tax positions. Only tax positions that meet the more-
likely-than-not recognition threshold may be recognized. There were no identified unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2020 or December 31,
2019.

The Company considers all earnings and profits of its subsidiaries outside Canada to be indefinitely reinvested. As of December 31, 2020 and

December 31, 2019, the amount of undistributed earnings upon which income taxes have not been provided is immaterial to these consolidated financial
statements.
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20. Commitments

(a) Lease Commitments
The following is a summary of the Company’s future minimum lease payments under operating leases for its premises due in future fiscal years:

As of December 31,

2020
2021 $ 2,381
2022 2,302
2023 2,201
2024 1,711
2025 1,505
2026 and thereafter 1,916

In addition to the minimum lease payments, the Company is required to pay realty taxes and other occupancy costs in accordance with the terms of the
lease agreements.

(b) R&D commitments

(i) Ginkgo. On September 4, 2018, the Company announced an R&D partnership with Ginkgo Bioworks Inc. (“Ginkgo™) to develop scalable and
consistent production of eight target cannabinoids, including THC, CBD and a variety of other lesser known and rarer cannabinoids. As part of
this partnership, Cronos Group has agreed to issue up to 14,674,903 common shares of the Company (aggregate value of approximately
$100,000 as of July 17, 2018 assuming all milestones are met, collectively the “Ginkgo Equity Milestones”) in tranches and $22,000 in cash
subject to Ginkgo’s achievement of certain milestones and to fund certain R&D expenses, including foundry access fees.

(ii)  Technion. On October 15, 2018, the Company entered into a sponsored research agreement with the Technion Research and Development
Foundation of the Technion — Israel Institute of Technology (“Technion”). Research is focused on the use of cannabinoids and their role in
regulating skin health and skin disorders. The Company has committed to $1,784 of research funding over a period of three years. An additional
$4,900 of cash payments will be paid to Technion upon the achievement of certain milestones.

(o) Altria consulting services

On February 18, 2019, the Company entered into an agreement with a wholly owned subsidiary of Altria (which agreement was subsequently amended and
restated to substitute Altria Pinnacle as a party thereto), to receive strategic advisory and project management services from Altria Pinnacle (the “Services
Agreement”). Pursuant to the Services Agreement, the Company will pay Altria Pinnacle a monthly fee equal to the product of 105% and the sum of: (i) all
costs directly associated with the services incurred during the monthly period, and (ii) a reasonable and appropriate allocation of indirect costs incurred
during the monthly period. The Company will also pay all third-party direct charges incurred during the monthly period in connection with the services,
including any reasonable and documented costs, fees and expenses associated with obtaining any consent, license or permit. The Services Agreement will
remain in effect until terminated by either party. See Note 25.

(d) Use of publicity rights in brand development

On December 23, 2019, the Company issued 856,017 restricted common shares to Kristen Bell, an accredited investor, in a private placement (“Private
Placement”) in reliance on Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933 in connection with the use of certain publicity rights in the brand development of
Happy Dance™. One-third of such common shares vested on January 31, 2020 with the remaining shares vesting in two equal installments on June 23,
2021, and December 23, 2022. The issuance did not involve a public offering and was made without general solicitation or advertising. The total fair value
of the consideration paid for the issuance of such common shares was approximately $6,000. The fair value of the shares was calculated using the 10-day
volume weighted average price per share of the Company’s common shares on Nasdag.

Additional restricted common shares are issued when certain performance milestones are achieved:
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(i)  First Performance Issuance: if, prior to December 23, 2022, the product line generates at least $50,000 in net revenue, additional common
shares with an aggregate value of $1,000 will be issued.

(ii) Second Performance Issuance: if, prior to December 23, 2022, the product line generates at least $100,000 in net revenue, additional common
shares with an aggregate value of $1,000 will be issued (together with the First Performance Issuance noted above).

The number of common shares that would be issued upon achieving the foregoing milestones will be determined based on the 10-day volume weighted
average price per share of the Company’s common shares on Nasdaq as of the trading day immediately prior to the date of filing with the Securities and
Exchange Commission of the Company’s audited year-end financial statements for the first fiscal year during which such milestones are achieved.

21. Contingencies

The Company is subject to various legal proceedings in the ordinary course of its business and in connection with its marketing, distribution and sale of its
products. Many of these legal proceedings are in the early stages of litigation and seek damages that are unspecified or not quantified. Although the
outcome of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty, the Company does not believe these legal proceedings, individually or in the aggregate, will
have a material adverse effect on its consolidated financial condition but could be material to its results of operations for any particular reporting period
depending, in part, on its results for that period.

(a) Class action complaints relating to restatement

On March 11 and 12, 2020, two alleged shareholders of the Company separately filed two putative class action complaints in the U.S. District Court for the
Eastern District of New York against the Company and its former Chief Executive Officer (now Executive Chairman) and Chief Financial Officer. The
court has consolidated the cases, and the consolidated amended complaint alleges violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5
promulgated thereunder against all defendants, and Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act against the individual defendants. The consolidated amended
complaint generally alleges that certain of the Company’s prior public statements about revenues and internal controls were incorrect based on the
Company’s March 2, 2020 disclosure that the Audit Committee of the Board was conducting a review of the appropriateness of revenue recognized in
connection with certain bulk resin purchases and sales of products through the wholesale channel. The consolidated amended complaint does not quantify a
damage request. Defendants moved to dismiss on February 8, 2021.

On June 3, 2020, an alleged shareholder filed a Statement of Claim, as amended on August 12, 2020, in the Ontario Superior Court of Justice in Toronto,
Ontario, Canada, seeking, among other things, an order certifying the action as a class action on behalf of a putative class of shareholders and damages of
an unspecified amount. The Amended Statement of Claim names the Company, its former Chief Executive Officer (now Executive Chairman), Chief
Financial Officer, former Chief Financial Officer and Chief Commercial Officer, and current and former members of the Board as defendants and alleges
breaches of the Ontario Securities Act, oppression under the Ontario Business Corporations Act and common law misrepresentation. The Amended
Statement of Claim generally alleges that certain of the Company’s prior public statements about revenues and internal controls were misrepresentations
based on the Company’s March 2, 2020 disclosure that the Audit Committee of the Board was conducting a review of the appropriateness of revenue
recognized in connection with certain bulk resin purchases and sales of products through the wholesale channel, and the Company’s subsequent
restatement. The Amended Statement of Claim does not quantify a damage request.

(b) Regulatory reviews relating to restatement

The Company has been responding to requests for information from various regulatory authorities relating to its previously disclosed restatement of its
financial statements for the first three quarters of 2019. The Company is responding to all such requests for information and cooperating with all regulatory
authorities. The Company cannot predict the outcome of any such regulatory review or investigation and it is possible that additional investigations or one
or more formal proceedings may be commenced against the Company and its current and former officers and directors in connection with these regulatory
reviews and investigations.
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(o) Litigation relating to marketing, distribution and sale of products

On June 16, 2020, an alleged consumer filed a Statement of Claim on behalf of a class in the Court of Queen’s Bench of Alberta in Alberta, Canada,
against the Company and other Canadian cannabis manufacturers and/or distributors. On December 4, 2020, a Third Amended Statement of Claim was
filed, which added a second alleged consumer. The Third Amended Statement of Claim alleges claims related to the defendants’ advertised content of
cannabinoids in cannabis products for medicinal use on or after June 16, 2010 and cannabis products for adult use on or after October 17, 2018. The Third
Amended Statement of Claim seeks a total of C$500 million for breach of contract, compensatory damages, and unjust enrichment or such other amount as
may be proven in trial and C$5 million in punitive damages against each defendant, including the Company. The Third Amended Statement of Claim also
seeks interest and costs associated with the action. The Company has not responded to the Third Amended Statement of Claim.

A number of claims, including purported class actions, have been brought in the U.S. against companies engaged in the U.S. hemp business alleging,
among other things, violations of state consumer protection, health and advertising laws. On April 8, 2020, a putative class action complaint was filed in
the U.S. District Court for the Central District of California against Redwood, alleging violations of California’s Unfair Competition Law, False
Advertising Law, Consumers Legal Remedies Act, and breaches of the California Commercial Code for breach of express warranties and implied warranty
of merchantability with respect to Redwood’s marketing and sale of U.S. hemp products. The complaint did not quantify a damage request. On April 10,
2020, the class action complaint was dismissed for certain pleading deficiencies and the plaintiff was granted leave until April 24, 2020 to amend the
complaint to establish federal subject matter jurisdiction. On April 28, 2020, the action was dismissed without prejudice for failure to prosecute and for
failure to comply with a court order. As of the date of this Annual Report, the plaintiff has not refiled the complaint.

22, Supplementary Cash Flow Information

The net changes in non-cash working capital items are as follow:

Year ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Accounts receivable $ 4,724) $ (702) $ (2,569)
Prepaids and other receivables (5,300) (10,509) (2,382)
Current portion of loans receivable — (4,585) —
Inventory (28,094) (51,888) (4,092)
Accounts payable and other liabilities 4,175 13,476 12,705
Total $ (33,943) $ (54,208) $ 3,662

23. Financial Instruments

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including credit risk, liquidity risk, and market risk (including interest rate risk) and
foreign currency risk.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. The
Company is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities, primarily accounts receivable and other receivables, and its investing activities, including
cash held with banks and financial institutions, short term investments, loan receivable, and advances to joint ventures. The Company’s maximum exposure
to this risk is equal to the carrying amount of these financial assets, which amounted to $1,403,491 as of December 31, 2020 (December 31, 2019 —
$1,586,978).
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(i) Accounts receivable

The Company had accounts receivable of $8,928 as of December 31, 2020 (December 31, 2019 — $4,638). An impairment analysis is performed at each
reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates are based on the days past due for groupings of various
customer segments with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. Accounts
receivable are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include,
amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan, and a failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater than 120 days past
due.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recognized an approximate CECL of $74 (December 31, 2019 — $136). The Company has assessed
that there is a concentration of credit risk as 78% of the Company’s accounts receivable were due from four customers as of December 31, 2020
(December 31, 2019 — 56% due from two customers) with an established credit history with the Company.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, and other receivables

The Company held cash and cash equivalents of $1,078,023 at December 31, 2020 (December 31, 2019 — $1,199,693). The short-term investments and
related interest receivable of $211,766 (December 31, 2019 — $306,347) represents short-term investments with a maturity of less than a year and accrued
interest as of December 31, 2020. The cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments, including guaranteed investment certificates and bankers’
acceptances, are held with central banks and financial institutions that are highly rated. In addition to interest receivable, other receivables include sales
taxes receivable from the government. As such, the Company has assessed an insignificant loss allowance on these financial instruments.

(iii) Advances to joint ventures

The Company had advances to joint ventures of $467 as of December 31, 2020 (December 31, 2019 — $19,437). The Company has assessed the credit risk
of advances to joint ventures based on the financial position of the borrowers, and the regulatory and economic environment of the borrowers. The
expected loss rates are based on the historical credit losses experienced. Where appropriate, the historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and
forward-looking information. The Company has assessed the loss allowance on these advances as of December 31, 2020 to be $nil (December 31, 2019 —

$nil).
(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become due and arises principally from the Company’s
accounts payable and other liabilities. The Company had accounts payable of $12,107 as of December 31, 2020 (December 31, 2019 — $9,194). The
Company’s policy is to review liquidity resources and ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet financial obligations as they become due. Further,
the Company’s management is responsible for ensuring funds exist and are readily accessible to support business opportunities as they arise. The
Company’s funding is primarily provided in the form of capital raised through the issuance of common shares and warrants. As of December 31, 2020,
64% of the Company’s payables were due to four vendors (December 31, 2019 — 42% due to three vendors).

(o) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of, or future cash flows from, the Company’s financial instruments will significantly fluctuate due to changes in
market prices. The value of financial instruments can be affected by changes in interest rates, market and economic conditions, and equity and commodity
prices. The Company is exposed to market risk in divesting its investments, such that, unfavorable market conditions could result in dispositions of
investments at less than their carrying values. Further, the revaluation of securities classified as fair value through net income could result in significant
write-downs of the Company’s investments, which would have an adverse impact on the Company’s financial position.

The Company manages risk by having a portfolio of securities from multiple issuers, such that the Company was not materially exposed to any one issuer.
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(d) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or yield of fixed-income investments may decline if interest rates change. Fluctuations in interest rates may impact
the level of income and expense recorded on the cash equivalents and short-term investments, and the market value of all interest-earning assets, other than
those which possess a short term to maturity. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company had net interest income of $18,415 (December 31,
2019 - $27,969). A 10% change in the interest rate in effect on December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, would not have a material effect on (i) fair
value of the cash equivalents and short-term investments as the majority of the portfolio has a maturity date of three months or less, or (ii) interest income.
Management continues to monitor external interest rates and revise the Company’s investment strategy as a result.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company’s average variable interest rate fell 1.49%, which resulted in a decrease of net interest income of
$15,671 in the period. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company’s average variable interest rate did not materially change.

(e) Currency rate risk

Currency rate risk is the risk that the fair value of, or future cash flows from, the Company’s financial instruments will significantly fluctuate due to
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company is exposed to this risk on advances to joint ventures denominated in A$ and C$. The Company is further
exposed to this risk through subsidiaries operating in Israel and the U.S. as the Company’s functional currency is in Canadian dollars. The Company does
not currently use foreign exchange contracts to hedge its exposure to currency rate risk. As such, the Company’s financial position and financial results
may be adversely affected by the unfavorable fluctuations in currency exchange rates.

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had foreign currency gain (loss) on translation of $14,951 (December 31, 2019 — $37,687). A 10% change in the
exchange rates for the foreign currencies would affect the carrying value of net assets by approximately $170,817 as of December 31, 2020 (December 31,
2019 — $174,902).

24. Fair Value Measurement

The Company complies with ASC 820 Fair Value Measurements, for its financial assets and liabilities that are re-measured and reported at fair value at
each reporting period, and non-financial assets and liabilities that are re-measured and reported at fair value at least annually. In general, fair values are
determined by:

* Level 1 inputs utilize quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
* Level 2 inputs utilize data points that are observable such as quoted prices, interest rates and yield curves.

* Level 3 inputs are unobservable data points for the asset or liability, and includes situations where there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or
liability.

The following tables present information about the Company’s assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2019 and indicates the fair value hierarchy of the valuation techniques the Company utilized to determine such fair value.

As of December 31, 2020

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,078,023 $ — 3 — 1,078,023
Short-term investments 211,766 — — 211,766
Derivative liabilities — — 163,410 163,410

As of December 31, 2019

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,199,693 $ — 3 — % 1,199,693
Short-term investments 306,347 — — 306,347
Derivative liabilities — — 297,160 297,160
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25. Related Party Transactions and Balances

On March 8, 2019, in connection with the Altria Investment, Altria, through certain of its wholly owned subsidiaries, purchased a 45% equity interest in the
Company.

The Company incurred the following expenses for consulting services from Altria Pinnacle LLC, a subsidiary of Altria (“Altria Pinnacle”):

Year ended December 31,

2020 2019

Altria Pinnacle — expense $ 1,199 $ 3,479
Total $ 1,199 $ 3,479
No expenses for consulting services from Altria Pinnacle during the year ended December 31, 2018.
The following is a summary of amounts payable related to the consulting services with Altria Pinnacle:
As of December 31,

2020 2019
Altria Pinnacle — payable $ —  $ 1,152
Total $ — $ 1,152

During 2019, the Company purchased machinery and equipment amounting to $1,258 from a subsidiary of Altria, which was fully paid for during the year.
Refer to Note 14 for further information on the derivative liabilities related to the Altria Investment.

There were no other material related party transactions during the years ended December 31, 2020, December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018.

26. Non-monetary Transactions

The Company had no non-monetary transactions during the year ended December 31, 2020 or 2018.

On March 28, 2019, the Company entered into two transactions to simultaneously purchase and sell inventory to a third party. The Company purchased
cannabis resin from the third party and in turn sold cannabis dry flower to the third party. The transactions involved the exchange of work in progress
inventory and were accounted for at the carrying value of inventory transferred by the Company, which equaled the value of the cannabis resin received.
No revenue was recognized as a result of this transaction and no gain or loss was recognized in the consolidated statements of net income (loss) and
comprehensive income (loss).

In September 2019, the Company entered into three transactions to simultaneously purchase and sell inventory to a third party. The Company purchased
cannabis resin and cannabis tincture oil and in turn sold cannabis dry flower to the third party. The transactions involved the exchange of work in progress
inventory and were accounted for in accordance with ASC 845 Non-monetary transactions at the carrying value of inventory transferred by the Company.
$2,300 was recognized in revenue as a result of this transaction and no gain or loss was recognized in the consolidated statements of net income (loss) and
comprehensive income (loss).
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27. Business Combinations

On September 5, 2019, the Company closed the Redwood Acquisition. Redwood manufactures, markets and distributes U.S. hemp-derived supplements
and cosmetics product through e-commerce, retail and hospitality channels in the U.S. under the brand Lord Jones™. Redwood’s products use high quality
U.S. hemp extract that retains naturally occurring phytocannabinoids and terpenes found in the plant. The Company plans to leverage Redwood’s
capabilities to capitalize on the significant demand to further create and scale U.S. hemp-derived consumer products and brands.

In 2019, the Company acquired all the issued and outstanding shares of each of the four Redwood operating subsidiaries for an aggregate consideration of
$283,300, which included $227,191 in cash and 5,086,586 common shares of the Company with a fair value of $56,109. The fair value of the shares issued
as part of the consideration paid was based on the volume weighted average trading price of the common shares on Nasdaq on each of the ten consecutive
trading days prior to the date of the Membership Interest Purchase Agreement dated August 1, 2019 (the “MIPA”), by and among the Company, Redwood
Holding Group, LLC, and certain Key Persons solely for the purposes as described in the MIPA, at C$14.74 per share.

The Redwood Acquisition was unanimously approved by the board of directors of Redwood Holdings Group, LLC and by the Board following the
unanimous recommendation of a special committee of independent directors (“Special Committee”). A Special Committee composed entirely of
independent directors of the Company was formed to evaluate and make recommendations to the Board since one of our directors, Jason Adler, and
Michael Gorenstein, our Executive Chairman and former President and Chief Executive Officer, each held an indirect interest in Redwood Holding Group,
LLC by way of their interest in certain funds affiliated with Gotham Green Partners, which funds were equity holders in Redwood Holding Group, LLC.
Jason Adler is the co-founder and Managing Member of Gotham Green Partners, a private equity firm focused primarily on early-stage investing in
companies in the cannabis industry, and Michael Gorenstein is a co-founder and non-managing Member of Gotham Green Partners. The Special Committee
engaged Perella Weinberg Partners LP as financial advisor.

The Redwood Acquisition was accounted for as a business combination as defined in ASC 805 Business Combinations. As a result of the change in control
of Redwood, the assets and liabilities of Redwood are recorded at fair value in the consolidated financial statements of the Company. The following table
summarizes the Company’s finalized allocation of the purchase price to assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date.

September 5, 2019

Fair value of net assets acquired

Cash $ 2,896
Accounts receivable 647
Prepaid expenses and other assets 265
Inventory 2,806
Property and equipment 1,890
Right-of-use assets 3,533
Intangible assets @ 64,037
Goodwill 213,414
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (2,688)
Lease obligations (3,500)

$ 283,300

O The fair value of acquired accounts receivable is $647. No loss allowance was recognized on acquisition.

() Intangible assets include the fair value of brand name of $64,000, the remaining balance relates to software.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, acquisition-related costs of $8,531 were expensed. These costs are included in the consolidated statement of net
income (loss) in financing and transaction costs.

The goodwill recognized represents the excess over the fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets acquired as a part of the Redwood acquisition.
This goodwill is attributable to the expertise and reputation of the assembled workforce acquired, the expected synergies, and other intangible assets that do
not qualify for separate recognition. The goodwill is not deductible for income tax purposes. The Relief-from-Royalty Method was used to value the
intangible asset relating to the Lord Jones™ brand. Significant inputs include discount rate, growth rates, and cash flow projections.

111



Cronos Group Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except for gram and share amounts)

Table of Contents

During the period from September 5, 2019 to December 31, 2019, the Company recognized $3,364 in revenues and a net loss of $2,613 from Redwood
operations. If the acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2019, the Company estimates that for the year ended December 31, 2019, it would have recorded
an increase of $12,266 in revenues and a decrease of $1,112 in net income and that for the year ended December 31, 2018, it would have recorded an
increase of $7,630 in revenues and an increase of $1,533 in net income.

There were no business combinations during the years ended December 31, 2020 or December 31, 2018.

28. Repurposing Charges

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company commenced initiatives to better align its evolving business and its strategy. Certain facilities at the
Peace Naturals campus were repurposed from cultivation activities to provide for the following activities: additional R&D activities focused on new
technologies for value-added product manufacturing; production and manufacturing of derivative products; and increased vault and warehousing
capabilities.

The activities associated with the repurposing were completed as of December 31, 2019. The following table presents information associated with this plan:

Year ended December 31, 2019

Employee termination benefits $ 889
Impairment costs associated with plan 4,439
$ 5,328

During the year ended December 31, 2019, an inventory write-down associated with the repurposing cost of $1,940 was included as part of inventory
write-down on the consolidated statements of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). The Company did not incur any further significant costs
related to the repurposing activities.

No repurposing costs were incurred during the years ended December 31, 2020 or December 31, 2018.

As of December 31, 2020, there was no accrued liability associated with the Company’s repurposing initiative (December 31, 2019 - $907). All
repurposing related charges were incurred within the Rest of World segment.

29. Segment Information

Segment reporting is prepared on the same basis that the Company’s chief operating decision makers (the “CODMSs”) manage the business, make operating
decisions and assess the Company’s performance. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company determined that it has the
following two reportable segments: United States and Rest of World. The United States operating segment consists of the manufacture and distribution of
hemp-derived CBD infused products. The Rest of World operating segment is involved in the cultivation, manufacture, and marketing of cannabis and
cannabis-derived products for the medical and adult-use markets. These two segments represent the geographic regions in which the Company operates and
the different product offerings within each geographic region. The results of each segment are regularly reviewed by the CODMs to assess the performance
of the segment and make decisions regarding the allocation of resources. The CODMs review adjusted earnings (loss) before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortization (“Adjusted EBITDA”) as the measure of segment profit or loss to evaluate performance of and allocate resources for its reportable segments.
Adjusted EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, non-cash items and items that do not reflect management’s assessment of on-
going business performance.

Reporting by operating segments follows the same accounting policies as those used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The operating
segments are presented in accordance with the same criteria used for internal reporting prepared for the CODMs. Inter-segment transactions are recorded at
the stated values as agreed to by the segments.

112



Cronos Group Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except for gram and share amounts)

Table of Contents

Segment data was as follows for the year ended December 31, 2020:

United States Rest of World Corporate Total
Consolidated statements of net income (loss) and
comprehensive income (loss)
Net revenue
Cannabis flower — 27,932 — 27,932
Cannabis extracts 9,495 8,759 — 18,254
Other — 533 — 533
Net revenue 9,495 37,224 — 46,719
Share of loss from equity accounted investees — (4,510) — (4,510)
Interest revenue 16 18,585 — 18,601
Interest expense (34) (152) — (186)
Interest income (expense), net (18) 18,433 — 18,415
Depreciation and amortization 234 2,638 — 2,872
Income tax expense 323 1,024 — 1,347
Loss from discontinued operations — (650) — (650)
Adjusted EBITDA (28,019) (98,349) (20,885) (147,253)
Consolidated balance sheets
Total assets 253,745 388,351 1,283,586 1,925,682
Investments in equity accounted investees — 19,235 — 19,235
Goodwill 178,414 1,108 — 179,522
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 385 31,027 — 31,412
Segment data was as follows for the year ended December 31, 2019:
United States Rest of World Corporate Total
Consolidated statements of net income (loss) and
comprehensive income (loss)
Net revenue
Cannabis flower — 15,020 — 15,020
Cannabis extracts 3,364 5,338 — 8,702
Other — 28 — 28
Net revenue 3,364 20,386 — 23,750
Share of loss from equity accounted investees — (2,009) — (2,009)
Interest revenue 6 29,207 — 29,213
Interest expense — (1,244) — (1,244)
Interest income, net 6 27,963 — 27,969
Depreciation and amortization 46 2,044 — 2,090
Income tax expense — — — —
Loss from discontinued operations — (363) — (363)
Adjusted EBITDA (1,703) (84,826) (11,779) (98,308)
Consolidated balance sheets
Total assets 293,985 309,854 1,486,603 2,090,442
Investments in equity accounted investees — 557 — 557
Goodwill 213,414 1,078 — 214,492
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 259 38,405 — 38,664
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Segment data was as follows for the year ended December 31, 2018:

Consolidated statements of net income (loss) and
comprehensive income (loss)

Net revenue
Cannabis flower
Cannabis extracts
Other

Net revenue

Share of loss from equity accounted investees
Interest revenue
Interest expense

Interest income, net

Depreciation and amortization
Income tax expense

Loss from discontinued operations
Adjusted EBITDA

Consolidated balance sheets

Total assets

Investments in equity accounted investees
Goodwill

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Adjusted EBITDA is reconciled to net income (loss) as follows for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018:

(in thousands of U.S. dollars)

Net income (loss)
Adjustments
Interest expense (income), net
Income tax expense

Impairment loss on goodwill and intangible assets

Financing and transaction costs

Gain on revaluation of derivative liabilities
Gain on disposal of other investments

Share of loss from equity accounted investees
Loss from discontinued operations

Other loss (income)

Review costs related to restatement of 2019 interim

financial statements
Share-based payments
Adjusted EBIT
Adjustments
Depreciation and amortization

Adjusted EBITDA

United States Rest of World Corporate Total
— 9,210 $ — 3 9,210
— 2,732 — 2,732
— 179 — 179
— 12,121 — 12,121
— (723) — (723)
— 220 — 220
— (139) — (139)
— 81 — 81
— 807 — 807
— (894) — (894)
— (10,357) — (10,357)
— 183,471 — 183,471
— 2,960 — 2,960
— 1,314 — 1,314
— 88,308 — 88,308
Year ended December 31, 2020
Corporate
us ROW Expenses Total

(77,368) 32,671 $ (30,573) $ (75,270)
18 (18,433) — (18,415)

323 1,024 — 1,347
40,000 — — 40,000
40 — — 40

— (129,254) — (129,254)

— (4,789) — (4,789)

— 4,510 — 4,510

— 650 — 650

20 1,814 — 1,834

— —_ 9,688 9,688
8,714 6,647 — 15,361
(28,253) (105,160) (20,885) (154,298)
234 6,811 — 7,045
(28,019) (98,349) (20,885) (147,253)
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(in thousands of U.S. dollars)

Net income (loss)
Adjustments
Interest income, net
Impairment loss on goodwill and intangible assets
Repurposing charges
Financing and transaction costs
Gain on revaluation of derivative liabilities
Gain on disposal of other investments
Share of loss from equity accounted investees
Loss from discontinued operations
Other loss (income)
Share-based payments
Adjusted EBIT
Adjustments
Depreciation and amortization

Adjusted EBITDA

(in thousands of U.S. dollars)

Net income (loss)
Adjustments
Interest income, net
Loss (gain) on disposal of other investments
Share of loss (income) from equity accounted investees
Loss from discontinued operations
Share-based payments
Adjusted EBIT
Adjustments
Depreciation and amortization

Adjusted EBITDA

Sources of net revenue were as follows:

Cannabis flower
Cannabis extracts
Other

Net revenue

Year ended December 31, 2019

Net revenue attributed to a geographic region based on the location of the customer were as follows:

Canada

United States

Other countries
Total

Corporate
us ROW Expenses Total
(3,070) $ 1,180,241 $ (11,597) $ 1,165,574
(6) (27,963) — (27,969)
— 7,268 — 7,268
117 32,091 — 32,208
— (1,276,819) — (1,276,819)
— (16,277) — (16,277)
— 2,009 — 2,009
— 363 — 363
182 (197) (182) (197)
900 10,719 — 11,619
(1,877) (88,565) (11,779) (102,221)
174 3,739 — 3,913
(1,703) $ (84,826) $ a1779) $ (98,308)
Year ended December 31, 2018
$ (21,817)
(81)
(164)
723
894
8,151
(12,294)
1,937
$ (10,357)
Year ended December 31,
2020 2019
$ 27,932 $ 15,020
18,254 8,702
533 28
$ 46,719 $ 23,750
Year ended December 31,
2020 2019
$ 34,538 $ 20,202
9,495 3,364
2,686 184
$ 46,719 $ 23,750
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Property, plant and equipment assets were physically located in the following geographic regions:

As of December 31,
2020 2019
Canada $ 162,163 $ 139,160
United States 2,293 2,103
Other countries 23,143 18,685
Total $ 187,599 $ 159,948

The Company sells products through a limited number of major customers. Major customers are defined as customers that each individually accounted for
greater than 10% of the Company’s annual revenues and greater than 10% of accounts receivable.

United States
During the years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company had no major customers in the U.S. segment.

As of December 31, 2020, $65 in expected credit losses has been recognized on receivables from contract with customers (December 31, 2019 — $12).
Refer to Note 23(a).

Rest of World

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company earned a total net revenue before excise taxes of $34,295 from four major customers
(December 31, 2019 — $7,597; December 31, 2018 — $2,186 from two and one major customers, respectively), accounting for 63% of the Company’s
revenues (December 31, 2019 — 32%; December 31, 2018 — 17%).

As of December 31, 2020, $9 (December 31, 2019 — $124; December 31, 2018 — $nil) in expected credit losses has been recognized on receivables from
contract with customers. Refer to Note 23(a).

30. Discontinued Operations and Held-for-sale Assets

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company advanced its plans for the sale and disposal of substantially all of the assets of OGBC. As a result,
OGBC'’s results of operations have been reclassified as discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, the
property, plant and equipment assets of OGBC are separately reported as assets and liabilities held-for-sale as of December 31, 2020 on the consolidated
balance sheet. For comparative purposes, amounts in the prior periods have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation, as disclosed below.
For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded $1,860 as a loss on held-for-sale assets, including $919 as a valuation allowance loss upon
reclassification of property, plant and equipment assets as held-for-sale in Q3 2020, and a further $941 impairment charge on held-for-sale assets in Q4
2020 upon surrender of the OGBC Health Canada licenses. OGBC was formerly included within the Rest of World segment.

The following table summarizes the financial information for discontinued operations as of December 31, 2020:

Year ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018
Consolidated statements of net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss)
OGBC income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes $ (650) $ (363) $ (894)
As of December 31,
2020 2019

Consolidated balance sheets
Long-term assets classified as discontinued operations $ 1,176 $ 3,248
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The following table presents a reconciliation of the carrying amounts of major classes of assets and liabilities of the discontinued operations to total assets
and liabilities of the disposal group classified as held-for-sale in the consolidated balance sheet of December 31, 2019:

As of December 31, 2019

As previously disclosed Held-for-sale adjustment Adjusted balance
Property, plant and equipment $ 161,809 $ (1,861) $ 159,948
Intangible assets 72,320 (1,085) 71,235
Goodwill 214,794 (302) 214,492

The following table presents a reconciliation of the major classes of line items constituting reported operating loss of discontinued operations to net loss of
discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018:

Year ended December 31, 2019
Held-for-sale

As previously disclosed adjustment Adjusted balance
Inventory write-down $ (29,440) $ 267 $ (29,173)
Operating expenses (103,620) 109 (103,511)
Other income (loss) 1,287,058 (13) 1,287,045
Net income (loss) from continuing operations 1,165,574 363 1,165,937

Year ended December 31, 2018
Held-for-sale

As previously disclosed adjustment Adjusted balance
Operating expenses $ (27,554) $ 8% §$ (26,658)
Other income (loss) (476) ) (478)
Net income (loss) from continuing operations (21,817) 894 (20,923)
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures.

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer performed an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act. Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports
we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the
SEC, and to ensure that the information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act, is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including the principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure. Based on this evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures were not effective as of December 31, 2020 due to the material weakness described below.

(b)d) Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f)
under the Exchange Act). Management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on
the criteria set forth in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013
framework). Based on the Company’s assessment, management has concluded that its internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of
December 31, 2020 to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance
with GAAP, due to the material weakness described below.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility
that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

2020 Material Weakness — Inventory Verification

Management failed to properly design and execute sufficient procedures to verify inventory quantities. Specifically, while inventory counts were performed
in the fourth quarter, (i) the aggregate value of items excluded from the count exceeded the Company’s materiality threshold, and (ii) human error in count
execution, data transposition and reconciliation analysis resulted in inaccurate adjustments. This deficiency did not result in errors that were quantitatively
material. Nevertheless, the deficiency creates a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement to the consolidated financial statements will not be
prevented or detected on a timely basis.

The effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting has been audited by KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, who has
issued an adverse opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020 as stated in their report which is
included in the financial statements in Part II, Item 8 of this 10-K.

Internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only
reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods
are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

(b)(ii) Remediation of 2020 Material Weakness

Contributing factors included restrictions in the ability to perform physical inventory counts at third party logistics and subcontract manufacturing
locations, resource turnover and the organization’s experience in processing count results within their new ERP system implemented at the beginning of the
third quarter of 2020.

Management will (i) enhance their count procedures to ensure appropriate consideration and coverage of their total inventory balance, (ii) implement cycle
counts as a redundant control to supplement the annual physical count, and (iii) provide training to inventory teams on count procedures and inventory
management control expectations.

(c) Changes in internal control over financial reporting.

During the year, the Company implemented a new ERP system across the Canadian business. The new ERP system is a meaningful component of our
internal control over financial reporting and is expected to enable us to realize efficiencies throughout our finance, supply chain and operations processes.
In connection with the ERP implementation, we updated the processes and controls that constitute our internal control over financial reporting, as
necessary, to accommodate related changes to our accounting procedures and business processes.
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The Company has implemented its processes and internal controls over financial reporting in the U.S. segment for the year ended December 31, 2020.
Closure of 2019 Material Weakness

As disclosed in Part IT Item 9A, Controls and Procedures, in our Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 (the “2019
Annual Report”), during the fourth quarter of 2019 we identified material weaknesses in internal controls related to risk assessment, segregation of duties,
and non-routine transactions.

During 2020, management implemented our previously disclosed remediation plan that included: (i) enhancement of our quarterly review of the risk
assessment model and its risk control matrices, (ii) establishing a risk committee, which reviews the risk assessment for changes in the business on a
quarterly basis, (iii) enhancement of our delegation of authority matrix, to further limit groups that may authorize sales or purchases of inventory, (iv) the
establishment of a review process and internal database to identify entities that are both vendors and customers of the Company, in order to identify
potential related transactions, (v) the implementation of revenue recognition training, (vi) the creation and implementation of a non-routine transaction
policy, (vii) implementation of procedures for the preparation of business cases for all non-routine business-to-business unbranded sales and purchases, and
(viii) expansion of the sub-certification processes to additional members of management to ensure that non routine transactions are identified.

During the fourth quarter of 2020, we completed our testing of the operating effectiveness of the implemented controls and found them to be effective. As a
result, we have concluded the material weaknesses reported in the 2019 Annual Report have been remediated as of December 31, 2020.

The completed remediation to date is described below:

Impl tation Manag R diation
Material Weakness Control, Control Enhancement or Mitigant Status Testing Status Status
»  Enhance quarterly review of risk assessment model and risk control matrices Implemented Tested Remediated
Risk Assessment
+  Establish a risk committee which reviews the risk assessment for changes in the .
business on a quarterly basis Implemented Tested Remediated
*  Enhance Delegation of Authority matrix to further limit groups that may authorize :
sales or purchases of inventory Implemented Tested Remediated
Segregation of Duties +  Establish review process and internal database to identify entities that are both Implemented Tested Remediated
vendors and customers of the Company
»  Create and implement revenue recognition training Implemented Tested Remediated
*  Create and implement a Non-Routine Transactions Policy to include:
o Definition of Non-Routine Transactions
Implemented Tested Remediated

o Accounting memorandum completion
CEO/CFO approval

*  Formalization of business cases for all non-routine business to business unbranded
sales and purchases to be reviewed on a quarterly basis to ensure alignment with Implemented Tested Remediated
the objectives of the business

o

Non-Routine
Transactions

*  Expand the sub-certification process to additional members of management to

ensure that non routine transactions are identified Implemented Tested Remediated

In the fourth quarter of 2020, there was no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the
Exchange Act), other than noted above.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.

None.
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PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The information required under this Item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement or to an amendment to this Annual Report on
Form 10-K to be filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after the close of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2020.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required under this Item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement or to an amendment to this Annual Report on
Form 10-K to be filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after the close of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2020.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS
The information required under this Item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement or to an amendment to this Annual Report on
Form 10-K to be filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after the close of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2020.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.
The information required under this Item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement or to an amendment to this Annual Report on

Form 10-K to be filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after the close of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2020.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.

The information required under this Item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement or to an amendment to this Annual Report on
Form 10-K to be filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after the close of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2020.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.

The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, or incorporated herein by reference:

(2)(1) Financial Statements. The following financial statements of Cronos Group Inc. are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K on the pages
indicated.

CRONOS GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES Page No.
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 67
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 71
Consolidated Statements of Net Income (Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended December 31, 2020,

2019, and 2018 72
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ (Deficit) Equity for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018 74
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 2020, 2019, and 2018 76
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 77

(a)(2)  Financial Statement Schedules. Schedules are omitted because the required information is inapplicable, not material, or the information is
presented in the consolidated financial statements or related notes.

(a)(3)  Exhibits. The exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index immediately below are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, or are incorporated by
reference herein.

Exhibit
Number Exhibit Description
Membership Interest Purchase Agreement, among Cronos Group Inc., Redwood Holdings Group, LLC and certain key persons, dated
2.1 as of August 1, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s Current Report of Foreign Private Issuer, filed
August 2, 2019).
31 Certificate of Continuance, Notice of Articles and Articles of Cronos Group Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
: Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Cronos Group Inc., filed August 6, 2020).
a1 Form of Cronos Group Inc. Common Share certificate (incorporated by reference to the corresponding exhibit to the Annual Report on
’ Form 10-K of Cronos Group Inc., filed on March 2, 2020).
4.2% Description of Capital Stock of Cronos Group Inc.
Subscription Agreement, dated as of December 7, 2018, by and among Cronos Group Inc., Altria Summit LL.C, and, solely for the
10.1 purposes specified therein, Altria Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s Current Report of Foreign
Private Issuer, filed December 10, 2018).
10.2 Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of March 8, 2019, by and between Cronos Group Inc. and Altria Group, Inc. (incorporated by
’ reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s Current Report of Foreign Private Issuer, filed March 15, 2019).
10.3 Collaboration and License Agreement, dated as of September 1, 2018, by and between Cronos Group Inc. and Ginkgo Bioworks, Inc.
’ (incorporated by, reference to Exhibit 99.3 to the Company’s Current Report of Foreign Private Issuer, filed September 4, 2018).
10.4 First Amendment to Collaboration and License Agreement, dated as of May 9, 2019 (incorporated by, reference to the corresponding
’ exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cronos Group Inc., filed on March 2, 2020).
105+ Cronos Group Inc. 2015 Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan, dated as of May 26, 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3
: to the Registration Statement on Form S-8 of Cronos Group Inc., filed July 11, 2018).
10.61 Form of Option Certificate to 2015 Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to the corresponding exhibit
: to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cronos Group Inc., filed on March 2, 2020).
10.7+ First Amendment to the Cronos Group Inc. 2015 Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan, dated as of August 7, 2019 (incorporated
’ by reference to the corresponding exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cronos Group Inc., filed on March 2, 2020).
10.81 Cronos Group Inc. Amended and Restated 2018 Stock Option Plan, dated as of November 11, 2019 (incorporated by reference to the
’ corresponding exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cronos Group Inc., filed on March 2, 2020).
10.91 Cronos Group Inc. Deferred Shared Unit Plan for Non-Executive Directors, dated as of August 7, 2019 (incorporated by reference to

121


http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000119312519211814/d760406dex991.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000119312518216185/d278879dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000119312518216185/d278879dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000119312518216185/d278879dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000119312518216185/d278879dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000119312518216185/d278879dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000011/a41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000011/a41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000011/a41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000011/a41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000011/a41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000119312518345276/d671304dex991.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000119312519076836/d690389dex991.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000119312518265476/d618057dex993.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000011/a104.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000119312518216185/d278879dex43.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000011/a106.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000011/a107.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000011/a108.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000011/a109.htm
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10.10F

10.11F

10.127

10.13F

10.147

10.15F

10.16F

10.177

10.187

10.197

10.207

10.217

10.227

10.23F

10.247
10.257
10.26F
10.277

10.28F

10.29F

Report on Form 10-K of Cronos Group Inc., filed on March 2, 2020).
Restricted Share Unit Agreement, by and between Cronos Group Inc. and Robert Rosenheck, dated as of September 5, 2019

Group Inc., effective as of May 13, 2019 (incorporated by reference to the corresponding exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10-K
of Cronos Group Inc., filed on March 2, 2020).

on Form 10-K of Cronos Group Inc., filed on March 2, 2020).
Service Agreement, by and between The Peace Naturals Project Inc. and Hillhurst Management Inc., entered into as of October 1, 2015

Termination and Release Agreement, by and among Cronos Group Inc. and David Hsu, dated as of November 15, 2019 (incorporated
by reference to the corresponding exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cronos Group Inc., filed on March 2, 2020).

Termination and Release Agreement, by and among Cronos Group Inc. and William Lawrence Hilson, dated as of November 15, 2019
(incorporated by reference to the corresponding exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cronos Group Inc., filed on March 2,
2020).

reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Cronos Group Inc., filed August 6, 2020).

Form of Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement (Israel) to Cronos Group Inc. 2020 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Cronos Group Inc., filed August 6, 2020).

Inc. and Kurt Schmidt (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Cronos Group Inc., filed
September 9, 2020).
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000011/a1010.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000011/a1010.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000011/a1011.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000011/a1012.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000011/a1013.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000011/a1014.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000011/a1015.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000011/a1016.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000011/a1017.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000011/a1018.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000011/a1019.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000011/a1020.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000011/a1021.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000011/a1022.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000011/a1023.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000011/a1024.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000065/exh101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000073/ex101omnibusplan1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000073/a102rsuawardagreement.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000073/a103rsuawardagreementi.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1656472/000165647220000079/exhibit101.htm
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10.30F

14.1*
21.1*
23.1*
24.1*

31.1*
31.2*
32.1%*

32.2%%

101.INS*
101.SCH*
101.CAL*
101.DEF*
101.LAB*
101.PRE*

Cronos Group Inc., and Michael Gorenstein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Cronos
Group Inc., filed September 9, 2020).

Cronos Group Inc. Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

List of Subsidiaries of Cronos Group Inc.

Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
Power of Attorney (included on signature page hereto).

Oxley Act of 2002.

XBRL Instance Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

T Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

*  Filed herewith.

**  Furnished herewith and not “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

CRONOS GROUP INC.
By: /s/ Kurt Schmidt

Kurt Schmidt
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 26, 2021

Power of Attorney

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Kurt Schmidt and
Jerry Barbato, severally, his or her attorneys-in-fact, each with the power of substitution, for him or her in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or his substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done
by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Name Title Date
President and Chief Executive Officer
/s/ Kurt Schmidt (Principal Executive Officer) February 26, 2021

Kurt Schmidt

Chief Financial Officer
/s/ Jerry Barbato (Principal Financial Officer) February 26, 2021

Jerry Barbato

Vice President, Controller

/s/ Puneet Mathur (Principal Accounting Officer) February 26, 2021
Puneet Mathur

/s/ Bronwen Evans Director February 26, 2021
Bronwen Evans

/s/ Heather Newman Director February 26, 2021
Heather Newman

/s/ James Rudyk Director February 26, 2021
James Rudyk

/s/ Jody Begley Director February 26, 2021
Jody Begley

/s/ Jason Adler Director February 26, 2021
Jason Adler

/s/ Michael Gorenstein Director, Executive Chairman February 26, 2021
Michael Gorenstein

/s/ Murray Garnick Director February 26, 2021
Murray Garnick
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Exhibit 4.2
DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

»

The following description of the capital stock of Cronos Group Inc. (the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our”) is a summary and is not complete, may not
contain all the information you should consider before investing in our capital stock and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, our Certificate of
Continuation, Notice of Articles and Articles (the “Articles”), which have been publicly filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The
terms of these securities may also be affected by the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) (the “Act”). All references to the “Company,” “we,”
“us,” and “our” refer solely to Cronos Group Inc. and do not include any subsidiary or affiliate of Cronos Group Inc.

Authorized Shares

The authorized capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of no par value common shares (the “Common Shares”). Our Common Shares are
currently listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) and on the NASDAQ Global Market (“Nasdaq”) under the trading symbol “CRON”.

Voting Rights
The holders of Common Shares are entitled to one vote per share at all meetings of the shareholders of the Company either in person or by proxy.

Under our Articles, the presence at a meeting of shareholders, in person or represented by proxy, of any number of shareholders holding not less than 33
1/3% of the outstanding Common Shares will constitute a quorum for the purpose of transacting business at the meeting of shareholders. Any matter, other
than the election of Directors, brought before any meeting of shareholders shall be decided by the affirmative vote of the majority of Common Shares
present in person or represented by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote on the matter, unless the question is one upon which, by express provision of
law or under our Articles, a different vote is required or permitted, in which case such provision will control.

Directors are elected by a plurality of the votes cast at a meeting of shareholders. The Board’s majority voting policy (the “Majority Voting Policy”)
requires that any nominee for director who does not receive a greater number of votes “for” his or her election as a director than votes “withheld” from
voting tender his or her resignation to the Board for consideration by the independent directors of the Company promptly following the meeting. This
policy applies only to uncontested elections, meaning elections where the number of nominees of directors is equal to the number of directors to be elected.
The independent directors of the Company will consider the resignation and will provide a recommendation to the Board within 45 days following the
meeting. The Board will consider the recommendation of the independent directors of the Company and determine whether to accept such recommendation
within 90 days of the meeting. Absent exceptional circumstances, the Board will accept the resignation which will be effective upon such acceptance. A
news release will be issued promptly by the Company announcing the Board’s determination, including, if applicable, the reasons for rejecting the
resignation. A director who tenders his or her resignation will not participate in any meetings to consider whether the resignation will be accepted.

Dividends and Other Distributions

The holders of Common Shares are entitled to dividends, if and when declared by the directors of the Company, and the distribution of the residual assets
of the Company in the event of a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company.

The Common Shares rank equally as to all benefits which might accrue to the holders thereof, including the right to receive dividends, voting powers, and
participation in assets and in all other respects, on liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, or any other
disposition of the assets of the Company among its shareholders for the purpose of winding up its affairs after the Company has paid out its liabilities.

Advance Notice for Shareholder Director Nominations

The Company’s Articles contain advance notice provisions setting out advance notice requirements for the nomination of directors of the Company by a
shareholder (who must also meet certain qualifications outlined in the Articles) (the “Nominating Shareholder”) at any annual meeting of shareholders, or
for any special meeting of shareholders if one of the purposes for which the special meeting was called was the election of directors (the “Advance Notice
By-Law”™).



In addition to any other applicable requirements, for a nomination to be made by a Nominating Shareholder, the Nominating Shareholder must give timely
notice of such nomination in proper written form to the Corporate Secretary of the Company at the principal executive offices of the Company. To be
timely, a Nominating Shareholder’s notice to the Corporate Secretary must be made: (i) in the case of an annual meeting of shareholders, not less than 30
nor more than 65 days prior to the date of the annual meeting of shareholders; provided, however, that in the event that the annual meeting of shareholders
is to be held on a date that is less than 50 days after the date (the “Notice Date”) on which the first public announcement by the Company by press release
of the date of the annual meeting was made, notice by the Nominating Shareholder may be made not later than the close of business on the 10th day
following the Notice Date; and (ii) in the case of a special meeting (which is not also an annual meeting) of shareholders called for the purpose of electing
directors (whether or not called for other purposes as well), not later than the close of business on the 15th day following the day on which the first public
announcement by the Company by press release of the date of the special meeting of Shareholders was made. The Company’s Articles also prescribe the
proper written form for a Nominating Shareholder’s notice.

The chairperson of the meeting has the power and duty to determine whether a nomination was made in accordance with the notice procedures set forth in
the Articles and, if any proposed nomination is not in compliance with such provisions, the discretion to declare that such defective nomination will be
disregarded.

Other Provisions

The Common Shares are not subject to call or assessment rights or any pre-emptive or conversion rights. There are no provisions for redemption, purchase
for cancellation, surrender or purchase of funds.

Transfer Agent
The transfer agent and registrar for the Common Shares is TSX Trust Company.
Foreign Ownership of Our Common Shares

There is no limitation imposed by the Articles on the right of a non-Canadian resident to hold or vote our Common Shares. The following provides a
summary of certain limitations imposed by Canadian laws on the right of a non-Canadian resident to hold or vote our Common Shares:

Competition Act

Limitations on the ability to acquire and hold our Common Shares may be imposed by the Competition Act (Canada). This legislation permits the
Commissioner of Competition of Canada, or Commissioner, to review any acquisition or establishment, directly or indirectly, including through the
acquisition of shares, of control over or of a significant interest in us. This legislation grants the Commissioner jurisdiction, for up to one year after the
acquisition has been substantially completed, to seek a remedial order, including an order to prohibit the acquisition or require divestitures, from the
Canadian Competition Tribunal, which order may be granted where the Competition Tribunal finds that the acquisition prevents or lessens, or is likely to
prevent or lessen, competition substantially.

This legislation also requires any person or persons who intend to acquire our voting shares such that the person or persons would own more than 20% of
our voting shares after the acquisition, or if such person or persons already own more than 20% of our voting shares prior to the acquisition, more than 50%
of our voting shares, to file a notification with the Commissioner if certain financial thresholds are exceeded (unless an exemption is available). Where a
notification is required, the legislation prohibits completion of the acquisition until the expiration of the applicable statutory waiting period, unless the
Commissioner either waives or terminates such waiting period.

Investment Canada Act

The Investment Canada Act requires each “non-Canadian” (as determined pursuant to the Investment Canada Act) who acquires “control” of an existing
“Canadian business” to file a notification in prescribed form with the responsible Canadian federal government department or departments not later than 30
days after closing, provided the acquisition of control is not a reviewable transaction by Canadian authorities. Subject to certain exemptions, a transaction
that is reviewable under the Investment Canada Act may not be implemented until an application for review has been filed and either the responsible
Minister of the federal cabinet has determined that the investment is likely to be of “net benefit to Canada” taking into account certain factors set out in the
Investment Canada Act or the responsible Minister has been deemed to be satisfied that the investment is likely to be of “net benefit to Canada”. Under the
Investment Canada Act, an investment in our Common Shares by a non-Canadian who is either: (a) a WTO investor (i.e., controlled ultimately by nationals
or permanent residents of World Trade Organization member countries, including the United States) or (b) a trade agreement investor (i.e., controlled
ultimately by nationals or permanent residents of countries with whom Canada has a trade agreement, including the United States) but who is not a state-
owned enterprise, would be reviewable only if it were an investment to acquire control of us pursuant to the Investment Canada Act and our enterprise
value was equal to or greater than specified amounts, which vary annually. The specified review threshold amounts, as of January 1, 2021, for WTO
investors and trade agreement investors who are not state-owned enterprises are C$1.043 billion and C$1.565 billion in enterprise value, respectively. Any
changes to the review thresholds will be published in the Canada Gazette.



The Investment Canada Act contains various rules to determine if there has been an acquisition of control by a non-Canadian. For example, for purposes of
determining whether an investor has acquired control of a corporation by acquiring shares, the following general rules apply, subject to certain exceptions:
the acquisition of a majority of the undivided ownership interests in the voting shares of a corporation is deemed to be acquisition of control of that
corporation; the acquisition of less than a majority, but one-third or more, of the voting shares of a corporation or of an equivalent undivided ownership
interest in the voting shares of the corporation is presumed to be acquisition of control of that corporation unless it can be established that, on the
acquisition, the corporation is not controlled in fact by the acquirer through the ownership of voting shares; and the acquisition of less than one third of the
voting shares of a corporation or of an equivalent undivided ownership interest in the voting shares of the corporation is deemed not to be acquisition of
control of that corporation.

Under the national security review regime in the Investment Canada Act, review on a discretionary basis may also be undertaken by the federal government
in respect to a much broader range of investments by a non-Canadian to “acquire, in whole or part, or to establish an entity carrying on all or any part of its
operations in Canada” where that entity satisfies specific criteria related to its Canadian presence. No financial threshold applies to a national security
review. The relevant consideration is whether such investment by a non-Canadian could be “injurious to national security”. The federal government has
broad discretion to determine whether an investor is a non-Canadian and therefore subject to national security review. Review on national security grounds
is at the discretion of the Canadian government, and may occur on a pre- or post-closing basis.

Certain transactions relating to our Common Shares will generally be exempt from the Investment Canada Act, subject to the federal government’s
prerogative to conduct a national security review, including:

» the acquisition of our Common Shares by a person in the ordinary course of that person’s business as a trader or dealer in securities;

* the acquisition of control of us in connection with the realization of security granted for a loan or other financial assistance and not for any purpose
related to the provisions of the Investment Canada Act; and

+ the acquisition of control of us by reason of an amalgamation, merger, consolidation or corporate reorganization following which the ultimate direct or
indirect control in fact of us, through ownership of our Common Shares, remains unchanged.

Certain Canadian Income Tax Considerations for United States Shareholders

The following summarizes, as of the date hereof, certain Canadian federal income tax considerations generally applicable under the Income Tax Act
(Canada) and the regulations thereunder (collectively, the “Canadian Tax Act”) and the Canada-United States Tax Convention (1980), as amended (the
“Convention”) to the holding and disposition of our Common Shares.

This summary is restricted to beneficial owners of our Common Shares each of whom, at all relevant times and for purposes of the Canadian Tax Act and
the Convention: (i) is neither resident nor deemed to be resident in Canada; (ii) is resident solely in the United States and is entitled to benefits of the
Convention; (iii) does not use or hold, and is not deemed to use or hold, our Common Shares in, or in the course of, carrying on a business in Canada; (iv)
deals at arm’s length with and is not affiliated with the Company; (v) holds our Common Shares as capital property; and (vi) is not an “authorized foreign
bank” (as defined in the Canadian Tax Act) or an insurer that carries on business in Canada and elsewhere (each such holder, a “U.S. Resident Holder”).
Generally, a U.S. Resident Holder’s Common Shares will be considered to be capital property of the holder provided that the holder is not a trader or dealer
in securities, does not acquire, hold or dispose of (or is not deemed to have acquired, held or disposed of) our Common Shares in one or more transactions
considered to be an adventure or concern in the nature of trade, and does not hold or use (or is not deemed to hold or use) our Common Shares in the course
of carrying on a business.

This summary is based upon the current provisions of the Canadian Tax Act and the Convention in effect as of the date hereof, and the Company’s
understanding of the current published administrative policies and assessing practices of the Canada Revenue Agency (“CRA”) published in writing prior
to the date hereof. This summary does not anticipate or take into account any changes in law or in the administrative policies or assessing practices of the
CRA, whether by legislative, governmental or judicial decision or action, except specific proposals to amend the Canadian Tax Act publicly and officially
announced by or on behalf of the Minister of Finance (Canada) prior to the date hereof (the “Tax Proposals”). This summary assumes that the Tax
Proposals will be enacted in the form proposed. This summary does not take into account any other federal or any provincial, territorial or foreign tax
legislation or considerations, which may differ significantly from those set out herein. No assurances can be given that the Tax Proposals will be enacted as
proposed or at all, or that legislative, judicial or administrative changes will not modify or change the statements expressed herein.

This summary is of a general nature only, is not exhaustive of all possible Canadian federal income tax considerations, and is not intended and should not
be construed as legal or tax advice to any particular U.S. Resident Holder. Accordingly, prospective purchasers or holders of our Common Shares are urged
to consult their own tax advisors with respect to their own particular circumstances.



Taxation of Dividends

Under the Canadian Tax Act, dividends paid or credited, or deemed to be paid or credited, to a U.S. Resident Holder on our Common Shares will be subject
to Canadian withholding tax at a rate of 25% of the gross amount of such dividends, unless the rate is reduced under the Convention. Under the
Convention, the rate of withholding tax on dividends applicable to U.S. Resident Holders who are entitled to benefits under the Convention and
beneficially own the dividends is generally reduced to 15% (or, if the U.S. Resident Holder is a company that owns at least 10% of the voting shares of the
Company, 5%) of the gross amount of such dividends.

Disposition of Common Shares

Generally, a U.S. Resident Holder will not be subject to tax under the Canadian Tax Act in respect of any capital gain realized by such U.S. Resident
Holder on a disposition or deemed disposition of our Common Shares unless our Common Shares constitute “taxable Canadian property” of the U.S.
Resident Holder and are not “treaty-protected property” (each as defined in the Canadian Tax Act). Common Shares of the Company generally will not be
“taxable Canadian property” to a holder provided that, at the time of the disposition or deemed disposition, the Common Shares are listed on a “designated
stock exchange” for purposes of the Canadian Tax Act (which currently includes the NASDAQ and the TSX), unless at any time during the 60-month
period immediately preceding the disposition of the Common Shares the following two conditions are met concurrently: (a) (i) the U.S. Resident Holder,
(ii) persons with whom the U.S. Resident Holder did not deal at arm’s length, (iii) partnerships in which the U.S. Resident Holder or a person described in
(ii) holds a membership interest directly or indirectly through one or more partnerships, or (iv) any combination of the persons and partnerships described
in (i) through (iii), owned 25% or more of the issued shares of any class or series of the capital stock of the Company; and (b) more than 50% of the fair
market value of the Common Shares was derived directly or indirectly, from one or any combination of real or immovable property situated in Canada,
“Canadian resource properties”, “timber resource properties” (each as defined in the Canadian Tax Act), and options in respect of or interests in, or for civil
law rights in, any such properties (whether or not such property exists). In certain circumstances set out in the Canadian Tax Act, the Common Shares may
be deemed to be “taxable Canadian property”.

Even if the Common Shares are taxable Canadian property to a U.S. Resident Holder, any capital gain realized on the disposition or deemed disposition of
such Common Shares will not be subject to tax under the Canadian Tax Act provided that the value of such Common Shares is not derived principally from
real property situated in Canada (within the meaning of the Convention).

A U.S. Resident Holder contemplating a disposition of our Common Shares that may constitute taxable Canadian property should consult a tax advisor
prior to such disposition.
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Scope

This Code applies to all Employees of Cronos Group Inc. and its subsidiaries and affiliates controlled by, or under common control of, Cronos Group Inc.
(“Cronos Group” or the “Company”). This Code applies to Cronos Group, together with its subsidiaries and affiliates, every Cronos Group employee,
including the Chief Executive Officer, other senior executives and financial officers, and members of the Board of Directors (the “Board”). This Code also
applies to all Cronos Group contractors and suppliers, and third-party vendors also are expected to meet the standards contained in this Code.

This Code may be amended from time to time to reflect changing circumstances and supersedes all prior versions.
Purpose

The Board of Cronos Group has adopted this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (this “Coede”) which embodies the Company’s commitment to conduct
its business in accordance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations and the highest ethical standards.

What does the Code encompass?

Being a responsible company means upholding the highest ethical standards and complying with all applicable laws and regulations, industry practices and
international norms, as well as this Code and all other Cronos Group policies or requirements.

If you have questions about the Code, contact the Legal Department at corporate.secretary@thecronosgroup.com .
What are my responsibilities as an employee or contractor?

Everyone at Cronos Group has a responsibility to act ethically. As employees, we have a duty to understand and follow the Code and all laws, regulations
and company policies that apply to our jobs. We are all expected to conduct business according to the highest ethical standards, and report issues and
concerns that we may have. Contractors have a similar expectation when they perform work for Cronos Group.

While the Code forms a strong foundation for ethical business conduct, it is not a substitute for common sense and good judgment, nor does it address
every situation we encounter. If you are ever unsure about what to do in a particular situation, ask yourself:

*  Does the action comply with the Code and other Cronos Group policies?

» Is the action legal?

*  Does it feel right and am I comfortable with the decision?

*  Am confident that I don’t need to consult anyone else?

*  Would the person I respect most support this decision?

*  Have I applied the “newspaper test” (e.g., how would it look on the front page)?
*  Am I confident our shareholders and external partners would react positively?

If you have any doubts about what’s right or what you should do, ask questions and voice your concerns. If you think an actual or potential violation has
occurred, it’s important to come forward and report your concerns immediately. The end of this Code describes how to report a concern.

Misconduct cannot be justified by saying it was ordered by someone else, even in management. Nobody has the authority to require you to act in a way that
is illegal or violates Cronos Group’s policies.
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You should also be alert to potential improper conduct, including fraudulent or unlawful activities. That obligation extends to your own functional unit and
others, as we all have an obligation to prevent improper conduct from occurring and report it when it does.

What are my responsibilities as a manager?

Managers must act as leaders. You are expected to demonstrate a personal commitment to Cronos Group standards and foster an environment where
employees feel comfortable asking questions and reporting issues. Managers must also make direct reports aware of their obligations under the Code and
the policies and procedures that apply to them.

You are expected to be open to questions about the Code and our policies, and to identify the right resource for employees who have good faith questions or
concerns. We advise employees to seek guidance from your manager on the best course of action if they have concerns over potential violations of the
Code, our policies, or the law. When you are approached, be ready to give honest, ethical and appropriate answers; if you do not have the answer, refer the
employee to the Legal Department.

What happens when a report is made?

When we receive a report of a potential violation of the Code, we investigate it promptly and take corrective action as appropriate based on the findings.
We expect all employees to cooperate in investigations fully and candidly. Obstructing an investigation, providing false or misleading information, or
failing to cooperate may lead to disciplinary action up to and including immediate termination.

The Legal Department will promptly address all Code allegations and recommending corrective actions to local or head office management, as appropriate.
The General Counsel is responsible for allegations that raise the most serious violations of the Code. The General Counsel reports regularly to the Audit
Committee of the Board on serious Code violations and suspected Code violations.

Which employees have a significant role in Cronos Group internal controls?

Members of the Executive Committee, heads of departments, employees who work in the internal audit, finance and accounting or legal functions, and
other employees who are designated as holding positions of trust.

What kind of discipline is there for Code violations?

If employees, contractors, or third-party vendors are found to violate the Code, they will be subject to disciplinary action or contractual remedies. The
nature of the discipline is determined by several factors, including the seriousness and frequency of the violation, past misconduct, relevant knowledge or
intent, and prior training. Common disciplinary actions for employees are:

*  mentoring or counseling

»  verbal warning

*  suspension

»  focused training

*  written warning or reprimand

* termination

In appropriate cases (for example, reports of serious human rights violations), referrals may be made to law enforcement, and/or repayment or restitution
may be sought.

We do not tolerate retaliation and encourage good faith reporting.
We will not tolerate retaliation by anyone, regardless of their level or position, against an employee, contractor or other third-party vendor for raising

concerns or questions regarding ethics, or for reporting suspected Code violations in good faith. We take claims of retaliation very seriously and investigate
them in the same manner as allegations of Code breaches. Anyone
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found to be engaging in any form of retaliation or reprisal may be subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment.

To be clear, we encourage employees to raise concerns, and try to protect those that do. An employee or contractor who in good faith seeks advice, asks a
question or reports known or suspected misconduct is doing the right thing. We encourage and expect our workforce to voice concerns and questions. The
Company’s policy on whistleblowers provides employees with a means to report any wrong-doing and means for the Company to investigate and follow-
through with any allegations. Employees will have an avenue to report any wrong-doing and/or unethical behavior about fellow Cronos Group employees
or Cronos Group management or members of the Board and ensure their legitimate concerns are followed up on. Moreover, whistleblowers will be
confident that they will be protected from any retaliation. However vexatious allegations made in bad faith will not be subject to such protection.

In addition, reasonable efforts will be made to keep any allegations about suspected Code violations confidential throughout the investigation process,
taking into account the need to obtain sufficient information to conduct a thorough investigation. If you prefer to report an allegation anonymously through
the Compliance Hotline, please provide enough details and information about the incident or situation to allow Cronos Group to investigate properly.
Information about the hotline is included at the end of this Code.
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STANDARDS OF CONDUCT

Responsibilities to Our Shareholders
Conflicts of Interest

Advancing together means we put the interests of Cronos Group before our own. We avoid conflicts of interest where someone might question whether we
are acting for Cronos Group’s benefit or for personal gain. Conflict situations arise when an employee or director takes actions or has private interests that
may make it difficult to perform his or her company work objectively and effectively. These types of situations may cause us to make decisions based on
personal gain rather than the best interests of Cronos Group. They make it appear that we are using our positions at Cronos Group to obtain an improper
personal benefit for ourselves. Where Cronos Group employees believe they or others may face circumstances that create, or could be seen as creating, a
conflict of interest, they should raise the issue with their manager, their manager’s manager or the Legal Department.

It is important to remember, we respect the right of employees and directors to take part in activities outside of their jobs. These might be financial
activities, business activities, or charitable or social activities. When these activities are pursued, they must be free of conflict with responsibilities as
Cronos Group employees and directors. In addition, where employees wish to serve as directors, officers, employees or consultants of a competitor,
business partner or potential business partner, they must obtain prior approval of the relevant head of Department and the Legal Department. For Cronos
Group directors in particular, serving as directors or officers of a competitor or business partner, or otherwise professionally engaging with a competitor or
business partner, requires prior approval of the Board.

Similar conflict situations can also arise when employees and directors invest or trade in shares of a competitor, or an actual or potential business partner.
These kinds of investments may also run afoul of relevant laws. Under our policies, employees and directors generally may not make investments in
competitors or actual or potential partners, except for shares of a publicly traded company involving less than five percent of a company’s issued shares.

Gifts

At heart, our business is a partnership. By always looking for ways to create mutual prosperity, we become the trusted partner. This means conducting our
business based on sound decisions and fair dealings. The ethical conduct of our suppliers and contractors, as with our employees, is vital to our success.
Business gifts and entertainment can build goodwill, but they can also make it harder to be objective about the person who provides them. We must not
either ask for or accept any gifts or other benefits from actual or potential business partners, where doing so might impair or be seen to impair our ability to
perform our duties in a fair and unbiased manner. Gifts of cash or cash equivalent, such as vouchers, must never be accepted.

Public Disclosure

As we work together to create mutual value with our partners, we also must respect the information our shareholders need to make informed investments in
our company. We are committed to providing timely, factual and accurate disclosure of material information about the company to our shareholders, the
financial community and the public at large, including in filings with government authorities. Employees and directors are not permitted to make any
disclosure of material, non-public information about the company to anyone outside of the company unless it is permitted by our Disclosure Policy, which
contains our requirements surrounding public disclosure. If an employee or director believes that the Disclosure Policy has been violated, he or she must
notify their head of Department.

Financial Controls and Records
It is vital that we maintain accurate financial records and a system of financial controls. Our financial records serve as a basis for managing our business

and helping to fulfill our responsibilities to our shareholders, employees and other partners. The integrity of our financial records is also important to our
compliance with accounting, tax, public disclosure laws and regulations and other requirements.
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We all have a responsibility to help maintain appropriate accounting and financial records and follow our system of internal financial controls and relevant
legal requirements. Whether we are creating company records or receiving documents from third parties, documents should be created in a timely manner,
be accurate, be complete, and have reasonable detail of the transaction. This applies to all company records, whether it is an expense report we create or an
invoice we receive. Employees with control over company assets and transactions must establish and/or maintain a system of internal controls in their area
of responsibility that is designed to (a) prevent unauthorized, unrecorded or inaccurately recorded transactions; and (b) permit the preparation of financial
statements according to generally accepted accounting principles or the International Financial Reporting Standards, as appropriate.

Anti-Money Laundering

We are directly or indirectly subject to a variety of anti-money laundering laws that apply to our operations, including Canada’s Proceeds of Crime (Money
Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act, the Criminal Code of Canada, the U.S. Bank Secrecy Act (including the amendments thereto in the USA
PATRIOT Act) and others in the jurisdictions where we operate. Money laundering is the process of transforming the proceeds of illegal activity into
apparently legitimate assets. Any act or attempt to disguise the source of money or assets derived from criminal activity, or to deal in such money or assets
or their proceeds, can be considering money laundering. These crimes include illegal drug trafficking, illegal arms sales, smuggling, prostitution, human
trafficking, illegal immigration, embezzlement, insider trading, bribery, fraud, and any other criminal act. Money laundering is illegal and can result in
significant penalties even if the person or business concealing the proceeds had no involvement in the underlying crimes. We will not provide financial
support or assistance to anyone engaged in criminal activity, nor will we be involved in or support any process by which individuals or entities try to
conceal the proceeds of criminal activity or otherwise try to make these funds look legitimate.

Insider Trading

Trading on inside information is strictly prohibited and a criminal offense. Inside information is information important enough to potentially affect a
company’s stock price, but which is not yet public. Examples of inside information include: financial results, earnings projections, changes in senior
management, or information about acquisitions, divestments, option agreements or partnership agreements. Inside information may relate to Cronos Group,
as well as other companies, including our contractors and business partners. Consequently, if we have access to inside information about Cronos Group or
one of our business partners, we may not trade in that company’s stock (including equity securities, convertible securities, options, bonds and any stock
index containing the security), until after the information is made public. Nor may we “tip” others to do so. Trading on inside information, or “tipping”
others, is known as insider trading and is a violation of U.S., Canadian, and other laws. We have an Insider Trading Policy to help make sure we comply
with these requirements. If you have any questions about the policy or the law, contact the Legal Department.

Business Opportunities

Advancing together means protecting and advancing the company’s legitimate interests. None of us should compete with the company. We may not take
improper advantage of business opportunities discovered through the use of company property, information or position. We are also prohibited from using
company property, information or position for personal gain.

Examples of business opportunities include:

» marketing or selling a process you developed at Cronos Group; and
* investing in the technology of a third party you meet because of your position at Cronos Group, in which Cronos Group also may have an interest in
investing.

Protection and Proper Use of Company Assets

Advancing together means protecting company property. Our assets can be physical, such as equipment and vehicles, computers and software, and reports
and records. Assets can also be non-physical, such as the company name, trade secrets, banking information, strategies and even our time at work.
Protecting our assets from loss, damage, theft, misuse, and waste is the responsibility of every employee because it directly impacts our profitability and
our reputation. That includes being
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prudent in incurring and approving business expenses, working to minimize expenses and ensuring that expenses are reasonable and serve the company’s
business interests.

Cronos Group’s anti-fraud and anti-corruption policies set out the Company’s expectations and requirements relating to suspected fraudulent activities and
misappropriation.

Confidentiality of Information

Information is an asset, and our partners and shareholders depend on our diligence in protecting company assets. We must protect our financial results, our
prospects or our technical data just as we protect our equipment. Our business partners likewise depend on our diligence in protecting confidential
information that they provide us, and only using that information for its intended purpose. We all need to hold confidential information in strict confidence,

which may continue even after our employment ends.

For further details on maintaining confidentiality, see our Disclosure Policy.
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RESPONSIBILITIES TO EACH OTHER AS COLLEAGUES

Workplace Violence, Harassment or Discrimination

Advancing together means following fair employment practices and maintaining a workplace in which all individuals are treated with dignity and respect.
We believe in a diverse and inclusive working environment. We see our success as dependent on the full participation of all of our colleagues - regardless
of race, gender, age, color, sex, religion, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, disability, military or veteran status, or other characteristics
protected by applicable laws and regulations. We do not tolerate or condone violence or harassment of any sort, including sexual harassment. We also do
not tolerate or condone any type of discrimination prohibited by law.

For further details on such matters, see our Workplace Violence and Harassment Policy and Program, and our Diversity and Discrimination Policy.

Health and Safety

To grow sustainable, long-term wealth for our company and our partners, we must work together to keep our people safe. Our safety and health vision is
that every person will go home safe and healthy every day. Achieving this goal is everyone’s responsibility. We are committed to providing a safe and
healthy workplace and adequate resources to meet that commitment through training programs, safety incentive programs, and occupational health

programs.

If at any time you do not feel that a job can be performed in a safe manner, whether by you or a co-worker or contractor, you have the authority and are
expected to stop the job immediately and talk to a manager without fear of repercussion.

If a safety incident occurs, make sure it is reported promptly to your manager.
We all have a responsibility to maintain a safe working environment by avoiding at-risk behaviors, as well as occupational and health and safety hazards.
We also strive to share best practices, near misses, and other practical safety-related information throughout the organization so we can learn from each

other and improve our work on the ground.

For further details on health and safety, see our Occupational Health and Safety Policy and our Occupational Health and Safety Manual (Ontario).

11
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RESPONSIBILITIES TO OUR COMMUNITIES AND PARTNERS

Fair Dealing

The true currency of our business is trust. This means that we act with the highest degree of integrity. We endeavor to deal fairly with our fellow employees
and our business partners. We do not seek to take advantage of anyone through manipulation, abuse of privileged information, or any other unfair-dealing
practice. We do not pursue deceptive or illegal means of getting confidential information from competitors or use such confidential information if we
obtain it.

Anti-Corruption

Advancing together means that we do not engage in improper, unethical, or questionable business practices. We are directly or indirectly subject to a
variety of anti-corruption laws that apply to our operations, including Canada’s Corruption of Foreign Public Officials Act, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act, and others in the jurisdictions where we operate.

These laws prohibit us from paying, offering, or promising anything of value, directly or indirectly, to any third party, including any government official, to
obtain an improper advantage or improperly influence an official act or decision related to our business. Our policies also prohibit us from improperly
seeking or accepting anything of value to provide an improper advantage to vendors or other business partners.

In meeting our anti-corruption obligations, there are a few important things to keep in mind.

*  When we talk about things of value, they can include cash, gifts, promises, meals and entertainment, travel, and hiring relatives of a third party.

¢ There is no exception for small amounts. Even small payments can violate the law and may be unethical.

*  We may encounter intense pressure to make improper payments in countries where extraordinary competition exists. We should be particularly vigilant
not to be tempted by statements that these kinds of practices are common, customary or condoned.

« It is important for all of us to note that our policies prohibit improper payments to any third party, whether they are government officials or in the
private sector, and the receipt of improper payments or gifts.

All employees should be familiar with our anti-bribery, anti-corruption and anti-money laundering policy and other related standards and procedures. For
additional guidance, or if you have any questions about whether a specific situation falls under our policies, raise the matter promptly with your manager,
who may escalate the matter to the General Counsel.

Human Rights

Advancing together means we are committed to acting with respect toward our internal and external partners. At every location that we operate, all of our
employees and third parties who provide us with goods or services must respect the human rights of internal and external partners, including the local
community. We do not tolerate violations of human rights. We actively seek to improve human rights in the locations in which we operate, prevent negative
human rights impacts from occurring, and provide a remedy when they do. We expect our employees, directors, and third party suppliers and contractors to
understand and follow our Human Rights Policy and its implementing procedures.

Environmental Practices

Responsible business practices means minimizing the impact our operations have on the environment. Sound environmental practices are in the best
interests of our business, our employees, our shareholders and the communities in which we operate. We strive at all times to conduct our business in
accordance with recognized industry standards, to institute policies that meet or exceed applicable environmental and safety and health laws and
regulations, and to continuously look for ways to improve our environmental performance. Goals and benchmarks are established to measure
environmental performance.

12
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RESPONSIBILITIES TO COMPLY WITH THE LAW AND

THIS CODE, AND REPORT NON-COMPLIANCE

Legal Compliance

It is vital that we respect the legal institutions in every jurisdiction where we do business and follow all applicable laws, rules, and regulations. This is
something that applies to all of us, including every director, officer, employee and contractor. It is important that we all understand the laws, rules and
regulations that govern our work. If there are any questions, you are encouraged to contact the Legal Department.

Waivers of this Code

Responsible business practices means doing the right thing, no matter what. In seeking to do the right thing, you may feel that it is necessary to seek a
waiver of some aspect of the Code. Although rare, waivers may be granted by the General Counsel or the Chief Executive Officer. When they are granted,
they are reported to the Board or a Committee of the Board.

If an executive officer - including members of senior management or the General Counsel - wishes to obtain a waiver of some aspect of the Code, the
waiver can only be granted by the Board or a Committee of the Board. Waivers given to executive officers will be disclosed to shareholders as required by
applicable rules and regulations.

Annual Acknowledgement of the Code
Once each year, as a condition of employment, you may be asked to acknowledge that you have received Code of Conduct training, understand its rules,
and are not aware of any unreported violations of the Code. New employees will sign an acknowledgement that they have received, read and understand the

Code, and undertaken relevant training when they start with the company.

These acknowledgements serve to confirm that employees have reviewed and understand the Code, agreed to comply with it and report concerns about
Code violations, and that they are unaware of potential actions that run afoul of the Code that have not already been reported.

13
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REPORTING CODE AND NON-CODE CONCERNS AT CRONOS-OPERATED SITES AND OFFICES

Operating responsibly means reporting potential violations of the law and this Code and being open to hearing and addressing the complaints and concerns
of internal and external partners. We all have a responsibility to prevent a violation of this Code, to identify and raise potential issues before they lead to
problems, and to seek additional guidance when necessary. As mentioned, we will not tolerate retaliation of any sort against employees, contractors or
suppliers for raising good faith concerns about violations of the Code or Cronos Group policies. We also maintain a procedure for Code related
reports to be escalated to appropriate levels of management, including the Audit Committee of the Board.

Bear in mind, however, that not all reports that we receive involve potential violations of the Code, and therefore they may not be investigated as such. For
instance, some reports might involve human resources-related concerns, or complaints by contractors. Reports that do not involve potential violations of the
Code are typically referred to the department best suited to address the grievance or concern, such as Human Resources or Operations.

Of course, there may be instances in which you do not know whether your concern violates this Code or a law that applies to our business. As a general
guideline, if you have any questions regarding the best course of action in a particular situation, or if you suspect a possible violation of a law, regulation or
this Code, you should address the matter promptly in accordance with the guidance below.

Suspected Code Violations

As general guidance, if you do have any concern that the Code may have been violated, it should be reported promptly to local management. Below is a list
of local management contacts that are most appropriate to receive suspected Code-related concerns.

There may be various reasons why reporting a concern or complaint to local management is not possible or advisable. Or you may feel that taking
a concern or complaint to local management will not resolve the matter, or you are simply uncomfortable raising the issue with local management.
In those instances, employees should promptly contact the General Counsel or report the matter through the Compliance Hotline by telephone or
the Internet.

Suspected Serious Code Violations and Formal Reporting Channels

There are certain suspected violations of the Code that could bring serious consequences, whether legal, reputational, or related to our license to operate.
Employees and suppliers are expected to use certain formal reporting channels (the “Formal Reporting Channels”) to report these types of allegations.
These are the same categories of issues mentioned previously, on which the General Counsel reports regularly to the Audit Committee of the Board and
involve serious Code violations and suspected Code violations. Again, they are:

* An alleged misstatement in Cronos Group’s publicly released financial statements;

* An alleged misrepresentation in Cronos Group’s other public disclosures;

*  Any other matter that could reasonably be expected to result in a restatement of Cronos Group’s publicly released financial statements;

*  Alleged bribery of a government official or other alleged violation of anti-corruption laws;

»  Known or suspected cases of severe human rights violations;

*  Known or suspected fraud that involves a potential cost or loss to Cronos Group;

*  Known or suspected fraud, regardless of amount, that involves an officer of Cronos Group;

*  Known or suspected fraud, regardless of amount, that involves an employee who has a significant role in Cronos Group’s internal controls, which
include the Chief Executive Officer, other senior executives and financial officers, members of the Board, other senior personnel at Cronos Group,
employees who work in internal audit, finance and accounting or legal functions, and other employees who are designated as holding positions of trust;
or
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* Anevent or series of events indicative of a deterioration in the overall internal control environment at a Cronos Group site or office, including a known
or suspected incident or repeated incidents which indicate significant or systemic non-compliance with applicable regulatory requirements.

If there is any doubt as to whether a matter falls within a category set out above, one of the Formal Reporting Channels described next must be
used.

For concerns that fall, or which may fall into these categories, employees and suppliers are expected to use one of the following Formal Reporting
Channels:

* to the Legal Department, in person or by telephone or email;

+  through the Compliance Hotline;

»  for matters regarding accounting, internal accounting controls and other auditing matters, to the Audit Committee;

»  for matters involving the Chief Executive Office or any other senior executive or financial officer of Cronos Group, to any member of the Board (and
to the General Counsel and the Compliance Hotline).
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COMPLIANCE HOTLINE

The Compliance Hotline can be accessed anonymously to report concerns, taking into account the need to obtain sufficient information to conduct a
thorough investigation. The Hotline is:

* aconfidential reporting service operated by an outside service provider;

+ available to all employees, as well as contractors and suppliers; and

« available 24 hours a day, 365 days per year.

Concerns can be lodged through the Compliance Hotline by telephone or via an Internet portal.

Hotline Follow-up Tool

The Hotline also provides a follow-up tool that allows individuals who report a Code violation to communicate anonymously with those who are
investigating his or her report. Through this tool, the reporter can:

«  check on the status of the report;
* ask questions or add comments; or

* upload information to support his or her report, such as documents, email messages, pictures, audio or video files.

Likewise, those investigating the report can also post questions or request further information from the reporter on an anonymous basis. The Hotline
follow-up tool can be accessed via the same telephone numbers and Internet portal specified below.

For the Internet Portal:

The Compliance Hotline internet portal can be found at:
https://www.integritycounts.ca/org/cronosgroup

For the Telephone Service:

In Canada and the United States

Call toll-free by dialing 1 (866) 921-6714.

In Israel

Call toll-free by dialing to 00 or 014 800-2002-0033.
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APPENDIX 1: POLICY REVISION HISTORY

Date Requested By Updated By Summary of Revisions
February 2, 2018 Board of Directors Legal (Xiuming Shum) Original Version
November 1, 2018 N/A Legal (Xiuming Shum) Version 2018B: general update
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Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF CRONOS GROUP INC.

As of December 31, 2020
Subsidiaries State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization
Hortican Inc. Canada
Peace Naturals Project Inc. Canada
Cronos Global Holdings Inc. Canada
Cronos Canada Holdings Inc. Canada
Original BC Ltd. Canada
Cronos Malta Holdings Limited Malta
Cronos Research Labs Ltd. Israel
Cronos Israel G.S. Store Ltd. Israel
Cronos Israel G.S. Cultivation Ltd. Israel
Cronos Israel G.S. Pharmacy Ltd. Israel
Cronos Israel G.S. Manufacturing Ltd. Israel
Cronos Group Celtic Holdings Ltd. Ireland
Cronos Group USA Holdings Company Limited British Columbia, Canada
Cronos USA Holdings Inc. Delaware, USA
Cronos USA Client Services LLC Delaware, USA
Zeus Cannabinoids LL.C Delaware, USA
Redwood Wellness, LL.C Delaware, USA
Redwood IP Holding, LLC Delaware, USA
Redwood Retail, LLC California, USA
Redwood Operations CA, LLC California, USA
Thanos Holdings Ltd. d/b/a Cronos Fermentation British Columbia, Canada




Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We, KPMG LLP, consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statements on Form S-8 No. 333-237528 and No. 333-226131 of Cronos Group
Inc. (the “Company”), of our reports dated February 26, 2021, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of the Company, which comprise the
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the related consolidated statements of net income (loss) and comprehensive
income (loss), changes in shareholders’ equity (deficit) and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2020, and the
related notes (collectively, the “consolidated financial statements”) and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included herein.

Our report dated February 26, 2021, on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, expresses our opinion that
the Company did not maintain effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020 because of the effect of a material weakness on
the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria and contains an explanatory paragraph that states:

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility
that a material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

A material weakness was identified relating to the following:
Management failed to properly design and execute sufficient procedures to verify inventory quantities. Specifically, while inventory counts were performed

in the fourth quarter, (i) the aggregate value of items excluded from the count exceeded the Company’s materiality threshold, and (ii) human error in count
execution, data transposition and reconciliation analysis resulted in inaccurate adjustments.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

February 26, 2021
Vaughan, Canada



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Kurt Schmidt, certify that:

1.

2.

5.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cronos Group Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))

for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external

purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

/s/ Kurt Schmidt

Kurt Schmidt
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: February 26, 2021



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jerry Barbato, certify that:

1. Thave reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cronos Group Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

/s/ Jerry Barbato

Jerry Barbato

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: February 26, 2021



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 of Cronos Group Inc. (the “Company”) as filed with
the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Kurt Schmidt, President and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended;
and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Kurt Schmidt

Kurt Schmidt

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: February 26, 2021

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished
to the SEC or its staff upon request.

This certification accompanies the Form 10-K to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the SEC and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing
of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date
of the Form 10-K), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 of Cronos Group Inc. (the “Company”) as filed with
the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Jerry Barbato, Chief Financial Officer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended;
and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Jerry Barbato

Jerry Barbato

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: February 26, 2021

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished
to the SEC or its staff upon request.

This certification accompanies the Form 10-K to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the SEC and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing
of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date
of the Form 10-K), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.



